
Please contact Gill Ferguson on 0151 511 8059; Ann Jones on 0151 511 
8276  or ann.jones@halton.gov.uk; gill.ferguson@halton.gov.uk  for 
further information.
The next meeting of the Committee is on Thursday, 17 September 2020

Chief Executive

ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH 
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

PART 1

Item Page No

1. MINUTES 1 - 10

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Disclosable Interest 
which they have in any item of business on the agenda, no later 
than when that item is reached or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent and, with Disclosable Pecuniary interests, to 
leave the meeting during any discussion or voting on the item.

3. LEADER'S PORTFOLIO

(A) URGENT DECISIONS  11 - 17

4. CHILDREN, EDUCATION & SOCIAL CARE PORTFOLIO

Executive Board

Thursday, 30 July 2020 2.00 p.m.
Via public remote access (please contact 
Clerk named for instructions)

Public Document Pack



Item Page No

(A) INSPECTION OF LOCAL AUTHORITY CHILDREN 
SERVICES  

18 - 47

5. HEALTH AND WELLBEING PORTFOLIO

(A) OVERVIEW OF COVID-19 DATA IN HALTON  48 - 49

(B) TEST, TRACE, CONTAIN AND ENGAGE: 
OVERVIEW OF COVID-19 OUTBREAK PLANNING, 
GOVERNANCE, TESTING AND CONTAIN 
FRAMEWORK FOR HALTON.  

50 - 77

6. COMMUNITY SAFETY PORTFOLIO

(A) HBC LOCAL LOCKDOWN SHIELDED 
CONTINGENCY PLAN  

78 - 180

7. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PORTFOLIO

(A) LIVERPOOL CITY REGION AND HALTON 
BOROUGH ECONOMIC RESET PLANS  

181 - 433

8. RESOURCES PORTFOLIO

(A) 2019/20 FINANCIAL OUTTURN POSITION  434 - 462

(B) 2020/21 REVENUE SPENDING AS AT 31 MAY 2020  463 - 477

In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block.



EXECUTIVE BOARD

At a meeting of the Executive Board on Thursday, 27 February 2020 in The Boardroom, 
Municipal Building

Present: Councillors Polhill (Chair), D. Cargill, Harris, R. Hignett, S. Hill, Jones, 
T. McInerney, Nelson, Wharton and Wright 

Apologies for Absence: None 

Absence declared on Council business: None 

Officers present: A. Scott, G. Cook, D. Parr, M. Vasic, M. Reaney, E. Dawson 
and S. Wallace-Bonner

Also in attendance: None 

Action
EXB78 MINUTES

The Minutes of the meeting held on 16 January 2020 
were taken as read and signed as a correct record.

CHILDREN, EDUCATION AND SOCIAL CARE 
PORTFOLIO

EXB79 HOME BASED RESPITE CARE SERVICE IN HALTON

The Board considered a report of the Strategic 
Director, People, which sought a waiver of Procurement 
Standing Orders for the continued provision of the Home 
Based Respite Care Service in Halton.

The Board was advised that home based respite care 
provided practical help, personal care and emotional support 
to people in their own homes. The service supported carers 
and the cared for to help them to remain independent for as 
long as possible.

It was reported that the contract with the current 
provider, Crossroads Care North West, was due to end on 
31 March 2020. A continuation of the service with this 
provider would support the Council in its development of out 

ITEMS DEALT WITH 
UNDER POWERS AND DUTIES 
EXERCISABLE BY THE BOARD

Page 1 Agenda Item 1



of hospital services with NHS Halton Clinical Commissioning 
Group, the One Halton place based approach and support 
the Council’s commitment to providing breaks for carers in 
line with local and national targets for independent living. 
Therefore, a waiver of the relevant Procurement Standing 
Orders was sought to extend the contract for the period 1 
April 2020 to 31 March 2022, with an option to extend for a 
further one year.

RESOLVED: That

1) the contents of the report be noted; and 

2) a waiver in compliance with Procurement 
Standing Order 1.14.4 iv of Part 3 of Procurement 
Standing Orders is approved.

Strategic Director 
- People 

EXB80 REFURBISHMENT OF MILLBROW CARE HOME

The Board considered a report of the Strategic 
Director, People, which provided details of the proposed 
refurbishment of Millbrow Care Home.

The Board was advised that at the time of purchase 
by Halton Borough Council in 2017, Millbrow Care Home 
building was in disrepair.  During the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC)  inspection in February 2019, they 
recognised the improvements that had been made in all 
areas, with particular focus on care, which had been rated 
as ‘Good’.

It was reported that some initial building work had 
taken place to ensure the establishment was habitable and 
fit for purpose. However, as the building was in need of 
major refurbishment, the work would be divided into three 
phases. The first phase, subject of this report, focused on 
the needs of the residents to ensure the environment was 
suitable for good quality care provision.

RESOLVED: That

1) the report be noted;

2) the Board agree the refurbishment plans; and 

3) the Board agree funding for the project.

Strategic Director 
- People 

Page 2



RESOURCES PORTFOLIO

EXB81 BUDGET 2020/21 - KEY DECISION

The Board considered a report of the Operational 
Director, Finance, which outlined a recommendation to 
Council in respect of the Budget, Capital Programme and 
Council Tax for 2020/21.

It was noted that at the time of writing, the Cheshire 
Fire Authority and the Cheshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner had not set their budget and Council Tax 
precept. However, final figures would be reported to Council 
when the information was available.

The Board was advised that the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS), approved at its meeting on 14 
November 2019, had identified funding gaps of around 
£7.9m in 2020/21, £15.1m in 2021/22 and £4.4m in 2022/23. 
The Strategy had the following objectives:

 Deliver a balanced and sustainable budget;
 Prioritise spending towards the Council’s priority 

areas;
 Avoid excessive Council Tax rises;
 Achieve significant cashable efficiency gains;
 Protect essential front line services and 

vulnerable members of the community; and 
 Deliver improved procurement.

In terms of consultation, it was noted that the Council 
used various methods to listen to the views of the public, 
and Members’ own experiences through their Ward work 
was an important part of that process. Individual 
consultations had taken place in respect of specific budget 
proposals and equality impact assessments would be 
completed where necessary.

Appendix B outlined proposed budget savings for 
2020/21, totalling £4.230m. The departmental analysis was 
shown in Appendix C  and the major reasons for change 
from the current budget were shown in Appendix D.

The Board was advised the final Local Government 
Finance Settlement figures were awaited, along with 
confirmation on some 2020/21 grant allocations including 
the Public Health grant. It was confirmed that the Council 
would continue to participate in the pilot of the 100% 
Business Rates Retention Scheme, as part of the Liverpool 

Page 3



City Region (LCR).

Further information was provided on the budget 
outlook, Halton’s Council Tax, Precepts for Parishes, Police, 
Fire and Liverpool City Region Mayor, the Capital 
Programme, Prudential Code and School Budgets.

Reason(s) for Decision 

To seek approval for the Council’s Revenue Budget, Capital 
Programme and Council Tax for 2020/21.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

In arriving at the budget saving proposals set out in 
Appendix B, numerous proposals had been considered, 
some of which had been deferred pending further 
information, or rejected.

Implementation Date

4 March 2020.

RESOLVED: That

1)  Council be recommended to adopt the resolution 
set out in Appendix A attached to the report, which 
includes setting the budget at £115,770m, the 
Council Tax requirement of £52.179m (before 
Parish, Police, Fire and LCR Combined Authority 
precepts) and the Band D Council Tax for Halton 
of £1,475.70;

2) Council be recommended to approve the revenue 
budget proposals for 2020/21 set out in Appendix 
B and Capital Programme set out in Appendix F, 
both attached to the report; and 

3) from 1 April 2020 the level of Empty Homes 
Premium on dwellings that have been unoccupied 
for between 2 and 5 years remain at 100%. The 
level of Premium on dwellings unoccupied for 
more than 5 years be increased to 200%.

Operational 
Director - Finance 

Page 4



EXB82 2019/20 QUARTER 3 SPENDING

The Board considered a report of the Operational 
Director, Finance, which reported on the 2019/20 Quarter 3 
spending as at 31 December 2019.

A summary of spending against revenue budget up to 
31 December 2019 was attached to the report at Appendix 
1. This provided individual statements for each department. 
The Board was advised that, in overall terms, revenue 
expenditure was £3.790m above the budget profile. Whilst 
the overspend position had increased since Quarter 2, the 
trend had slowed over the previous 3 months as action 
taken by all departments continued to restrict spending.

The Board was advised that a number of budget 
savings proposals approved by Council in March 2019 were 
yet to be implemented. These were detailed in Table 1. The 
main budget pressures continued to be within the Children 
and Families Department. In addition, service demand for 
Adult Social Care had increased over the year.

The report also provided details of other services 
which had experienced budget variances including the 
Children and Families Department; Community and 
Environment Department; the Education, Inclusion and 
Provision Department; ICT and Support Services; Adult 
Social Care including the Complex Care Pool. An 
underspend in Corporate and Democracy was noted.

The Capital Programme had been revised to reflect a 
number of changes in spending profiles as schemes had 
developed, and these were detailed in the report.

RESOLVED: That

1) all spending continues to be limited to only 
absolutely essential items;

2) Departments continue to seek to implement the 
2019/20 budget savings proposals  listed in Table 
A, which were approved by Council in March 
2019;

3) Strategic Directors take appropriate action to 
ensure that overall spending was contained as far 
as possible within their total operational budget by 
year-end; and 

Operational 
Director - Finance 

Page 5



4) Council be recommended to approve the revised 
Capital Programme as set out in Appendix 2 
attached to the report.

EXB83 CAPITAL STRATEGY 2020/21

The Board considered a report of the Operational 
Director, Finance, on the Council’s Capital Strategy for 
2020/21.

It was reported that all councils were required to 
produce a Capital Strategy annually, the aim of which was to 
ensure that the Council understood the overall long-term 
policy objectives and resulting capital strategy requirements, 
governance procedures and risk appetite. 

Members were advised that the Capital Strategy 
should be read in conjunction with the Treasury 
Management Statement, included on the same agenda. It 
was noted that the successful delivery of the Capital 
Strategy would assist the Council in planning and funding its 
capital expenditure over the next three years.

RESOLVED: That Council be recommended to 
approve the 2020/21 Capital Strategy, as presented in the 
Appendix attached to the report.

Operational 
Director - Finance 

EXB84 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT 
2020/21

The Board considered a report of the Operational 
Director, Finance, proposing the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement (TMSS) which incorporated the Annual 
Investment Strategy and the Minimum Revenue Provision 
Strategy for 2020/21.

The TMSS was attached to the report and detailed 
the expected activities of the treasury function in the 
forthcoming financial year (2020/21).

The Local Government Act 2003 required the Council 
to “have regard to” the Prudential Code and to set Prudential 
Indicators for the next three years, to ensure that the 
Council’s capital investment plans were affordable, prudent 
and sustainable. The Act therefore required the Council to 
set out its treasury strategy for borrowing as well as an 
Annual Investment Strategy, which set out the Council’s 

Page 6



policies for managing its investments and for giving priority 
to the security and liquidity of those investments. However, 
Government guidance stated that authorities could combine 
the statement and the strategy into one report, and the 
Council had adopted this approach.

Members noted that the provision of a Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement was required and a 
formal statement for approval was contained within the 
report at paragraph 2.3, with Appendix A detailing the full 
policy.

RESOLVED: That Council be recommended to adopt 
the policies, strategies, statements, prudential and treasury 
indicators outlined in the report.

Operational 
Director - Finance 

EXB85 DIRECTORATE PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORTS 
FOR QUARTER 2 2019 - 20

The Board considered a report of the Strategic 
Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, on 
progress against key objectives/milestones and performance 
targets for the second quarter to 30 September 2019.

The Board was advised that the Directorate 
Performance Overview Report provided a strategic summary 
of key issues arising from the relevant quarter for each 
Directorate. The Board noted that such information was key 
to the Council’s performance management arrangements 
and Executive Board had a key role in monitoring 
performance and strengthening accountability. Performance 
Management would continue to be important in the 
demonstration of value for money and outward 
accountability.

RESOLVED: That the report, progress and 
performance information be noted. 

EXB86 CALENDAR OF MEETINGS 2020/21

The Board considered  a report of the Strategic 
Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, which set 
out the proposed Calendar of Meetings for the 2020/21 
Municipal Year, which was appended to the report for 
information.

RESOLVED: That Council be recommended to 
approve the Calendar of meetings for the 2020/21 Municipal 
Year, as appended to the report.

Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources 

Page 7



PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO

EXB87 LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME

The Board considered a report of the Strategic 
Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, which 
sought approval for the update to Halton’s Local 
Development Scheme (LDS).

The Board was advised that the LDS was a public 
statement of the Council’s three year work programme for 
the production of the Local Plan. Councils were required to 
prepare and keep up to date an LDS and to set out the 
timetable for the production of their Local Plan. It was noted 
that this update would cover the remaining stages in the 
preparation of the Delivery and Allocations Local Plan.

RESOLVED: That

1) the Halton Borough Council Local Development 
Scheme 2020 Revision (Appendix 1) be formally 
adopted and shall have effect from 28 February 
2020; and

2) authority be delegated to the Operational 
Director: Policy, Planning and Transportation in 
consultation with the Executive Board Member, 
Physical Environment, to approve any minor 
changes to the wording and/or timelines of the 
production of documents in the Local 
Development Scheme as required prior to 
publication.

Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources 

EXB88 SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 
1972 AND THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO 
INFORMATION) ACT 1985

The Board considered:

1) whether Members of the press and public should 
be excluded from the meeting of the Board during 
consideration of the following item of business in 
accordance with Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 because it was likely that, 
in view of the nature of the business to be 
considered, exempt information would be 
disclosed, being information defined in Section 
100 (1) and paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the 

Page 8



Local Government Act 1972; and

2) whether the disclosure of information was in the 
public interest, whether any relevant exemptions 
were applicable and whether, when applying the 
public interest test and exemptions, the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed 
that in disclosing the information.

RESOLVED: That as, in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighed that in disclosing the information, members of 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business in 
accordance with Section 100A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 because it was likely that, in view of the nature of 
the business, exempt information would be disclosed, being 
information defined in Section 100 (1) and paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

RESOURCES PORTFOLIO

EXB89 DISPOSAL PROGRAMME - KEY DECISION

The Board considered a report of the Strategic 
Director, Enterprise, Community and Resources, which 
sought approval to the Council’s Disposal Programme.

The Board was reminded that in September 2019, it 
had approved an asset, acquisition and retention strategy, 
which formed the rationale for the proposals outlined in 
Appendices A and B, attached to the report.

Reason(s) For Decision

The approval to the schedule would form the Council’s 
disposal programme for assets, surplus to the requirements 
of the Council.

To allow development of the sites for alternative uses.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected

The approval to declare sites surplus to requirements was 
necessary under the Council’s Constitution.

Implementation Date

Once approved, recommendations would be immediately 
acted upon.

Page 9



RESOLVED: That Executive Board

1) approves the Disposal Programme and sites 
identified in Appendix A attached to the report, as 
surplus to requirements and to be sold;

2) approves the sites to be retained in Council 
ownership identified in Appendix B attached to the 
report; and 

3) authorises the Operational Director, Economy, 
Enterprise and Property and the Operational 
Director, Legal and Democratic Services, in 
consultation with the Resources Portfolio holder, 
to progress the implementation of the Disposal 
Programme.

Strategic Director 
- Enterprise, 
Community and 
Resources 

MINUTES ISSUED:  3 March 2020

CALL-IN: 10 March 2020 at 5.00 pm.

Any matter decided by the Executive Board may be called in no 
later than 5.00pm on 10 March 2020.

Meeting ended at 2.40 p.m.

Page 10



REPORT TO:  Executive Board

DATE:  30 July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Chief Executive

PORTFOLIO: Leader

SUBJECT: Urgent Decisions

WARDS: Borough Wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1   To bring to the attention of Executive Board urgent decisions taken since the   
   last meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: 

2.1   That the report is noted.

3.0   SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1   The Council’s Constitution gives authority to the Chief Executive to take urgent 
        decisions which are required before the next formal meeting of Executive Board. 

These must be made in consultation with the Leader of the Council where 
practicable, and with the Operational Director – Finance and/or Operational 
Director – Legal and Democratic Services where necessary. They must also be 
reported for information to the next practically available meeting of the Board.

3.2  The absence of meetings of Executive Board during the COVID19 crisis has 
meant that a number of urgent decisions have been necessary. More information 
on each can be found on the Council’s website here:

http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1

3.3   The urgent decisions taken since the last meeting of Executive Board are   
         attached at Appendix 1.      

4.0    POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1    There are none other than the constitutional requirement to report urgent 
          decisions for information.

5.0     OTHER IMPLICATIONS

5.1     None.

Page 11 Agenda Item 3a

http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/mgDelegatedDecisions.aspx?bcr=1


6.0    IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton

None.

6.2 Employment, Learning and Skills in Halton

None.

6.3 A Healthy Halton

None.

6.4 A Safer Halton

None.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal         

None.

7.0   RISK ANALYSIS

7.1  The report is for information, and there are no risk issues arising from it.  

8.0   EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1   None

9.0   LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE    
        LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

9.1    No background papers have been used in the preparation of this report.  
         Further information on the decisions taken is available from the link in 
         paragraph 3.2.

Page 12



Appendix 1 

Date 
Decision 

taken
Decision details

19 March 
2020

All items listed in the Executive Board agenda for 19 
March 2020, as can be viewed on the website
http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/documents/g7280/Public%20reports%20pack%2019th-
Mar-2020%2014.00%20Executive%20Board.pdf?T=10 
The meeting was cancelled but agenda items were 
published; therefore business needed to be concluded.

25 March 
2020

Health Protection (Coronavirus, Business Closure) 
(England) Regulations 2020

26 March 
2020

Suspension of rent payments from tenants of HBC 
buildings for a period of one month to be reviewed 
monthly thereafter. To assist business during period of 
closure, following Government guidelines on COVID 19.

27 March 
2020

Health Protection (Coronavirus, Business Closure) 
(England) Regulations 2020. 
An update on the provisions published on 25 March 2020.

30 March 
2020

Coronavirus Act 2020. 
Delegation of Powers to a specified list of Officers (Chief 
Executive, Strategic Directors, Operational Directors).

6 April 2020 Hiring of the Ice Rink at The Hive.
For use as part of emergency plan arrangements.

7 April 2020 Amendment to the Scheme of Delegation to Officers. 
Number 83 be amended to include the service of prohibition 
orders under sections 20 and 21 of the Housing Act 2004.

7 April 2020 Lilycross Care Centre. 
Award of Refurbishment contract to create a 60 bed space 
residential care facility.

10 April 
2020

Lilycross Care Centre. 
Capital Order for beds and associated bed equipment.

17 April 
2020

Term Maintenance Contract. 
7 month contract extension to existing term maintenance 
contracts covering Mechanical, Electrical and General 
Building works.

22 April 
2020

Cancellation of Meeting of Annual Council on 22 May 
2020

Page 13

http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/documents/g7280/Public%20reports%20pack%2019th-Mar-2020%2014.00%20Executive%20Board.pdf?T=10
http://councillors.halton.gov.uk/documents/g7280/Public%20reports%20pack%2019th-Mar-2020%2014.00%20Executive%20Board.pdf?T=10


22 April 
2020

Appointments to Various Positions at HBC- including 
Mayor and Deputy, Leader and Deputy, Committees, 
Boards, Outside Bodies, Independent Persons and Co-
optees and Scrutiny Coordinator for 2020/21.

22 April 
2020

Update of Constitution for 2020 - as recommended by 
Executive Board report of 19 March 2020.

22 April 
2020

ERDF Renewable Energy Scheme. 
Variation of Capital Programme to enable the Solar Farm at 
St Michael’s Golf Course to be extended from 1MW to 
1.25MW as recommended by Executive Board report of 19 
March 2020.

23 April 
2020

Temporary Rent Holiday for May 2020 for Business 
Tenants in Council premises. 
To assist business during period of closure, following 
Government guidelines on COVID 19.

23 April 
2020

Sign Up to Combined Authority IT Dig Once 
Programme.
To enter into an inter-authority agreement with the 
Combined Authority and six LCR Local Authorities to deliver 
the ‘Dig Once’ Programme. 

24 April 
2020

Land at Tudor Road, Runcorn. 
Proposed new build warehouse for use classes B1, B2 and 
B8 with associated ancillary works.

28 April 
2020

Dispensation to an Elected Member for attendance at 
Council meetings. 

28 April 
2020

Temporary deferral of business rates for 3 months at 
the Heath Technical and Business Park, Runcorn. 
To assist businesses at the Heath Technical and Business 
Park, Runcorn during period of closure, following 
Government guidelines on COVID 19.

29 April 
2020

Capital Scheme – Bridgeway and Lockgate Flood 
Defence, Windmill Hill, Runcorn. 
Addition of Capital Scheme for flood defence works at 
Windmill Hill.

12 May 2020 Lilycross Care Centre – Approval of Care Provision. 
Action taken to assist the delivery of care provision during 
the COVID 19 pandemic

14 May 2020 Liverpool City Region Transport Committee. 
Confirmation of Opposition Member representative for 
Halton Borough Council.

Page 14



21 May 2020 Temporary Rent Holiday for June 2020 for Business 
Tenants in Council premises. 
To assist business during period of closure, following 
Government guidelines on COVID 19.

21 May 2020 Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund. 
To ensure the timely introduction and implementation of the 
Government’s Discretionary Grant Fund in Halton.

8 June 2020 Award of a re-roofing contract at Halton Lodge Primary 
School. A tender process was carried out, however this was 
outside of the usual open tendering process via the Chest.  
The reason for this was the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
fact that the construction industry had not been operating as 
normal. The waiver was required under Procurement 
Standing Order 1.14.2 Emergency Procedures.

8 June 2020 Award of a re-roofing contract at The Brow Primary 
School. A tender process was carried out, however this was 
outside of the usual open tendering process via the Chest.  
The reason for this was the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
fact that the construction industry had not been operating as 
normal. The waiver was required under Procurement 
Standing Order 1.14.2 Emergency Procedures.

8 June 2020 Award of a re-roofing contract at Weston Point Primary 
School. A tender process was carried out, however this was 
outside of the usual open tendering process via the Chest.  
The reason for this was the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
fact that the construction industry had not been operating as 
normal. The waiver was required under Procurement 
Standing Order 1.14.2 Emergency Procedures.

9 June 2020 Award of contract at Woodside Primary School to 
refurbish classroom space to create a Social, Emotional & 
Mental Health (SEMH) facility. The facility had to be open 
for September 2020 and as such we could not delay the 
project, hence the reason for proceeding under emergency 
procedures.

11 June 
2020

Vulnerable Adults Supported Accommodation 
Framework – Contract extension awarded for the period 1 
July 2020 to 
30 June 2021. A direct award was made due to there being 
no time to undertake a full procurement process and the 
evaluation of applications to join the Liverpool City Region 
Flexible Purchase System, which had been put on hold until 
further notice.

Page 15



16 June 
2020

Infection Control Fund 2020/21. In accordance with the 
Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund ring-fenced grant 
determination, 75% of the total grant received by the LA is 
paid to Care Homes. The remaining 25% may be used to 
support Domiciliary Care providers and support the wider 
workforce resilience to deal with COVID 19 infections.

16 June 
2020

Provision of Accommodation to all homeless 
presentations. In March 2020, Government guidance was 
issued to LA’s which required them to accommodate 
everyone known to be rough sleeping and offered 
accommodation to protect them from the risk of contracting 
COVID 19. MHCLG have also requested LA’s to have a 
move-on plan in place. Next steps are to continue to offer 
short-term interim accommodation to avoid people returning 
to rough sleeping.

Local Outbreak Management Arrangements for Halton19 June 
2020

1) That the Executive Board be authorised to act as the 
Local Outbreak Board for Halton.

2) That the Executive Board, as the Local Outbreak Board 
be authorised to take all and any steps reasonably 
required or necessary to manage, contain, address or 
control any outbreaks related to Covid 19 or any other 
communicable diseases, virus or illness and any 
circumstances that may reasonably be considered related 
to the same within Halton or its surrounding environs.

3) That where urgent action is required in respect of 2) above 
the Chief Executive be authorised to take all and any 
steps reasonably required or necessary to manage, 
contain, address or control an outbreak related to Covid 
19 or any other communicable diseases, virus or illness 
and any circumstances that may reasonably be 
considered related to the same within Halton or its 
surrounding environs, in consultation with the Leader, all 
members of the Executive Board, the Chair of the Health 
PPB and the Director of Public Health.

4) Any decision taken in respect of the above shall be 
notified to all members of the Council and local MPs for 
information.

5) The Health and Wellbeing Board shall oversee the actions 
of the Health Protection Board in respect of all activities 
related to Covid 19.

Page 16



6) The Halton (and Warrington) Health Protection Board will 
operate in accordance with the Terms of Reference set 
out in the Briefing document.

7) The governance structures for Local Outbreaks in Halton 
will be as set out in the Briefing document.

1 July 2020 Agreement to deploy funding awarded to the Council by 
Government to deliver outbreak management on COVID 
19
In line with national requirements to address the COVID19 
pandemic local authorities are asked to address outbreaks 
in a robust and resilient manner from the 7th July.   To meet 
this request with expedience Halton has to establish a local 
Outbreak Hub.  This Hub will receive support and mutual aid 
from a Cheshire and Mersey sub regional Hub.

8 July 2020 SME Loan – Extension of Loan Repayment Period. That 
approval be given to the Company’s request to extend the 
loan repayment period by two years, subject to them 
providing supporting information regarding their revised 
business plans and forecast financial position for 
consideration by the Operational Director, Finance.

13 July 2020 Local Authority Smart Microgrid Feasibility and 
investment Study. 
The Council on 19th March had approved an extension of 
260kwp to the 1MW Solar Farm on St Michael’s Golf Course 
with a view to supplying the new Leisure Centre in Moor 
Lane.   

To understand how we would size any further extension to 
supply the Leisure Centre and possibly other Council 
buildings,  a technical study  was required to understand 
energy profiles from the buildings and the solar farm and 
DNO connection costs to fully understand the business 
case.

16 July 2020 Award of a refurbishment contract at The Heath School 
Bungalow. 
It was planned that the facility would be open for 
September, and as such we could not delay the project 
hence the reason for proceeding.

20 July 2020 Land South of Mathieson Road, Viking Park, Mathieson 
Road. 
Proposed erection of storage and distribution building (Use 
Class B8) including ancillary integral offices, associated 
access, parking, servicing and ancillary works.

Page 17



REPORT TO: Executive Board

DATE: 30th July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, People

PORTFOLIO: Children, Education & Social Care

SUBJECT: Inspection of Local Authority Children Services (ILACS)

WARD(S) All

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To share the findings of the recent Inspection of Local Authority Children 
Services (ILACS) in Halton and its recommendations.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: 

2.1 Members note the findings and invite comments on the initial action 
plan.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 OfSTED conducted a standard inspection under the ILACS framework 
from 2 March to 13 March 2020.  

3.2     OfSTED had previously inspected Halton under the Joint targeted 
inspection of the multi-agency response to children experiencing or at risk 
of exploitation, including sexual and criminal exploitation, between 8th and 
12th July 2019 and a short focused inspection on the arrangements for 
contacts and referrals in the integrated contact and referral team (iCART) 
and thresholds for children in need and child protection, with a focus on 
children and families stepping down to early help between 24 and 25 July 
2018.  

3.3 The ILACS inspection provides a Judgement across four areas and Halton 
was deemed to require improvement to be good across all areas. 

   
 Judgement Grade
The impact of leaders on social work 
practice with children and families

Requires improvement to be 
good

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and protection

Requires improvement to be 
good

The experiences and progress of 
children in care and care leavers

Requires improvement to be 
good

Overall effectiveness Requires improvement to be 
good

Page 18 Agenda Item 4a



3.4 The inspection team found that we had made positive improvements in 
some areas of the service since the previous inspections.  Most importantly 
they found no children in immediate harm or at risk of immediate harm and 
that children were safe.  

3.5      Other areas of strength were on strategic planning that has resulted in 
effective early intervention services, a strengthened initial response to 
children needing help and protection and strong arrangements to tackle 
extra-familial risk. 

3.6 Slower progress has been made in some areas, and in contrast to the 
focused visit inspectors judged that decision making at the front door was 
inconsistent.  Other areas for improvement include decision making in 
situations where children are living in situations of chronic neglect and 
having a too optimistic view of parental ability to change.  Consistency of 
the quality of work was a feature across the service and that this was 
hampered by issues of capacity and the need to have a more robust 
quality assurance framework. 

3.7      Inspectors did recognise that we had lost some key managers and that as 
new team we are in a strong position to affect change.  

3.8 Ofsted identified 5 main areas for improvement and listed them in the          
           following order: 

 Consistency of application of thresholds and understanding of 
parental consent in iCART. 

 Quality of assessments, and plans, including personal educational 
plans (PEPs) and contingency planning.

 Management oversight, challenge and supervision, to support 
consistent, good-quality social work practice. 

 The sufficiency of high-quality placements to meet children’s needs.
 Strategic planning to support service improvement.

3.9    In response to these recommendations we have submitted a draft plan to 
OFSTED as per requirements of the ILAC framework.  The plan is split into 
two phases.  The first phase was done to reflect the changes and actions 
required to respond to COVID 19.  The second phase are longer term 
actions.

3.10  Although ‘strategic planning to support improvement’ is the last of the 
recommendations strategic planning it will underpin all that needs to be done 
and clarify our direction and outline our measurable goals to achieve 
improvement in the other four areas.

3.11   A key feature of the plan that is proposed is to have a partnership board 
“Working for Children’ to provide the vehicle for partner contribution and will 
be supported by the LGA to provide additional oversight, critical and 

Page 19



independent challenge and ensure evidence based progress and secure 
accurate self-evaluation.

  

5.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

5.1 None.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children and Young People in Halton

Having a strong and robust framework for identifying and responding 
across all agencies is the key to ensuring that children and young people 
are safe and protected, and partners are clear about their responsibilities 
and role in working together.

6.2 Employment and Learning Skills in Halton 

None identified.

6.3 A Healthy Halton

Children and young people whose health needs and level of development 
is potentially compromised are identified early and multi-agency support is 
in place to support them.

6.4 A Safer Halton 

Children who are at risk of harm are identified quickly and services work 
together to minimise the risk of harm and take action to formally protect 
children in a timely way.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 

None identified 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 All key stakeholders are committed to working together to address the areas 
of development identified by the different inspectorates.  This will ensure a 
most robust and consistent approach across the partnership to child 
exploitation in Halton.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 Issues arising from a child’s equality and diversity needs will information the 
decision-making at the point of contact and it will be ensured that the voice 
of the child is to the forefront.

Page 20



9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

There are no relevant background documents to this report.

Page 21



 
 

 
 

1 
 

 

 
Halton Borough Council  
 
Inspection of local authority children’s services 
 
Inspection dates: 2 March 2020 to 13 March 2020 
 
Lead inspector:  Shabana Abasi 

Her Majesty’s Inspector 
 

Judgement Grade 

The impact of leaders on social work practice with 
children and families 

Requires improvement 
to be good 

The experiences and progress of children who need help 
and protection 

Requires improvement 
to be good 

The experiences and progress of children in care and 
care leavers 

Requires improvement 
to be good 

Overall effectiveness 
Requires improvement 
to be good 

 
Since the last inspection of the local authority children’s services under the single 
inspection framework (SIF) in November 2014, the focused visit in July 2018 and 
the joint targeted area inspection (JTAI) in July 2019, the local authority has 
made positive improvements in some service areas. Focused strategic planning 
and an understanding of the need to prioritise areas of higher risk have resulted 
in effective early intervention services, a strengthened initial response to children 
needing help and protection and strong arrangements to tackle extra-familial risk.  
 
Slower progress has been made in other aspects of the service, and weaknesses 
found during this inspection mirror some of those areas requiring improvement in 
the SIF inspection. The application of thresholds in the integrated contact and 
referral team (iCART) is not always consistent, and the need to seek or dispense 
with parental consent is not fully understood or recorded. Some children remain 
living in situations of chronic neglect for too long before decisive action is taken. 
The management oversight of work with children within the pre-proceedings 
process has recently been strengthened, but is not yet sufficiently robust to 

Page 22



 
 

 
 

2 
 

 

ensure that decisions are always made within a timescale that is right for children. 
Private fostering arrangements are not consistently identified and assessed. 
Effective management oversight and challenge are not sufficiently embedded in 
all service areas.  
 
A focused approach to recruitment and retention and a commitment to increasing 
staffing capacity have resulted in greater workforce stability, for both 
management and frontline staff. Following a period of senior management 
instability, a newly formed senior leadership team is in a better position to 
accelerate the pace of improvement. 
 
   1 

Page 23



 
 

 
 

3 
 

 

 2 
What needs to improve 

◼ Consistency of application of thresholds and understanding of parental consent in 
iCART.  

◼ Quality of assessments, and plans, including personal educational plans (PEPs) 
and contingency planning.  

◼ Management oversight, challenge and supervision, to support consistent, good-
quality social work practice.  

◼ The sufficiency of high-quality placements to meet children’s needs. 

◼ Strategic planning to support service improvement.  

 
The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection: requires improvement to be good 
 
1. Children and families who need help at an early stage have access to a 

comprehensive range of services to support their needs. Well-coordinated 
packages of support build family resilience and improve the experiences of 
children. When need and concerns increase, children’s cases are appropriately 
stepped up from early intervention so that they receive a statutory social work 
service. 

 
2. The iCART provides an accessible single point of contact for families and 

professionals seeking advice and support and seeking to make a referral to 
children’s social care. The co-location of partner agencies in iCART helps ensure 
prompt and appropriate sharing of information to support decisions about next 
steps and the safeguarding of children. 

 
3. When children need a social work assessment, most are transferred from iCART 

to child in need and child protection teams appropriately and without delay. 
However, the criteria for making decisions about the thresholds at which children 
receive different levels of intervention and services are not always consistently 
applied in iCART. For a small number of children, the initial assessment of need 
is not robust, resulting in children’s cases being signposted to early help when a 
social work assessment of their needs would have been appropriate. This means 
that children and families do not always receive the right help at the right time. 
The purpose and practice of obtaining parental consent is not fully understood 
and not always well recorded. In some cases, information is sought and shared 
by iCART with agencies without informed parental consent.  

 
4. When children are at risk of significant harm, they receive a prompt and 

effective response. Their needs are prioritised, and cases are swiftly transferred 
for a child protection response. When children are referred outside office hours, 
the emergency duty team responds appropriately to contacts and communicates 
efficiently with iCART. Records are completed promptly, show the actions taken 
and provide the detail of what further work is required by the day service. 

Page 24



 
 

 
 

4 
 

 

 
5. Timely and well-attended multi-agency child protection strategy meetings, 

effective information-sharing and an effective focus on risk are leading to 
appropriate decisions and actions to protect children. 

 
6. Social work assessments are not of a consistently good quality. While the 

majority are detailed and identify risk, this is not rigorously analysed and the 
impact on the child is not fully considered. This impacts on the quality of 
subsequent plans. 

 
7. Disabled children benefit from comprehensive assessment of their needs, which 

leads to strong planning and child-centred interventions for children and 
families. This means that disabled children are safeguarded effectively through 
prompt recognition and response to risk. 

 
8. Plans are not always clear about the outcomes desired or timescales for actions 

to be completed, and they lack detail about contingency planning. Some plans 
are overly focused on adults. This means that actions to address risk and 
improve children’s circumstances are not always as effective as they could be or 
completed in a timely way. Managers are not always challenging the quality of 
poorer assessments and plans, and this is hindering improvements in practice. 
Senior managers are aware of these weaknesses and are addressing this 
through practice workshops. Plans are in place to strengthen practice through 
the further roll-out of the preferred social work model, which is not fully 
embededd. 

 
9. Children are seen regularly and in accordance with their needs. Home visits are 

purposeful, and direct work undertaken with children enables social workers to 
understand children’s daily experiences. 

 
10. Multi-agency reviews take place regularly and are well attended. However, when 

some children’s circumstances do not change, there is not always a sufficiently 
swift response to address this. Managers and child protection chairs are not 
challenging drift appropriately in these cases, and this creates delay for some 
children in receiving a more protective response. Not all plans are sharply 
focused on what needs to change. For some children, an over-optimism by 
social workers and managers about parental capacity to sustain change has 
meant that cases have been stepped down prematurely to lower levels of 
intervention. 

 
11. Pre-proceedings work has recently started to have an impact on the timeliness 

of cases that need to progress to care proceedings or that need a lower level of 
intervention. The new arrangements in place show more effective management 
oversight. However, for some children, progress in this area has been too slow, 
and critical challenge provided by managers and child protection chairs has not 
been robust or effective. As a result, some children have remained in situations 
of neglect for too long. 

Page 25



 
 

 
 

5 
 

 

 
12. Children at home or in care who go missing, or who are at risk of exploitation, 

receive robust, well-coordinated strategic and operational multi-agency support 
to help reduce risks. Effective multi-agency working ensures that all intelligence 
is shared and that links with other vulnerable young people are identified. This 
enhances risk management and the planning of support. When children have 
been missing, return home interviews are timely and the information gathered is 
used effectively to inform safety planning. 

 
13. There are well-embedded systems and robust management oversight for 

tracking, assessing and safeguarding children who are missing or at risk of 
missing education. Children who are home educated are monitored effectively by 
the education welfare service and supported if their circumstances change. 

 
14. There is not a consistently robust response to 16 to 17-year-olds presenting as 

homeless. Assessments of need are not sufficiently comprehensive. This means 
that not all young people receive an appropriate and timely response to meet 
their needs. Private fostering is not well understood. Children living in these 
arrangements are not promptly identified in order to ensure that their needs are 
assessed and they are safeguarded effectively in a timely way. The local 
authority has firm plans to address both these areas of practice. 

 
15. The monitoring of allegations against adults working with children is undertaken 

by a number of independent reviewing managers (IRMs) working in the role of 
designated officer. This is not supporting consistently good oversight of the 
progression of cases. Although initial responses to risk are appropriately 
managed, senior managers are aware that the current arrangements are not as 
effective as they could be, and are implementing plans to improve the practice 
and processes underpinning this work. 

 

The experiences and progress of children in care and care 
leavers: requires improvement to be good 
 
16. Decisions for children to come into care are mostly timely and in the best 

interests of children. However, for a small number of children for whom there 
are long-standing concerns about neglect, earlier opportunities to intervene are 
being missed. 

 
17. Permanence planning for children is routinely considered from an early stage. 

Children who are unable to return to their birth families are supported to live 
with foster carers, or connected-person carers, including under Special 
Guardianship Orders (SGOs). Pre-birth assessments are of a good quality and 
inform early permanence planning well. Viability assessments of potential carers 
for children from within their extended family networks are timely, providing a 
clear analysis of risk, strengths and the capacity to meet children’s needs and to 
protect them.  

 

Page 26



 
 

 
 

6 
 

 

18. When children return home from care, this is informed by appropriate 
assessments and careful transition planning. Good support packages and regular 
monitoring ensure that children’s needs are met, that risks are reduced, and that 
children continue to be safeguarded and protected.  

 
19. Children in care are visited regularly by their social workers, who also see them 

on their own when this is appropriate to their age and circumstances. Most 
social workers know their children well. Most direct work undertaken with 
children is of a high quality. However, for a small number of children, direct 
work is limited due to the competing demands of some social workers’ 
caseloads. This means that children’s experiences are not always fully 
understood.  

 
20. Comprehensive and well-written social work reports for reviews support detailed 

care planning. Most children have up-to-date care plans that are regularly 
reviewed and well informed by children’s views. However, they do not all contain 
contingency plans, and so alternative permanence options are not always well 
considered. 

 
21. Most children make meaningful contributions to their reviews. Advocacy and 

independent visitor support are appropriately considered within reviews. Most 
reviews are regular, child-focused, well attended and measure the progress of 
children’s plans. However, IRMs do not consistently provide challenge, and this 
means that, for a small number of children, planning lacks pace and focus. 

 
22. Arrangements for children to spend time with their families and other people 

who are important to them are well considered and promoted. This means that 
children are able to maintain and develop significant relationships. Children are 
supported by their carers and social workers to engage in hobbies and interests. 
This encourages children to broaden their experiences. 

 
23. Since the JTAI, improvements have been made in meeting children’s physical 

and emotional health and well-being needs. The emotional well-being panel 
provides a high-quality, multi-agency approach to providing mental health 
support. There are a range of effective services to provide support to children at 
risk of child exploitation and that help reduce risks. 

 
24. The virtual school has a positive presence and is held in high regard by 

schools. It has an accurate picture of strengths and areas for improvement, and 
a number of new initiatives have been implemented to improve educational 
outcomes for children in care. However, the impact of these initiatives is not yet 
evident, for example from the work to improve children’s attainment at key 
stage 4. Children’s personal education plans at key stage 1 and key stage 2 are 
completed thoroughly and well. However, children’s personal educational plans 
at other key stages are too variable, and some lack clear targets for 
improvement and do not support educational planning effectively. 

 

Page 27



 
 

 
 

7 
 

 

25. Most children are living in placements that are meeting their needs and are 
helping them to make good progress, including those in specialist provision and 
placed outside the local authority. Some children have to wait too long to be 
matched with foster carers. As a result, a few of these children are experiencing 
ongoing insecurity and anxiety about their future care. Senior managers have 
recently introduced tracking systems to ensure that historical delays are 
addressed and permanence decisions for children in long-term foster care are 
made within children’s timescales.  

 
26. Placement sufficiency is a challenge that the local authority is aware of. 

Concerted efforts in the last 18 months have seen a small increase in the 
number of foster carers. Foster carers speak positively of the support and 
training they receive from the fostering service. Placement choice remains 
limited, and, as a result, a small number of children have been placed in 
unregistered settings. The commissioning arrangements for these placements 
have not been sufficiently robust to ensure quality in all cases. 

 
27. For most children whose plan is adoption, permanence is achieved promptly. 

Decision-making for adoption is well informed and well documented. 
Assessments are thorough and there are a range of support initiatives to ensure 
that adoption support is available when families need it. Most child permanence 
reports and life-story work are of sufficiently good quality. Brothers and sisters 
are placed together unless assessments indicate that they would benefit from 
being placed apart. 

 
28. Care leavers are supported effectively by personal advisers who know them well. 

Personal advisers maintain contact at a level that is appropriate to young 
people’s needs. Most care leavers have up-to-date pathway plans, which clearly 
reflect their views, identify needs and the necessary actions to address these. 
Care leavers receive practical support to help them develop their independence 
skills. They have access to a broad range of services, and are supported well 
with education, employment or training needs, as well as emotional and physical 
health issues. Care leavers live in suitable accommodation and are supported 
well in their placements. The local authority has plans to further improve the 
choice available for 16 to 18-year-old care leavers. There has been a reduction 
of care leavers in employment, education or training (EET). The local authority is 
seeking to improve the range of opportunities available. 

 
29. The children in care council (CICC) is a vibrant and energetic group, and the 

members are very positive about the activities they are increasingly involved in, 
as well as the opportunities they have had to contribute to further improving 
services. 

 
 

Page 28



 
 

 
 

8 
 

 

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and 
families: requires improvement to be good. 
 
30. Leaders have prioritised and implemented changes that have resulted in solid 

improvements being made to some services provided to children and families. 
Arrangements in the iCART have been strengthened, ensuring that multi-agency 
information-sharing is efficient and effective and supports the safeguarding of 
children. The scale and effectiveness of early intervention services is resulting in 
more children and families having access to timely and appropriate support. This 
is improving children’s experiences and avoiding the need for statutory 
intervention when this is appropriate. Children at risk of exploitation and going 
missing receive a robust service that is helping to reduce risk.  

 
31. A lack of consistent effective strategic oversight of all areas of practice means 

that there are still some core areas of social work practice that require further 
improvement to ensure that children and families get a consistent response. 
These include children’s assessments, plans, management oversight and case 
supervision. Senior managers’ plans to address some of the practice deficits 
have been hindered by workforce instability, social workers’ workloads and 
sometimes a lack of critical self-challenge.  

 
32. The safeguarding and children in care partnership boards and scrutiny 

committee provide relevant oversight of, and challenge to, operational services 
when deficiencies are highlighted. Senior leaders are held accountable for the 
performance of services and the experience and progress that children make. 

 
33. There is a whole-council commitment to improving services for children and 

families. Significant investments have been made to increase workforce capacity, 
early intervention services and commissioned services. Although leaders across 
the local authority have an overall understanding of strengths and weaknesses 
in children’s social care, they do not have a full understanding of the scale of 
improvement required to provide consistently good services to children and 
families.  

 
34. The local authority’s self-assessment is overly positive, presenting a picture of 

where it would like services to be, rather than where they are currently. Senior 
managers know that practice remains variable, but there is no overarching 
transformation plan to drive effective service improvement. The local authority 
has ambition and capacity to improve services for children and families, but 
more needs to be done to embed the quality of practice so that all children 
receive a consistent response to meet their needs. 

 
35. Senior leaders and managers have access to comprehensive performance 

management information. However, turnover of frontline and senior managers in 
the last year has meant that performance culture is not sufficiently embedded. It 
is positive that leaders have recognised and addressed workforce instability and 

Page 29



 
 

 
 

9 
 

 

inexperience and now have the capacity to take this forward, but this will take 
time to embed.  

 
36. Quality assurance activity is not wholly effective. A focus on measuring 

compliance rather than quality of practice means that frontline managers do not 
always make an accurate evaluation of social work practice and what this means 
for children. Senior managers have recognised this, and a revised quality 
assurance framework is being implemented. It is too soon to see an impact on 
practice. 

 
37. Management oversight of frontline practice, including by child protection chairs 

and IRMs, is not always leading to timely planning for children. Case supervision 
does not evidence sufficient challenge or reflection about weaker practice and, 
in some cases, the focus of supervision is on the process rather than the impact 
for children. 

 
38. Social workers feel well supported by accessible managers and have access to a 

wide range of appropriate training. They are positive about working for Halton. 
Consistent challenge to support practice improvements is less well embedded. 
While most social workers’ caseloads are manageable, some social workers have 
higher caseloads. The volume and complexity of their workloads mean that 
some social workers are not able to spend as much time with children as they 
need, and their ability to clearly record children’s progress is reduced. In some 
cases, this causes delay in securing the best outcomes for children. Senior 
managers have firm plans to address equity in workloads. 

 
 
 

 3 
  4  

 

Page 30



 
 

 
 

10 
 

 

 
 

 
 
The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 

achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners 

of all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children’s social care, and inspects the Children 
and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, 

further education and skills, adult and community learning, and education and training in prisons and 
other secure establishments. It assesses council children’s services, and inspects services for children 

looked after, safeguarding and child protection. 

 
If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 

telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 
 

You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 
the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 

www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to the Information Policy Team, 

The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 
 

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted. 
 

Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more information and 

updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn. 
 

Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 

Manchester 

M1 2WD 
 

T: 0300 123 1231 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 
W:www.gov.uk/ofsted 

 

© Crown copyright 2020 

 5  

Page 31

file:///C:/Users/sabasi/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/FWNJXSS6/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/sabasi/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/FWNJXSS6/www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence
file:///C:/Users/sabasi/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/FWNJXSS6/psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/sabasi/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/FWNJXSS6/www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn
file:///C:/Users/sabasi/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/FWNJXSS6/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/sabasi/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/FWNJXSS6/www.gov.uk/ofsted


1

Halton Children Services
Post OFSTED Action Plan

P
age 32



2

Introduction
Link to - Halton ILACS Report Letter Inspection dates: 2 March 2020 to 13 March 2020

In March 2020, Ofsted carried out a comprehensive inspection of children’s social care and early help in Halton. This was conducted under the 
Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services Framework (ILACS). The overall judgement was that services in Halton requires improvement to 
be good. The individual service judgements were as follows.

Judgement Grade
The impact of leaders on Social Work practice with children and families Requires improvement to be good
The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection Requires improvement to be good
The experiences and progress of children in care and care leavers Requires improvement to be good
Overall Effectiveness Requires improvement to be good

Whilst OFSTED did comment that ‘Since the last inspection of the local authority children’s services under the single inspection framework (SIF) 
in November 2014, the focused visit in July 2018 and the joint targeted area inspection (JTAI) in July 2019, the local authority has made positive 
improvements in some service areas. Focused strategic planning and an understanding of the need to prioritise areas of higher risk have resulted 
in effective early intervention services, a strengthened initial response to children needing help and protection and strong arrangements to tackle 
extra-familial risk’, whilst these comments were positive these grades are not where we wanted to be.

Whilst these positive improvements have been made, OFSTED identified that slower progress had been made in other aspects of the service, and 
weaknesses found during this inspection mirrored some of those areas requiring improvement in the SIF inspection. Our improvement was a 
considerable achievement but we were aware that more needed to be done to ensure that standards continue to rise. 

Ofsted identified 5 main areas for improvement and listed them in the following order; 

 Consistency of application of thresholds and understanding of parental consent in iCART.
 Quality of assessments, and plans, including personal educational plans (PEPs) and contingency planning.
 Management oversight, challenge and supervision, to support consistent, good-quality social work practice.
 The sufficiency of high-quality placements to meet children’s needs.
 Strategic planning to support service improvement.

P
age 33

https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50150003


3

Whilst ‘strategic planning to support improvement’ is at the end of this list it is the first area that needs to be addressed. The strategic planning will 
underpin all that needs to be done and clarify our direction and outline our measurable goals to achieve improvement in the other four areas. With 
this in mind the majority of our actions will fall under this header.

Before OFSTED arrived there were already plans in place to review our children social care workforce with stage 1 having already been completed 
i.e. Children in Need Team Widnes were relocated to Runcorn and the two new Divisional Managers were appointed and commenced their role 
the week prior to Ofsted’s arrival. 

Upon reflection, at the time of OFTSED’s arrival it was felt that, had we had more time to move forward with our plans then perhaps Ofsted would 
have graded their judgements more favourably but again upon reflection, this was perhaps the most opportune time. Their feedback during the 
inspection and the report contained a wealth of analysis that provides the basis on which we can focus our future planning and provide us with a 
greater understanding of the scale of improvement required to provide consistently good services to children and families. 

Governance and Accountability
The Director of Children Services with his senior management team will take responsibility for the delivery of our plan. We will monitor improvements 
in performance and practice, measuring progress of our plan quarterly at our Children Service Performance and Quality Meetings with Service 
Managers and through Performance and Quality Meetings with Team Managers and their staff. 

As part of this plan we are establishing a “Working for Children’ improvement board, which will be supported independently by the LGA and chaired 
by the Chief Executive.  This will provide additional oversight, critical and independent challenge and ensure evidence based progress and secure 
accurate self-evaluation.

The Children, Young People & Families Policy and Performance Board will provide political scrutiny.   

The strategies and plans that sit underneath this plan are monitored by existing Boards and governance structures.

P
age 34



4

Progress will be RAG rated using the following status.

RAG STATUS
Action not started or started and behind target for completion X

Progress on track -
Progress delayed 

Ahead of timescale 

Action completed 

Whilst time frames have been added, due to COVID 19 there will need to be some flexibility to undertake the tasks.

P
age 35



5

Areas for Improvement 

Strategic planning to support service improvement.

Quality of assessments, and plans, including personal educational plans (PEPs) and contingency planning.

PHASE 1 July-September 2020
ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE

A Establish a “Working for 
Children Board” chaired by 
Chief Exec and supported by 
LGA. 

DCS Provide independent challenge and support for 
service improvement.

Ensure accurate self-evaluation and provide 
assurance on progress of service improvement

September 
2020

B During the Covid 19 recovery 
phase, establish “bubble” 
pods of social workers to be 
in the office on a rota basis 
as part of workforce plan. 

Each “bubble” pod will have a 
dedicated practice lead to 
manage duty and 
assessment work for that 
week, provide direct support 
and supervision and increase 
the level of management 
oversight. 

One Principal Manager will 
be matched with each pod. 

OD Increased management oversight.

Increased SW capacity.

Manageable workloads

QA process implemented

Increased resilience during COVID 19

Additional capacity 
recruited for new 
bubble pod for 
duty and 
assessment 
function 

Managed team 
procured from SW 
Agency 

July 2020- 
September 
2020

P
age 36



6

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE

By the end of the recovery 
phase, the CIN service has 
been merged into one team, 
with a duty and assessment 
function and a safeguarding 
children function.

C Undertake appraisals with all 
qualified social workers and 
managers in line with their 
respective knowledge and 
skills statement. The 
appraisal process to include 
examples of casework, 
supervision and feedback 
from service users and other 
agencies. 

DM / OD / 
DCS

All qualified staff are clear about expectations of 
their respective roles and prepared for 
accreditation. 

The service has a clear framework for developing 
and embedding the quality of social work practice 
leading to improved outcomes for children and 
families. 

Development plans are in place where required 
and staff are supported to meet the identified 
areas with additional training and supervision 
within an agreed timescale. 

Structured appraisal and progression process 
ensures ongoing competence

Senior Managers assured of workforce 
effectiveness which will inform workforce 
recruitment and service planning via the 
workforce development group. 

Source 
independent 
practice 
improvement 
resource, e.g. LGA

Practice 
Improvement 
resource to 
develop appraisal 
process, collate 
and analyse 
training and 
development 
needs to develop 
workforce 
development plan 

To be 
completed by 
30th September 
2020

P
age 37



7

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
D Implement new integrated 

audit and quality assurance 
framework developed and 
based on effective practice 
elsewhere, including Leeds 
Model 

Senior managers’ complete 
12 audits per week and 
principal manager’s quality 
assure casework daily 
against the issued practice 
standards for assessments, 
visits and plans.

Practice improvement 
resource to ensure audit and 
quality assurance framework, 
to analyse themes and 
trends, track actions from 
audits and quality assurance 
activity and measure 
progress and effectiveness of 
improvement

Regular DM QA meetings led 
by senior manager. 

DM SG The quality standards for practice are embedded 
and understood by all staff. 

This is evidenced through a structured framework 
which includes case files audits, themed audits, 
practice observations and feedback from children 
young people and families. 

Continued improvement is demonstrated through 
improved assessment and plans and improved 
outcomes for children

All Senior managers assured by evidence based 
analyses of work quality and outcomes.

Children and families receive the right support at 
the right time without delay. 

Practice 
improvement 
resource

September 
2020

E Implement new case 
recording system

System development has 
been completed with 
involvement of frontline staff 

DCS Staff are supported with case recording to 
evidence their practice and impact on children 
and families. 

Mobile access and IT supports direct work with 
children and families and flexible working for staff. 

Project Board in 
place with 
representatives 
from across the 
service, IT and 
finance.

6 September 
2020

P
age 38



8

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
across all areas of the 
service. 

Comprehensive training plan 
in place.

Super users identified to 
support training delivery and 
ongoing support.

Identification of appropriate 
mobile technology for 
distribution to all SW.

The system supports the consistency of quality 
social work practice in its design and workflow.

Implementation 
team in place 
including support 
from OLM

F Implement practice 
development workshops. 

 Assessments to be 
delivered in July 2020

 Plans in August 2020
 Private Fostering 

September 2020

Actions and 
recommendations from 
workshops tracked and 
audited for impact

OD Quality standards for practice are explicit and 
understood.

Timely, clearly written, jargon-free and accurate 
case recording. 

Rationale for case activity and management 
decisions clear.

 Voice of child evident and written in consistent 
tense. 

Effective practice is shared and celebrated. 

Practice 
Improvement 
resource to 
support principal 
team managers in 
planning and 
delivery of 
workshops and 
monitoring of 
impact and 
improvement as a 
result 

31 July 2020 
and  
Ongoing

G Ensure PEPs for Early Years 
and Post 16 are reviewed to 
ensure consistency in quality, 
clear targets and 
expectations are set out.

OD Ed / 
VHS

100% of EY and Post 16 PEPs will have clear 
SMART targets that focus on raising achievement 
and include both short and long term educational 
planning.

Through rigorous QA at least 80% of EY and Post 
16 PEPs will have a quality assurance rating of 
Good or better. 

Recruitment of 
additional staff, 2 
planned.  

31  Dec 2021 

P
age 39



9

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
Continue with DCS led 
Termly performance and QA 
reviews.

PEP, EET and CiC outcomes 
and progress included in 
performance framework.

 

100% Post 16 CIC will have clear progression 
routes into Education, Employment and Training 
opportunities that meet their career aspirations.

PHASE 2 September 2020- March 2021

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
1 Design and implement 

revised service delivery 
model. 

The service delivery model is 
informed by learning from 
Covid interim arrangements 
and ways of working that 
have made a difference to the 
outcomes for children and 
families. 

The model supports quality 
systemic social work practice, 
and build on learning from 
other areas with effective 
practice e.g., Kensington and 
Chelsea.

OD Clear and agreed operating model for Early help 
and Social Care.

Visible and evidenced management oversight.

Appropriately trained and competent staff.
Manageable Case loads

Robust management oversight at all levels

More direct work with families

All indicators at least in-line with statistical 
neighbours

Increased staffing 
permanent 
capacity.

Access to 
managed teams 
through SW 
Agency 
framework.

To be in place 
no later than 
March 2021

P
age 40



10

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
All staff have access to 
training and development and 
this recorded clearly in their 
supervision.

Reflective supervision model 
designed and implemented.

All staff and managers have 
CPD based around the staff 
review completed in phase 1.

2. Establish workforce 
development group to review 
workforce strategy including 
recruitment, career 
development and 
progression, training and 
development plan and staff 
support and well-being.

OD To ensure we have appropriate level of staffing, 
skills and experience across all service areas with 
clear recruitment and retention pathways.

CPD opportunities clear and reviewed regularly 
informed by audit findings.

Improved 
recruitment 
process. 

Strategy to be in 
place by 31 30 
December 2020

3. A strengths based 
conference model to be 
developed with support from 
the partnership, children and 
their families using the 
principles of systemic theory 
and practice. 

Work with customer insight 
team to collect service user 
feedback

DM SG Conferences and plans will child focussed.  

Effectiveness of plans will be measured on the 
impact on the child

What the child wants from their plan will be 
evident and will be used to develop the plan

Fewer repeat child protection plans and in line 
with statistical neighbours

Children, families and partners understood the 
conference process prior to the meeting and were 
able to contribute and develop a plan that they 
feel ownership of.

IRMs, social care 
staff and other 
partners

31 March 2021

P
age 41



11

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE

.

4. Review of the structure, 
service delivery model and 
capacity of the safeguarding 
unit including the LADO 
process and quality 
assurance functions for both 
CP and CIC

Quarterly reports developed 
identifying themes from 
escalations. and 

DM SG Evidence of CP and CiC IRM footprint on the 
child’s file of their oversight and challenge leading 
to improved outcomes.  

Escalation is applied where there are issues with 
practice or delay with a child’s plan without delay

.
Effective practice notifications will be shared in 
the relevant partnership meetings to inform 
practice improvement planning and partnership 
self-assessment.
 
All partners receive consistent information and 
support in managing allegations to ensure 
children are safeguarded, investigations are 
tracked and monitored.

LADO process is concluded based on evidence 
and professional judgement

HR 

Additional IRM 
capacity equivalent 
to 1.5 IRMs

 30 September 
2020

5. Private fostering and 
homeless notifications to 
receive a consistent response 
to identification, assessment 
and safeguarding responses.

A named principal manager 
will be responsible and 
accountable for each area for 
training and development of 
social care staff, awareness 

DM CIN  Statutory duties are met Principal 
Managers

30 August 2020

P
age 42



12

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
raising with partners and 
tracking and monitoring the 
effectiveness of the response

Quarterly reports on the 
identification and the quality 
of response to the senior 
management team

6. Social workers to complete 
systemic social work practice 
qualification. 

Managers to complete 
systemic supervisor training 
to support implementation 
and embedding of systemic 
model.

QA framework includes audit 
of case files and supervision 
identifying application of 
systemic practice.

OD Social workers are able to practice and evidence 
with assurance and confidence the way they work 
with families strengths, manage risk using the 
safe uncertainty approach and improves 
outcomes for children.

Staff undertake more direct work with children 
and parents

Supervision is recorded consistently.

Recording shows reflective informed decision 
making.  

Funding to meet 
cost of training in 
partnership with 
DfE Partners in 
Practice 
Programme

Additional support 
from Centre for 
Systemic Work in 
embedding 
approach through 
onsite support

Release to 
undertake training 
and study time by 
providing backfill 
cover 

September 
2020 March 
2021

P
age 43



13

Management oversight, challenge and supervision, to support consistent, good-quality social work practice.

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
7 Management development and 

accountability is informed through 
training and development to meet 
the requirements of the systemic 
social work model as the service 
delivery model.

10 managers undertaking 
systemic leadership training 
supporting 20 front-line staff 
nominated.

2 Practice Leads and 3 Principal 
Managers nominated for RiP 
Practice supervisor programme

The integrated audit and quality 
assurance framework 
implemented including 
supervision audits, observations, 
and casework audits.

OD Staff are supported by consistent good 
management and quality supervision.  

Improved and consistent quality of social work 
practice that demonstrates a grip of casework 
outcomes.

Funding for 
systemic social 
work

Nominations to 
Research in 
Practice 
programme

Systemic March 
2021
RiP November 
2020

8 Ensure all workers and staff have 
access to and are using 
Research in Practice to link 
current theory and research to 
practice.

OD Assessment and plans will contain evidence of 
relevant research and theory.

Managers will have increased capabilities to 
supervise, organise, plan, lead, motivate and 
evidence of regular management oversight and 
reflective supervision on all case files.

Practice 
Improvement 
resource to 
develop model of 
engagement that 
support application 
in practice and 

31 December 
2020

P
age 44



14

Evidence of impact will be reported to the senior 
manager QA group and the workforce development 
group

series of 
discussion 
workshops on key 
webinars and 
research

ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE
9 Multi-agency assessment toolkit 

launched with range of evidenced 
based tools to support partners in 
making referrals and contact to 
both early intervention and social 
care. 

Schools placed in hubs. 

Briefings via hub conference 
calls, with Hubs having at least 2 
sessions each by the end of term. 

DMCIN Referrals for both early intervention and social care 
are supported by a consistent application and use 
of the toolkit.

Evidenced decision of appropriate pathways and 
actions meeting the concerns raised about a child. 

DM, iCART staff, 
partners

Completed

10 iCART structure, roles and 
responsibilities reviewed to 
ensure appropriate level of 
oversight of the level of response. 

Weekly audits of contacts and 
referrals through multi-agency 
contact challenge meeting.

DM CIN All contacts and referrals are overseen by a 
qualified social worker before a decision is made 
on the level of need. 

Evidence of parental consent is provided before 
progressing unless risk of immediate harm.

Children receive the right level of response at the 
right level of need.

DM, Principal 
Managers and 
Practice Lead in 
iCART

Completed

P
age 45



15

The sufficiency of high-quality placements to meet children’s needs.
ACTION LEAD IMPACT RESOURCES TIMESCALE

11 Review and revise the current 
Sufficiency strategy and 
implement the Sufficiency 
Strategy (2021-2024) for children 
in care and care leavers and 
monitor impact. 

Progress will be reported to the 
Children In Care Partnership 
Board / Children In Care Council 

Specific requirements will be 
shared with providers.

Continue to work implement LCR 
Market Reform programme, and 
specifically the social enterprise 
residential care business case. 

DM 
(CIC/CL)

DM (P)

There will be a continued increase in the number 
of local authority foster carers overall (5%) as well 
as an increase in the percentage of children in 
care placed in “in house” placements (5%)

There will be an increase in the percentage of 
children in care placed within Halton or 
neighbouring authorities (5-10%)  

There will be an increase in the number of 
placement options available resulting in an 
increased choice to meet needs 

Support from 
the Policy and 
performance 
team.

Capital funding.

December 2020

April 2021

1 Review and revise the existing 
procedure for contractual 
compliance / quality monitoring 
visits to external placements.

DM (DM 
P)

Robust arrangements are in place to ensure the 
quality of the commissioned placement.

The workflow is based on a consistent risk 
assessment process 

Placements 
Team 

September 2020

P
age 46



16

Progress will be reported quarterly 
through the Governance 
Framework. 

Children in Care Young Inspectors 
used to provide young person 
perspective on placement quality.

At any time at least 80% of Residential and 
Leaving Care placements will have received at 
least one quality visit in the previous 12 months.

Young person approved provision.

Glossary:

Abbreviation Title Name
DCS Director Children Services Milorad Vasic
OD Operational Director Children Social Care Tracey Coffey
OD Ed Operational Director Education Ann McIntyre
DM (CIN) Divisional Manger Children in Need Angela Povey
DM (CIC/CL) Divisional Manger Children in Care and Care 

Leavers
Liz Davenport

DM (P) Divisional Manger Placements Sam Murtagh
VHS Virtual Head of School Sharon Williams

P
age 47



1

REPORT TO: Executive Board

DATE: 30th July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Director of Public Health 

PORTFOLIO: Health and Wellbeing  

SUBJECT: Overview of Covid-19 data in Halton 

WARD(S) Borough-wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Board with a briefing of Halton’s data in respect of COVID-19.The data 
will be presented at the meeting. This is to ensure that members receive the most 
recent and accurate information that is available at the time of the meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

That the Board notes the content of the presentation on data in respect of 
COVID-19 in Halton.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 The latest Halton data in relation to COVID-19 will be presented to Board members at 
the meeting

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Council is following both Government and Public Health England advice in its 
response to the COVID 19 Pandemic. Further information on that response is 
contained elsewhere on this agenda.

5.0 OTHER/FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There is a ring fenced funding allocation for outbreak planning and staffing, including 
those who collate data.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton 

The data provides intelligence that inform the COVID-19 outbreak plans that will protect 
the health of children and young people in Halton.

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton 

Page 48 Agenda Item 5a



2

N/A.

6.3 A Healthy Halton

The data provides information on the health of the community in Halton.

6.4 A Safer Halton 

The data provides intelligence that informs the COVID-19 outbreak plans that will 
protect the health of public in Halton.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

N/A.

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 The data provides an early warning system and links to plans that will reduce the risk 
to local people from a COVID 19 outbreak.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 There are no equality or diversity issues resulting from this report.

9.0

9.1

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

Health Protection Board Terms of Reference and Halton Outbreak Plans.

Page 49



1

REPORT TO: Executive board

DATE: 30th July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Director of Public Health 

PORTFOLIO: Health and Wellbeing  

SUBJECT: Test, Trace, Contain and Engage: Overview of Covid-19 
Outbreak planning, governance, testing and contain 
framework for Halton.

WARD(S) Borough-wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Board with a briefing of Halton’s position on Complex Outbreak 
Management and the associated governance, Halton’s Testing strategy and 
approach to the Contain Framework in Halton.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the Board:

i) Note Halton’s position on Complex Outbreak Management and the 
associated governance, Halton’s Testing strategy and approach to the 
Contain Framework.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1

Outbreak Planning

On the 22nd of May the Government requested individual Covid-19 Outbreak 
Plans for complex settings be developed by all councils with funding to be 
provided; the deadline for these was 30th June.  These are to be supported by a 
local Outbreak Office with mutual aid from Cheshire authorities which was stood 
up on the 6th July 2020.

3.1.2 What is a complex setting? 

A complex setting is a setting outside of the health sector and includes: 
a) Complex and high risk settings such as care homes and schools and 

workplaces,
b) Complex cohorts such as those who are rough sleepers, faith communities, 

asylum seekers,
c) Complex individuals and households including our defined vulnerable and 

shielded cohorts Mental Illness; Victims of Domestic Abuse; complex social-
economic circumstances.

3.1.3 Complex Outbreak Plans 

Page 50 Agenda Item 5b



2

Halton has developed a number of plans to meet this requirement: 

• Outbreak Prevention Plan: Top 10 Ways to Prevent An Outbreak. 
• Outbreak Plan for Educational Settings: Early Years Settings, Primary 

Schools, Secondary Schools, Further Education establishments. 
• Outbreak Plan for Care Homes. 
• Outbreak Plan for other complex settings including: workplaces, homeless 

shelters, prisons.

These plans have been published on the Councils website. 

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-
to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx

A media pack has been developed to sit with these plans. 

3.1.4 Testing Of Outbreak Plans 

To ensure Halton’s outbreak plans are robust they were tested via a number 
emergency planning exercises: 

• An Educational setting scenario on 26th June 2020
• A workplace scenario on July 16th and 17th 2020 

Training of staff working in complex settings:
Training programmes will be run so staff in complex settings know how to 
prevent an outbreak and what to do if one occurs. 

3.1.5 Governance of Outbreaks.

Framework for Governance across Cheshire

    National Cheshire Local

*Decision making authority

Health & 
Wellbeing 

Board

Local DPH 
Led Health 
Protection 

Board

Halton 
Executive Board 

*

Cheshire LRF 
SCG

Cheshire 
Leaders 
Group

C&M 
Collaborative 
Testing Group

National 
Board 

Structures

Page 51

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx


3

3.1.6

Outbreaks in Halton will be overseen by a Local Outbreak Board which will be 
responsible for communication and engagement with the public and overseeing 
of any potential or real lockdowns that may be required. 

In Halton the role of the Outbreak Board will be undertaken by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

The Outbreak Board is supported by the Health Protection Board which includes 
all necessary expertise to advise on outbreak management and is chaired by 
the Director of Public Health. 

Any decisions to effect a local lockdown or to exercise the powers under the 
Contain framework will be determined by the Executive Board or in matters of 
urgency by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader and members of 
the Executive Board .

Halton Outbreak Office

The Local Outbreak Office for Halton is now up and running and has started to 
receive complex cases.  It is currently staffed in house and these positions will 
be augmented by external appointments.

The office will co-ordinate the local response and bring together the various 
teams and functions that will have an important role to play in responding to any 
outbreak. This will vary depending upon each case, but will include 
Environmental Health, Infection Control, Health Promotion and Prevention, as 
well as the specialist leads for each area. e.g. education, social care, care 
homes and so on.

The office can be contacted on 0151 511 5200 which will be open between 9.00 
am and 5.00 pm Monday to Friday and the email address is 
public.health@halton.gov.uk.

The office will act as a central point of contact to the Cheshire Outbreak Hub 
and to the National Contact, Test and Trace and Engage facility. Most 
individuals that are identified as testing positive will be managed by either the 
national hub or by the Cheshire Hub, but there will be circumstances where a 
local outbreak needs to be managed locally, or additional support measures will 
need to be put in place. As soon as we are aware of any potential need for local 
action, we will call a virtual Multi Discipline Team (MDT) meeting to develop a 
local action plan.

It is important to be clear that any individual concerned about their own health, 
or that of a family member or friend should still continue to contact www.111.nhs 
or their GP for support. Equally, those seeking general information about 
Coronavirus or its implications should continue to use existing channels of 
communication such as the websites or national support lines. The purpose of 
the Halton Outbreak Support Team office is to deal with the consequences of 
any outbreaks locally. 

Page 52

mailto:public.health@halton.gov.uk


4

3.1.7

The office will be supported by constant daily surveillance data which will be 
provided by PHE and monitored by a team of analysts who will collate it into a 
local Dashboard.  This will include early warning data of an outbreak as part of 
the “Contain Framework”.  The latter will inform local authorities if they are a 
cause for:  Cause, Intervention or Enhanced Support in the event of an 
increasing or high positivity and infection rate.
 
The role of the office will evolve and develop as we understand what is needed 
to support the people of Halton.  Over the coming days and weeks we will be in 
contact with various colleagues, partners and settings to better understand 
existing systems and processes ensure that as a system everything works as 
effectively together as possible to prevent, and respond to, any local outbreaks.

Mutual Aid for Outbreaks

To ensure sufficient staff capacity and expertise to manage a large or very 
complex outbreak Halton will work together with colleagues from other local 
authorities and Public Health England. 

In the first instance this will be the neighbouring authority Warrington, then if 
required with other Cheshire Authorities and ultimately if needed with other 
Cheshire and Merseyside Local Authorities. 

Halton will also be part of a Cheshire Hub which is all four Cheshire Authorities 
working together to provide Out of Hours cover, a small team of Contact 
Tracers, call handlers, data analysis and Public Health England expertise. 
The Cheshire Hub is supported by underpinning functions which are required by 
the whole of Cheshire and Merseyside.  These are clinical governance, training 
for outbreaks, Standard Operating Procedures, communication templates and 
other expertise.

Page 53



5

3.2 Testing

The Halton and Warrington Strategy for COVID-19 swab testing was agreed at 
the Systems Assurance Meeting on 28 May 202.  This update provides updates 
since this date.  Local areas have recently been requested to produce a Place 
Based Testing Strategy, which will be based on our existing strategy and 
finalised by the end of July, through a small task and finish group.  Available 
data on testing activity is reported separately in the Halton and Warrington 
briefing note. 

3.2.1 Universal offer

Everyone who develops symptoms of COVID-19 is strongly encouraged 
to get testing to inform responses of themselves, their household, their 
contacts and the public health teams.

Halton residents booking a test via the national portal can now, in addition 
to sites across Cheshire and Merseyside, access testing via

 Home delivery of a self-swabbing kit

 Liverpool John Lennon Airport

Page 54



6

 A mobile testing unit (MTU) that rotates between Halton 
(alternating Widnes and Runcorn) and Warrington.  The 
Halton/Warrington MTU typically spends 3 days at each site.

3.2.2 Local control and capacity

Work locally and regionally is underway to increase local control over 
testing capacity to make testing more accessible to local residents and to 
create capacity to roll out mass testing at short notice for local outbreaks. 

 Local areas are producing a place based testing plan, which will 
increase local control over deployment of some of the pillar 2 
testing capacity.

 There are now 7 MTUs for Cheshire and Merseyside.  Scheduled 
deployments are released for a month at a time. Currently, 1 MTU 
rotates between Halton and Warrington (see above).  A process for 
urgent and non-urgent unscheduled deployment has been 
developed (see Outbreaks).  New scheduled sites can also be 
requested.

 No new satellite testing centres (STC) will be authorised, including 
our application for a Widnes and virtual STC.  Local testing sites 
(see below) are the new option for development. 

 At present some Pillar 1 (NHS lab) capacity in Warrington is 
available locally to the community swabbing service for local 
outbreaks (see vulnerable groups)

3.2.3 Local testing sites

Local testing sites (LTS) are a new offer.  The National Testing 
Programme will provide the set-up and ongoing operations, but the aim of 
these sites are to devolve more control to Local Authorities. LTSs will be 
smaller, localised testing sites for walk-through self-swab testing open 
8am-8pm 7 days a week.  

3.2.4 Outbreaks

 If urgent mass testing is needed in an outbreak scenario, an urgent 
unscheduled deployment of an MTU can be requested.  We have a 
form and process to request this from the DHSC via the Cheshire & 
Merseyside Health & Care Partnership Testing Team.  The MTU site 
can be an already approved site or a new site, subject to urgent 
approval.

 Regional work is underway on a process for releasing swabs urgently 
that could be used by a swab squad for mass testing in an outbreak 
scenario without needing deployment of an MTU.

Page 55



7

 The Bridgewater swab squad (see vulnerable groups) offers a local 
option for assisted swabbing in an outbreak scenario.

3.2.5 Vulnerable groups 

For those who can’t access the national testing offer, an interim offer via 
the Infection Control team and the Bridgewater swabbing service for 
those who can’t access the national offer is in place.  

Since the 22 June the community swabbing service has had access to 
tests from Warrington Hospital, whose laboratory are expanding COVID-
19 testing capacity.  Results from these tests takes 24 hours and will be 
used by the swabbing service for vulnerable groups, or any settings with 
outbreaks requiring additional testing.

The Cheshire and Merseyside Testing Task and Finish Group is working 
regionally on strategies for delivering testing to groups who may have 
additional needs in terms of access to testing as follows:

1. Cared for in own home, including: Domiciliary Care, Re-ablement, 
Intermediate Care at Home, Carers, Learning Disability, Mental 
Health Support at Home.

2. Vulnerable groups, including: Homeless, asylum seekers, 65+, 
Shielding Cohorts, Deprived Regions. A one of testing of all 
homeless people in Cheshire and Merseyside is currently being 
organised.

3. Children and Young Person, including: Looked after Children, 
Under 5’s, 5-18 year olds.

3.2.6 Children

Symptomatic children under 2 years of age who live in key worker 
households across Cheshire and Merseyside can now be tested at Alder 
Hey Hospital. Testing is accessed via an online booking form for 
employer coordinators.  In Halton, this is via public.health@halton.gov.uk. 
Children 2 years and over with symptoms are tested via the national 
route, with swabs performed by a parent or guardian in all children aged 
11 and under. The options for testing children under 2 via the universal 
offer are unclear.

3.2.7 Schools

In the press it has been announced that schools will have direct access to 
tests, in the event of a suspected case or outbreak in their school from 
September. Further details on the implementation of this are not yet 
available. 

3.2.8 Key workers

Health and social care staff can access testing at Haydock Park and at 

Page 56

mailto:public.health@halton.gov.uk


8

mobile testing units (MTUs) without a pre-booked appointment provided 
they bring appropriate credentials (eg. NHS ID).
Satellite testing centres, which have mainly been accessed by key 
workers, but below their capacity locally, are being discontinued.  Key 
worker testing options will be the same as the general public, but via a 
separate portal for prioritisation.

3.2.9 Care homes

From 5 June 2020, all CQC-registered adult care homes in England could 
apply for whole-home testing, which aims to prevent asymptomatic 
transmission to help with outbreak management. In Halton, homes are 
prioritised for testing by the Infection Control team. Most recent data on 
whole-home testing in Halton and Warrington is in the most recent Data 
Briefing. 

A new outbreak management protocol started in care homes from 13th 
July.  If a new case is confirmed in the care home, then the health 
protection team must be notified and a public health risk assessment 
conducted. If an outbreak is suspected then the care home will order a 
batch of rapid tests to test the whole home (residents and staff) as quickly 
as possible. This will be repeated on day 4 and 7 (using pillar 1 rapid 
tests). Re- testing of the whole home will take place on day 28 from the 
last suspected case (using pillar 2 tests).  Local arrangements for 
implementation of this change are being finalised. 

From 6th July onwards staff in care homes will be routinely tested weekly 
and residents will be tested every 28 days.  This includes bank, agency 
and visiting staff. Care homes for those over 65 and for those with 
dementia will be prioritised, in the first wave, extending to all the homes 
over time. This approach will be reviewed at a national level in 
September. 

3.2.10 Extra care and supported living

Other types of adult social care settings will be risk assessed and if they 
meet a risk-based criteria they will also be part of an initial round of 
testing. Work is underway to determine which setting in Halton would 
benefit from this offer. Further details are awaited.

3.2.11 Domiciliary care

Results from a PHE prevalence study are awaited, to inform if routine 
asymptomatic testing of domiciliary workers will be put in place. 

Antibody testing – have I ever had the infection?

Antibody testing is a blood test for previous (not current) infection. It is 
only currently available to NHS staff and some patients, and participants 
of vaccine trials. Results are useful for scientists studying COVID, but do 

Page 57



9

3.3

not currently have implications for individuals (outside vaccine trials) 
because we do not know whether having antibodies provides immunity to 
future infection. Because a positive result does not indicate current 
infection it does not require the individual testing positive to self-isolate.

Regionally discussions are underway to expand the antibody testing to 
include care home staff.  

Containment Framework

On 17th July the Prime Minister announced new powers devolved to Local 
Government for the administration and enforcement of a Local Lockdown: 
Directions under the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) 
(No. 3) Regulations 2020. The regulations expire at the end of 17th January 
2021.

These regulations include powers for local authorities to:
 restrict access to, or close, individual premises

 prohibit certain events (or types of event) from taking place

 restrict access to, or close, public outdoor places (or types of outdoor 
public places) 

Before giving a direction the Council must have regard to the need to ensure 
that members of the public have access to essential public services and goods.

Further information regarding the regulations can be found: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-
restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-
restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-
2020

The statutory Instrument is attached to this report. At the time of production of 
this report, the guidance has just been received and we are seeking to examine 
what the implications for implementation are and understanding how this would 
link into the existing outbreak planning and governance structures. A verbal 
update on progress will be given at the meeting.

Coronavirus%20Restr
ictions%20Regulations%202020%20Statutory%20Instruments.docx

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Halton is in line with Government requirements to address COVID 19.

5.0 OTHER/FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There is ring fenced allocated funding for outbreak planning and staff.

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020


10

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton 

These plans will protect the health of children and young people in Halton.

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton 
N/A.

6.3 A Healthy Halton

These plans will protect the health of people in Halton.

6.4 A Safer Halton 

These plans will protect the health of people in Halton.

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

N/A.

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 These plans will reduce the risk to local people from an outbreak.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

8.1 There are no equality or diversity issues resulting from this report.

9.0

9.1

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

Health Protection Board Terms of Reference and Halton Outbreak Plans.

Page 59



Statutory Instruments

2020 No. 750
Public Health, England

The Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (England) (No. 3) Regulations 
2020
Made

16th July 2020

Laid before Parliament

17th July 2020

Coming into force

at 12.01 a.m. on 18th July 2020

The Secretary of State makes the following Regulations in exercise of the powers conferred 
by sections 45C(1), (3)(c), (4)(d), 45F(2) and 45P of the Public Health (Control of Disease) 
Act 1984(1). 

These Regulations are made in response to the serious and imminent threat to public health 
which is posed by the incidence and spread of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 
2 (SARS-CoV-2) in England. 

In accordance with section 45R of that Act the Secretary of State is of the opinion that, by 
reason of urgency, it is necessary to make this instrument without a draft having been laid 
before, and approved by a resolution of, each House of Parliament. 

Citation, commencement, application and interpretation
1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) 
(England) (No. 3) Regulations 2020. 

(2) These Regulations come into force at 12.01 a.m. on 18th July 2020. 

(3) These Regulations apply in relation to England only. 

(4) In these Regulations— 

Page 60

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00001


“child” means a person under the age of 18; 

“constable” includes a police community support officer; 

“coronavirus” means severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2); 

“Crown land” means land in which there is a Crown interest or a Duchy interest; 

“Crown interest” means an interest belonging to Her Majesty in right of the Crown, or 
belonging to a Government department, or held in trust for Her Majesty for the purposes of a 
Government department; 

“designate” means designate by name or description; 

“Duchy interest” means an interest belonging to Her Majesty in right of the Duchy of 
Lancaster, or belonging to the Duchy of Cornwall; 

“local authority” means— 

(a)

a county council in England, 

(b)

a district council in England for an area for which there is no county council, 

(c)

a London borough council, 

(d)

the Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a local authority, and 

(e)

the Council of the Isles of Scilly; 

“parent”, in relation to a child, includes any person who has parental responsibility for, or 
who has care of, the child; 

“parental responsibility” has the meaning given in section 3 of the Children Act 1989(2); 

“person carrying on a business” includes the owner, proprietor and manager of that business; 

“public outdoor place” means any outdoor place to which the public have or are permitted 
access, whether on payment or otherwise, and includes— 

(a)

Page 61

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00002


land laid out as a public garden or used for the purpose of recreation by members of the 
public; 

(b)

land which is “open country” as defined in section 59(2) of the National Parks and Access to 
the Countryside Act 1949(3), as read with section 16 of the Countryside Act 1968(4); 

(c)

land which is “access land” for the purposes of Part 1 of the Countryside and Rights of Way 
Act 2000(5) (see section 1(1) of that Act(6)); 

(d)

any highway to which the public has access; 

(e)

Crown land outdoors to which the public has access; 

“specified” means specified in a direction given under these Regulations; 

“vulnerable person” includes— 

(a)

any person aged 70 or older, 

(b)

any person under 70 who has a medical condition which increases vulnerability to Covid-19, 
and 

(c)

any person who is pregnant. 

Directions by local authorities: general
2.—(1) A local authority may give a direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) only if the 
authority considers that the following conditions are met— 

(a)that giving such a direction responds to a serious and imminent threat to public health,

(b)that the direction is necessary for the purpose of preventing, protecting against, controlling 
or providing a public health response to the incidence or spread of infection by coronavirus in 
the local authority’s area, and

Page 62

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00003
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00004
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00005
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00006


(c)that the prohibitions, requirements or restrictions imposed by the direction are a 
proportionate means of achieving that purpose.

(2) Where a local authority gives a direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) the local 
authority must— 

(a)notify the Secretary of State as soon as reasonably practicable after the direction is given, 
and

(b)at least once every 7 days review whether the conditions in paragraph (1) continue to be 
met.

(3) If on a review of a direction under paragraph (2)(b) a local authority considers that one or 
more of the conditions in paragraph (1) is no longer met in relation to the direction, the local 
authority must by notice— 

(a)revoke the direction without replacement, or

(b)revoke the direction and replace it with a further direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 
6(1) in relation to which the local authority considers that the conditions in paragraph (1) are 
met.

(4) In determining whether to give a direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) or to revoke 
such a direction, a local authority must have regard to any advice given to it by its director of 
public health (or its interim or acting director of public health). 

(5) Section 16 of the Interpretation Act 1978(7) applies in relation to the revocation of a 
direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) as it applies in relation to the repeal of an 
enactment. 

Powers of Secretary of State
3.—(1) The Secretary of State may give a direction to a local authority requiring the authority 
to give a direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1), if the Secretary of State considers that 
the conditions in regulation 2(1) would be met in relation to the local authority direction. 

(2) If the Secretary of State considers that one or more of the conditions in regulation 2(1) is 
no longer met in relation to a direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) given by a local 
authority, the Secretary of State must direct the local authority to— 

(a)revoke the direction without replacement, or

(b)revoke the direction and replace it with a further direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 
6(1) in relation to which the Secretary of State considers that the conditions in regulation 2(1) 
would be met.

(3) Where the Secretary of State gives a direction to a local authority under this regulation, 
regulation 2(1) and (4) do not apply in relation to the giving of a direction by the local 
authority pursuant to the Secretary of State’s direction. 

Page 63

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00007


(4) A direction under this regulation may be revoked by the Secretary of State. 

(5) Before giving or revoking a direction under this regulation, the Secretary of State must 
consult the Chief Medical Officer or one of the Deputy Chief Medical Officers of the 
Department of Health and Social Care. 

(6) The powers conferred by this regulation are without prejudice to the power of the 
Secretary of State under section 71 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984. 

(7) A county council for an area for which there is also a district council is to be regarded, 
with respect to its functions under these Regulations, as a relevant health protection authority 
for the purposes of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984. 

Directions relating to individual premises
4.—(1) Subject to regulation 2, a local authority may give a direction imposing prohibitions, 
requirements or restrictions in relation to the entry into, departure from, or location of persons 
in, specified premises in the local authority’s area. 

(2) A direction under paragraph (1) may be given only for the purposes of— 

(a)closing the premises,

(b)restricting entry to the premises, or

(c)securing restrictions in relation to the location of persons in the premises.

(3) A local authority may not give a direction under paragraph (1) in relation to— 

(a)any premises which forms part of essential infrastructure,

(b)any premises consisting of vehicles, trains, vessels or aircraft used for public transport or 
the carriage or haulage of goods, or

(c)a vessel not falling within paragraph (b), where the direction would be likely to have the 
effect of preventing a change-over of crew.

(4) Before giving a direction under paragraph (1), a local authority must have regard to the 
need to ensure that members of the public have access to essential public services and goods. 

(5) A direction under paragraph (1) may only have the effect of imposing a prohibition, 
requirement or restriction on— 

(a)the owner or any occupier of premises to which the direction relates, and

(b)any other person involved in managing entry into, or departure from, such premises or the 
location of persons in them.

Page 64



(6) A direction under paragraph (1) may impose a prohibition, requirement or restriction by 
reference to, among other things— 

(a)the number of persons in the premises,

(b)the purpose for which a person is in the premises, and

(c)the facilities in the premises.

(7) A direction under paragraph (1) must— 

(a)state the date and time on which the prohibition, requirement or restriction comes into 
effect, and the date and time on which it will end, and

(b)give details of the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court, and the time within which such 
an appeal may be brought.

(8) Where a local authority gives a direction under paragraph (1) it must take reasonable steps 
to give advance notice of the direction to — 

(a)a person carrying on a business from the premises to which the direction relates, and

(b)if different, any person who owns or occupies the premises.

(9) A person on whom a direction under paragraph (1) imposes a prohibition, requirement or 
restriction may— 

(a)appeal against the direction to a magistrates’ court by way of complaint for an order and 
the Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980(8) applies to the proceedings, and

(b)make representations to the Secretary of State about the direction.

(10) On an appeal against a direction under paragraph (1) in a case where the direction was 
made pursuant to a direction of the Secretary of State under regulation 3, a summons is to be 
issued to both the Secretary of State and the local authority. 

Directions relating to events
5.—(1) Subject to regulation 2, a local authority may give a direction imposing prohibitions, 
requirements or restrictions in relation to the holding of an event in its area. 

(2) A direction under paragraph (1) may be given in relation to— 

(a)a specified event, or

(b)events of a specified description.

(3) A direction under paragraph (1) may only have the effect of imposing prohibitions, 
requirements or restrictions on— 

Page 65

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00008


(a)the owner or any occupier of premises for an event to which the direction relates,

(b)the organiser of such an event, and

(c)any other person involved in holding such an event.

(4) A direction under paragraph (1) may, among other things, impose requirements about 
informing persons who may be planning to attend an event of any prohibitions, requirements 
or restrictions imposed in relation to the holding of it. 

(5) For the purposes of paragraph (2), events may be described— 

(a)by reference to a number of people attending the event,

(b)by reference to a requirement for medical or emergency services to attend the event, or

(c)in any other way.

(6) The reference in paragraph (3)(c) to a person involved in the holding of an event does not 
include a person whose only involvement in the event is, or would be, by attendance at the 
event. 

(7) A direction under paragraph (1) imposing a prohibition, requirement or restriction must— 

(a)state the date and time on which the prohibition, requirement or restriction comes into 
effect, and the date and time on which it will end, and

(b)give details of the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court, and the time within which such 
an appeal may be brought.

(8) Where a local authority gives a direction under paragraph (1) it must take reasonable steps 
to give advance notice of the direction to — 

(a)the organiser of the event, and

(b)if different, any person who owns or occupies the premises for the event.

(9) A person on whom a direction under paragraph (1) imposes a prohibition, requirement or 
restriction may— 

(a)appeal against the direction to a magistrates’ court by way of complaint for an order and 
the Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980 applies to the proceedings, and

(b)make representations to the Secretary of State about the direction.

(10) On an appeal against a direction under paragraph (1) in a case where the direction was 
made pursuant to a direction of the Secretary of State under regulation 3, a summons is to be 
issued to both the Secretary of State and the local authority. 

Page 66



Directions relating to public outdoor places
6.—(1) Subject to regulation 2, a local authority may give a direction imposing prohibitions, 
requirements or restrictions in relation to access to— 

(a)a specified public outdoor place in its area, or

(b)public outdoor places in its area of a specified description.

(2) A direction under paragraph (1) may in particular prohibit access at specified times. 

(3) A direction under paragraph (1) must— 

(a)specify or describe the public outdoor place or places to which it relates in sufficient detail 
to enable the boundaries of the place or places to be determined,

(b)state the date and time on which any prohibition, requirement or restriction imposed by the 
direction comes into effect, and the date and time on which it will end, and

(c)give details of the right of appeal to a magistrates’ court, and the time within which such 
an appeal may be brought.

(4) Where a local authority gives a direction under paragraph (1) it must take reasonable 
steps— 

(a)to give advance notice of the direction to a person carrying on a business from premises 
within a public outdoor place to which the direction relates, and

(b)to ensure that the direction is brought to the attention of any person who owns, occupies or 
is responsible for any land or premises in a public outdoor place to which the direction 
relates.

(5) Any person who owns, occupies or is responsible for land or premises in a public outdoor 
place to which a direction under paragraph (1) relates may— 

(a)appeal against the direction to a magistrates’ court by way of complaint for an order and 
the Magistrates’ Courts Act 1980 applies to the proceedings, and

(b)make representations to the Secretary of State about the direction.

(6) On an appeal against a direction under paragraph (1) in a case where the direction was 
made pursuant to a direction of the Secretary of State under regulation 3, a summons is to be 
issued to both the Secretary of State and the local authority. 

7.—(1) A local authority which has given a direction under regulation 6(1) must take 
reasonable steps to prevent or restrict public access to the public outdoor place or places to 
which the direction relates in accordance with the direction. 

Page 67



(2) Any person, other than a local authority mentioned in paragraph (1), who owns, occupies 
or is responsible for land in a public outdoor place to which a direction under regulation 6(1) 
relates must take reasonable steps to prevent or restrict public access to that land in 
accordance with the direction. 

(3) No person may without reasonable excuse enter or remain in a public outdoor place to 
which a direction under regulation 6(1) relates in contravention of a prohibition, requirement 
or restriction imposed by the direction. 

(4) For the purposes of paragraph (3), a reasonable excuse includes where— 

(a)the person owns, occupies or is responsible for any land or premises in a public outdoor 
place to which the direction relates,

(b)the person needs to enter a public outdoor place to which the direction relates to obtain 
access to, or to leave, the place where they are living,

(c)the person is visiting a person who falls within a description of person in sub-paragraph (a) 
or (b),

(d)the person needs to enter or remain in a public outdoor place to which the direction 
relates—

(i)to avoid injury or illness or to escape a risk of harm,

(ii)to continue existing arrangements for access to, and contact between, parents and children 
where the children do not live in the same household as their parents, or one of their parents,

(iii)to fulfil a legal obligation or to participate in legal proceedings, or

(e)it is reasonably necessary for a person to enter or remain in a public outdoor place to 
which the direction relates—

(i)for work purposes, or for the provision of voluntary or charitable services,

(ii)to facilitate a house move,

(iii)to provide care or assistance to a vulnerable person, including relevant personal care 
within the meaning of paragraph 7(3B) of Schedule 4 to the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups 
Act 2006(9), or

(iv)to provide emergency assistance.

8.—(1) A local authority may not, without the agreement of the appropriate authority, give a 
direction under regulation 6(1) in relation to a public outdoor place which forms part of 
Crown land and includes property to which section 73 of the Public Health (Control of 
Disease) Act 1984 (Crown property) applies. 

(2) For the purposes of this regulation “the appropriate authority”, in relation to any land 
which is Crown land— 

Page 68

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00009


(a)in the case of land belonging to Her Majesty in right of the Crown and forming part of the 
Crown Estate, means the Crown Estate Commissioners, and, in relation to any other land 
belonging to Her Majesty in right of the Crown, means the Government department having 
the management of that land,

(b)in relation to land belonging to Her Majesty in right of the Duchy of Lancaster, means the 
Chancellor of the Duchy,

(c)in relation to land belonging to the Duchy of Cornwall, means such person as the Duke of 
Cornwall, or the possessor for the time being of the Duchy of Cornwall, appoints, and

(d)in the case of land belonging to a Government department or held in trust for Her Majesty 
for the purposes of a Government department, means that department, and

if any question arises as to what authority is the appropriate authority in relation to any land, 
that question shall be referred to the Treasury, whose decision shall be final. 

Representations to the Secretary of State
9.—(1) Where a person makes representations to the Secretary of State under regulation 
4(9)(b), 5(9)(b) or 6(5)(b), the Secretary of State must— 

(a)consider the representations as soon as is reasonably practicable, and

(b)decide whether it would be appropriate to exercise the power in regulation 3(2).

(2) The Secretary of State must provide written reasons for the decision in paragraph (1)(b) 
to— 

(a)the person who made the representations, and

(b)the local authority which gave the direction to which the representations relate.

Public notice of directions etc
10.—(1) Where a local authority gives a direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) which 
imposes a prohibition, requirement or restriction on a person specified by name, or revokes 
such a direction, the direction or notice of revocation— 

(a)must be given in writing to that person, and

(b)may be published in such manner as the local authority considers appropriate to bring it to 
the attention of other persons who may be affected by it.

(2) In any other case, a direction given by a local authority under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) 
or notice of revocation of such a direction— 

(a)must be published on the website of the local authority, and

Page 69



(b)may be published in such other manner as the local authority considers appropriate to 
bring it to the attention of persons who may be affected by the direction or the revocation.

(3) A direction given by a local authority under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1) must specify the 
power in these Regulations under which the direction is given. 

Notification of directions to other local authorities
11.—(1) Where a local authority (the “initiating authority”) gives a direction under regulation 
4(1), 5(1) or 6(1), or revokes such a direction, the initiating authority must notify— 

(a)any local authority whose area is adjacent to the initiating authority’s area,

(b)where the initiating authority is a London borough council, every other London borough 
council,

(c)where the initiating authority is the county council for an area for which there is also a 
district council, the district council, and

(d)where the initiating authority’s area is adjacent to the area of a council in Scotland 
constituted under section 2 of the Local Government etc (Scotland) Act 1994(10) or a county 
or county borough council in Wales, that council.

(2) Where a local authority is notified under paragraph (1)(a) or (b), the authority must— 

(a)consider, as soon as may be reasonably practicable, whether to exercise its own powers 
under these Regulations,

(b)notify the initiating authority of what it has decided to do, and

(c)if it is a county council for an area for which there is also a district council, notify the 
district council of the matter notified to it by the initiating authority and of its own decision.

(3) Paragraph (1) does not apply in relation to the giving or revocation of a direction by a 
local authority which, having been notified by another local authority under paragraph (1), is 
acting pursuant to paragraph (2). 

Enforcement of requirements
12.—(1) A local authority designated officer or a constable may take such action as is 
necessary to enforce a direction under regulation 4(1), 5(1) or 6(1). 

(2) A local authority designated officer may give a prohibition notice to a person if the officer 
reasonably believes that— 

(a)the person is contravening a direction under regulation 4(1) or 5(1), and

(b)it is necessary and proportionate to give the prohibition notice for the purpose of 
preventing that person from continuing to do so.

Page 70

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00010


(3) Where a constable considers that an event is being held in contravention of a direction 
under regulation 5(1), the constable may— 

(a)direct the event to stop,

(b)direct a person to leave the event, and

(c)remove a person from the event.

(4) Where a constable considers that a person is, without reasonable excuse, in a public 
outdoor place in contravention of regulation 7(3), the constable may— 

(a)direct that person to leave the place, and

(b)remove that person from the place.

(5) A constable exercising the power in paragraph (3)(c) or (4)(b) to remove a person from an 
event or place may use reasonable force, if necessary, in exercise of the power. 

(6) Where a child is at an event held in contravention of a direction under regulation 5(1), or 
is in a public outdoor place in contravention of regulation 7(3), and is accompanied by an 
individual who has responsibility for the child— 

(a)a constable may direct that individual to remove the child from the event or place, and

(b)that individual must, so far as reasonably practicable, ensure that the child complies with 
any direction or instruction given by the constable to the child.

(7) A constable may exercise the power in paragraph (3), (4) or (6) only if the constable 
considers that it is a necessary and proportionate means of ensuring compliance with a 
direction under regulation 5(1) or with regulation 7(3) as the case may be. 

(8) A constable exercising a power under paragraph (3), (4), or (6) may give the person 
concerned any reasonable instructions the constable considers to be necessary. 

(9) For the purposes of this regulation— 

(a)an individual has responsibility for a child if the individual—

(i)has custody or charge of the child for the time being, or

(ii)has parental responsibility for the child;

(b)“local authority designated officer” means a person designated by a local authority for the 
purposes of this regulation.

Offences and penalties
13.—(1) A person commits an offence if, without reasonable excuse, the person— 

Page 71



(a)contravenes a direction under regulation 4(1),

(b)contravenes a direction under regulation 5(1),

(c)contravenes regulation 7(2),

(d)obstructs a person carrying out a function under these Regulations, including any local 
authority designated officer under regulation 12 or constable, or

(e)contravenes a direction given under regulation 12, or fails to comply with a reasonable 
instruction or a prohibition notice given under that regulation.

(2) A person commits an offence if the person contravenes regulation 7(3). 

(3) An offence under this regulation is punishable on summary conviction by a fine. 

(4) If an offence under this regulation committed by a body corporate is proved— 

(a)to have been committed with the consent or connivance of an officer of the body, or

(b)to be attributable to any neglect on the part of such an officer,

the officer (as well as the body corporate) is guilty of the offence and liable to be prosecuted 
and proceeded against and punished accordingly. 

(5) In paragraph (4), “officer”, in relation to a body corporate, means a director, manager, 
secretary or other similar officer of the body corporate. 

(6) Section 24 of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984(11) applies in relation to an 
offence under this regulation as if the reasons in subsection (5) of that section included— 

(a)to maintain public health, and

(b)to maintain public order.

Fixed penalty notices
14.—(1) An authorised person may issue a fixed penalty notice to anyone that the authorised 
person reasonably believes— 

(a)has committed an offence under these Regulations, and

(b)is aged 18 or over.

(2) A fixed penalty notice is a notice offering the person to whom it is issued the opportunity 
of discharging any liability to conviction for the offence by payment of a fixed penalty to an 
authority specified in the notice. 

(3) The authority specified in the notice must be— 

Page 72

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00011


(a)the local authority (or as the case may be, any of the local authorities) in whose area the 
offence is alleged to have been committed (“the relevant local authority”), or

(b)an officer designated by the Secretary of State, or by the relevant local authority, for the 
purposes of this regulation.

(4) Where a person is issued with a notice under this regulation in respect of an offence— 

(a)no proceedings may be taken for the offence before the end of the period of 28 days 
beginning with the day after the date of the notice;

(b)the person may not be convicted of the offence if the person pays the fixed penalty before 
the end of that period.

(5) A fixed penalty notice must— 

(a)give reasonably detailed particulars of the circumstances alleged to constitute the offence,

(b)state the period during which (because of paragraph (4)(a)) proceedings will not be taken 
for the offence,

(c)specify the amount of the fixed penalty (as to which, see paragraphs (6) and (7)),

(d)state the name and address of the person to whom the fixed penalty may be paid, and

(e)specify permissible methods of payment.

(6) If the fixed penalty notice is the first issued to the person under a relevant enactment, the 
amount of the fixed penalty is— 

(a)£50, if that amount is paid before the end of the period of 14 days following the date of the 
notice, and

(b)otherwise, £100.

(7) If the fixed penalty notice is not the first fixed penalty notice issued to the person under a 
relevant enactment, the amount of the fixed penalty is as follows— 

(a)if it is the second fixed penalty notice so issued, £200,

(b)if it is the third fixed penalty notice so issued, £400,

(c)if it is the fourth fixed penalty notice so issued, £800,

(d)if it is the fifth fixed penalty notice so issued, £1,600,

(e)if it is the sixth fixed penalty notice so issued and for any subsequent fixed penalty notice 
so issued, £3,200.

(8) In paragraphs (6) and (7) “relevant enactment” means— 

Page 73



(a)these Regulations,

(b)the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (England) Regulations 2020(12),

(c)the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (Leicester) Regulations 2020(13), and

(d)the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No. 2) (England) Regulations 2020(14).

(9) Whatever other method may be specified under paragraph (5)(e), payment of a fixed 
penalty may be made by pre-paying and posting to the person whose name is stated under 
paragraph (5)(d), at the stated address, a letter containing the amount of the penalty (in cash 
or otherwise). 

(10) Where a letter is sent as mentioned in paragraph (9), payment is regarded as having been 
made at the time at which that letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of post. 

(11) In any proceedings, a certificate that— 

(a)purports to be signed by or on behalf of—

(i)the chief finance officer of the relevant local authority, where the authority to which 
payment is made is a local authority, or

(ii)the officer referred to in paragraph (3)(b), where that officer is the authority to which 
payment is made, and

(b)states that the payment of a fixed penalty was, or was not, received by the date specified in 
the certificate,

is evidence of the facts stated. 

(12) In this regulation “authorised person” means— 

(a)a person designated by the local authority, in the case of—

(i)an offence under regulation 13(1)(a), (b) or (c), or

(ii)an offence under regulation 13(1)(d) in a case where the person obstructed is a local 
authority designated officer, and

(b)a constable, in the case of any offence under regulation 13(1)(d), (e) or (2).

Prosecutions
15.  Proceedings for an offence under these Regulations may be brought by a local authority, 
the Crown Prosecution Service and any person designated by the Secretary of State (but this 
does not affect any other power to bring proceedings for such an offence). 

Continuity of designations

Page 74

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00012
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00013
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00014


16.—(1) A person who on the coming into force of these Regulations is designated by the 
Secretary of State or a local authority for the purposes of regulation 9(3)(b) of the Health 
Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No.2) (England) Regulations 2020 is to be treated as 
if they were designated by the Secretary of State or local authority respectively under 
regulation 14(3)(b) of these Regulations. 

(2) A person who on the coming into force of these Regulations is designated by the 
Secretary of State for the purposes of regulation 10 of the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (No.2) (England) Regulations 2020 is to be treated as if they were designated by 
the Secretary of State under regulation 15 of these Regulations. 

Directions by county councils
17.—(1) A county council for an area for which there is also a district council may direct the 
district council to exercise any of the district council’s functions in a specified way. 

(2) But a county council may only give a direction under this regulation if it considers that it 
is necessary and proportionate to do so in order to prevent, protect against, delay or otherwise 
control the incidence or spread of infection by coronavirus in the district council’s area. 

(3) A direction under this regulation may be varied or revoked by the county council. 

(4) In determining whether to give a direction under this regulation, or to vary or revoke such 
a direction, a county council must have regard to any advice given to it by its director of 
public health (or its interim or acting director of public health). 

Amendment of other Regulations
18.—(1) In regulation 10(9) of the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (Leicester) 
Regulations 2020(15)— 

(a)after “under” insert “these Regulations,”, and

(b)before “are to be taken into account” insert “and the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (England) (No. 3) Regulations 2020”.

(2) In regulation 9(9) of the Health Protection (Coronavirus, Restrictions) (No. 2) (England) 
Regulations 2020(16)— 

(a)after the first mention of “under” insert “these Regulations,”, and

(b)before “are to be taken into account” insert “and under the Health Protection (Coronavirus, 
Restrictions) (England) (No. 3) Regulations 2020”.

Expiry
19.—(1) These Regulations expire at the end of 17 January 2021. 

Page 75

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00015
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/750/made#f00016


(2) This regulation does not affect the validity of anything done pursuant to these Regulations 
before they expire. 

Matt Hancock

Secretary of State,

Department of Health and Social Care

16th July 2020

EXPLANATORY NOTE
(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

These Regulations make provision for a local authority to give directions relating to premises, 
events and public outdoor places in its area. A direction may only be given if the local 
authority considers that the public health, necessity and proportionality conditions set out in 
regulation 2 are met. 

The local authority must review a direction given under these Regulations at least once every 
7 days. The Regulations also give the Secretary of State power to direct the local authority to 
give a direction under these Regulations, or to revoke (with or without replacement) a 
direction given by the local authority under these Regulations. 

No impact assessment has been prepared for these Regulations. 

(1)

1984 c. 22. Part 2A was inserted by section 129 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (c. 
14). 

(2)

1989 c. 41. 

(3)

1949 c. 97. 

(4)

1968 c. 41. Section 16 has been amended by section 111 of the Transport Act 1968 (c. 73), 
Schedule 27 to the Water Act 1989 (c. 15) and S.I. 2012/1659. There are other amendments 
to section 16 which are not relevant to this instrument. 

(5)

2000 c. 37. 

Page 76

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1984/22
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2008/14
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2008/14
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1989/41
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1949/97
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1968/41
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1968/73
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1989/15
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2012/1659
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2000/37


(6)

The definition of “access land” has been amended by sections 303(2) and 321 of and Part 7 of 
Schedule 22 to, the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009 (c. 23). 

(7)

1978 c. 30. 

(8)

1980 c. 43. 

(9)

2006 c.47. Paragraph 7(3B) of Schedule 4 was inserted by section 66 of the Protection of 
Freedoms Act 2012 (c.9). 

(10)

1994 c. 39. 

(11)

1984 c. 60. Section 24 was substituted b s. 110(1) of the Serious Organised Crime and Police 
Act 2005 (c. 15). 

(12)

S.I. 2020/350; amended by S.I. 2020/447; 2020/500; 2020/558; 2020/588. 

(13)

S.I. 2020/685. 

(14)

S.I. 2020/684, amended by S.I. 2020/719. 

(15)

S.I. 2020/685. 

(16)

S.I. 2020/684, amended by S.I 2020/719. 

Page 77

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2009/23
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1978/30
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1980/43
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2006/47
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2012/9
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1994/39
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/1984/60
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/ukpga/2005/15
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/350
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/447
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/500
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/558
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/588
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/685
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/684
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/719
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/685
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/684
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2020/719


REPORT TO: Executive Board

DATE: 30th July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director, 
Economy, Community & Enterprise Directorate

PORTFOLIO:  Community Safety

SUBJECT: ‘HBC Local Lockdown Shielded 
Contingency Plan’

WARDS: Borough wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 The purpose of the report is to share the ‘HBC Local Lockdown Shielded 
Contingency Plan.’ This document has been produced in response to a 
risk of a local lockdown, where there may be an impact on Shielded 
Individuals within the Borough.

2.0   RECOMMENDATION: That

1) the report be noted; and 
2) the Board approves the Plan.

3.0    SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1    Background

3.2 Following the national lockdown of the Country, supporting Shielded 
Individuals within the Borough has been a key priority for the authority.  
The authority has aimed to assist these individuals with the support 
mechanisms they have required at this uncertain time.  

3.3. There are more than 6,000 Shielded Individuals who reside within the 
Borough.  The authority has categorised these individuals into three 
areas, which are detailed within Table: 1 (overleaf).  

Page 78 Agenda Item 6a



Table: 1

Number of Halton Residents Shielding Status (as of 20/07/20)

1,439 Registered Shielded

Receiving a level of support from                     
Halton Borough Council and/or partners 
(support with supplies, health & welfare).

2,403 Registered Shielded and not receiving 
additional support. 

2556 Unregistered shielded

3.3 Following the lockdowns in Leicester and potential other areas within the 
Country, the authority need to be prepared to experience and manage 
the risk of a local lockdown, especially supporting the Shielded 
Individuals within the defined lockdown area.

3.4 A ‘local lockdown’ may be a defined area, such as:

  A street / road 
  A number of streets / road
  One side of a street
  Educational / Care setting
  Care setting
  Ward / Village
  Widnes / Runcorn
  Borough of Halton Borough Council
  Cross border 
  North West of England
  North of England
  Whole of England

3.3    Guidance

The guidance for a local lockdown is based on monitoring of local data, 
recommended by the CHaMPs Public Health Collaborative guidelines 
(Cheshire and Merseyside).  Further information is detailed within 
Appendix 1 of the attached HBC Local Lockdown Contingency Plan.

Page 79



3.4 Local Planning

3.4 A local lockdown would potentially be required in the event of an 
outbreak occurring within one of the above defined areas.  The authority 
has  developed a suite of Contingency Plans in response to such an 
outbreak occurring.  These documents are based on a number of 
various scenarios.

3.5 Should the mitigation measures detailed within the Outbreak Plans not 
be sufficient to reduce the spread of the virus, a Local Lockdown may be 
required.  Therefore, the aim of the ‘HBC Local Lockdown Shielded 
Contingency plan’ is to provide guidance for the authority and partnering 
agencies in the response to the ‘Local Lockdown’ in relation to Shielded 
Individuals and the wider consequences.  The objectives are to:

  Ensure all agencies are prepared and able to deal with a lockdown 
so as to protect those highlighted as shielded.

 Establish a range of procedures and actions for all multi agencies.

 Identify the resources available to provide health and wellbeing 
support to the shielded population and 

 Identify triggers for Halton Borough Council staffing and resources.

3.6 The HBC Local Lockdown Shielded Contingency Plan is split into a 
number of sections with the aim to clearly inform the user of the 
document the processes and procedures required to support the 
affected defined area of of the community with the response required. 

3.8 The plan also details Shielded Individual information which is mapped by 
Ward.  The maps and supporting documentation dovetails with shielded 
individuals contact information and support requirements.  This 
information will be updated on a regular basis, with the aim to ensure the 
document is resilient and ‘fit for purpose’ in the event of activation.

3.9 Due to the nature and level of information with the Contingency Plan, 
there are 2 versions, which can be accessed via Resilience Direct 
(Restricted Cabinet Office Platform) and the authority’s Emergency 
Planning Portal, both with restricted access / permissions.

Page 80



4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The recommendation of the contingency plan being used on receipt of 
notification of a local lockdown would aim to support the response to a 
local lockdown within a defined area within the Borough.

4.2 This document will be shared internally and externally with partner 
agencies, with the aim to raise awareness of the response and 
expectations of supporting partners.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The Contingency Plan would aim to provide a structured process in 
relation to the efficient response and delivery to support the community 
in the event of a Local Lockdown.  This in turn will aim to save time and 
cost to the authority.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S 

6.1   Children and Young People in Halton

6.3 A Healthy Halton

6.4 A Safer Halton

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal

‘None’

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 This plan and detailed information reduces the risk of supporting the 
community in a time of crisis.  The document outlines the key tasks and 
actions to be taken to ensure control measures are in place to support 
the community in a time of uncertain and crisis.

7.2 Following the activation and response to a Local Lockdown, there will be 
a continued series of Risk Assessments conducted Nationally, 
Regionally and Locally.  The aim of these assessments to obtain 
intelligence in relation to the Covid-19 outbreak.

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

‘None’

Page 81



9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

Document Place of Inspection Contact Officer

HBC Local Lockdown 
Contingency Plan

Attached to this report. Michelle Cotgreave

Page 82



1 
 

/ 

 

 

 

  

OFFICIAL 

Halton Borough Council 

COVID-19 

‘Local Lockdown Shielded Contingency Plan’ 

July 2020 

 

Version: 2.1 

Page 83



2 
 

Disclaimer 

 
The document has been co-ordinated and published in good faith by Risk & 
Emergency Planning, Halton Borough Council and is believed to comprise accurate 
and up-to-date information regarding all matters contained within the document at the 
time of writing.  This document is a “live” document and is in line with National 
Guidance. 
 
However, there is no guarantee warranty, nor binding assurance or representation of 
any kind given by virtue of the preparation or publication of this plan by Halton Borough 
Council: 
 

 The plans, intentions, procedures and information herein are complete and 
without defect or error of any kind; 
 

 Any action or series of actions, processes or procedures described herein as 
to be taken will be taken by the person or persons herein described or by any 
other person or persons acting on his, her or their behalf; 
 

 All or any of the person(s), resources, equipment, facilities or services 
described herein will be available at all or any time or times; 
 

 Any person or persons who act or fail to act in reliance upon this plan or any 
part or parts of it do so entirely at his, her or their own risk. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



3 
 

Plan Amendments 

 
 

Version Date Plan Amendment Produced By 

    
 

1 
 
July 2020 
 

 
Production of  
HBC ‘COVID-19 Outbreak Local 
Lockdown Contingency Plan’ 
Draft Version 
 

 
Emergency Planning in 
consultation with HBC 
Directorates. 
 

    

 
2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.1 

 
July 2020 

 
Document shared with  
Local Authority Public Health 
(Appendix: 2) 
 
Plan currently with  
Health Protection Board. 
Comments to be incorporated.  
 
Addition of Comments from 
HBC Hub Call 22/07/2020 

 
Emergency Planning Team 

    

 
 

  

Page 85



4 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 86



5 
 

Contents 
Disclaimer ............................................................................................................................................ 2 

Plan Amendments .............................................................................................................................. 3 

Section: 1 – Introduction .................................................................................................................. 7 

Aim & Objectives ............................................................................................................................ 9 

Risks of a Local Lockdown ....................................................................................................... 10 

Enforcement of a Local Lockdown.......................................................................................... 11 

Shielding (Clinically Extremely Vulnerable) .......................................................................... 12 

Section: 2 – Activation .................................................................................................................... 17 

Activation ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

Section: 3 – Response .................................................................................................................... 21 

Roles & Responsibilities ............................................................................................................ 23 

Halton Borough Council ............................................................................................ 23 

Supporting Agencies ................................................................................................. 27 

Cross Border / Mutual Aid ......................................................................................... 29 

Processes ...................................................................................................................................... 29 

Lockdown of a defined area ...................................................................................... 29 

Shielded Individuals .................................................................................................. 31 

Section: 4 – Ward Information & Mapping................................................................................. 37 

Halton Ward Information ............................................................................................................ 39 

Widnes ............................................................................................................................................ 40 

Runcorn .......................................................................................................................................... 43 

Maps ................................................................................................................................................ 45 

Registered Shielded Individuals who are receiving support by Polling District and 

Ward ................................................................................................................................................ 46 

Registered Shielded Individuals who are not receiving support by Polling District 

and Ward ........................................................................................................................................ 47 

Individuals who became Shielded after 17th July by Polling District and Ward .......... 48 

  

Page 87



6 
 

 

 

Section: 5 – Appendices ................................................................................................................ 51 

Appendix: 1 – Criteria for Covid-19 alert threshold and suggested process for C&M 

LAs to follow [10/07/20] .............................................................................................................. 53 

Appendix: 2 – Shielding Letter ................................................................................................. 59 

Appendix: 3 – Leaflet to accompany letter ............................................................................ 61 

Appendix: 4 – Public Health Outbreak Notification Processes ....................................... 63 

Appendix: 5 – Shielded Calls Outcomes ............................................................................... 66 

Appendix: 6 – Key Media Messages ....................................................................................... 68 

Appendix: 7 – Call Assessment Form .................................................................................... 71 

Appendix: 8 – HBC Covid Calls Team .................................................................................... 75 

Appendix: 9 – Contingency SI Callers for Weekends......................................................... 77 

Appendix: 10 – Pathway – SI in lockdown ............................................................................ 79 

Appendix: 11 – COVID Support Helpline Messages ........................................................... 81 

Appendix: 12 – Covid Support Helpline Non-Lockdown ................................................... 83 

Appendix: 13 – Pathway – Covid in Support in Lockddown ............................................ 85 

Appendix: 14 – Complex Settings Matrix .............................................................................. 87 

Document Contacts: ....................................................................................................................... 89 

Distribution List ................................................................................................................................ 98 

 

 

  

Page 88



7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Section: 1 – Introduction 
 

 

  

Page 89



8 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

Page 90



9 
 

Aim & Objectives 
 
Aim: 
 

 To provide guidance for Halton Borough Council and partnering agencies in the 

response to a ‘Local Lockdown’ in relation to Shielded Individuals and the wider 

consequences. 

 

 

Objectives: 

 

 To ensure all agencies are prepared and able to deal with a lockdown so as to 

protect those highlighted as shielded. 

 

 To establish a range of procedures and actions for all multi agencies. 
 

 To identify the resources available to provide health and wellbeing support to 

the shielded population and  

 

 To identify triggers for Halton Borough Council staffing and resources. 

 

  

Page 91



10 
 

Risks of a Local Lockdown 
 

A Local Lockdown would potentially be required in the event of an Outbreak occurring 

within a defined area.  

Halton Borough Council has developed a suite of Outbreak Contingency Plans in 

response to such an outbreak occurring.  This been based on a number of various 

settings.  

The authority’s Outbreak Contingency Plans are accessed via the following hyperlink: 

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-

Local-Outbreaks.aspx. 

Should the mitigation measures detailed within the Outbreak Plans not be sufficient to 

reduce the spread of the virus, a Local Lockdown may be required.  

 

Guidance 

The guidance for a Local Lockdown is based on monitoring of local data, 

recommended by the CHaMPs Public Health Collaborative guidelines (Cheshire and 

Merseyside). The following are indicative that a local lockdown may be required: 

 >50 cases / 100,000 population in any local authority in a given day (>64 
cases in Halton)  

 Significant increase in absolute numbers (e.g. doubling) of cases in any local 
authority in any given day 

 Weekly moving average cases with consistently increasing trend for the local 
authority 

 Increasing number of Covid-19 related calls to NHS 111 from local area (not 
sure if this is available on timely basis at present) 

 

Further information is detailed within Appendix 1  

  

Page 92

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx


11 
 

Enforcement of a Local Lockdown 
 

The implementation of a full local lockdown of the scale implemented in other areas of 

the country such as Leicester will require legislation and direction from central 

government. The local authority and police may be provided with powers to enforce 

this lockdown. 

In addition local authorities have been granted local powers to; 

 restrict access to or close individual premises 

 prohibit certain events or types of events from taking place 

 restrict access to or close public outdoor places (or types of outdoor public 

places) 

These powers are designed to enable a local authority to take decisive local action in 

relation to localised outbreaks or to prevent the local spread of infection in order to 

control the number of local corona virus cases and thereby prevent the circumstances 

arising that may require a full local lockdown. 

The consequences of the council exercising these powers may require consideration 

and implementation of the contingency measures set out in the plan  

 

Further information regarding the regulations can be found: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-

restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-

restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020     

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-under-coronavirus-regulations/local-authority-powers-to-impose-restrictions-health-protection-coronavirus-restrictions-england-no3-regulations-2020


12 
 

Shielding (Clinically Extremely Vulnerable) 

 

There are a number of individuals who have underlying health conditions who have 
been required to take precautions to protect themselves in reducing the risk of 
contracting Coronavirus (Covid-19). 

The virus poses a higher risk to a ‘Shielded Individual’ if exposed to the virus.  
Nationally around 2.5 million people have been asked to shield, which over 6,000 of 
those individuals reside within the borough of Halton.  

Individuals who are clinically extremely vulnerable, are at a higher risk of serious 
illness from the Coronavirus. These individuals have been part of a NHS database for 
Shielded Individuals.  These individuals would have been contacted to advise fit within 
the Shielded category.  This contact would have been either by an NHS letter, advised 
by their GP or hospital clinician.  The advice was to ‘shield’ during the initial outbreak 
of the Coronavirus.   

Shielded Individuals include clinically extremely vulnerable people living in                           
a long-term care facility for the elderly or people with special needs. 

Clinically extremely vulnerable people may include: 

1. Solid organ transplant recipients. 
2. People with specific cancers:  

o people with cancer who are undergoing active chemotherapy 
o people with lung cancer who are undergoing radical radiotherapy 
o people with cancers of the blood or bone marrow such as leukaemia, 

lymphoma or myeloma who are at any stage of treatment 
o people having immunotherapy or other continuing antibody treatments 

for cancer 
o people having other targeted cancer treatments which can affect the 

immune system, such as protein kinase inhibitors or PARP inhibitors 
o people who have had bone marrow or stem cell transplants in the last 6 

months, or who are still taking immunosuppression drugs 
3. People with severe respiratory conditions including all cystic fibrosis, severe 

asthma and severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). 
4. People with rare diseases that significantly increase the risk of infections (such 

as severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID), homozygous sickle cell). 
5. People on immunosuppression therapies sufficient to significantly increase risk 

of infection. 
6. Women who are pregnant with significant heart disease, congenital or acquired. 
7. Other people have also been classed as clinically extremely vulnerable, based 

on clinical judgement and an assessment of their needs. GPs and hospital 
clinicians have been provided with guidance to support these decisions. 

 

 

Page 94



13 
 

Communication with the Shielded Individuals advised if they required support during 

the shielding phase, to register via a dedicated NHS website / telephone number. The 

NHS Shielded Patient website / telephone number closed on Friday 17th July. 

Following this process, Halton Borough Council where advised via a daily download 

of the Shielded Individuals who had registered for support.  Therefore, the authority 

used a number of Shielded HUB Callers to contact the individuals registered with the 

aim to confirm the level of support they required.  

The authority grouped the ‘shielding population’ into categories based on their 

status: 

 Registered shielded and requiring support with supplies, health & welfare (RED)  

 Registered shielded but requiring no additional support (AMBER) 

 Added to the Shielded Patient List (SPL) after 18th July (Yellow) 

 Unregistered shielded on SPL before 17th July (GREEN) 

 

Post 31st July 2020 – New Shielding 

Government have announced from 1st August 2020 the shielding initiative will cease.  

This document has been produced to scope how those individuals previously 

classified as Shielded (to be known as Shielded Individuals or SI in this document) will 

be supported post 31st July 2020 and / or in the event of a lockdown. 

In relation to Table:1 below, all Shielded Individuals who fall within the RED and 

AMBER Categories have received an ’end of shielding’ letter by Halton Borough 

Council.  

Table: 1 

 
Number of Halton Residents 

 
Shielding Status (as of 20/07/20) 

 

 
1,439 

 
Registered shielded and receiving a 
level of support from Halton Borough 

Council and/or partners 1 
 

 
2,403 

 
Registered shielded and not receiving 

additional support 
 

 
0 

(will be added to post 17th July) 
 

 
Added to Shielded Patient List after  

18th July 2 

 
2556 

 
 

 
Unregistered shielded up to 17th July 3 

Page 95



14 
 

1 Those Shielded individuals receiving parcels from the National Delivery Supplier w/c 

Saturday 25th July will receive a letter in their parcel advising them that this is their last 

parcel and that shielding is coming to an end. The letter also states that if support is 

still required to contact their local authority. The National Delivery Suppliers operate 

over Multiple Local Authority footprints so the letter is unable to be specific to Halton 

Borough Council.  

2 The X individuals are individuals who have been contacted by the NHS advising them 

they are eligible to shield after the closure of the National Support Helpline and 

Website have closed (18th July). These individuals have not had the opportunity to 

register if they need support, and so will be contacted at the point of a Local Lockdown 

in the area in which they live. These individuals have not received the ‘end of shielding 

letter’ from Halton Borough Council. 

3 The 2,556 individuals who are unregistered shielded have been contacted by the 

NHS advising to ‘shield’ in advance of 17th July.  However, these individuals have 

chosen not to register for support. This group of individuals have not received the ‘end 

of shielding letter’ from Halton Borough Council. 

This letter was sent to these two Shielded groups to ensure they had the correct level 

of support (basic food supplies, emergency contact numbers, public health leaflet etc) 

and reassurance post 31st July 2020. The letter also informed the recipient Halton 

Borough Council would be in contact, in the future, if there is a change to the Shielding 

advice related to Covid-19. Appendices 2 & 3 

 

Non-Shielded Vulnerable (NSV) 

Non Shielded Vulnerable (NSV) individuals are those who were encouraged to isolate 

for a variety of reasons.   

These included: 

 age 

 health conditions and  

 pregnancy (3rd trimester) during the initial Covid-19 outbreak.  

The above category were not classified as ‘clinically extremely vulnerable.’   

All local services offering a response to the Covid-19 Outbreak (apart from the National 

Food Parcel Scheme) were made available to the NSV Category.  They were advised 

to contact Halton Borough Council for support.  A similar offer of support will be made 

available during a local lockdown situation.  

Information, advice and guidance is available via: https://onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport/ 

 

  

Page 96

https://onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport/


15 
 

Further Consequences of a Lockdown 

In addition to supporting those who are more susceptible to the virus, the authority are 

aware there is wider impacts and consequences which affect a Local Lockdown, 

including the following: 

 Support of non-essential local businesses within the lockdown area; 

 Schools within the lockdown area including transport of children; 

 Working with NHS colleagues to support GP Surgeries and Urgent Care 

Centres; 

 Public Transport and Highway infrastructure; 

 Supporting those individuals who are living within the lockdown area: 

o Finances 

o Childcare 

o Mental Wellbeing 

 

  

Page 97



16 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

Page 98



17 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Section: 2 – Activation  
 

 

 

  

Page 99



18 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

Page 100



19 
 

Activation 
 

This plan is to be used as an ‘action guide’ with the aim to protect and support the 

previously ‘shielded’ population within the community in relation to a ’Local Lockdown’ 

scenario.  The document will work to prepare, alert and prevent the major avoidable 

effects in relation to ‘health & wellbeing.’ 

 

Outbreak Identification 

The Outbreak Support Team utilising data the various sources detailed in Appendix 1 

will assess the risk of an Outbreak, and where an Outbreak is identified a decision to 

implement a Local Lockdown may be made by Director of Public Health, a Consultant 

in Public Health or the Chief Executive, using the Process Maps found in Appendix 4.  

Should the nominated officer decide a lockdown is required the Local 

Lockdown Plan is activated. 

 

Notification 

Once the nominated officer has activated the Lockdown Plan, the Emergency Planning 

Team will be contacted and together an ‘action plan’ will be agreed which will 

commence the response and support the area / community affected.   

Following the receipt of notification, normal Emergency Planning communication 

cascade will be actioned. 

The following officers / areas will be involved as part of the response: 

 Strategic Director Enterprise, Community & Resources 

 Strategic Director People 

 Leader  

 Deputy Leader 

 Ward Elected Members 

 Ward Elected Members for adjacent Wards  

 Emergency Planning Portfolio Holder 

 Principal Emergency Planning Officer 

 Duty Emergency Planning Officer 

 Divisional Manager Health Improvement 

 Contact Centre Manager 

 Communications and Marketing Manager 

 OOH Team 

 

 

 

Page 101



20 
 

A Local lockdown may occur in one of the following areas: 

 A street  

 A number of streets 

 One side of a street 

 Educational setting 

 Care setting 

 Ward 

 Village 

 Widnes 

 Runcorn 

 Borough of Halton Borough Council 

 Cross border  

o Cheshire Resilience Forum (Warrington, Cheshire West & Chester, 

Cheshire East) 

o Liverpool City Region (6 LAs)  

 North West of England 

 North of England 

 Whole of England 

 

  

Page 102



21 
 

 

 

 

 

Section: 3 – Response  
  

Page 103



22 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

  

Page 104



23 
 

Roles & Responsibilities 
 

This section outlines the roles of the authority and responding agencies / organisation 

prior to and during a ‘Local Lockdown.’ 

 

Halton Borough Council 

Public Health (Director of Public Health) 

 On receipt of notification of a lockdown, define the area to be locked down and 

notify Chief Executive and Emergency Planning Team. 

 Maintain contact and update Public Health England regarding the Lock down. 

 

HBC Emergency Planning – Facilitate the following: 

 Maintain and update the ‘shielding list’ for the defined area within the Borough. 

 On receipt of the details of the defined area, utilise the maps and Shielded 

Database to obtain details of those to be contacted. (Section 4) 

 Create a Spreadsheet with contact information. 

 Create a further spreadsheet from those to be contacted for outcomes. 

(Appendix 5) 

 Organise and schedule regular HBC Hub Shielded Teleconference to take 

place. 

 Field information to Shielded Hub Admin and Health Improvement Team to 

make contact with the individuals defined within the area. 

 Support and liaise with Shielded Hub Team. 

 Work in partnership with Local Authority Public Heath Team. 

 Update Chief Executive and Strategic Directors. 

 Update Leader / Portfolio Holder / Elected Ward Councillors.  

 Liaise with responding services / organisations / agency’s. 

 Liaise with Communications and Marketing / Contact Centre / Out of Hours 

Team regarding calls / communications / reassurance messages. 

 Ensure Financial records are maintained. 

 Ensure Corporate Log is maintained. 

 

  

Page 105



24 
 

Communications & Marketing 

 Provide reassurance and information messages during a non-lockdown 

situation. 

 In the event of a local lockdown work with Communications and Marketing 

Representatives from the other Responding agencies to co-ordinate a public 

information response to the lockdown. 

 Provide co-ordinated reassurance information messages during a lockdown. 

 Example messages are detailed via: Appendix 6 

 

Customer Intelligence 

 Maintain the COVID-19 Support area within the Halton Borough Council 

Website. 

 Create and maintain a web-form https://halton.me/shielded-person-form/ 

(output is shown in Appendix 7) for Hub Call Handlers to use to assess Shielded 

Individuals when called. 

 Where directed, update the authority’s website in the event of a local lockdown. 

 

Shielded Individuals Hub Team / Admin Manager 

 Form a Shielded HUB Call Handler Team (at short notice) using the staffing 

information in Appendix 8 & 9 

 Distribute Shielded Individuals contact information to Hub Call Handler Team 

to make calls. 

 Monitor incoming assessment forms and forward them to relevant departments 

using the Shielded Individuals Lockdown Pathway (Appendix 10) 

 

Shielded Individuals Call Staff 

 Contact Shielded Individuals Calls list and assess needs using the web-form 

https://halton.me/shielded-person-form/ and submit completed form. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106

https://halton.me/shielded-person-form/
https://halton.me/shielded-person-form/


25 
 

Halton Direct Link Contact Centre  

 Operate COVID Support Helpline: 

o 0151 907 8363 

o During Office Hours: 08:00 – 18:00  

o Monday to Friday.  

 Update “Hold” Message via the ‘COVID Support Line’ with a message to reflect 

current situation (Appendix 11): 

o Pre–1st August 

o Post – 1st August 

o Local Lockdown 

 Following receipt of a call from a member of the public following 1st August and 

there is no ‘Lockdown’ in place, provide most appropriate support via “COVID 

Support Helpline Pathway (1st August 2020 onwards)” (Appendix 12) 

 Following receipt of a call from a member of the public during ‘Lockdown,’ 

provide the most appropriate support via “COVID Support Helpline Pathway 

Lockdown)” (Appendix 13) 

 Following receipt of a request regarding food provision in relation to the ‘Adult 

Referrals e-mail Account,’ contact the customer to discuss the options 

available and provide the support. (See Appendix 10) 

 

Health Improvement Team 

 Triage assessment forms in order to provide support with “Other Support” and 

forward the request to the most appropriate service for support. (Appendix 10) 

 

Pharmacy Support 

 On receipt regarding a request for support with medication, arrange the most 

appropriate transport service (Cheshire Fire & Rescue or HBC Transport               

Co-ordination) using “Shielded Individuals Lockdown Pathway.” (Appendix 10) 

 

Transport Co-ordination 

 On receipt of addresses from Shielded HUB Admin Manager / Emergency 

Planning Team, deliver parcels for Community Shop Boxes. 

 Deliver medication as requested via the Pharmacy team.  

 

Complex Settings Working Sub Group 

 Reporting directly to the Chief Executive and tasked with collating the 

contacts for community and external partners that would need to be informed 

in a local outbreak and lockdown situation. (Appendix 14) 

Page 107



26 
 

Volunteer Portal Support 

 Halton Borough Council will provide up to three members of staff who can be 
re-called to support the volunteer portal with Halton & St Helen’s VCA to cope 
with an influx of demand for volunteers to support residents 

 

 

 

  

Page 108



27 
 

Supporting Agencies 
 

Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service Welfare Unit 

 Provide home visit for uncontactable registered shielded (Appendix 15) 

 Complete medication deliveries when requested by Pharmacy Support.  

 

Cheshire Constabulary – Operation Pandas 

 Activate ‘Operation Pandas.’ 

 Provide home visit for uncontactable registered shielded.  

 

Cheshire Emergencies Voluntary Agencies Committee 

 Coordinate additional emergency support (not covered by this document) in the 

event of a local lockdown or Major Incident being declared (via Cheshire 

Resilience Forum). 

 Act as a Single Point of Contact for Voluntary Agencies in the event of a Local 

Lockdown. 

 

 Halton & St Helens Voluntary Community Action (VCA) 

 Halton & St Helens VCA is the umbrella organisation for Halton’s voluntary 

sector, otherwise referred to as the third sector.  This sector is large and varied 

from small neighbourhood or thematic groups such as sport, arts & culture and 

the more formalised part of the sector with large organisations, social 

enterprises and charities such as Age UK, Barnardo’s, Wellbeing Enterprises, 

Sew Halton etc.  

 VCA also support volunteering in Halton and have a portal which matches local 

volunteers with residents in need.  The system will provide a co-ordinated 

volunteer approach that responds to needs triaged through the contact centre. 

 

Halton Community Shop 

 Provides non-perishable food parcels containing items such as soup, pasta, 
long-life milk, tea, coffee, biscuits, tinned fruit, veg meat & fish and 
toiletries.  Enough for one person for approximately one week, £10 for anyone 
in receipt on benefits or financial hardship, £25 to others, ordered and paid for 
through the authority’s Contact Centre. 
 

 

 

 

Page 109



28 
 

Housing Associations 

 Accept referrals from Halton Borough Council for support to tenants. 

 Provide support to their vulnerable and shielded tenants. 

 Refer those residents who require support that cannot be made through the 

Housing Association to the Local Authority. 

 

Home Office, Serco and Migrant Help 

 Communicate with and support asylum seekers and refugees in Halton, in both 

dispersed accommodation and in the Contingency Initial Accommodation Hotel 

(Daresbury Park).  

 

Other Supporting Organisations in Halton  

 There are other Information, Advice and Guidance organisations who can 

support their clients who may have particular needs – key contacts can be 

found on this link:-  https://onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport/   

Page 110

https://onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport/


29 
 

Cross Border / Mutual Aid 
 

In the event the ‘Local Lockdown’ impacts on the boundaries of another local 

authority area, Halton Borough Council via Director of Public Health and Emergency 

Planning will action the following: 

 Identify area affected 

 Identify Individuals who are affected 

 Identity any complex settings within this are 

 Map these areas  

 Identify critical infrastructure 

 Food provisions  

 Medical provisions 

 Other vital statutory provisions 

 Health and wellbeing support 

 Invite 

 Redefine an action plan  

 Redefine roles and responsibilities 

 Way forward 

 A response structure 

 A recovery / RESET structure 

 

Processes 

 

Lockdown of a defined area 

The authority holds a number of plans detailing the actions to be taken in the event of 

an outbreak occurring in a number of settings; e.g. educational settings, care homes, 

etc. The plans can be accessed at https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-

19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx. 

Page 111

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx


30 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank  

Page 112



31 
 

Shielded Individuals 

Once the activation of a ‘Local Lockdown’ has commenced, a number of processes 

will take place in order to inform and contact the SI within the designated area. 

 

 

 

Identify Shielded individuals (SI) within the lockdown area 
 

Using data provided by the Government Digital Services (GDS) Halton Borough 

Council are aware of the names and address of all shielded Individuals within Halton.  

The SI have been categorised based on their status during the initial covid-19 

outbreak: (Information as per 20/07/20).  

 
Status 

 

 
What does this mean 

 
Red 

 
Registered shielded and receiving a 

level of support 
 

 
Amber 

 
Registered shielded and not receiving 

additional support 
 

 
Green 

 
Shielded but not registered 

 
 

 

The Registration Service for Clinically Extremely Vulnerable closes Friday 17th July. 

From this date, no new “Registered Shielded” will be added to the Shielded Hub 

Database. However, the Shielded Patient List will continue to be created by GDS as 

residents are classified and declassified as Clinically Extremely Vulnerable.  

 

There may be a number of those individuals registered with the Shielded Hub, which 

will be classified as ‘No Longer Shielded.’  Therefore, these individuals may not 

receive a call in the event of a Lockdown. Therefore, any new Shielded Individuals will 

not be able to register and will form part of the GREEN cohort.  

Identify 
Shielded 

individuals 
(SI) within 

the 
lockdown 

area

Form a HBC 
Calls Team

Contact the 
Shielded 

Individuals 
by phone 
call and 

complete 
phone 

assessment

Details of 
those that 

require 
support sent 

to the 
appropriate 

HBC 
departments

Appropriate 
support 

offered to 
the SI

Page 113



32 
 

There are a number of maps incorporated within this plan, which will be used with the 

aim to scope the location of all Shielded Individuals across the borough of Halton. The 

maps have been broken down using the Polling Districts and Ward Areas across the 

authority.  

Once the Shielded Individual has been identified within the ‘Lockdown’ defined area, 

a list of individual names will be sent to the Covid-19 calls teams. Those Shielded 

Individuals highlighted RED will be prioritised, followed by AMBER and then GREEN.  

The maps will be updated on a regular basis in conjunction with the latest information 

provided by the Government Digital Service (GDS). 

 

Calls Team 

The authority has identified over 70 employees that can become available to form the 
calls team in the case of a covid-19 local lockdown. The Hub Team Manager has 
informed the Operational Directors and Line Managers for all the employees on the 
list, that their staff maybe required to immediately stand down their day to day roles if 
they are required to assist with a local lockdown.  

The Call Team staff were issued with laptops for their role in the initial shielding 

process, if their substantive roll did not provide them with one. The staff have been 

instructed to regularly log the machines on to the network to maintain activity. Payday 

has been suggested as the relevant date for the staff to do this.  

Staff will also maintain contact regarding annual leave with the Hub Team Manager 

on a month by month basis.  

The number of staff required to form a calls teams is dependent on the number of SI 

that Halton Borough Council are required to contact: 

 

Number of SI to be contacted Number of staff required for calls 
team 

1 – 10 2 callers 
11 – 30 6 callers 
31 – 50 10 callers 
50 – 70 14 callers 

70 – 100 20 callers 
100 – 150 30 callers 
150 – 200 40 callers 

200 + All callers available 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



33 
 

Contacting the Shielded Individuals 

The authority has a ‘Hub Manager’ who will coordinate the number of calls allocated 

to each caller. In the event of a large number of calls, this is achieved by issuing 5 per 

caller initially, following the initial 5 calls are made, the callers will contact the ‘Hub 

Manager’ to request additional 5 calls to be allocated to them.  This is an ongoing 

process until all calls have been made.  

The ‘HBC call team’ will be required to complete an ‘online assessment form’ with the 

Shielded Individual. The form will confirm all contact details and highlight any support 

the individual ma require, for example, basic supplies and health & wellbeing.  

A copy of the form will be sent the ‘Covid-19 inbox’ and retrieved by Shielded 

Individuals Hub Admin. 

 

Shielded Individuals Hub Admin 

The ‘Shielded Hub Admin Team’ will co-ordinate the contacting of the SI in the lock 
down area by 

 On receipt of the calls to be made, will determine the number of call staff 

required (see calls team) 

 Allocate the calls to the Shielded Individuals Call Staff 

 Monitor the Shielded Individuals Hub Email account and where support is 

required divert to the relevant team 

o Food – Adult Referrals – Corporate Services 

o Medication – Info Public Health (Pharmacies) 

o Any other Support – Health Improvement Team  

 Update the Lockdown Outcomes Spreadsheet (Appendix 5) 

 
Adult Referrals - Food and Basic needs 

Adult referrals will receive the online assessment form requesting support for food 

and basic needs. A number of options are available: 

 

Priority Online Supermarket slots 

On receipt of a request for support for food, contact the customer to discuss options 

which are available: 

 If the SI registered for support for basic supplies on or before the 17/07/20, 

they will be eligible for priority online shopping slots with the 7 Supermarkets 

in the initial scheme; 

 

 Should the customer wish to shop online and had not already registered for 

food support, register the customer for a Tesco or Iceland Priority Service 

using the Non-Shielded Vulnerable Pathway on SHP 71023. 

 

Page 115



34 
 

Community Shop Box 

 Where the customer is in receipt of income related benefits, take a payment of 

£10 and email Transport Co-ordination with the details to arrange a parcel to 

be delivered; 
 

 Where the customer is not in receipt of income related benefits, take a 

payment of £25 and email Transport Co-ordination with the details to arrange 

a parcel to be delivered. 
 

Referral to VCA  

 Assistance with shopping or basic support via the Street Champion Scheme 

 

 Referral to VCA for support with food bank vouchers if they are unable to pay 

for their shopping. 

 

Emergency Food Provision 

Where the Shielded Individual is unable to obtain food support through any of the 

means above, such as unable to match to a Volunteer through the VCA or does not 

have sufficient funds and a foodbank voucher is not available, arrangements have 

been made with local supermarkets to provide emergency parcels to be delivered by 

Halton Borough Council’s Transport Co-ordination Service.  

 

Pharmacy Support 

 Receive notification from contact centre or shielded hub admin stating SI 

needs support with medication; 

 

 Information log spreadsheet updated; 

 

 Follow up with second call to SI if required for further information; 

 

 Patient details and pharmacy information logged on spreadsheet and daily 

pick up list sent to Cheshire Fire & Rescue – dependant on demand may be 

two or three separate emails sporadically throughout the day; 

 

 Cheshire Fire & Rescue confirm delivery has taken place and this is logged 

via the spreadsheet. 

**For controlled/refrigerated medication collections and deliveries, a message will be 

sent to Halton Borough Council Transport team to provide the service. The same 

processes as above will apply to record the delivery.  

 

 

Page 116



35 
 

Health Improvement Team 

 On receipt of a request for additional support, contact the customer to confirm 

the details of the request; 

 

 Utilising the Support Services Matrix, signpost the customer to the most 

relevant service either within the Council or with a third party. 

 

Cheshire Fire & Rescue 

Contacting ‘Uncontactable’ Shielding Individuals: 

 Receive list of uncontactable SI from Halton Borough Council; 

 

 Home visit the SI and provide a welfare check. 

 

 Inform Halton Borough Council of the outcome of the home visit. 

 

Collecting and delivering Medication: 

 Receive list of SI from Halton Borough Council who are requiring support 

collecting medication, including pharmacy information; 

 

 Collect medication from pharmacy and deliver to SI; 

 

 Inform Halton Borough Council of the outcome of the collection & delivery. 

 

 

  

Page 117



36 
 

The Effects of Winter Pressures 

 Local Authority & National Health Service 

During the winter months there are additional pressures on Local Authorities and the 

NHS in relation to Winter Flu and Severe Weather.  

These pressures may include issues affecting Transport / Logistics and staffing, as 

well as the pressure of Winter Flu on the NHS.  

Halton Borough Council has a number of Contingency Plans to respond to such 

instances: 

 HBC Major Emergency Plan 

 HBC Winter Flu Plan 

 HBC Severe Weather Plan 

 HBC Crisis Support Plan 

 

Shielded Individuals  

Those who are shielding due to their vulnerability to COVID-19, are also at risk of 

Winter Flu. In addition to Winter Flu Shielded Individuals in Halton may also 

experience additional pressures on them such as Fuel Poverty and social isolation. A 

leaflet will be distributed to all Shielded Individuals ahead of the winter season 

providing information. This will include information regarding the Affordable Warmth 

Scheme, Flu Vaccination, exercise and general wellbeing.  

The Current Affordable Warmth Leaflet can be found: 

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/hit/campaigns/winterwarmth.pdf  

   

Page 118

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/hit/campaigns/winterwarmth.pdf


37 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section: 4 – Ward Information & Mapping  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



38 
 

 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

Page 120



39 
 

Halton Ward Information 
 

The information to follow is split into Widnes and Runcorn into ward areas (as of Jan 

2020). This will assist in identifying quickly the population that are required to shield 

during a local lockdown.  

 

The tables highlight the following: 

 Total population per ward 

 

 Polling district 

 

 Number of registered electors (as of Jan 2020) 

 

 Number of Registered Shielded (receiving support / not receiving support) 

 

 Number to receive end of shielding letter 

 

 Number of unregistered shielded 

 

 Total shielded Individuals (registered / unregistered) 

 

 

 

  

Page 121



40 
 

Widnes 

 

E
le

c
tio

n
 W

a
rd

 
(P

o
p

u
la

tio
n

) 

P
o

llin
g

 D
is

tric
t 

R
e

g
is

te
re

d
 E

le
c
to

rs 
(J

a
n

 2
0

2
0
) 

 
Shielded 

Registered Not Registered 

T
o

ta
l 

Red Amber 
End of 

Shielding 
Letter 
sent 

Yellow Green 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

N
o

t 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

U
n

a
b

le
 to

 

R
e

g
is

te
r 

Not 
Registered 

Appleton BA 1604 14 31 45 0 36 81 
(6886) BB 1163 11 20 31 1 18 50 

 BC 1657 22 30 52 0 47 99 

 BD 362 11 17 28 0 16 44 

 BE 488 8 13 21 0 9 30 

 Total 5274 66 111 177 0 126 304 

Birchfield XA 3475 21 52 73 0 61 134 
(7208) XB 2026 10 25 35 0 22 57 

 Total 5501 31 77 108 0 83 191 

Broadheath FA 674 15 19 34 0 28 62 
(6318) FB 848 16 15 31 1 17 49 

 FC 813 5 24 29 0 16 45 

 FD 1272 9 27 36 0 43 79 

 FE 1335 16 30 46 0 39 85 

 Total 4942 61 115 176 0 143 320 

Ditton GA 867 11 14 25 0 14 39 
(7233) GB 1119 8 21 29 0 21 50 

 GC 1422 26 32 58 0 52 110 

 GD 1015 11 30 41 0 28 69 

 GE 652 8 15 23 0 14 37 

 GF 541 5 8 13 0 12 25 

 Total 5616 69 120 189 0 141 330 

Farnworth AA 3330 25 62 87 0 56 143 
(8816) AB 1720 8 28 36 0 25 61 

 AC 1223 4 12 16 0 12 28 

 AD 875 5 21 26 1 18 45 

 Total 7148 42 123 165 0 111 277 

 

 

 

 

Page 122



41 
 

E
le

c
tio

n
 W

a
rd

 

(P
o

p
u

la
tio

n
) 

P
o

llin
g

 D
is

tric
t 

R
e

g
is

te
re

d
 E

le
c
to

rs
 

(J
a
n

 2
0

2
0
) 

 

Shielded 

Registered Not Registered 

T
o

ta
l 

Red Amber 

End of 
Shielding 

Letter 
sent 

Yellow Green 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

N
o

t 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

U
n

a
b

le
 to

 

R
e

g
is

te
r 

Not 
Registered 

Hale 
(1817) 

JA 1563 32 83 115 0 84 199 

Halton 
View 

CA 1473 14 32 46 0 21 67 

(6682) CB 1801 29 39 68 0 45 113 
 CC 1318 16 31 47 3 30 80 

 CD 545 4 9 13 0 10 23 

 Total 5137 63 111 174 0 106 283 

Hough 
Green 

HA 2118 19 67 86 0 53 139 

(6694) HB 814 12 23 35 0 17 52 
 HC 1147 20 22 42 0 22 64 

 HD 1024 14 18 32 0 25 57 

 Total 5103 65 130 195 0 117 312 

Kingsway DA 1045 4 18 22 0 15 37 
(6699) DB 627 5 13 18 0 7 25 

 DC 2203 33 50 83 1 55 139 

 DD 622 6 9 15 1 13 29 

 DE 398 4 11 15 0 15 30 

 Total 4895 52 101 153 0 105 260 

Riverside EA 592 10 5 15 0 10 25 
(5528) EB 955 23 19 42 0 30 72 

 EC 787 16 24 40 1 17 58 

 ED 1291 27 32 59 0 49 108 

 Total 3625 76 80 156 0 106 263 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



42 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

Page 124



43 
 

Runcorn 
 

E
le

c
tio

n
 W

a
rd

 

(P
o

p
u

la
tio

n
) 

P
o

llin
g

 D
is

tric
t 

R
e

g
is

te
re

d
 E

le
c
to

rs
 

(J
a
n

 2
0

2
0
) 

 

Shielded 

Registered Not Registered 

T
o

ta
l 

Red Amber 

End of 
Shielding 

Letter 
sent 

Yellow Green 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

N
o

t 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

U
n

a
b

le
 to

 

R
e

g
is

te
r 

Not 
Registered 

Beechwood PA 1314 18 35 53 0 29 82 

(3504) PB 1656 15 40 55 0 35 90 

 Total 2970 33 75 108 0 64 172 

Daresbury TK 685 9 27 36 0 19 55 

(4741) TL 283 0 4 4 0 2 6 

 TM 738 10 18 28 0 12 40 

 TT 2584 10 38 48 0 41 89 

 Total 4290 29 87 116 0 74 190 

Grange NA 1310 11 25 36 0 25 61 

(6926) NB 1669 31 47 78 0 41 119 

 NC 2000 54 57 111 0 55 166 

 Total 4979 96 129 225 0 121 346 

Halton 
Brook 

MA 1994 33 46 79 0 54 133 

(6701) MB 1371 27 40 67 0 33 100 

 MC 1601 45 64 109 0 58 167 

 Total 4966 105 150 255 0 145 400 

Halton 
Castle 

OA 1577 49 54 103 0 87 190 

(6519) OB 894 41 52 93 0 56 149 

 OC 1321 28 31 59 0 41 100 

 OD 1019 40 49 89 0 51 140 

 Total 4811 158 186 344 0 235 579 

Halton Lea QA 1994 46 49 95 0 64 159 

(6479) QB 1075 28 27 55 0 59 114 

 QC 977 28 30 58 0 33 91 

 QD 559 19 18 37 0 32 69 

 Total 4605 121 124 245 0 188 433 

Heath LA 731 8 20 28 0 12 40 

(5762) LB 1419 9 24 33 0 27 60 

 LC 919 5 14 19 0 23 42 

 LD 1616 10 43 53 0 33 86 

 Total 4685 32 101 133 0 95 228 

 

 

Page 125



44 
 

E
le

c
tio

n
 W

a
rd

 

(P
o

p
u

la
tio

n
) 

P
o

llin
g

 D
is

tric
t 

R
e

g
is

te
re

d
 E

le
c
to

rs
 

(J
a
n

 2
0

2
0
) 

 

Shielded 

Registered Not Registered 

T
o

ta
l 

Red Amber 

End of 
Shielding 

Letter 
sent 

Yellow Green 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

N
o

t 

R
e

c
e

iv
in

g
 

S
u

p
p

o
rt 

U
n

a
b

le
 to

 

R
e

g
is

te
r 

Not 
Registered 

Mersey KA 1753 21 31 52 0 41 93 

(7537) KB 808 12 17 29 0 15 44 

 KC 728 9 16 25 0 7 32 

 KD 991 17 22 39 0 24 63 

 KE 1153 12 27 39 0 29 68 

 Total 5433 71 113 184 0 116 300 

Norton 
North 

RA 2637 35 77 112 0 52 164 

(6504) RB 2387 44 75 119 0 85 204 

 Total 5024 79 152 231 0 137 368 

Norton 
South 

ZX 1098 28 47 75 0 33 108 

(6613) ZY 1522 44 67 111 0 67 178 

 ZZ 2017 33 48 81 0 69 150 

 Total 4637 105 162 267 0 169 436 

Windmill 
Hill 

SA 992 27 39 66 0 59 125 

(2428) SB 837 26 33 59 0 36 95 

 Total 1829 53 72 125 0 95 220 

 

 

Page 126



45 
 

Maps 
This section contains maps detailing the SI located within the Wards and Polling Districts, based on the Red, Amber, Green system 

(RAG Rating) in Background.  

  

P
age 127



46 
 

Registered Shielded Individuals who are receiving support by Polling District and Ward 
 

This section contains Personal Details of the SI categorised as RED within the plan, in the table format below: 

NHS Number First 
Name 

Surname Street Address Town Post Code Phone 1 Phone 2 Email 

  

P
age 128



47 
 

Registered Shielded Individuals who are not receiving support by Polling District and Ward 
 

This section contains Personal Details of the SI categorised as AMBER within the plan, in the table format below: 

NHS Number First 
Name 

Surname Street Address Town Post Code Phone 1 Phone 2 Email 

 

  

P
age 129



48 
 

Individuals who became Shielded after 17th July by Polling District and Ward 
 

This section contains Personal Details of the SI categorised as Yellow within the plan, in the table format below: 

NHS Number First 
Name 

Surname Street Address Town Post Code Phone 1 Phone 2 Email 

 

  

P
age 130



49 
 

Non-Registered Shielded Individuals who are not receiving support by Polling District and Ward 

This section contains Personal Details of the SI categorised as GREEN within the plan, in the table format below: 

NHS Number First 
Name 

Surname Street Address Town Post Code Phone 1 Phone 2 Email 

 

 

P
age 131



50 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

Page 132



51 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section: 5 – Appendices 

   

Page 133



52 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

Page 134



53 
 

Appendix: 1 – Criteria for Covid-19 alert threshold and 

suggested process for C&M LAs to follow [10/07/20] 
 

This summary is to help identify potential increases in Covid-19 cases in a local 
authority which need further investigation, monitoring, and/or enhanced action. 

 

Daily monitoring of local authority data 

 

 Identify key lead for relevant LA with support from surveillance analyst 

 Review of available data on daily basis and previous days exceedance 

report (if available) 

 Suggested criteria for identifying any concerns/issues for enhanced 

monitoring: 

o >50 cases / 100,000 population in any local authority in a given day 
o Significant increase in absolute numbers (e.g. doubling) of cases in any 

local authority in any given day 
o Weekly moving average cases with consistently increasing trend for 

the local authority 
o Increasing number of Covid-19 related calls to NHS 111 from local 

area (not sure if this is available on timely basis at present) 
 Action notes taken - clearly documenting whether enhanced monitoring is 

required. 

 

Sat/Sun – agree key lead for the weekend to review available intelligence 
 

Need for enhanced monitoring identified 

 

 DPH informed and lead identified (could be the same lead) 

 Key lead to liaise with local PHE team re HPZone and other data sources 

 Involve surveillance/intelligence team (local/C&M) 

 Review available data / reports: 

o Review local intelligence for known clusters or outbreaks 

o HPZone holds cluster and outbreak reports by geography – ask Health 

Protection Team 

o Covis – can help identify care home, school and workplace[?] clusters 

– needs PHE support to access at this point 

 Consider drafting a high-level action plan: 

o  Define local geography that might need increased action immediately 

as rates in that local area might be higher if the denominator can be 

defined 

o Consider significance of any identified clusters or outbreaks for the 

wider community – is this spread within the care home / school / 

workplace, or an indicator of community spread? 

 If concerned – convene IMT meeting (invite PHE): document if there is 

significant concern or not. 

Page 135



54 
 

Enhanced monitoring identifies significant concern 

 

 DPH to lead (or group of LA DsPH if common links) 

 Regular liaison with local PHE HPT and agreed action plan 

 Escalate as appropriate and consider convening multiagency meeting 

(inform SCG and LRF) 

 Document agreed actions and report to relevant professionals and 

organisations as appropriate 

 Identify current actions and consider what else can be done, for example: 
o Identification of worship places, large employers or workplaces where 

the risk is higher (e.g. food manufacturers) with consideration of 
occupational screening or testing for Covid-19, particularly where there 
may be gaps in the Covid-19 response  

o Identification of other settings or workplaces where there are issues 
related to Covid-19 safe practice and consider taking action (e.g. 
increased hand washing, social distancing and close monitoring with a 
plan for further action such as enforcement of control measures) 

o Considering wider testing of defined places or settings with one or 
more cases 

o Considering testing asymptomatic people in identified high risk 
communities 

o Identifying any ongoing outbreaks that may be contributing to any 
community spread 

o Considering joined-up communications in the local community to raise 
awareness of Covid-19 testing and response, including self-isolation 
and social distancing 

 
Data sources: 
 
Individual (case) level data accessible by Local Authorities 
 

 Public Health England started providing individual-level, test data on the 24 
June enabled through a data sharing agreement with Directors of Public 
Health. This contains additional information such as full postcode, age and 
ethnicity where available. 

 Since last week PHE also included individual case data across pillars 1 (NHS 
and PHE laboratories) and 2 (commercial laboratories) of the testing 
programme. This data is being provided on a weekly basis but will shortly 
move to a daily frequency. 

 Under this arrangement the local authorities are the data controllers and are 
responsible for what they share and publish. The local authority must ensure 
compliance with the relevant standards. 

 
Information on individual cases to help outbreak management: 
 

 PHE shares information with local directors of public health as part of the 
routine investigation of outbreaks and incidents. This includes information on 
individual cases and their contacts as required to support the public health 
response. This continues as the usual part of the management of COVID-19 
outbreaks in specific settings or groups. 

Page 136



55 
 

 
Aggregated and interactive dashboards and reports accessible to approved 
users 

 All the following (except the Containment and LRF dashboard) products are 
currently available to Directors of Public Health through a PHE SharePoint 
site. 

 
1. Local Authority Covid-19 Containment Dashboard 

 This dashboard, produced by NHS-Digital, has been available since 11 June 
and provides a picture in the local area of cases and Covid triage data. There 
is a geographic breakdown to LTLA of the number of tests conducted, the 
total number of positive cases and a rolling average, as well as information on 
111, 999 and online triage cases related to COVID-19. It enables easy 
comparison of areas. 

 From July 6th the number of positive tests and 111 and 999 telephony triages 
is available to LSOA level. This dashboard is updated daily with a three-day 
lag due to the changeable nature of new data. 

 The next development is to provide data at the full postcode level within the 
dashboard. Given this information is more sensitive it is reliant on a more 
robust security infrastructure that is being developed including Two Factor 
Authentication. Access to this dashboard is currently scheduled to be rolled 
out on Wednesday 15 July. 

 Requests for new accounts should be emailed to NHSD Contact Centre at 
enquiries@nhsdigital.nhs.uk with ‘Pillar 2 Dashboard’ in the subject line. Each 
requestor to provide the following information: 

o Name, NHS Email Address, Role, Organisation, Mobile Number, 
Business Justification (reason for access)  

o After approval, the login info and T&Cs will be sent out 
 

2. Contact tracing 
 Public Health England produce a daily contact tracing report – this report 

provides information on contact tracing activity at a regional and UTLA level. 
This includes cases invited, cases completed, contacts identified, contacts 
reached, including aggregate totals of contacts associated with incidents. 

 A more detailed contact tracing report is produced weekly with a set of quality 
and epidemiological information including numbers of cases, case outcomes, 
number of contacts, contact outcomes, numbers of contacts per case and by 
exposure setting and time to completion. Data is presented at regional and 
UTLA level. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



56 
 

3. Daily Situational Report 
 Public Health England provides a daily situational report - this is a national 

summary of tests, cases, ethnicity, residential property type, workplace 
outbreaks, contacts by exposure settings/activities, links to healthcare 
settings. There is breakdown for some of this data by region. By local 
authority there is information on those UTLA’s with the highest rates of 
incidence, testing, positivity rates, exceedances, outbreaks in educational 
settings. The aim is to bring together much of the information and intelligence 
on where the epidemic is currently taking place both in terms of place and 
groups of the population to help inform local action. It is anticipated that the 
Covid-19 Situational Awareness Summary will be shared with the public in the 
next few days. 
 

4. Daily Exceedance Report 
 Public Health England provides a regional daily exceedance report to 

Directors of Public Health. Exceedance scores are calculated using the 
current and historic data on cases of COVID-19 for each lower tier local 
authority area. An exceedance means that an area has a greater than 
expected rate of infection compared with the usual background rate for that 
location. This is a way of assessing a recent change in incidence in that area. 
Every day, PHE produce in depth reports for the areas that have exceeded 
(RED reports) shared with appropriate DsPH. 

o PHE daily Exceedance Reports (‘PILLAR 1 and PILLAR 2 Combined 
Report for North West’) in COVID-19 Local Authorities Report Store 
https://extranet.phe.gov.uk/sites/C19LASec/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/Sit
ePages/Exceedance%20Reports.aspx (password protected website – 
need to register) 
 O>T = number of days O is above the local threshold T: 2 is taken 

as significant 
 O>E = number of days O is above E: 8 is taken as significant 
 IRR (incidence rate ratio) = estimate of the relative change each 

day in the number of laboratory confirmed COVID-19 cases: 
significant increase shown by >1, with 95% CI >1 

o MSOA reports of Covid-19 cases from PHE 
 

5. Daily Surveillance Report 
 Public Health England produce a daily surveillance report. The report provides 

descriptive information (trends and demography) at health protection team 
and local authority level of case data, testing data, in-hospital mortality data, 
outbreaks reported in a range of settings, syndromic surveillance data (GP 
out-of-hours calls, NHS 111 calls, emergency department attendances) and 
COVID-19 Hospitalisation in England Surveillance System (CHESS) data. 
 

6. Bespoke epidemiological reports (deep dives) 
 In addition, the PHE Field Service teams also support local partners with more 

detailed epidemiological analyses as needed to inform local action and 
agreed locally. 
 
 
 

Page 138

https://extranet.phe.gov.uk/sites/C19LASec/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Exceedance%20Reports.aspx
https://extranet.phe.gov.uk/sites/C19LASec/_layouts/15/start.aspx#/SitePages/Exceedance%20Reports.aspx


57 
 

7. Local Resilience Forum Dashboard 
 The LRF dashboard is run by MHCLG to show multiple data points showing 

whole system response and resilience. It is accessible through the Local 
Resilience Forums and contains indicators such as police workforce, food 
supply, proportions of population shielding and ventilator availability. 

 
Future Developments 

 From the feedback and requests made by local authorities there are several 
improvements being made to the existing sources. This includes giving full 
postcode and later demographics (where available) in the NHSD Dashboard. 
The PHE data feed will soon be available daily and will continue to be 
improved in terms of data quality. Improvements are being made on upstream 
data capture to improve ethnicity, occupation and place of work 
completeness. Work is ongoing jointly between the Joint Biosecurity Centre 
and PHE to develop a set of analytical products that will aid in early detection 
of outbreaks as well as the next best action to take. We continue to welcome 
feedback on priority data feeds or improvements to existing sources to guide 
the work of the national teams. 

 
Data in the public domain - Summary of national figures 

 National figures for COVID-19 tests, cases, deaths for the UK and every 
country of the UK are produced daily 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-information-for-the-public 

 National figures for the NHS Test and Trace service are produced weekly. 
This includes numbers of people tested; people testing positive; time taken for 
results to become available; numbers of people transferred to the contact 
tracing service; the time taken for them to be reached; close contacts 
identified for complex and non-complex cases, and the time taken for them to 
be reached. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/nhs-test-and-trace-statistics-
england-weekly-reports  

 
Public dashboards with geographic breakdown 

 The Weekly Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID -19) Surveillance Report, 
produced by Public Health England, summarises information from a variety of 
surveillance systems covering national data on cases, age, gender, rates, 
ethnicity, NHS111, google searches, general practice consultations, 
emergency attendances, hospitalisation rates deaths (age, ethnicity, excess 
mortality) antibody testing, global data.  

 There is also regional data and weekly rates 9th July 2020 of cases by local 
authority including a PHE top 10 of UTLAs with the highest weekly rate of 
cases www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-covid-19-surveillance-
reports  

 The Coronavirus (COVID-19) in the UK dashboard contains information at 
UTLA and LTLA level on cases and rates and is updated daily 
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/  

 
 
 
 

Page 139

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/coronavirus-covid-19-information-for-the-public
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/nhs-test-and-trace-statistics-england-weekly-reports
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/nhs-test-and-trace-statistics-england-weekly-reports
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-covid-19-surveillance-reports
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-covid-19-surveillance-reports
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/


58 
 

 A new dashboard, launched on June 25, has been updated with sub-national 
data including people tested and positive cases at national, regional and local 
authority level. This includes the ability to view epidemic curves and 7-day 
averages as well as the ability to look at positive cases as a proportion of all 
tests https://coronavirus-staging.data.gov.uk/  

 On Friday 3 July, NHS-Digital released a public version of the Containment 
dashboard, Progression, that enables triages and cases to be tracked through 
time at UTLA level: that includes, by UTLA, the number of people with 
coronavirus identified through an NHS lab (Pillar 1) or from a commercial 
swab testing (Pillar 2). In addition, the count (not people) of triages of 
coronavirus symptoms through NHS Pathways by calls to NHS 111 and 999 
and through NHS111 online. https://digital.nhs.uk/dashboards/progression  

  

Page 140

https://coronavirus-staging.data.gov.uk/
https://digital.nhs.uk/dashboards/progression


59 
 

Appendix: 2 – Shielding Letter 
 

Dear Title Forename Surname, 

I hope you are keeping safe and well.  

You may be aware, the Government has announced changes to current arrangements for 

‘shielded’ individuals like yourself. 

This means that from 1 August, the arrangements that have been in place from the early 

days of the lockdown, will come to an end. If you were not receiving weekly food parcels, but 

you wish to use online shopping, you can still register for priority slots with the major 

supermarkets online at (www.gov.uk/coronavirus-extremely-vulnerable)/ or by calling 0800 

028 8327) - you will need to do this before 17 July.  

After this date, we may be able to help you to access priority slots with Tesco and Iceland, if 

you need to do this contact us on 0151 907 8363. 

We understand that this may be an anxious time, as you adjust to getting back to a more 

normal way of life. To help you, we have created a new online directory with details of 

support and advice that is available to you. It includes sections on food and shopping; 

medical and pharmacy; social support; wellbeing and finance. You will find the directory at 

https://onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport/. 

If you do not have access to the internet, the following telephone numbers may be useful to 

you: 

 Halton Borough Council COVID-19 Support Line: 0151 907 8363 (Mon to Fri 8am – 6pm) 

 Surestart to Later Life: 01928 569498 (support if you are isolated, or feeling alone) 

 Halton Health Improvement Team: 0300 029 0029 

 Mental Health Helpline: 0800 051 1508 

To keep up to date with current Government advice you should visit www.gov.uk, if there is 

information we need to share, we will do this through our local radio stations and 

newspapers and online at www.halton.gov.uk; Facebook (Halton Borough Council/Twitter 

@HaltonBC.  If there are any important changes in the future that we need to update you on 

about shielding, we will contact you directly.  

Yours sincerely, 

 

David Parr OBE 

Chief Executive, Halton Borough Council 

 

 

 

 

Page 141

http://www.gov.uk/coronavirus-extremely-vulnerable)/
http://www.gov.uk/
http://www.halton.gov.uk/


60 
 

 

Page Intentionally Left Blank  

Page 142



61 
 

Appendix: 3 – Leaflet to accompany letter 
 

 

 

Page 143



62 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

  

Page 144



63 
 

Appendix: 4 – Public Health Outbreak Notification Processes 
 

  

Page 145



64 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



65 
 

 

 

Subject: FW: Halton Covid Outbreak Support 

As you may be aware, Halton Borough Council needed to establish an Outbreak Support office to 

provide consequence management of any local outbreaks of Covid 19 .  

As from today (Monday 6th July)  we now have a local office in place which will support and manage 

these outbreaks within Halton. 

The main role is to support the national test, track . trace and engage system in working with local 

organisations, venues, businesses and facilities when an outbreak has been identified or suspected.  

The office will co-ordinate the local response and bring together the various teams and functions 

that will have an important role to play in responding to any outbreak. This will vary depending upon 

each case, but will include Environmental Health, Infection Control, Health Promotion and 

Prevention, as well as the specialist leads for each area. e.g. education, social care, care homes, etc. 

The office has a dedicated direct number 0151 511 5200 which will be open between 9am and 

5pm  Monday to Friday and an email address – publichealth@halton.gov.uk  

The office will act as a central point of contact to the Cheshire Hub and to the National Contact, Test 

and Trace and engage facility. Most individuals that are identified as testing positive will be managed 

by either the national hub or by the Cheshire Hub, but there will be circumstances where a local 

outbreak needs to be managed locally, or additional support measures will need to be put in place. 

As soon as we are aware of any potential need for local action, we will call a virtual Multi Discipline 

Team (MDT) meeting to develop a local action plan. 

Enclosed for your information a copy of the Halton outbreak map .  

Information on the general approach to managing an Outbreak plan can be found here –  

https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-

Outbreaks.aspx  

In order to prevent confusion, any individual concerned about their own health, or that of a family 

member or friend should still continue to contact www.111.nhs or their GP for support. Equally 

those seeking general information about Coronavirus or its implications should continue to use 

existing channels of communication such as the websites or national support lines. The purpose of 

the office is to deal with the consequences of any outbreaks locally.  

The role of the office will evolve and develop as we understand what is needed to support the 

people of Halton. We will be in contact this week to better understand the existing systems and 

processes that you already have in place, and look at how we can all work together when required.  

   

Cllr Rob Polhill.                                    David Parr. 

Leader                                                   Chief Executive   

 

 

Page 147

mailto:publichealth@halton.gov.uk
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx
https://www3.halton.gov.uk/Pages/health/Covid-19-Preventing-and-Responding-to-Local-Outbreaks.aspx
http://www.111.nhs/


66 
 

 

Appendix: 5 – Shielded Calls Outcomes 
 

   Successful Contact Y/N and Date Requires Additional Support (Y/N) 

Polling 
District 

First Name Surname Contact 1 Contact 2 Contact 3 Food/Supplies Medication Other Action Taken 

          

          

          
 

Passed to Cheshire Fire 

Date of CFRS 
visit 

Name of 
CFRS 
Advocate 

Comments Tel             
number for 
all                    
AMBER 

RAG status                
RED                
AMBER                 
Green 

Cheshire 
Police Visit 
Date 

Police 
Contact 

Outcome 1st 
Visit 

Outcome 
2nd Visit 

Outcome 
3rd Visit 

          

          

          
 

P
age 148



67 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

Page 149



68 
 

Appendix: 6 – Key Media Messages 
 

Holding posts for social media 

General: 

It has been necessary to put in place a local lockdown in [AREA NAME]. If you live or 

work in [AREA NAME] it is essential that you now follow the measures that have been 

put in place. Details of these measures can be found on our website 

www.halton.gov.uk. We will keep you regularly updated via our website, social media 

and through the local media. 

Shielded: 

A local lockdown is in place in [AREA NAME]. Halton Borough Council will be 

contacting those individuals in this area who are ‘clinically extremely vulnerable’ to 

coronavirus [who have registered as shielded and have previously received help] [who 

are registered as shielded], to put in place new arrangements for support, should it be 

needed. General information on support available can be found at 

www.onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport.  

Web page/statement 

It has been necessary to put in place a local lockdown in [AREA NAME].  

If you live or work in [AREA NAME] it is essential that you now follow the measures 

that have been put in place. These measures area; 

 Xx 

 Xx 

 Xx 

 Xx 

These measures will be in place for the next XX days. 

During this period we will be taking the following steps to control the spread of 

Coronavirus 

 Xx 

 X 

 x 

Page 150

http://www.halton.gov.uk/
http://www.onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport


69 
 

We will keep you regularly updated on this web page, through our social media 

channels and through the local media. 

Halton Borough Council will be contacting all individuals in this are who are ‘clinically  

extremely vulnerable’ to coronavirus to put in place arrangements for support, should 

it be needed. General information on support available can also be found at 

www.onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport.  

  

Page 151

http://www.onehalton.uk/shieldedsupport


70 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

  

Page 152



71 
 

Appendix: 7 – Call Assessment Form 

Personal Details 

Title: 

Test 

First Name: 

Test 

Surname: 

Test 

Date of Birth: 

01/01/2020 

Address Details 

House Number: 

1 

Street: 

Any Street 

Town: 

Widnes 

Page 153



72 
 

Postcode: 

WA8 1AA 

Contact Details 

Home / Mobile Telephone: 

01234567890 

Email address: 

anyone@anyISP.com 

Support with Food 

Do you require support to buy food? 

Yes 

Support with Medication 

Do you require support with medication? 

Yes 

What is the name and address of the pharmacy you use? 

Boots Pharmacy, Runcorn 

How many different medications do you need support for? 

1 

Page 154

mailto:anyone@anyISP.com


73 
 

Medication 1 

What is the name of the medication? 

Med1 

How many days of medication do you have left? 

2 

When is the next prescription due? 

Tuesday 

Other Support 

Is there any other urgent support you require? 

Yes 

Please tell us the urgent support you need?  

Struggling to get around the house. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 155



74 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 156



75 
 

Appendix: 8 – HBC Covid Calls Team 
This section contains Contact Details of the HBC Covid Calls Team in the table format below: 

 

Surname First Name 
Role in Hub 

Operations      

Number 
of Days 

per 
week 

working 
on the 
HUB 

Days of the week 
working on the hub 

(AM/PM) 

Proposed 
last day of 
working in 

the HUB 
Team 

Normal Job 
Role 

Service Area 
Critical 
Service 

P1/P2/P3 
Notes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 157



76 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

       

Page 158



 

77 
 

Appendix: 9 – Contingency SI Callers for Weekends  
 

This section contains Contact Details of the HBC Covid Calls Team available to work 

at the weekend in the table format below: 

Name Mobile Telephone Number Personal Email 

   

   

   

Page 159



 

78 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

         

Page 160



 

79 
 

Appendix: 10 – Pathway – SI in lockdown 

 

 

P
age 161



 

80 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank

P
age 162



 

81 
 

Appendix: 11 – COVID Support Helpline Messages 
 

Message 20th July – 31st July 

You should all by now have received your letter regarding the changes to lockdown shielding. As from the 1st August  direct support 

for those  shielding will come to an end and  for example food parcel deliveries will cease. 

Those who had shielded are now required to make their own arrangements to access food. If you feel you are unable to do this you 

will need to ask friends and families to assist you. 

The priority slots for those who shielded will continue to with major supermarkets after the 1st of August. To access these deliveries 

please register with the supermarket of your choice.  

If you still require assistance please continue to hold for the next available advisor. 

 

 

Message 1st August onwards 

Please note that shielding ended on 1st August. Those who were previously shielded are now required to make their own 

arrangements to access food. If you feel you are unable to do this you will need to ask friends and families to assist you. 

The priority slots for those who shielded will continue to with major supermarkets To access these delivery slots please register with 

the supermarket of your choice.  

If you still require assistance please continue to hold for the next available advisor. 

 

 

Local Lockdown 

Due to the different scenarios in respect to a Local Lockdown, a specific message has not been created. However, “Hold” 

messages can be created very quickly (in a matter of minutes). Any messages would need to include: 

 Location of the local Lockdown 

 Some details of the lockdown, i.e. non-essential shop closures, etc.  

 Details of where further information can be found.  

  

Page 163



 

82 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank

Page 164



 

83 
 

Appendix: 12 – Covid Support Helpline Non-Lockdown 

 

 

P
age 165



 

84 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

 

  

P
age 166



 

85 
 

Appendix: 13 – Pathway – Covid in Support in Lockddown 

 

P
age 167



 

86 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

P
age 168



 

87 
 

Appendix: 14 – Complex Settings Matrix 
 

Halton – Covid 19 - Local Outbreak Plan  - Community Resilience Annexe (DRAFT ONLY) 

 
 
Resources 
Required 

IDENTIFIED AREAS OF POTENTIAL OUTBREAK 
 

Care Homes 
and 
Residential 
Settings 

Schools and 
Early Years 
Settings  

Single 
Business 
and 
Business 
Districts  

Ward Level  Town Level   Borough 
Level  

Halton 
Hospital  

Daresbury 
Park Hotel  

 

Communication 
Plans 
 

         

Liaison with 
internal 
colleagues 
 

         

Liaison with 
external 
partners  
 

         

Food 
 

         

Medications 
 

         

IT 
 

         

Staff 
 

         

          

P
age 169



 

88 
 

Page Intentionally Left Blank 

  

P
age 170



 

89 
 

Document Contacts: 
 

 
Hub Role 
 

 
Name 

 
Phone 1 

 
Phone 2 

 
Email 

     

Halton Borough Council Senior Management Team 

 

HBC Chief Exec     

     

Director of Public Health     

     

Strategic Director 
Enterprise,  
Community & Resources 

    

     

Strategic Director  
People 

    

     

Director of Adult Services     

     

     
     
     
     
     
 
 

    

     
     
     

P
age 171



 

90 
 

Operational Directors 

 

Enterprise Community & Resources  

 

Operational Director 
Legal & Democratic Services 

    

     

Operational Director  
Finance 

    

     

Operational Director  
Policy, Planning & 
Transportation 

    

     

Operational Director  
ICT Services 

    

     

Operational Director 
Economy,  
Enterprise & Property 

    

     

Operational Director 
Community & Environment 

    

     

Operational Director  
Policy, People,  
Performance & Efficiency 

    

     

     
     

  
 
 

  

P
age 172



 

91 
 

  

     
     
     

People 

 

Operational Director 
Education, Inclusion & 
Provision 

    

     

Operational Director 
Children’s Social Care 

    

     

Director of Public Health     

     

Director of Adult Services     

     

Hub Management Team 

 

Hub Manager     

     

Hub Manager     

     

 
 
 

    

     
     
     
     
     

P
age 173



 

92 
 

 

 

 

Halton Borough Council Shielded Hub Team 

 

Generic Contact 
Generic 
Contact 

0151 907 8363  Covid-19sihub@halton.gov.uk 

     

Hub Admin / Operations     

     

Hub Admin / Operations     

     

Hub Admin / Operations     

     

Call Team Manager     

     

Contact Centre (Adult Referrals) 

 

Adult Referrals  
Generic Contact 

Generic 
Contact 

0151 907 8363  socialservicesreferrals@halton.gov.uk 

     

Adult Referrals /  
Contact Centre Manager 

    

     

Adult Referrals /  
Contact Centre Team Leader 

    

     

Adult Referrals / 
 Contact Centre Team Leader 

    

     

P
age 174



 

93 
 

 
Hub Role 
 

 
Name 

 
Phone 1 

 
Phone 2 

 
Email 

 

Calls Team Available (Available at Weekends) 

     

 

 

 

Health Improvement Team 

Generic Contact  
Generic 
Contact 

0300 029 0029  hit@halton.gov.uk 

     

Health Improvement Team 
Manager 

    

     

Health Improvement Team 
Officer 

    

     

  

P
age 175



 

94 
 

Public Health 

 

Generic Contact 
Generic 
Contact 

  Info.publichealth@halton.gov.uk 

     

Pharmacy Team Leader / 
Outbreak Team Leader 

    

     

Pharmacy Support     

     

Halton Track & Trace     

     

Voluntary Sector Engagement 

 

Voluntary Sector 
Engagement 

Nicola Goodwin 0151 511 8105  Nicola.goodwin@halton.gov.uk 

     

Voluntary Sector 
Engagement 

Shelah Semoff 0151 511 8677  Shelah.semoff@halton.gov.uk 

     

 

 

P
age 176



 

95 
 

Communications & Marketing 

Communications & Marketing 
Officer 

    

     

Communications & Marketing 
Officer 

    

     

 

Emergency Services Support 

Cheshire Fire & Rescue - 
Uncontactables 

    

     

Cheshire Fire & Rescue - 
medication 

    

     

Cheshire Police  - 
Uncontactables 

    

 
 

  

P
age 177



 

96 
 

Cross Border Local Authorities – Mutual Aid 

 

Local Authority Principal 
Officer 

Contact 
Number 

Emergency 
Incident Line 

Email Address 

Cheshire 

 

Cheshire East Council     

     

Cheshire West & Chester 
Council 

    

     

Warrington Borough Council     

     

Liverpool City Region 

Knowsley  
Metropolitan Borough Council 

    

     

Liverpool City Council     

     

Sefton  
Metropolitan Borough Council 

    

     

St Helens  
Metropolitan Borough Council 

    

     

Wirral  
Metropolitan Borough Council 

    

 

 

 

P
age 178



 

97 
 

Voluntary Sector 

Organisation Contact Contact Number Email 

    

Cheshire Emergency 
Voluntary Agency Committee 

   

    

Halton & St Helens Voluntary 
Community Action Group 

   

    

Migrant Help    

    

Home Office (Asylum 
Seekers) 

   

    

SERCO    

    

Housing Associations 24 hours Support Line  

Anchor Hanover Housing 0845 140 2020  

Clarion Housing 0300 100 0303  

Guinness Partnership 0303 123 1890  

Halton Housing Trust 0303 333 0101  

Housing 21 0370 192 4000  

Onward Homes 0300 555 0131  

Places for People 0845 850 9571  

Plus Dane 0300 123 4560  

Regenda Housing 0344 736 0066  

Riverside Housing 0345 111 0000  

Sanctuary Housing 0800 131 3348  

Your Housing Group 0345 345 0272  

   

 

P
age 179



 

98 
 

Distribution List 

Halton Borough Council 

 Chief Executive 

 Strategic Director People 

 Strategic Director Enterprise, Community & Resources 

 Director of Public Health 

 Operational Director Adult Social Care 

 Operational Director Children Social Care 

 Leader  

 Deputy Leader 

 Portfolio Holder 

 Elected Members (as appropriate) 

 Emergency Planning Team 

 Contact Centre 

 OOH Team 

 Communications and Marketing  

 

 

External 

 Cheshire Police 

 Cheshire Fire & Rescue Service 

 North West Ambulance Service 

 Liverpool City Region – Local Authorities 

 Warrington Borough Council 

 Cheshire West & Chester  

 Cheshire East 

 

 

Page 180



REPORT TO: Executive Board

DATE: 30th July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Strategic Director Enterprise, Community and 
Resources

PORTFOLIO: Economic Development

SUBJECT: Liverpool City Region and Halton Borough 
Economic Reset Plans

WARD(S) Borough-wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present Halton’s draft Economic 
Reset Plan for consideration. Members are advised that the Plan 
should be read in conjunction with the Liverpool City Region’s 
Economic Recovery Plan, which is attached for information.

2.0

i)

ii)

iii)

RECOMMENDATION: That:

Executive Board approves the general principles of the Halton 
Economic Reset plan; 

Executive Board supports proposals to engage wider strategic 
partners in cross-referencing the document to other 
organisational reset plans.

Notes the contents of the Liverpool City Region’s Economic 
Recovery Plan and acknowledges the contribution Halton has 
made to the development of the document.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

3.1 The main purpose of Halton’s Economic Reset Plan document is to 
set out a framework for how the Council and its partners can support 
the borough’s economic recovery in the most effective, efficient and 
impactful way. It seeks to identify and prioritise the key interventions 
required to achieve this. Ultimately, the document could also be 
used as a lobbying plan to outline a wide range of financial ‘asks’ of 
government and or the Combined Authority. 

The document is predicated upon the fact that, irrespective of 
COVID-19, there are a number of ‘key ingredients’ that will always 
be required to create and sustain a strong economy in Halton. For 
example, the quality of the place and cultural offer; quality of 
housing and schools; a highly skilled and adaptable workforce; good 

Page 181 Agenda Item 7a



quality sites and premises will always be important factors. 

The Halton’s Economic Reset Plan recognises that good progress 
has been made in the past to grow the borough’s economy. The 
governance structures, speed of decision-making and our ‘account 
manager’ approach when developing relationships with businesses 
work. Furthermore, the Council has a robust economic growth plan 
already in place, i.e. The Mersey Gateway Regeneration Plan 
(MRGP) and this provides a solid platform for the delivery of the 
borough’s economic reset plan.

However, existing and previous interventions need to be intensified 
if we are to proactively promote and support Halton’s economy in 
the future, albeit in the knowledge that there will need to be some 
changes to how we need to deliver these interventions.  

3.2 Halton’s Economic Reset Plan document references, in detail, the 
Liverpool City Region’s Economic Recovery Plan. Firstly, this is 
because it is important to recognise that there will be greater ‘macro-
economic’ drivers at an international, national and even regional 
scale, which will have a significant impact on Halton’s economic 
recovery. 

Secondly, given the limited resources available to the Council, it will 
be important to maximise the resources provided by the Combined 
Authority to support this work and ensure that Halton’s economic 
reset activities and those of the Combined Authority are 
complementary, add value and avoid duplication. 

The themes identified in the LCR Recovery Plan are:

 ‘opportunities to build back better’ – focusing on accelerating capital 
developments; 
‘the business eco-system’ – improving the environment and support 
provided to businesses, 
‘people focused’ for example, providing a ‘Bounce Back 
Employment Scheme’ for residents and businesses, a Self-
Employment Start Up Scheme, intensive end-to-end employment 
support through the Ways to Work Delivery Partnership, and a new, 
dynamic response to redundancy team to support residents affected 
by redundancy.
‘Place’ – which emphasises the importance of a quality of 
environment and place in the future.
‘A Green Recovery’ – this points to the economic opportunities 
arising from green technology as well as the efficiencies and 
benefits that businesses and residents can gain by acting in an 
environmentally friendly way.

To date the Council’s regeneration and business support teams 
have been very much focused on supporting businesses in the ‘here 

Page 182



and now’, by for example, handling enquiries from distressed 
businesses, facilitating applications for grants and or administering 
funding pots. 

3.3 Nevertheless, it is important to stress that Halton’s economic reset 
plan provides a high-level analysis of Halton’s local economy, 
highlighting its key characteristics, and flowing from this, the key 
issues and challenges and indeed, the opportunities that the 
borough would need to consider when implementing its future 
economic reset plan.

3.4 This evidence-based approach has been used to inform the type 
and quantity of interventions that would be required. However, it is 
acknowledged that further work will be needed to better understand 
the long-term impact of COVID-19 on Halton’s economy, its 
businesses and its employees.

Therefore, the Plan does not focus purely on a long-list of capital 
projects or opportunities, but it also considers other complementary 
business support and people oriented interventions, set within work 
streams aimed at increasing and driving the productivity and 
competitive advantages of our local businesses. 

In light of this the document references the International Labour 
Organisation’s Policy Framework pillars when rebuilding a Post-
Covid-19 economy.

Pillar 1 Stimulating the economy
Pillar 2 Supporting enterprises, jobs and incomes
Pillar 3 Protecting workers in the workplace
Pillar 4 Relying on social dialogue for solutions

The document stresses that the most pressing items for the 
Council’s Economic Development functions are awareness raising, 
lobbying for grants support putting grant support in place, training 
support and re-drawing of existing business support programmes

Short-term actions are summarised in the table at Annex 1 of the 
document and the activity of the service is grouped into three:

1. Business Improvement and Growth
2. Town Centre Regeneration
3. Employment Skills and Jobs

4.0 POLICY IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Halton’s Economic Reset Plan could be regarded, initially, as an 
internal document, which is helping the Council to deploy its own 
limited economic regeneration, employment learning and skills and 
business support resources in the best way possible. It 

Page 183



complements wider corporate work being undertaken on reset and 
recovery.

4.2 It will be important to consult on the document more widely. 

However, Executive Board Members are advised that there needs to 
be a balance between developing a document that is practical and 
‘fit for purpose’ but without creating a number of meetings that will 
need to be coordinated. This may not result in any meaningful 
outputs being created. 
  

4.3 Consequently, discussions have taken place with the Halton 
Chamber of Commerce to agree the best way of sharing the draft 
plan with businesses, providing a mechanism for obtaining feedback 
and advice from businesses on how we can support them. In the 
first instance, the plan is being submitted to the Chamber board for 
consideration, but a workshop has been organised with Chamber 
members having an opportunity to consider the following questions:

1. How has your sector been affected by Covid-19?

2. What is your vision for the future?

3. How long do you think it will be when the economy returns to 
normal?

4. How helpful the themes addressed in the attached document 
with tackling the economic impact of Covid-19?

5. What further practical actions could help your business / sector?

6. If money was no object, what further actions could help your 
business / sector?

If resources allow, it is also proposed that a workshop with the 
borough’s other strategic partners would be arranged. Discussions 
with colleagues and members of the Halton Employment 
Partnership have taken place with a view to facilitating this.

Furthermore, existing forums, for example, the Town Deal board 
could also be a conduit for informing strategic partners about the 
work we are doing to support Halton’s economic recovery.

In the short-term, the Council’s Economy, Enterprise and Property 
Department has also worked with the City Region’s Growth Platform 
to hold a workshop for all Halton businesses aimed at briefing them 
on what we have been doing to support businesses in the borough, 
as well as our plans for future support.

Page 184



5.0 OTHER/FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The accompanying action plan contained within the document 
primarily focuses on the deployment of existing departmental 
resources and has been presented as an internal document. As the 
plan is developed, a further discussion will be needed to determine 
whether additional resources will be required to accelerate the 
implementation of the plan.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 The draft Halton Economy Reset Plan is relevant to all of the 
Council priorities, given that a strong economy will be instrumental in 
supporting the funding of a wide range of Council services.

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS

7.1 There are no immediate risks arising from the report.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

Document Place of Inspection Contact Officer

None 

Page 185



 

1 
 

  

Page 186



 

2 
 

Halton Council Covid-19 Reset Plan       Page No
  

1. Introduction          3 
2. Recent Research Findings       3 
3. Headline Business Impacts        3 
4. Post crisis (but notably not post Covid-19) World     5 
5. Business Type and Employment Type      10 
6.  Emerging Impact of Covid-19       11 
7. Liverpool City Region Approach        13 
8. Halton’s Priorities and Actions        15 
9. Halton’s Property and Investment Services Response      19 

       
 
Annex 1 Business Improvement and Growth       21 
Annex 2 Town Centres Regeneration        22 
Annex 3 Employment Skills and Jobs        23 
  

Page 187



 

3 
 

Halton Council Economic Reset  
 
As the world starts to emerge from the first phase of the Covid-19 crisis local authorities around the 
country are consolidating existing, reallocating and securing resources in order to redefine their 
economy in order to improve the prospects for local residents and businesses over the years ahead, 
whatever those years have in store. 
 
Halton Council has devised this plan to ensure that we can support local businesses in partnership 
with local organisations and businesses and partners operating in the Liverpool City Region. We will 
ensure that our strategy, lobbying and services reflect the changed environment. 
 
Themes for post-lockdown Business Improvement and Growth Team support 
 
Capturing partner organisations’ views of Covid-19, how to support businesses in the initial phase 
and design support to make the best of the emergence from this period is critical to ensure that we 
continue to perform strongly as an economy.  
 
With certainty, no one knows how the economy will emerge from the crisis. However, the Council’s 
Business Improvement and Growth team has captured the views of notable intelligence sources, 
business bodies and representatives to guide how we reposition our services in the short term to 
medium term. 
 
Recent research findings 
 
The key points are highlighted below. A pathway is mapped out as a recommended route for the 
borough to assess and amend our economic and business support activities. It should be noted that 
the quantum of support to businesses is often dependent upon drivers and macro-economic 
interventions that will be beyond our control. They will also be the domain of the Central 
Government, Europe as well as, the Combined Authority, Nevertheless, this document will be used 
as a basis for prioritising the interventions needed locally to reset Halton’s economy. 
 
Key Points 
 
Business 
 
Nationally, 24% of businesses have closed down but in addition, around 70% have seen a drop in 
income. Of those continuing to trade, over 60% businesses are furloughing staff with more than 50% 
of those continuing to trade (or pausing) deferring VAT payments. Where possible 80% of businesses 
have taken advantage of government assistance in April 2020. 
 
Of businesses in the UK continuing to trade, and who sell goods or services online, 32% responded 
that online sales have increased throughout May 2020. 
 
There has been a small increase in the number of new Value Added Tax (VAT) registrations between 
April 2020 and May 2020, from 15,250 to 16,460, which is related to the number of firm births; 
however, the number of new reporters in May 2020 is still below the 2015 to 2019 five-year average 
of 20,866 but there is some encouragement here. 
 
Prices 
 

Page 188



 

4 
 

Prices of items in the high-demand products (HDP) basket remained stable between the week 
ending 31 May 2020 and the week ending 7 June 2020. 
 
 
Labour Market 
 
The volume of job adverts in catering and hospitality between 29 May and 5 June 2020 declined to a 
record low of 18.1% of its 2019 level and even though this sector is not dominant in Halton it is still a 
significant provider of employment. 
 
Following peaks on 27 March and 6 April 2020, new declarations for Universal Credit by June 2020 
and new claim advances have both gradually declined in the period to 2 June 2020 and are returning 
to levels seen in the middle of March. 
 
 
The industries hardest hit are hospitality, retail and leisure but along with low short-term aggregate 
demand will come difficult trading circumstances. 
 
One line from the ILO report on Covid-19 and the world of work is particularly helpful. “Policy 
responses need to focus on providing immediate relief to workers and enterprises in order to 
protect livelihoods and economically viable businesses, particularly in hard-hit sectors and 
developing countries, thus ensuring the conditions for a prompt, job-rich recovery once the 
pandemic is under control. X Limited public resources need to be used to encourage enterprises to 
retain and/or create jobs.” 
 
Headline Business Impacts 
 
In the ONS fortnightly survey  one-quarter (24%) of businesses that responded to the fortnightly 
survey as continuing to trade between 6 and 19 April 2020 said their turnover had fallen by more 
than half. 
 
Overall, 57% of businesses responding as still trading had seen their turnover fall beyond its normal 
range, with almost all of them citing the coronavirus (COVID-19) as a contributing factor. 
There has been huge take-up of government support by businesses.  
 
Initial reports show nearly two-thirds (66%) of businesses that responded to wave 3 of our business 
survey had applied for the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme in its first week of opening and by the 
week ending 6th June this has increased to 79% for those still trading and 95% for businesses who 
have temporarily ceased trading. 
 
Of those who ceased trading, 78% of businesses had been trading for more than 2 weeks and 5% of 
businesses reported that they have resumed trading again. 12% had paused trading and do not 
intend to restart in the next two weeks, while 5% had paused trading but intend to restart trading in 
the next two weeks. This provides a good understanding of the position that businesses are in 
nationally. 
 
Technology and homeworking 
 
Technology is helping to enable large numbers of people to work from home during the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) lockdown – but the ability to do so varies a lot between industries. 

Page 189



 

5 
 

In 2019, only 10% of employees in the accommodation and food services industry had ever worked 
from home, compared with 53% in the information and communication industry. 
 
Some jobs require face-to-face contact, or access to tools and machinery, and it may never be 
possible to work from home. But having access to the right equipment can make a difference. Our E-
Commerce Survey shows that in 2018, outside the information and communication industry, less 
than half of employees were provided with a portable device (like a phone, tablet or laptop). 
 
Post crisis (but notably not post Covid-19) World 
 
As a service, the Council’s business support team has planned for the delivery of services in a world 
that may look very different to the one that we have known or had anticipated in the immediate, 
medium and long term future therefore we have sought the views of industry bodies to consolidate 
the intelligence that we have gathered locally about the prospects for business. 
 
Industry and investment analysts consider the post-crisis world will be more indebted, less global, 
and more digital. Investors will need to contend with higher taxation, financial repression, and 
moderately higher inflation, along with populism and protectionism, while navigating the transitions 
from global to local supply chains, and from physical to digital.  
 
Highlighted below are the three main trends with an explanation of the consequences and possible 
actions. Investors highlight three patterns that debt will be much higher, the world will be less global 
and there will be more digital. 
 

1. Debt levels will be much higher 
 

Debt levels will be much higher at the end of the current crisis. The precise spending picture remains 
unclear, but, given our current estimates, government debt as a percentage of GDP will be 15–25ppt 
higher by the end of 2021 than it was at the end of 2019 across much of Europe and in the US.  
 
This is broadly comparable with the scale of the increase seen between 2007 and 2010 as a result of 
the global financial crisis but the caveat it may be far higher. 
 
Consequence 
 
There will be regional variations in how governments finance this debt, but broadly, we expect 
governments to use three means: 
       

 Financial reticence 

 Higher taxation 

 Moderately higher inflation  
 
Action 
 

 Financial planning 

 Re-assess cash and bond exposure 

 Seek alternative diversifiers  
 

2. The world will be left less global 
 

Page 190



 

6 
 

The COVID-19 lockdown has been an unprecedented experiment in extreme localization, with many 
individuals staying in their own homes. These measures will clearly not persist in the long term. 
However, the world will probably be structurally less globally by the crisis, spurring a de-
globalisation trend.  
 
 
Impact 
 
In a less global world, analysts expect to see more of the following: 

 

 Populism 

 Protectionism 

 Localization  
 
Action 
 
Reshoring  
Global diversification 
 

3. More Digital 
 

Lasting changes from lockdown: 
Lockdown measures have forced many consumers and businesses to fundamentally change the way 
they buy and sell goods and services, and turn more digital. While we think most individuals and 
businesses will return to previous ways of working as lockdown measures are lifted, there will be 
some lasting changes.  
 
It remains unclear how quickly consumers and regulators will regain confidence in the safety of the 
sharing economy but some lockdown consequences include: 
 
Impact 
 

 Greater digital adoption 

 Less sharing 

 Health technology takes centre stage with delivery and R and D 
 

Action 
 

 Digital transformation 

 Sector diversification 

 Healthtech, genetic therapies, food revolution 
 

 
The 90% economy 
 
With 88% of businesses now trading nationally, the final reference to research  has lessons from an 
economy already out of lockdown and operating at 90%.  
 
The Economist’s (1/5/2020) lead article concentrates on the 90% economy and is useful in 
tempering expectations: 
  

Page 191



 

7 
 

“In many things 90% is just fine; in an economy it is miserable, and China shows why. The country 
started to end its lockdown in February. Factories are busy and the streets are no longer empty. The 
result is the 90% economy. It is better than a severe lockdown, but it is far from normal. The missing 
bits include large chunks of everyday life. Rides on the metro and on domestic flights are down by a 
third. Discretionary consumer spending, on such things as restaurants, has fallen by 40% and hotel 
stays are a third of normal. People are weighed down by financial hardship and the fear of a second 
wave of covid-19. Bankruptcies are rising and unemployment, one broker has said, is three times the 
official level, at around 20%. 
 
“If the post-lockdown rich world suffers its own brand of the 90% economy, life will be hard—at 
least until a vaccine or a treatment is found.” 
 
  

Page 192



 

8 
 

Liverpool City Region Approach 
 
Partners including Halton are working collaboratively to address many of the difficulties which the 
economy is facing arising from the challenges of the Covid-19 crisis. 
 
Baseline 
 
Pre-crisis, unemployment in the Liverpool City Region, was around 30,000 (4.2%) and economic 
inactivity 230,000 (24%) and this reflect a remarkable improvement in fortunes over the last three 
decades in the Liverpool City Region.  
 
The headline of an improvement in performance masks concerning immediate feedback of the 
Covid-19 crisis where local survey suggests 1.5% apprentices made redundant, 20% on furlough and 
up to 60% reduction in starts in September. 

 
There is a 47% reduction in job vacancies advertised in LCR, compared to 45% nationally and 49% 
across all Combined Authorities and this will be matched with a gradual loss of job roles. This is part 
of the jobs picture but an important piece of the vitality of the LCR (via Adzuna) 
 
A mapping exercise has been completed including all authorities and delivery partners in the 
Liverpool City Region to provide a comprehensive analysis the support that is currently available to 
individuals and businesses.  
 
Number of Employees and Proportion of the Workforce on Furlough 
 

 
  

13,800
16,500

48,600
27,700

19,500

31,600
157,700

18%
19%
20%
21%
22%
23%
24%

Halton Knowsley Liverpool Sefton St. Helens Wirral Liverpool
City

Region

Page 193



 

9 
 

Furlough Claims as a Proportion of Total Jobs by Employer Size 

 
 
The dependence of small and medium sized businesses on the furlough scheme is illustrated on the 
graph below 
 

 
 

Potential scenario 
 

This is where there are particular concerns. The Office for Budget Responsibility central planning 
assumption is that the country would increase to 10% unemployment which in the Liverpool City 
Region would see a further 45,000 unemployed. That is the worrying figure of 75,000 in total not 
including levels of inactivity. 
 
LWI (Who are LWI) analysis of jobs and sectors places up to 110,000 people at high risk of 
redundancy 
 
Of 1.8m who have applied for Universal Credit nationally it is estimated that this could be between 
40,000 and 100,000 residents in the City Region. 
 
The following page illustrates the industrial make-up on Halton and highlights emerging indicators 
where the impact of Covid-19 is being felt 

0% 10%20%30%40% 50%60%70%80%

Finance & insurance

Agriculture, forestry & fishing

Education

Health

Information & communication

Waste and Recycling

Professional, scientific & technical

Transport & storage (inc postal)

Property

Business administration and support services

Wholesale and retail; repair of motor vehicles

Manufacturing

Trade union, religious, political and repair

Construction

Arts, entertainment, recreation and other services

Accommodation & food services

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Micro Small Medium Large

Page 194



 

10 
 

 

 

Business types and employment type 

 

According to ONS data there were five industries where 75% or more of the businesses said they had 

temporarily closed or paused trading: 

 sports activities and amusement and recreation activities 

 accommodation 

 food and beverage service activities 

 libraries, archives, museums and other cultural activities 

 creative, arts and entertainment activities 

 

Below are the number of Halton businesses by sector (2019 data) 

 

Below is employment breakdown for people working in Halton and workers from Halton (Jan – Dec 

19) 

  

Page 195



 

11 
 

Emerging Impact of Covid-19 

 

House Sales 2020 
 
 
The small amount of local data available bear all the hallmarks of short-term economic shock in 
Halton and the wider City Region. 
 

House Sales 2020 

 
Below are the number of house sales by Runcorn & Widnes.  There were only 3 sales in April 2020 

 

Halton Universal Credit claimants – Jan to May 2020 
Universal Credit claims has increased during COVID – the searching for work category showing the 

biggest increase. 

Halton 

 

Page 196



 

12 
 

Runcorn 

 

Widnes 
 
 
 

 
 
Following a slight uptick in numbers in March (lockdown began on 23rd March) there was a 
significant rise in all areas in April and May. These data sets will form part of the monthly monitoring 
of this plan 
 
  

Page 197



 

13 
 

 
Liverpool City Region Response  

 

Working Principles 
 
1. Responsiveness. Both the economic impact and government’s response to it are uncertain. 

We must be ready to adapt our plan at every level from overall approach to specific 
interventions. We will scope more interventions than can be delivered and stand ready to 
re-order them as need and government focus changes.  

2. Ambition. Start by aiming high and be prepared to reduce our plans as constraints emerge. 
3. Deliverability. Everything we consider must be deliverable at the scale and in the 

timeframe proposed. The greatest gap in impact LCR sees is between plan and delivery. 
This will continue to be true until we address the challenge head on.  

4. Partnership. Focus more on impact than on ownership. Whatever works best, goes. 
 
Objectives: 
 
1. Minimise the loss of 1) jobs, 2) GVA and 3) learners from the existing economy 
2. Prioritise new interventions that: 
a. Align with the LIS’s priorities and opportunities and local priorities 
b. Maximise economic benefit as measured by discounted GVA and BCR (and work with 

government to enable a view of fiscal benefit) 
c. Provide short-term economic stimulus as measured by time to launch 
d. Maximise social inclusion in the economy as measured by fair pay, job security and labour 

market participation 
e. Are compatible with a net carbon neutral city region by 2040 
3. Positively facilitate #buildbackbetter under the Opportunities to Improve theme 
 
These objectives will form the basis of a single prioritisation framework for interventions. 
Across all areas of society and the economy partners in the Liverpool City Region have highlighted 
areas of work that could support the economy in the early stages of the crisis and into the transition 
into the recovery phase. These areas of work are neatly summarised as following encapsulating the 
three established pillars of economic intervention and seeking out opportunities for improvement: 
 

1. Business Ecosystem 
2. People Focused Recovery 
3. Place and Economic Infrastructure 
4. Opportunities to Improve 

 
As placed based initiatives included under Place and Economic Infrastructure are longer term plans 
and actions integrated into existing working practices it is difficult to be responsive to crisis 
immediately. However, both place and economic infrastructure and opportunities to improve 
remain at the heart of the response of the Liverpool City Region with a resent of the economy. We 
have a wide array of projects addressing the crisis with people based recovery and starting with 
programmes to improve business ecosystems 
 
Business Ecosystems 
 
Business Starts 
 
• Bespoke advice for people wishing to start their own business 
 

Page 198



 

14 
 

Sector Specific Advice 
 
• Specific support for sectors and clusters (e.g. Care, Visitor Economy) 
• Additional financial and digital inclusion provision 
 
SMEs 
 
• Each local authority has been working tirelessly to defray £10,000 and £25,000 grants (for 

example in Halton we only had 63 businesses remaining  as of 22nd June 2020 
• Creation of paid graduate internships in SMEs Bespoke support for people wishing to 

progress in work 
 
People Focused Recovery  
 
General Employment Support 

 

 Response to Redundancy approach, bringing together national and local partners  

 Assuming that newly unemployed people will be supported by JCP 

 Pre employment bootcamp style support to get people into jobs 

 Additional jobsearch and employment support for unemployed people, through scaled Ways 
to Work, Talent Match and other provision 

 Future Jobs Fund style temporary jobs creation programme focused on keyworkers  

 Skills development support for people and companies (linked to AEB, NRS and NSF) 
 
Specific Need Support 

 

 Supported internships for young people with learning difficulties and disabilities 

 Further mental health support embedded across all provision 

 Targeted support for particular groups and communities (e.g. people with disabilities) 
 
Support for young people 

 

 Focused wage subsidy for apprentices e.g. for 16-18 and 18-24 in care roles 

 Additional support for 16-18 providers to ensure that they can support NEETs 

 Help for schools to help them address the learning deficit from disadvantaged pupils 
 
Community and Voluntary Sector 
 

 Enhanced support for community and voluntary sector organisations 
 
  

Page 199



 

15 
 

Halton’s Priorities and Actions 
 
Irrespective of COVID-19, there are a number of ‘key ingredients’ that will always be required to 
create and sustain a strong economy in Halton.  
 
For example, the quality of the place and cultural offer; quality of housing and schools; a highly 
skilled and adaptable workforce; good quality sites and premises will always be important factors.  
 
Up until COVID-19 lockdown we could see the good progress that had been made to grow and 
sustain the borough’s economy. This is evidenced by the number of jobs being created in the 
borough; the increase in the number of businesses in the borough; as well as improvements in the 
number of our residents with higher skills and qualifications.  
 
Therefore, existing strategies, programmes and projects have worked and can once again serve as 
the catalyst to deliver the transformation needed to restart Halton’s economy.  
 
Halton’s Growth Plan – The Mersey Gateway Regeneration Plan 
 
The borough’s Mersey Gateway Regeneration Plan (MGRP) 2017-2027 (appendix x) is a key 
reference point for Halton’s Economic Reset Plan. The MGRP initially sought to maximise the 
economic benefits of the Mersey Gateway Project beyond its construction period (Autumn 2017). 
 
However, more recently, the purpose of the MGRP has been to facilitate the development of a steady 
pipeline of regeneration and development opportunities over a 10-15 year period. The project 
pipeline has used the Mersey Gateway branding as a way of packaging a series of interrelated projects 
and programmes in a coherent and consistent way.  

 
It has served as a framework and provides focus for the Council and its partners to make effective 
investment decisions relating to a wide range of potential economic regeneration opportunities in the 
borough. 

 
This will ultimately make it easier to promote the borough’s regeneration opportunities to potential 
future investors and support the borough in resetting its economy. 

 
The MGRP has been complemented by other pieces of work including: 

 
HALTON 2030 – a short but aspirational, ambitious and visionary document which sets out a 
longer term vision for the borough in economic terms; 
 
THE LOCAL ECONOMIC ASSESSMENT – an annual document which provides a statistical 
overview of the borough’s economic indicators and will set out the evidence for shaping and 
informing Halton’s future economic priorities and actions; 
 
HALTON’S SINGLE INVESTMENT FUND (SIF) PIPELINE – this is a list of short to medium projects 
which feeds into the Combined Authority’s SIF Prospectus 
 
THIS IS HALTON – this is a regularly updated inward investment prospectus/brochure which 
focuses on Halton’s Unique Selling Point highlighting the strengths, benefits and opportunities 
the borough has to offer. 
 

Mersey Gateway Regeneration Development and Investment Plan 

Page 200



 

16 
 

 

The MGRP is accompanied by a more in depth detailed Plan (100 pages +) which provides a large 

amount of technical information relating to potential sites being brought forward for development. 

The larger document has been used as an internal document to assist officers in developing project 

plan for the respective ‘Impact Areas’ identified. 

 

However, for ease of reference a shorter, more ‘user friendly’ fold out Executive Summary document 

was developed. 

 

In preparing the MGRP, a significant amount of work was undertaken. This included: 
 
1. Developing masterplans and delivery strategies for specific regeneration programmes and 

investigate feasibility of key enabling projects which form part of the Regeneration Plan;  
2. Identify a steady pipeline of development and investments opportunities comprising residual 

land from the Mersey Gateway Project and adjoining areas within the project envelope; 
3. Engaging across the organisation, but particularly with Planning Policy and Transport Dept., to 

ensure future continuity and support for delivery; 
4. Align and integrate key projects with future funding opportunities such as the Liverpool City 

Region Single Investment Fund (SIF) - Transport and Development Pipelines. 
 
From the outset, this approach was guided during year one feasibility work by the identification of 
thirteen projects and initially six spatial impact areas to investigate, with achievements and progress 
set out in appendix 1. 
 
In summary work on the MGRP has provided a firm foundation on which to base Halton’s Economic 
Reset Plan. 
 
The fold out Executive Summary (attached) follows the structure of the detailed Regeneration Plan, 

and is within three parts: 

 

Part 1 - Strategic Context to Regeneration in Halton 

 

This section outlines that during the past five years, thousands of new jobs have been created in 

Halton within our expanding Advanced Manufacturing, Logistics and Service Industries and the 

borough has seen investment in excess of £1 billion. As a result, Halton is currently on the front foot. 

This period of transformation and economic growth looks set to continue, as the Mersey Gateway 

Project further boosts commercial confidence in our area. 

 

The aim of this strategic document is simple - to identify some of the tremendous development 

opportunities that the Gateway will create and to maximise those opportunities for the long term 

economic benefits of the area.  

 

The Gateway project underpins an ambition to move the area forward. Halton has a strong economy 

that punches well above its weight. This strategy gives an overview of some of the activity being 

planned and delivered in a location that could claim to be establishing itself as the region’s 

innovation hub.  

 

Page 201



 

17 
 

The document explains that Halton is part of the Liverpool City Region, situated within the economic 

triangle formed by Liverpool, Manchester and Chester, and is now home to a vast array of small and 

medium businesses as well as globally significant companies.  

 

This area has numerous advantages that set it apart as a business location, including a good supply 

of suitable, value for money sites and premises, appropriate skills, and a pool of existing firms to act 

as suppliers and subcontractors. The area also has transportation links that are second to none. 

Approximately a third of the UK’s residential population and around a half of all British 

manufacturing businesses is located within a two hour drive. Halton is ideally located between both 

Manchester International and Liverpool’s John Lennon Airport.   It offers direct access to The West 

Coast Mainline for both rail freight and passengers and to the ports of Liverpool, offering ferries to 

the Isle of Man and Ireland and shipping across the world, and also at Runcorn, via the Manchester 

Ship Canal.  These locational advantages as well some of Haltons other assets and strengths are 

illustrated on the ‘Connected Halton’ diagram provided within the fold out summary. 

 

Part Two: Mersey Gateway Ten Impact Areas  

 

This Plan identifies ten key ‘Impact areas’ that will be either accessed or enhanced as a result of the 

Mersey Gateway project. It explains how we will utilise all our assets and build upon our strengths to 

encourage development and create jobs for local people. We will achieve this by combining these 

elements in a cohesive way,   establishing the Borough with a much stronger investment proposal 

both nationally and internationally. 

 

The Plan focuses on how these ten regeneration and investment ‘Impact Areas’ are linked to the 

Mersey Gateway Project. These are places where the new crossing and wider project helps with the 

unlocking of land for new development and reposition an area for growth. These Impact Areas are 

expressed on the overview plan and comprise: 

• Productivity - Development opportunities for employment related activity, with a focus on 

the Liverpool City Region growth sectors 

 

• Connectivity - Key road, rail and water based supporting infrastructure projects  

 

• Place - Wider housing, retail, leisure and other opportunities to support balanced and 

sustainable growth 

  

Whilst each impact area can be delivered as a standalone regeneration programme, this Plan 

becomes more significant when the 10 impact areas are brought forward together in a cohesive 

way.  

 

Proposed Key Impact Areas 

 

The proposed Ten Key Impact Areas are: 

 

 West Runcorn Employment Growth Area   

 Halton Lea Healthy New Town Centre  

Page 202



 

18 
 

 Astmoor Business Park 

 Southern Widnes (West Bank) 

 Southern Widnes (Widnes Waterfront) 

 Southern Widnes (Moor Lane / Ashley Way)  

 Ditton Corridor 

 Widnes Town Centre 

 Runcorn Old Town Centre 

 East Runcorn 

 

Place-shaping Projects 

Between them, the ten ‘Impact Areas’ have the potential to accommodate numerous, separate and 

diverse projects in the coming years. Within this Plan, five stand-out place-shaping projects have 

been identified which as standalone projects have the potential to transform Halton, beyond their 

immediate site or the impact areas they sit within. Five potential place shaping projects have been 

selected as examples, to best illustrate the scale and scope of the ambition and the huge potential of 

these Impact Areas to transform the South of the City Region and beyond. Our ‘Big-5’ place-shaping 

projects are: 

 

Five place shaping projects 

1. INOVYN WORLD CLASS CHEMICAL AND ENERGY HUB 

The 100 hectare INOVYN Campus in Runcorn has a unique global offer. It has a long history of 

innovation in manufacturing and the owner of the campus - INEOS,   is a global chemical company 

with annual sales of around $40 billion. Over 30 ha of serviced plots are available within the secured 

and managed campus, with access to; unique infrastructure including an independent and resilient 

power supply; primary chemicals and by products; HSE consents and COMAH designation; and, 

world class expertise and customer supply chain networks.  

 

2. SILVER JUBILEE BRIDGE SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT CORRIDOR 

The projected transfer of 80% of cross river vehicle traffic to the new Mersey Gateway Bridge 

provides a unique opportunity to not only redefine the function of the iconic SJB but also rediscover 

the historic heart of Halton. Whilst still retaining a strategic role as part of the Mersey Crossing 

complex, it will become more focussed as a ‘local link’ and promote cross river walking, cycling and 

public transport. This new sustainable transport corridor stretches from Runcorn Old Town to 

Widnes Town Centre and will be delivered in phases. It has potential to change the way we move 

between our towns and open new commercial frontage and residential opportunities, particularly 

within West Bank area of Widnes. 

   

3. DESTINATION RUNCORN’ NEW STATION QUARTER DEVELOPMENT 

This is a unique opportunity to help realise the potential of Runcorn Mainline Station as a driver for 

growth and transport improvements. Delinking of the  SJB  highway approach has potential to 

release redundant highway and open up adjoining land to develop a new Station Quarter, 

comprising; new passenger and visitor facilities;  new transport interchange and improved linkages 

to Runcorn Old Town and the Bridgewater  Canal;  and, new mixed use commercial and residential 

development. This scheme will not only redefine the Old Town but create an improved sense of 

arrival and impression of Runcorn, Halton and southern gateway into the Liverpool City Region. 

Page 203



 

19 
 

 

4.  THE MERSEY MULTI MODAL GATEWAY (3MG) Phase Three  

Within the A562 Ditton Corridor there is approximately 24 ha of redundant and underutilised land. 

These sites have the potential to continue the success story of 3MG logistics hub with opportunities 

for advanced manufacturing. This not only continues the repositioning of West Widnes as a logistic 

hub of regional significance and a supplier park for Jaguar Land Rover / Automotive / Rail; but also 

helps meet demand in the City-Region for major commercial sites and drive forward growth in the 

wider Speke Road (A562) Innovation and Logistics corridor. 

 

5. – THE  MID MERSEY PARK 

This is an opportunity to significantly enhance the leisure and visitor economy offer, by defining and 

branding a new park corridor. The park will link a necklace of mostly existing green spaces, 

promenades and visitor destinations, stretching from the Silver Jubilee Bridge to Arpley Bridge in 

Warrington. The park will be connected by a circular trail for walking and cycling, accessed at key 

locations. By improving access and stimulating increased public use, the new park will alter public 

perceptions by introducing greater numbers of people to the landscape of the mid Mersey estuary, 

and therefore create an improved environment and setting for investment. 

 

Part 3: Delivery 

The plan states that the key to success in Halton is our approach to partnership working, particularly 

with private sector partners.  Halton has have been involved in Economic Development long before 

it became fashionable to do so, and, therefore, we understand regeneration does not happen 

overnight or in isolation.  We believe our contribution is the leadership, governance and legitimacy 

we can bring to developing and realising a shared vision for a place; and how we can support 

investment through the contacts, resources and functions available to the Council. We also 

recognise the strengths of private sector partners and the dynamism and focus on viability and 

delivery that is brought to the table.   

 

The MGRP emphasises that In Halton, regeneration is not just about building things and 

transforming places. It is also about promoting inclusive growth and changing lives. We always seek 

added value, by securing local employment, training and apprenticeship opportunities to improve 

local economic prosperity. 

 
These existing and previous interventions need to be intensified if we are to proactively promote 
and support Halton’s economy in the future, albeit in the knowledge that, as a result of COVID-19, 
there will need to be some changes to how we need to deliver these interventions.   
 
Halton’s Property and Investment Services Response  
 
As a result of our evaluation of the above insight and intelligence, the Council’s Economy, Enterprise 
and Property Department has considered an approach that best meets the needs of the local 
economy and business base in order to redesign, develop and deliver programmes and services to 
best meet local need and economic circumstances. 
 
Guiding Principles 
 
We have, therefore, developed the following guiding principles to guide our decision making. 

Page 204



 

20 
 

 
1. Systematic list of priorities needed: 

 
a. Which are the high value adding businesses? 
b. Which are the high employing businesses? 
c. Which are “local” businesses? 

 
2. What are the needs of the “sectors” we prioritise? 

 
a. Differentiate which businesses need large capital sums to “restart” and which do not 
b. What skills and training is needed by these businesses? 
c. Our focus will be more manufacturing (particularly food) chemicals, digital enabling, 

science and medical and logistics sectors as we emerge from the crisis. 
 

3. Create new role and way of operating for: 
  

a. Town Centres to attract and reach new customers 
b. Retail  
c. Leisure this year? 

 
4. Establish training needs, especially in manufacturing, production, digital enabling, science 

and medical and logistics sectors 
 

5.  Investment needs 
We have also made reference to the International Labour Organisation’s Policy Framework pillars 
when rebuilding a Post-Covid-19 economy 

 
Pillar 1 Stimulating the economy 
Pillar 2 Supporting enterprises, jobs and incomes 
Pillar 3 Protecting workers in the workplace 
Pillar 4 Relying on social dialogue for solutions 

The immediate emphasis of the Team’s actions is awareness raising,  Lobby for grants support Put 
grant support in place, Training support and re-drawing of existing business support programmes 

 
Short-term actions are summarised in the table at Annex 1 and the activity of the service is 
grouped into three: 
 

1. Business Improvement and Growth 
2. Town Centres Regeneration 
3. Employment Skills and Jobs 

 

Page 205



 

21 
 

 
Annex 1 Business Improvement and Growth Actions 

 
Business Improvement and Growth Team 
The work of the team is broken into three main areas and segmented as follows: 
Investment and Retention Services  
1. Inward Investment 
2. Larger Indigenous Businesses 
3. Information Services 
4. Property Inquiry Services   
Business Support 
5. Support local businesses 
6. Growth Hub (contributing to) 
7. Business Start Ups relationships and gaps 
8. Business Support Programme 
Sector Development 
9. Logistics 
10. Advanced Engineering Development 
11. Green Economy Development 
12. Tech Economy Development 
Regeneration  
13. West Runcorn Hyport 
14. Sci Tech Hartree 
15.  Runcorn Town Centre 
16. Runcorn Station Quarter 
17. Astmoor Regeneration 
18. 3MG 
19.  Mersey Gateway Regeneration Plan 
 
 
MORE DETAIL CAN BE PROVIDED ON PIPELINE PROJECTS.   

Page 206



 

22 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 

1.Inward 
Investment 
 

Drive policy at 
City Region  

Number of 
Investments 

Physical 
investments 

Unknown 4 investment 
over 10,00 
square feet per 
year 

Ongoing PC PS MG 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 
 

1.Inward 
Investment 

Manage 
Portfolio of 
ongoing 
investment 
projects 

Number of 
investment 

Physical 
investments 

Unknown 4 investments 
over 10,000 
square feet per 
year 

Ongoing PC PS MG 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 

2.Larger 
Indigenous 
Businesses 
 

Delivery of 
KAM 
 
Subtly assess 
the position 
of local units 
and  

KAM of local 
major 
businesses 

Number of 
business 
account 
managed 

40 40 Ongoing PC Team 
and JQ 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 

2.Larger 
Indigenous 
Businesses 

Design 
programme of 
engagement 
for future for 
Small and 
Medium sized 
businesses – 
not micro 

KAM of larger 
indigenous 
businesses 

Number of 
business 
account 
managed 

250 250 May 2020 PC PS and 
MG 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 

3.Information 
Services 
 

Design, 
writing and 
delivery of 
Covid-19 
weekly 
newsletter 

Dissemination 
of newsletter  

At least 1 
newsletter 
distributed per 
week 

1 newsletter 
per week 

48 per year Ongoing MG Team 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 

3.Information 
Services 

Relaunch 
social media 
presence and 
redesign a 

Increase 
business 
engagements 

Followers on 
Twitter 

2540 3500 September  
2020 

MG PC and 
PS 

P
age 207



 

23 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

post-Covid-19 
campaign 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 

4.Property 
Inquiry Services 

Manage 
Portfolio of 
ongoing 
property 
enquiry 
projects 

Investments in 
Halton 

Number of 
investments 

7 10 March 
2021 

MG PC and 
PS 

Investment 
and Retention 
Services 

4.Property 
Inquiry Services 

Enhanced 
market 
intelligence 

Improved 
understanding 
of the business 
base in Halton 

Sector reporting 10 reports on 
sectors 

10 reports on 
sectors 

May 2020 PC Team 

Business 
Support 

5.Support local 
businesses 
 

Grant support 
to be advised 

Support to 
local 
businesses 

Grants paid out 300 300 June 2020 Paul 
Corner 

Team 

Business 
Support 

6.Growth Hub 
(contributing 
to) 
 

Manage 
enquiries 

Support to 
local 
businesses 

Number of 
engagements 

500 500 Ongoing Team  

Business 
Support 

7.Business Start 
Ups 
relationships 
and gaps 

Design 
scheme to 
strengthen 
relationship 
with business 
start advisors 
across the 
team 

Model 
business start 
support 

Disparate 
understanding 
needs to 
improve 

Improvement 
of 
understanding 

Improvement 
of 
understanding 

August 
2020 

Peter Team 

Business 
Support 

8. Business 
Support 
Programme 

Develop 
Digital 
Business 
Support 
Programme: 
 

Broker 
consultancy 
support 

Broker 
consultancy 
support 

  Ongoing KH DF 

P
age 208



 

24 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

 Strategic 
Business 
Planning 

 Strategic 
Marketing 

 Digital 

 Finance 
 

Sector 
Development 

9.Logistics Build into Key 
Account 
Management 
programme 

Forum in place Regular 
communication 

Informal 
engagement 

10% of 
businesses 
engaged 

September  
2020 

SMD / 
AS 

 

Sector 
Development 

10.Advanced 
Engineering 
and 
Manufacturing 
Development 
 

Relaunch 
network and 
subgroups 

Forum in place Regular 
communication 

Informal 
engagement 

10% of 
businesses 
engaged 

September  
2020 

PC MG 

Sector 
Development 

11.Green 
Economy 
Development 

Create client 
book bespoke 
to each 
business post 
lockdown 

Forum in place Regular 
communication 

Informal 
engagement 

10% of 
businesses 
engaged 

September  
2020 

PS  

Sector 
Development 

12.Tech 
Economy 
Development 

Evaluate 
Grant and 
loans 
available and 
target local 
businesses 

Forum in place Regular 
communication 

Informal 
engagement 

10% of 
businesses 
engaged 

September  
2020 

MG  

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 209



 

25 
 

Annex 2 Regeneration – Town Centres 

 
 

Town Centres are the most tangible part of a local authority that a resident will associate with and in general have a vested interest as a local 
destination for leisure and retail. Regardless of the attractions of larger more corporate retail and leisure destinations, the majority of people want 
local amenities to be as good as possible. This provides a constant challenge to local authorities to constantly reinvigorate their town centres either 
by themselves or through commercial partnerships. 
 
In this section we have taken a systematic approach to responding to the crisis for our town centres. 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

Town 
Centres 

Establish temporary 
body to coordinate 
action during crisis 
and pre-recovery 
stage 

Ensure 
response is 
organised, 
effective, 
efficient and 
significant. 
Responding to 
the immediate 
needs of the 
TC as well as 
plan for the 
future 
recovery 

    Now Operation
al Director 

 

Town 
Centres 

Communications  Ensure 
information 
reaches the 
right people at 
right time 
especially 
business 

    On-going MO/ 
Regenerati
on 
Manager – 
Town 
Centres 

 

P
age 210



 

26 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

owners and 
public 
Positive 
stories 

Town 
Centres 

Monitor Footfall To understand 
TC use and 
potential 
issues 

    On-going DF  

Town 
Centres 

Wides and Runcorn 
Old Town Business 
Contracts 
 

Compile town 
centre 
business lists 
and email 
address where 
possible 

    May 2020 DF SM and JH 

Town 
Centres 

Halton Lea and 
Trident 
Albert Square 
Green oaks 

should HBC be 
involved? 

    Now  Operation
al Director 

 

Town 
Centres 

Contact Town 
Centre business 

Use 
email/social 
media to 
understand 
business plans 
and challenges 

    Now DF SM and JH 
MG 

Town 
Centres 

Traffic Management Will there 
need to be 
temporary 
road closures 
or traffic 
restrictions? 

    End May TG Highways 

P
age 211



 

27 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

Will they need 
approval or 
covered by 
general 
permitted 
development 
order 

Town 
Centres 

Parking 
Management 
 

Review 
parking 
restrictions 
and 
enforcement 

    End May TG?  Highways 
and 
regeneratio
n 

Town 
Centres 

Walking  Identify hot 
spots, 
pavement 
widening  
review 
queuing 
positions, one-
way systems 

    End may TG Highways 
and 
regeneratio
n 

Town 
Centres 

Cycling 
 

Identify 
temporary 
and new cycle 
routes into TC 

    Mid-June TG Highways 
and 
regeneratio
n 

Town 
Centres 

Bus Stops/station 
 

Do bus stops 
need to move 
to 
accommodate 
queues? 

    Mid-June IB Highways 

P
age 212



 

28 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

Town 
Centres 

Consistent Signage 
(signs and on the 
floor) 

Review TC 
signage 
Procure new 
standard 
signage 
Design (local 
identify) and 
install floor 
signage  

    Mid-June IS Highways 
and 
regeneratio
n 

Town 
Centres 

Public Health advice 
 

Identify how 
and where 
this is 
communicate
d (linked to 
signage) 

     Public 
Health 
Consultant 

 

Town 
Centres 

Enhanced cleaning 
and sanitising 

Are additional 
cleaning 
services 
required? 
Should HBC 
provide 
sanitiser 
stations? 
(Linked to 
public health) 

    May 2020 Paul 
Wright 

 

Town 
Centres 

Waste Collections Collections to 
be improved 
in line with 
PHE guidance 

     Jim 
Unsworth 

 

Town 
Centres 

Identify any 
additional 

Council’s 
disability 

    Do we 
have a 

  

P
age 213



 

29 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

challenges for 
people with 
disabilities 

champion to 
raise and 
promote 

disabilitie
s 
champion
? 

Town 
Centres 

Business Advice and 
funding 

Establish 
online 
presence, new 
communicatio
n channels 
with 
customers, 
click and 
collect 
services, use 
of digital 
technology 
Establish 
business 
networking 

    May and 
June 

Business 
Support 

Regeneratio
n  Town 
Centres 

Town 
Centres 

Pubs/cafes/restaura
nts 

Review 
Operations 
Should they 
have 
additional 
pavement/roa
d space for 
operation? 
(see Park lets) 

    June Highways 
 

Licencing 

Town 
Centres 

Runcorn Market Should HBC 
consider 
temporarily 

     WR  

P
age 214



 

30 
 

Theme Topic Covid-19 
Action 

KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

re-introducing 
the market 

Town 
Centres 

Review Council TC 
services 

Widnes 
Market 
Libraries 
HDL 
Toilets 
HPIJ Runcorn 
Brindley 
Public open 
Space 
Community 
Centres 
 

    June John 
Hughes 

 

Town 
Centres 

Role of PCSO’s  Review PCSO 
role 
Are more 
stewards 
required? 

    June Communit
y Safety 

 

 
  

P
age 215



 

31 
 

Annex 3 Employment, Skills and Jobs 
 
To support the economy and specifically employment skills and jobs in response to Covid-19, we will introduce; 
 
• A new LCR Bounce Back Employment Scheme for residents and businesses 
• A new Self-Employment Start Up Scheme 
• Intensified end-to-end employment support through the flagship LCR Ways to Work  

Delivery Partnership. 
 
Our actions reflect existing arrangements and partnerships that have been in place for over 20 years, which will be extended and adapted to 
respond to the expected economic conditions arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, providing a suite of interventions to off-set economic and social 
shock. 
 
The attached table details the initial bounce back operations which will be put into force 
 

Redundant 
Theme 

Topic Covid 19 Action KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

People 
Based 
Recovery  

Redundancy 
support 

• Residents 
affected by 
redundancy due to 
Covid-19; 

Number of 
redundant 
residents 
supported 

Redundancy 
support 
received 

54 made 
redundant 
in 
April/May 
2020 
 

TBC 30 
months 

SS/LC HPIJ & 
Apprenticeship 
Support teams  

People 
Based 
Recovery 
 

 Labour 
market 
trends 

 Critical 
sectors 

 Digital 

 Young 
people 

 Residents 
affected by 
reduced hours 
due to 
restrictions 
linked to 
employment 
as a result of 
or due to 
Covid-19, for 

Number of 
unemployed 
residents 
 

Job subsidy 
intervention 
received 

TBC 1800 30 
months 

SS/LC HPIJ & 
Apprenticeship 
Support teams  

Self-
employment 
grant 
received 

TBC 375 30 
months 

SS/LC HPIJ & 
Apprenticeship 
Support teams  

Gaining 
employment 
outside of 

TBC 423 30 
months 

SS/LC HPIJ & 
Apprenticeship 
Support teams  

P
age 216



 

32 
 

Redundant 
Theme 

Topic Covid 19 Action KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

 Lone 
parents 

 Over 50s 

 Support 
for self 
employed  

 Existing 
Ways to 
Work 
participant 

example to 
meet social 
distancing 
measures and 
requirements 

 Unemployed 
residents 
whose 
previous job 
roles are 
those most 
affected by 
Covid-19, such 
as the visitor 
economy, 
leisure and 
tourism 

 Residents who 
wish to 
redeploy into 
potential 
growth 
sectors, i.e. 
Digital, 
Environmental 
and Social / 
Health Care 
Sectors 

 Young people 
(our future 
talent) , most 

job subsidy 
intervention 

Receiving 
LCR Bounce 
Back 
support 

TBC 3585 30 
months 

SS/LC HPIJ & 
Apprenticeship 
Support teams  

Gaining 
education or 
training 

TBC 129 30 
months 

SS/SB Adult Learning 
Team 

Gaining a 
qualification 

TBC 193 30 
months 

SS/SB Adult Learning 
Team 

Gaining 
basic skills 

TBC 59 30 
months 

SS/SB Adult Learning 
Team P

age 217



 

33 
 

Redundant 
Theme 

Topic Covid 19 Action KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

at risk of 
becoming 
NEET as a 
result of 
Covid-19, 
including Care 
Leavers and 
LAC 

 Single parents 
returning to 
the labour 
market; 

 Over 50’s 
whose 
employment 
opportunities 
have reduced 
as a result of 
Covid-19 

 The previously 
self-employed 
who are no 
longer able to 
trade 

 Existing W2W 
participants 
with mental 
or physical 
health 
conditions, ex-
offenders, 

P
age 218



 

34 
 

Redundant 
Theme 

Topic Covid 19 Action KPI Measure Baseline Outcome Timescale Lead Support 

homeless, 
domestic 
violence 
survivors, 
substance 
abuse issues.  
All of who will 
have been 
further 
disadvantaged 
by Covid-19 

 
 
 

 

P
age 219



Page 220



1 

Foreword 

Liverpool City Region aims to be the most 
progressive, values and ethics led economy in 
Europe.  

We want to make our society fairer for everyone 
who lives here. We want to help our businesses 
create profit through operating with purpose. We 
want to reimagine the pathway to employment, 
health and happiness for the most vulnerable in 
society, and we want to pilot this in ways that can 
be replicated across the entire country.  

Our City Region’s economy is forged through a history of industry, reimagined and 
recreated by culture and standing on the verge of a future inspired by 
entrepreneurialism, ambition and creative curiosity. 

We would all like to see confidence returning to our high streets, to the bars and 
restaurants, to businesses and workplaces, to schools and universities, to the whole 
economic ecosystem. But we also need to imbue confidence in our young people, 
our residents and our visitors in order that they take the next steps on their journey. 
Through this confidence comes ambition.  

Over the last decade and more, we have rediscovered our self-confidence as a 
thriving City Region: our shoulders have relaxed, our heads have been held higher 
and we have played our part in the nation’s story.  

A strong Liverpool City Region is a massive asset for the whole country. We are an 
international brand with a social conscience; Liverpool translates across nationalities 
and cultures. In a post-Covid, post-Brexit world we are ready to play our full part 
and just need the tools to get on and do the job. 

This plan is made up of projects which individually represent transformational 
opportunities for places, communities and sectors across the region; but, 
collectively, they represent the design for a new, progressive and resilient economy 
that will define the region for a generation.  

Page 221



2 

As we plan for recovery, our aim is to Build Back Better: to reshape our economy 
and society in a way that is greener, fairer and more inclusive. There can be no 
return to business as usual, or the old way of doing things. This plan is a roadmap 
for recovery that all parts of our City Region have contributed to – and will benefit 
from. It is a blueprint that is unique to our local economy, our specialisms and our 
opportunities in a post-Covid world.  

Because of our devolved powers and funding, we presently have a pipeline of 
shovel-ready, world-leading projects like: the National Packaging Innovation Centre; 
the Health Innovation Digital Campus; the construction of a Manufacturing 
Development and Training Centre, alongside plans to bring ultra-fast Digital 
Connectivity to the whole City Region by 2023 as well as town-centre initiatives 
that, with the injection of government funding, could be started almost 
immediately. 

In conjunction with our regeneration projects, work has been underway for some 
time to address the long-standing health and wellbeing inequalities that 
disproportionately afflict the Liverpool City Region and hold us back from reaching 
our full potential. For too long, too many local people have been shut out of our 
economy, prevented from enjoying the same opportunities as others. We want to 
reverse that. We want genuine inclusive economic growth. We’re ambitious for all 
our people and confident of our ability to deliver – and this is reflected in our 
investment and skills submissions. 

The overarching message underpinning our recovery strategy is one of hope and 
confidence. By aiming for a people-focused recovery, we can offer hope to those 
who are out of work; we can support our business ecosystem to innovate, grow and 
thrive in the years ahead; and we can put the fight for a better environment at the 
heart of everything we do. 

Steve Rotheram 
Liverpool City Region Mayor 

Page 222



3 

Building Back Better: the Liverpool City Region Economic Recovery Plan is 
endorsed by the following: 

Members of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Joe Anderson OBE Mayor of Liverpool 
Cllr David Baines Leader of St Helens Council 
Cllr Pat Hackett Leader of Wirral Council 
Cllr Ian Maher Leader of Sefton Council 
Cllr Graham Morgan Leader of Knowsley Council 
Cllr Rob Polhill Leader of Halton Council 
Cllr Liam Robinson Chair of Transport Committee 

Portfolio Holder for Transport and Air Quality 
Asif Hamid MBE Chair of LCR Growth Platform  

Chief Executive, The Contact Company 
Jane Kennedy Police & Crime Commissioner for Merseyside 

Liverpool City Region Stakeholders 

Vidhya Alakeson Chief Executive, Power to Change 
Paula Basnett Chief Executive, Wirral Chamber of Commerce 
Professor Denise Barrett-
Baxendale 

Chief Executive, Everton Football Club 

Professor Dame Janet Beer 
DBE 

Vice Chancellor of University of Liverpool 

Gideon Ben-Tovim Mayoral Advisor on the Environment 
Chair of the Climate Agreement Panel 

Glenn Bemment Regional Director, Mid Corporates, North, 
Lloyds Bank 

Elaine Bowker Principal & Chief Executive of City of Liverpool 
College 

Dr Ian Campbell Interim Executive Chair, Innovate UK 
Professor Ian Campbell Vice-Chancellor, Liverpool John Moores 

University 
Michelle Charters Chief Executive, Kuumba Imani Millennium 

Centre 
Paul Cherpeau Chief Executive, Liverpool & Sefton Chamber of 

Commerce 
Paul Corcoran Chief Executive, Agent Marketing 

Page 223



4 

John Cummins Managing Director, Future Cities, Legal & 
General Investment Management 

Claire Dove OBE VCSE Representative and Chief Executive, 
Blackburne House 

Keelan Early Community Action Wirral 
James Gill Chair of the Strategic Investment Fund Advisory 

Panel 
Tracey Gore Director, Steve Biko Housing Association 
Jonathan Hague Vice President, Vice President Science and 

Technology Homecare, Unilever 
Helen Heap Chief Executive, Seebohm Hill 
Professor Janet Hemingway Director, Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine 
Robert Hough Chairman, Peel Airports 
Michael Hulme Managing Director for Trains and Modernisation, 

Alstrom Group 
Matt Johnson Founder and Managing Director, We Are Form 
Racheal Jones Chief Executive, One Knowsley 
Chris Lawrenson Director of Business Banking, RBS 
Neil Lees Deputy Chairman, The Peel Group 
Ian Lomas Chief Executive, Greater Merseyside Learning 

Provider Federation 
Mark Lawler Baltic Creative CIC 
Rev Canon Dr Ellen Loudon Reverend Canon, Liverpool Cathedral / VS6 / 

Kindred 
Chris Manka North West Regional Chairman, Federation of 

Small Businesses 
Lesley Martin-Wright Chief Executive, Knowsley Chamber 
Tracey Mawson Chief Executive, St Helens Chamber 
Phil McCabe Merseyside and Cheshire Development 

Manager, Federation of Small Businesses 
Professor Philip McCann Chair in Urban and Regional Economics, 

Sheffield University Management School 
Alison McGovern Chair of LCR APPG 
Stuart McGrory Chief Executive, Voluntary Organisations 

Learning Alliance 
Neil McInroy CLES 
Frank McKenna Chief Executive, Downtown in Business 
James McKenna Policy & Campaigns Support Officer, TUC North 

West 
Dr Liz Mear Chief Executive, Innovation Agency NWC 
Frank Millar Chief Executive, Centre for Process Industries 

Page 224



 5 

Peter Moore Chief Executive, Liverpool Football Club 
Mary Murphy Chair, Merseyside Colleges Association 
Matt Noon Partner, Hill Dickinson 
Massimo Noro UKRI Science & Technology Facilities Council 

(Sci-Tech Daresbury) 
Maggie O’Carroll Chief Executive, The Women’s Organisation 

Co-chair of Cultural Partnership 
Chris Oglesby Chief Executive, Bruntwood 
Rachael Owen Chief Executive, Halton Chamber of Commerce 

and Enterprise 
Laura Pye Director, National Museums Liverpool 
Bronwen Rapley Chief Executive, Onward Homes 
Neil Rawlinson  Strategic Development Director, MTC 
Philip Rooney DLA Piper 
Leon Rossiter Founder, Newgen 
Andrew Ruffler Chief Executive, Professional Liverpool 
Erika Rushton Director of Baltic Creative / Creative Economist / 

Kindred 
Colin Sinclair Chief Executive, Knowledge Quarter Liverpool & 

Sciontec Liverpool 
Damian Waters Director North West, CBI 
Norman Wallis Chief Executive, Southport Pleasureland 
Angela White OBE Chief Executive, Sefton CVS 
Sally Yeoman Chief Executive, Halton & St Helens VCA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 225



6 

Contents 

Foreword ................................................................................................. 1 

Executive Summary ................................................................................. 7

Introduction ........................................................................................... 10 

Economic Impact Summary ................................................................... 16

Opportunities to #BuildBackBetter ....................................................... 21

The Business Ecosystem ........................................................................ 24

People Focused Recovery ...................................................................... 35

Place ...................................................................................................... 41 

A Green Recovery .................................................................................. 50

Appendix A: Medium-term Capital Investments Pipeline ...................... 54

Appendix B: Medium-term Transport Pipeline ...................................... 57

Appendix C: Strategic Outline Cases ..................................................... 61

Page 226



7 

Executive Summary 

After a sustained period of growth and development, the Liverpool City Region 
economy has much to protect and more to contribute.   

We have, in the last 10 years, reduced our unemployment rate from well above, to 
just below, the national level; developed an internationally-popular culture 
and visitor economy; seen our universities act as major investors and civic 
leaders; expanded our port; developed a fast growing social economy and 
progressed nationally recognised strengths in material science, infectious diseases 
control and high performance computing.   

Our plan before COVID-19 was to expand these strengths and to tackle head-on the 
long-standing health and equality issues that, for too long, have held back our 
potential. These issues mean that COVID-19’s impact is more severe in the City 
Region than elsewhere. As a significant economy in the North West of England, we 
play an important role in delivering a recovery that reduces regional inequalities.   

This plan is based on our firm belief that the long-term opportunities set out in our 
Local Industrial Strategy still exist, that our vision for a globally competitive, 
environmentally responsible, socially inclusive economy remains still valid and that 
addressing health, inequality and the climate emergency are mission critical to 
achieving this vision. 

Yet we recognise that the economy has changed permanently. Our plan is developed 
on a detailed evidence base of the impacts of COVID-19. The evidence leads us to 
believe that we cannot simply build our way into recovery. We need to reflect the 
economy’s future shape. This is why our plan refers to the business ecosystem, a 
people focused recovery, place and a green recovery, all underpinned by tangible 
commitments to build back better.   

The pandemic has caused disruption to almost every business across the country. 
The business ecosystem recovery programme sets out the national programmes 
required to support businesses through the most acute phase of the pandemic, and 
to restore confidence nationally. Locally we commit to deliver a step-change in how 
we facilitate business growth. We set out an innovative set of local interventions 
needed to deliver effective, targeted support and finance filling local gaps in 
provision. This is complemented by a new generation of ambitious, deliverable 
economic infrastructure projects capable of providing a short-term economic stimulus 
now and delivering long term growth and productivity uplifts to level up the North. 
For all this we have strong private sector support.  

Page 227



8 

The pandemic has had a significant impact on people’s health, wellbeing and 
livelihoods. With the largest growth in employment in the country over the last five 
years, the people focused recovery rightly shapes our pressing need to protect 
labour market improvements in the City Region. It sets out the programmes needed 
at a national and local level to support employability, tackle skills gaps and reduce 
skills shortages, all with a focus on supporting more people into decent work, with 
decent pay and a narrowing of employment gaps. Our key employment sectors have 
been hit hard – harder than the national average – and we must work in close 
partnership with Government to address these challenges, investing now for future 
fiscal savings.   

Places will change as a result of the pandemic. The place-based recovery programme 
sets out place sensitive plans to support the revitalisation of our city centres, town 
centres and local communities in a post-COVID-19 world. It identifies the 
differentiated support needed for sectors of our economy that contribute to 
the quality of places in the City Region. This includes culture and the visitor economy, 
how we can maintain momentum in housing, and the interventions needed in our city 
and town centres.  We live in the UK’s most exciting city, and we trust our cultural 
vibrancy to lead us forward. 

The Green recovery programme recognises the significant changes required to 
achieve carbon-neutrality. The Green New Deal is mission critical and requires 
significant long-term investment to deliver the green industries and jobs of the future. 
Our immediate contribution to the national effort comes in the form of Mersey Tidal 
Power, an ambitious and innovative housing retrofit programme and a long-term 
green investment in hydrogen. 

The financial cost and economic impact to date leave no doubt about the scale of the 
challenge ahead. No single actor can achieve it alone. This recovery plan was 
developed through intense engagement with our key stakeholders and its success 
depends on delivering it together, and in partnership with Government. Each 
programme and project responds to our evidence on our economy and what works 
in public investment. 

Leaders across the City Region are more ambitious about the growth of our region 
than ever. This recovery plan will use this moment of historic opportunity to put in 
place now the foundations of change for our economy. We will change the narrative 
which surrounds the COVID-19 pandemic; from one of crisis, to one of 
opportunity and transformation.  

Page 228



9 

With devolved recovery funding, we will: 

• Support existing businesses to recover, grow and create decent jobs;
radically improve our ecosystem for growth businesses; and deliver the
next generation of strategic economic infrastructure – all with private
investment now and in the future.

• Protect our gains in education, skills and employment and prepare our
workforce for future growth industries.

• Allow our vibrant city centre to lead us to recovery; execute towns revival
plans with our private and community sectors to create future places of
distinction.

• Launch three major green initiatives, two of which have national
importance.

An investment of £1.4bn will unlock £8.8bn worth of projects that can begin in the 
next 12-months in the Liverpool City Region. These projects will create 94k jobs, a 
further 28k construction jobs, and secure employment for 26k people who are not in 
work. We will also unlock the development of 19k new homes, retrofit a further 6.5k 
homes and bring forward 562k sqm of new commercial and retail floorspace. All of 
this will generate more than £8.5bn of GVA in the City Region economy. 

Page 229



10 

Introduction 

1 The Best Laid Plans 

The Liverpool City Region has enjoyed a sustained period of growth and 
development. We have emerged from a period of hard-earned regeneration with 
transformative economic opportunities, an internationally recognised brand and 
renewed ambition. We have much to protect and more to contribute.  

We have, in the last 10 years, reduced our unemployment rate from above - peaking 
at 10% in 2010 - to below the national level; developed an internationally-popular 
culture and visitor economy; seen our universities act as major investors and civic 
leaders; diversified our economy; attracted global investment in clean growth and 
progressed nationally recognised strengths in material science, infectious diseases 
control, high-performance computing and artificial intelligence.  

Our plan before March 2020 was to expand these strengths and transform our 
economy, shaping a new generation of projects that capture our vision to create a 
globally competitive, environmentally responsible and socially inclusive economy.   

The HILL (Health Innovation Liverpool)  project will position the City Region and the 
UK, as a leader in computerised data analytics and digitally-enabled health and 
wellbeing innovation, with investment from the Wellcome Trust, Legal and General 
and Bruntwood; a National Packaging Innovation Centre alongside Unilever plc and 
the Centre for Process Innovation for an industry led approach to taking single use 
plastic out of a £1 trillion market for packaging; Kindred, alongside Power to Change, 
will pioneer new social investment models to fund community solutions to our most 
entrenched societal issues; with the only International Slavery Museum in the UK, we 
have an important role to play in the country’s response to the Black Lives Matter 
movement and will invest in its expansion alongside  National Museums Liverpool 
and provide space for socially distanced culture; Southport will be revived with a 
comprehensive leisure, culture and retail transformation. 

With a view to the longer term, we will work with the Manufacturing Technology 
Centre to challenge the boundaries of manufacturing, “building houses like you build 
cars” in a genuine disruption for construction and skills. We will develop the Mersey 
Tidal Project to unlock tidal power’s contribution to the energy mix as a deliverable, 
predictable and economic source of power. 

Page 230



 11 

Beyond building, we plan a renewed focus on the longstanding health and equality 
issues that hold back our social and economic potential. The City Region delivers in 
this space, using local insight for greatest impact. Our local programmes including 
Ways into Work and Households into Work have a strong track record for dramatically 
reducing the barriers people face to enter the labour market. These programmes are 
driving up labour market participation across the City Region while delivering 
impressive fiscal savings. We must update and expand them for the pandemic, 
committing to deliver more long-term fiscal savings and contribute to reducing the 
budget deficit in the longer-term.  
 
 
2 Often Go Awry 
 
This pandemic has done nothing to dim our vision but it has changed how we must 
achieve it. The projects we were preparing before the pandemic have a role to play 
in recovering from it, but this plan is direct about our need to support individuals and 
protect businesses that were viable before the crisis and face rapid structural changes. 
So we include comprehensive new measures for businesses and people, putting our 
faith in them to help us secure a sustained recovery. 
 
We can only recover from this pandemic when our economy can fully reopen. Public 
health is the most important macro-economic tool we have. We still do not know the 
scale of the challenge which lies ahead but the financial cost and economic impact to 
date leave no room for complacency. In the acute phase of the pandemic, only 
Government had the financial resources to counter its impact. As we transition into 
reopening, and onto recovery, more local interventions will be necessary and 
partnership across government and local stakeholders will be even more critical.  
 
 
3 Developed and Delivered in Partnership 
 
This Recovery Plan was developed through intense engagement with our key 
stakeholders and its success depends on delivering it together. We have conducted 
on-going business surveys, engaged more than 300 civic and business leaders, 
created a young person’s engagement panel and we are taking the themes of this 
document back to our residents for consultation. This is a plan for the whole City 
Region, providing a shared framework for recovery. It proposes how the City Region 
and national Government can work together to deliver our shared aims and 
ambitions: to protect livelihoods, to safeguard the economy, secure long-term 
economic success and, finally, level up the North.   
 

Page 231



 12 

This must be a living plan. We cannot predict the timing of a vaccine or antiviral 
treatment. It is likely that we will need to learn to live with the risks associated with 
COVID-19, the threat this poses to public health, the possibility of other future 
pandemics and the likelihood of prolonged disruption to our lives and livelihoods for 
months if not years. We must acknowledge the risk that stringent measures such as 
lockdown and increased social distancing could be periodically reinstated and so we 
need to revisit, repurpose and update this document as both the situation and our 
plans evolve. 
 
 
4 Our Proposition: Ambition, Innovation and Accountability 
 
We welcome the Government’s commitment to an investment-led recovery: We are 
convinced of our opportunities to grow and certain of the social peril of any further 
austerity.  
 
What follows in this plan is a programme of interventions to deliver rapidly and 
emerge better equipped for the future. Conventional wisdom holds that you can 
build your way out of a recession by launching public works to stimulate demand in 
the economy. We support this in the main, but we also recognise that the impact on 
businesses’ balance sheets, the need to protect and retrain workers for future 
industries, and the risk of aggravating health problems and inequality requires a more 
comprehensive approach, not only stimulating demand, but also addressing supply 
and the type of economy we want. 
 
Each programme and project outlined in this plan is capable of launching within 
twelve months (and some within twelve weeks) and producing outputs in no more 
than three years. Projects that we consider strategically important, but which cannot 
meet those timelines, are included in a table of medium-term interventions in 
Appendices A and B.  
 
Each programme and project responds to the evidence on our economy and what 
works in public investment. They align strongly with the opportunities we identify in 
our Local Industrial Strategy: building a sustainable industrial future; open health 
innovation; global cultural capital and social innovation.  
 
They are capable of generating £8.5bn in gross value added and creating 94k jobs 
with broader social and environmental benefits. They are also capable of securing our 
economy as a dynamic, outward-facing, inclusive, northern economy moving through 
the next decade with confidence.  
 

Page 232



 13 

Government established combined authorities believing that decisions which were 
made locally would be better decisions, boosting economic growth. Now and in the 
future, it can continue to rely on the Combined Authority’s assurance framework, our 
mutually agreed governance arrangements that underpin our requirements for 
transparency, to secure value for money by monitoring and evaluating all our projects 
and workstreams. 
 
An investment of £1.4bn will unlock £8.8bn worth of projects that can begin in the 
next 12-months in the Liverpool City Region. These projects will create 94k jobs, a 
further 28k construction jobs, and secure employment for 26k people who are not in 
work. We will also unlock the development of 19k new homes, retrofit a further 6.5k 
homes and bring forward 562k sqm of new commercial and retail floorspace. All of 
this will generate more than £8.5bn of GVA in the City Region economy. 
 
In making this proposition, we want to work with Government to innovate in shaping 
the next generation of public investment approaches. For example: 
 

• The LCR Recovery Platform will recycle funds and lever private investment 
at the fund, sub-fund and project levels, increasing value to the public 
purse. It will marry our public sector as an “intelligent client” with our 
private sector as aligned, responsible investors and experts. With vastly 
enhanced commercial acumen, an existing distribution mechanism and 
focus on City Regional SMEs, high growth companies and key economic 
infrastructure development, it meets requirements our evidence base 
shows to be missing. This approach, with its recycling and risk alignment, 
will reduce the public funding requirement now and in future. 
 

• Our Recovery risk capital proposition will provide risk finance to companies 
able to recover, grow and generate jobs without the need for equity 
valuation or negotiations. It is based on a warrant structure, developed by 
a team with decades of investment experience, can be distributed quickly 
and at scale with a risk alignment and potential to recycle. It is more 
efficient than grant and simple to monitor. 

We also welcome full accountability. We believe in this plan and in our City Region’s 
good growth potential. We are willing to stand behind it and accept performance 
risk. 
 
 
 

Page 233



 14 

Alongside fresh money, we propose to work with Government and its agencies in 
coordinating the diverse current funding streams onto our single, comprehensible 
platform. This includes European Structural Investment Funds, pan-northern funds 
and Government agency programmes. Only by coordinating their effect locally can 
we maximise their impact. Our commitment is to make public money work hard for 
real impact. 
 
 
5 Understanding this Plan 
 
As response moves to recovery, continued intervention will need to be channelled 
through the most effective delivery mechanism. This plan assumes three levels of 
delivery: 
 

1. National programmes delivered nationally. Such programmes will include 
Her Majesty's Treasury's work with the tax or banking system to support 
businesses in the recovery phase. In these cases, we will work with 
Government on the successful co-design of programmes to maximise their 
impact locally. We address these national-national programmes in the 
“Engagement with Government” section of each recovery theme.  
 

2. National programmes coordinated or managed locally. We in the City 
Region are best placed to understand our labour market, our skills and 
education needs, our housing market, our cultural offer and the growth 
potential of our business base. Where Government considers national 
programmes designed to support these, our response will be to seek local 
coordination and management, collaboratively, proactively and with due 
accountability, again to maximize their beneficial impact. We address these 
national-local programmes in the “Engagement with Government” and 
“Local Interventions” sections of each recovery theme. 
 

3. Local programmes delivered locally. Some programmes are needed to 
respond to our unique local challenges or opportunities. These 
interventions, such as tailored business support or new economic 
infrastructure, simply require devolution of funding and local delivery. We 
address these local-local programmes in the “Local Interventions” section 
of each recovery theme.  

 
 

Page 234



15 

Our programme covers the business ecosystem, people focused recovery, place and 
a green recovery. These are not separate endeavours – the plan works as an 
overlapping whole and cannot be separated out. These will enable us to deliver 
positive economic, social and environmental outcomes that all people and businesses 
can benefit from. 

Underpinning everything is our commitment to build back better with a series of 
actions and commitments that will apply to all we fund and do.  

In what follows, we provide a summary evidence base, details of our commitment to 
build back better, and address each theme of the recovery plan in turn.  

Vision Delivering a competitive, clean, inclusive City Region 

Principles Evidence base - opportunities to build back better - deliverability 

Workstreams 
Business 

Ecosystem 
People Focused 

Recovery 
Place Green Recovery 

Initiatives 

1- National-National: Opportunities requiring a national solution and a
national response 

2- National-Local: Opportunities requiring a national solution and local
delivery 

3- Local-Local: Bespoke local opportunities and challenges requiring a
bespoke local response 

Page 235



16 

Economic Impact Summary 

6 The Liverpool City Region’s Economy 

Historically, the City Region’s economy has been centred on industrial activity linked 
to manufacturing and the port. Over the last century, its economic position has been 
challenged and influenced by deindustrialisation, shifts in global trade and numerous 
economic recessions. The City Region has had to diversify and has emerged as a 
significant economy in the North West of England. We have made demonstrable 
economic progress, particularly over the last fifteen years, transitioning towards a 
knowledge intensive economy.  

Our economy’s growth rate now frequently exceeds national rates. The business base 
is growing (Figure 1): the City Region has the second highest business birth rate in 
the country and this is having a positive impact on our labour market. More jobs are 
created in the City Region each year and, as a result of targeted skills and 
employment programmes, more people are now in work. The City Region has 
achieved the highest growth in employment in the country over the last five years, 
and the unemployment rate has fallen from around 5% above to just below the 
national level (Figure 2). As the economy has grown, it has become more productive. 
Liverpool City Region is now the most productive City Region in the North on a GVA 
per hour worked basis.  

Liverpool City Centre has been crucial to this economic progress. It has been the 
largest employment-generating area driven by its growth as a globally significant 
leisure, cultural, retail and tourism centre, and has also benefitted from residential 
development investment which has driven the growth in housing supply in the last 
decade. It is home to our universities and provides high-value, knowledge-intensive 
jobs that can gain from agglomeration benefits. Combined with the complementary 
strengths of our other local authority areas, the City Region’s economy has diversified 

Figure 2: LCR Unemployment Rate Figure 1: Business Growth Rate 

Page 236



 17 

successfully, and real expertise has emerged in infectious disease control, materials 
innovation, high-performance computing and artificial intelligence. This upward 
trajectory and economic positioning of the City Region must be protected.  
 
Despite this progress, long-standing and deep-seated socio-economic challenges 
prevent our economy from facing this economic rupture from a position of strength.  
Prosperity across the City Region is weakened by inequality. This contributes to 
stubborn performance gaps between the City Region and the highest performing 
places nationally and internationally. These gaps are most evident in the City Region’s 
relatively low business density, low skills levels, high economic inactivity, poor health 
outcomes, and levels of poverty and deprivation. The impact of COVID-19 in the City 
Region must be mitigated to prevent the further widening of these performance gaps.  
 
 
7 Local Economic Impact 
 
COVID-19 is having an unprecedented economic impact globally. Nationally the 
benefit claimant count is rising dramatically and record monthly output losses are 
signalling a sharp recession in the first half of 2020. While all parts of the economy 
have faced some degree of disruption, the impact of COVID-19 differs by business, 
by sector and by region.   
 
The composition of Liverpool City Region’s economy makes the recovery even more 
challenging. The City Region’s economy relies heavily on the visitor and cultural 
economy and large manufacturing base. These sectors have been severely impacted 
in the initial period of the pandemic (Figure 3) and both will require reorientation in 
the later stages through to recovery. Businesses in the visitor and cultural economy 
will have to respond to new social distancing requirements, reduced visitor numbers 
and continued uncertainty. The manufacturing base will continue to experience 
supply chain disruption, shifts in global trade made more complex by Brexit and 
uncertain levels of demand. Our strength in the automotive industry, with our highly 
productive Jaguar Land Rover plant and supply chain, exemplifies this. 
 
The City Region also began its positive re-urbanisation later than other northern cities 
and has a relatively low share of private sector-led service sectors such as 
professional, scientific and technical activities. These parts of the economy have, 
despite short term output losses, faced less disruption and will be able to recover 
quickly; this can be accelerated with further interventions and support.   

Page 237



 18 

Figure 3: Sectoral impact of COVID-19 in LCR 

 
During the first week of social restrictions, 96% of businesses surveyed in the City 
Region had already been impacted by COVID-19, with over 70% experiencing a 
decrease in revenue. Despite the efforts of national programmes, not all businesses 
will survive. 
 
High failure rates are all the more unpalatable given the low business density in our 
City Region, (the ratio of businesses to working age residents), which is an important 
driver of output and productivity. Our business base was growing at a faster rate than 
national averages prior to the pandemic, with wide praise for our increasing 
dynamism, and we must protect its positive trajectory.  
 
Business failure will lead to job losses, and the employment rate - already three 
percentage points below the national rate, will fall further. It is too early to estimate 
the number of job losses in the City Region due to COVID-19 but data already shows 
an increase in the number of people claiming benefits due to unemployment. The 
number of claims for Universal Credit rose 63% in the Liverpool City Region between 
March and April 2020, and 74% since April 2019. 
 
We anticipate long-term unemployment to be higher in the City Region as a result of:  
 

• the number of people employed in sectors that are facing the biggest 
pandemic related disruption (49% of our workforce is in sectors forecast to 
decline by at least 50% in the first half of 2020); 

• the acceleration of automation and high prevalence of workers in 
occupations at risk of automation; and 

• the high proportion of workers in the City Region with no qualifications who 
are more at risk of unemployment. 

Page 238



 19 

This must be set against the latest job vacancies data which shows a 55% fall in the 
number of vacancies in Liverpool City Region. There will be significantly increased 
competition for fewer jobs, making it harder for those further away from the labour 
market to get into work. While this trend will not be unique to the City Region, its 
impact may be felt harder.  
 

The pandemic has exposed health 
inequalities across every part of 
the country. Health outcomes in 
the City Region are particularly 
stark and among the poorest in 
the country. This inhibits the 
number of people able to work 
either directly or through caring 
responsibilities, and is a social, 
economic and financial challenge 
that will only worsen as a result of 
the pandemic. The high 
prevalence of long-term 

conditions such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD, Figure 4), asthma, 
heart disease and chronic kidney disease increases the risk of long-term 
complications from COVID-19. The disproportionately high number of deaths in the 
Liverpool City Region also increases the mental health impact the pandemic will have 
on the City Region’s residents.  
 
Health and economic inequalities are intrinsically linked. Poor health outcomes cause 
poor economic outcomes, and poor economic outcomes cause poor health 
outcomes. This vicious cycle has been intensified during the pandemic and is more 
acute in areas of high deprivation. The health and economic impacts of COVID-19 
risk widening inequalities and further entrenching deprivation in communities.  
 
Yet, prior to the pandemic, our public sector had already begun to address these 
underlying health and inclusion weaknesses, for example with the merger of our two 
largest hospital trusts, the establishment of a civic data cooperative to improve public 
health through participative data use, implementation of single patient health/care 
records in St Helens, the publishing of Liverpool City Council’s inclusive City Plan and 
a continued push for integrated partnership in Wirral. This whole system approach 
will become still more important in the post-pandemic environment. 
 
 
 

Figure 4: Prevalence of COPD by Local Authority 

0

1

2

3

4

Halt
on CCG

Knowsle
y C

CG

Liv
erpool C

CG

So
uth Se

fto
n CCG

So
uthport 

& Fo
rm

by…

St 
Hele

ns C
CG

Wirr
al 

CCG%
 o

f p
ra

ct
ic

e 
pa

tie
nt

s

Local Authority England average

Page 239



 20 

The impacts of COVID-19 feed through from the business base, into the labour 
market and into communities. Our approach is a mix of fiscal interventions that are 
about both building infrastructure and stimulating new economic activity to grow 
businesses in our region.  Our focus is on our current strengths, government priorities, 
and setting ourselves as leaders in zero-carbon, economic inclusivity, and the 
knowledge economy.  The Recovery Plan considers each component in turn; the 
business ecosystem, people and place and the enabling infrastructure to deliver an 
economic recovery.   

Page 240



21 

               Opportunities to #BuildBackBetter 

Before considering each theme in turn, we must establish how our vision and values 
can be embedded in our response.  

Moments of social, economic and political disruption provide a chance for 
progressive change. The values and changes we embed now are fundamental to 
realising the globally competitive, environmentally responsible and socially inclusive 
economy that we need.  

The risk of this pandemic is in prolonging and worsening inequalities that already 
hold our economy back. We entered the pandemic with 70,000 people unable to 
seek work as the result of ill health; one third of communities in the most deprived 
decile; women earning, on average, £9k less than men; 25% of people in work paid 
below the real living wage; and an employment rate of 57% for ethnic minorities 
compared to 74% for white residents.  

The opportunity of the pandemic is to redouble our commitment to reducing these 
inequalities – a commitment which requires us to pay attention to both the “inclusive” 
and the “economic” elements of an inclusive economy.   

We also recognise the extent to which we have relied on carers, retail assistants, 
distribution drivers and other vital workers whose pay and working conditions often 
make them vulnerable. Furthermore, the work of community and voluntary sector 
organisations that continued to provide human and community services throughout 
the pandemic has been inspiring. We know that our public services have unstintingly 
acted as the “carer of last resort”. No recovery can last unless we commit, locally and 
nationally, to recognising these often-overlooked groups.  

The lockdown restrictions over the past few months have improved air quality, 
reduced traffic noise and increased appreciation for local green spaces. As the 
economy starts to reopen and lockdown restrictions ease, it is important the benefits 
we have achieved so far are not lost. This is an opportunity to maintain the behaviours 
we have practiced over the past few months to improve the health and wellbeing of 
our residents and achieve the 2040 net zero carbon target. 

One of the most positive impacts to come from the crisis is the increased connectivity 
of people with their local communities. More people than ever are making greater 
use of their local shops and services. This has allowed small, local businesses to 
continue throughout the crisis and reduced the likelihood of these much-loved 
community businesses closing. We want to ensure people continue to support their 

Page 241



 22 

local businesses and push forward wider objectives relating to community wealth 
building, social value and the creation of a more diverse and ethically responsible 
business base. This ties into creating places of distinction in our towns and district 
centres that provide an individual offer but, when promoted together, make up a 
bigger picture of a thriving and creative City Region.  
 
Finally, we note how necessity has become the mother of invention. Despite the strain 
placed on the public, private and third sectors during this uncertain period, there are 
many examples of how effective partnership working, rapid mobilisation and delivery 
innovation have helped to respond positively to the pandemic. The agility showcased 
by partners across the City Region during the crisis should be captured as we move 
into recovery.  
 
We will make our aspiration to #BuildBackBetter by linking our support to our values.  
 
We commit to the following six principles:  
 

Principle One: A truly inclusive creative economy 

An inclusive economy is one that creates purposeful economic success, 
measured not just by GDP but by peoples’ health, wellbeing and happiness. It 
is an economy with opportunities for all people and places to prosper that is 
strengthened by its inclusivity and its individuality.  

 
Principle Two: Social value 

We will go further in promoting social value through procurement, aligning our 
funding to evidence of social outcomes and developing a toolkit for private 
sector partners who share our vision for long-term prosperity.  We will continue 
developing a City Regional approach to community wealth building, which will 
include more support for different sizes and types of organisation to succeed 
in public procurement. 

 
Principle Three: Environmental sustainability 

Our Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) sets out our local Grand Challenge of 
becoming pioneers of the zero-carbon economy. We will require every 
proposal to explain how it is compatible with net carbon neutrality by 2040. 
We will actively seek short- and long-term solutions to deliver this. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 242



23 

Principle Four: Health, wellbeing and equality 

We will embed the improvement of health, wellbeing and equality in all of our 
work, and actively target those areas which require additional help.  This will 
include completing health and equality impact assessments of all policies, 
programmes and investments, and supporting the delivery of higher quality 
neighbourhoods with access to open space. 

We will also engage with Government on an ambitious national programme to 
eradicate digital poverty and secure funding to ensure everyone in our City 
Region has access to hardware, broadband connections and basic digital 
training.  

Principle Five: Meaningful engagement with our communities 

We will embed co-design and active engagement in our ways of working. This 
will include  implementing an LCR “Living Lab” approach to explore, co-create 
and test new ideas and solutions to our economy’s challenges through more 
engagement and participatory approaches to policy making.; establishing the 
LCR Social and Solidarity Economy Reference Panel to help amplify the strong 
voice of community organisations and social businesses in the Liverpool City 
Region; and develop a Liverpool City Region volunteering approach which 
builds on the response to COVID-19. 

Principle Six: A City Region that can project itself internationally through its 
cultural, sporting and natural assets 
The rapid expansion in the visitor economy, the attraction for students and the 
thriving creative sector has fuelled the growth and the reputation of the region 
over the last 10 years. We will use our unique strength of brand and ability to 
shape places to create a compelling narrative for investment which will support 
a post COVID-19, post Brexit UK on the international stage.  

Page 243



24 

      The Business Ecosystem 

8 National Context 

As the pandemic declines, Government will face the difficult challenge of restoring 
the nation's balance sheet. “It will have to choose between the financial health of 
national accounts and the financial health of millions of UK businesses1, with 
consideration of the jobs that rely on them.” The key to recovery will be retaining the 
capacity of intrinsically viable businesses, whilst encouraging more innovation and 
entrepreneurialism capable of fostering long term growth. Only by allocating 
sufficient resource to sustaining business density will Government restore the 
economy’s medium-term growth prospects.  

Across the UK, businesses face operating with much less investment and working 
capital. Their assets, like property, may have a lower value. They will consequently 
have less of their own funds to invest and less ability to borrow from commercial 
lenders (whose debt ratios will be prohibitive) or raise equity from depleted investors. 
They will reduce their discretionary spend. When money is tight, business spend on 
research, innovation and training falls. These falls risk further harming medium-term 
output and productivity, especially as businesses reckon with deferred tax and 
increased debt service from 2021.  

The pandemic will hasten the decline of businesses that entered the period with 
structural vulnerability, causing redundancies. The distribution of economic impact 
will be unequal across sectors, geographies, company size, market orientation and 
technology. Even in sectors where structural change is modest, businesses will 
respond with organisational restructuring to re-scope their operations. This will result 
in redundancies and the release of surplus assets as well as innovation and 
opportunity.  

Beyond these elements, businesses are again assessing the potential disruption in 
their supply chain and customer base from Brexit. This is capable of disrupting sales 
and cash flow with potential to trigger business failure or restructuring and structural 
economic change – as well as new opportunities.  

1 Third and public sector organisations are in the same position. 

Page 244



 25 

9 Liverpool City Region Context 
 
The City Region’s progress since the global financial crisis is clear, as the economic 
impact analysis highlights. Despite this progress, there are underlying local 
weaknesses in the business ecosystem that will act as a barrier to an effective 
recovery. By addressing them, we will benefit most from the private investment and 
enterprise.  
 
Recent evidence highlights the risk that our fragmented ecosystem for higher growth 
businesses may lead to underperformance relative to our potential. Evidence 
contained in Metro-Dynamics analysis of the City Region’s innovation ecosystem, Lee 
Hopley’s North West Innovation Finance Review and the Local Industrial Strategy all 
recognise similar challenges. The Liverpool City Region business ecosystem is 
perceived as fragmented and poor at signalling its strengths. It under-exploits its 
significant innovation assets; has a fragmented investment runway and an inconsistent 
support offer for growing companies; and, like many UK cities, has a long low 
productivity tail, signalling a higher risk of failure in these circumstances. Please note 
that the Combined Authority has a separate briefing note and evidence base for 
policy makers on this theme. 
 
None of these challenges is insuperable. Firstly, we need to support our business 
base into the medium-term to survive and protect jobs. Where possible, we must 
simultaneously encourage a long tail of less productive businesses to access tools to 
change, adapt and digitise.  
 
Secondly, we need to radically improve our ecosystem for growth businesses. Our 
improved ecosystem needs to be clearer about its specialisms; more effectively 
connect qualified and specialist services with high growth clusters; be better 
networked with investors; more collaborative across private, public, academic and 
community actors; benefit from the diffusion, adoption and absorption of innovation 
and technologies, particularly in areas where Liverpool City Region has competitive 
strengths and assets; and better linked to a skills and talent pipeline. This is crucial at 
a time when recovery from the pandemic must include the formation and growth of 
new, dynamic companies from the coming business churn and structural change.  
 
Business recovery in the City Region will depend on both a national programme of 
interventions which improves business resilience and adaptation across the whole 
economy, and a complementary programme of tailored interventions that address 
the underlying challenges in the local business ecosystem. These local interventions 
will be a key part of the levelling up agenda. The risk of national programmes, 
particularly national funding programmes, is in reinforcing virtuous circles in 
established ecosystems: research funding concentrates in the Golden Triangle; 

Page 245



 26 

venture capital in London and the South East; northern business investment in Leeds 
or Manchester. New funding concentrates around developed business ecosystems 
rather than expanding less developed ecosystems. This is the lived experience of the 
Northern Powerhouse Investment Fund, for example.  
 
Thirdly, we must commit to the economic infrastructure that drives our good growth 
and productivity. The opportunity, directly enshrined in BEIS’s Science & Innovation 
Audit initiative and the Strength in Places Fund, is to unlock and massively accelerate 
the development of distinctive specialist clusters elsewhere across the UK, such as 
infectious disease control in Liverpool City Region linked to the Liverpool School of 
Tropical Medicine, as well as materials chemistry (centred on University of Liverpool, 
Unilever and MIT) and high performance computing and AI (centred around STFC’s 
Hartree Centre and IBM at SciTech Daresbury). We are keen to work also on a North 
West footprint to further these strengths. 
 
 
10 Engagement with Government  
 
The scale of funding required to address the business recovery will echo that seen in 
the pandemic response phase, with measures counted in the tens of billions. 
Government will need to maintain financial support programmes, and launch new 
national programmes, to unwind the wholesale (and necessary) suppression of the 
economy.  
 
The City Region will work in partnership with Government for national programmes 
that:  
 

• Reflect the uneven return of demand and capacity across different sectors, 
with additional financial and targeted business support for the most 
exposed sectors. The culture, visitor economy and manufacturing sectors 
are key to us. 
 

• Provide support to enable digitalisation of all businesses, but particularly 
focused on the long tail of low productivity firms. A co-designed 
programme could build on our locally successful LCR4.0 programme. The 
right level of support will ensure that all businesses have access to every 
tool possible to quickly change, adapt and digitise.  
 

• Co-develop, through STFC and Innovate UK, an AI diffusion programme 
for early and late majority Liverpool City Region companies, potentially as 
a national pilot. 

Page 246



 27 

 
• Use the banking and tax systems to help recapitalise businesses at risk or 

incapable of growth due to equity erosion. 
 

• Support investment in research, innovation and commercialisation to drive 
long-term prosperity. Such funding must be better connected to place and 
the simultaneous initiatives of the Combined Authority and its partners.  
 

• Recognise our universities’ unique challenges and act quickly to provide 
certainty to replace European programmes like Erasmus, Horizon and the 
fall in international student numbers. This is mission critical to economies 
like ours where our universities are large employers, cultural anchors, talent 
providers and leaders in our push towards knowledge intensity.  This means 
acting quickly to support emergent research programmes, investing in 
translational research which boosts local economies, and embracing the 
benefits international students bring as part of a truly global Britain. 

 

11 Local Interventions – Business Ecosystem 
 
Business leaders across the City Region understand local challenges and the 
interventions needed alongside national programmes. Tailored local interventions to 
develop an effective business ecosystem will be crucial for long-term growth that 
underpins a globally competitive LCR, while safeguarding and protecting tens of 
thousands of jobs. 
 
Together, we propose a comprehensive effort to improve this growth business 
ecosystem with four components that are each necessary but not sufficient (see also 
figure 5): 
 

1. Access to finance will become even more constrained as result of the 
pandemic. Local finance provision built on in depth understanding of local 
gaps will be critical to support businesses in recovery to survive, adapt, and 
grow but also central to the development of the wider business ecosystem. 
Evidence shows access to finance interventions are most effective when 
they are coordinated with local support provision, which improves access 
to, and overall effectiveness of, the finance provided.  
 
 
 

Page 247



 28 

2. We must use the pandemic as an opportunity to rethink the delivery of 
business support so that it is focused on real business needs during 
recovery. This includes access to highly qualified finance and resilience 
advice (building on our privately led and highly rated Mettle and Sustain 
programmes, and the Growth Hub -> Local Growth Hub model), peer to 
peer support, investment readiness, digitalisation, organisational change 
and both domestic and global market development. 
 

3. We have a very significant array of innovation assets, and facilitating access 
to these, plus suitable innovation space, will become more critical as 
business models adapt and respond to new growth areas in the economy. 
Government have set a national target to spend 2.4% of GDP on research 
and development. Knowledge intensive economies have a significant role 
to play in this and the pandemic provides an opportunity to change the 
course on funding and commercialisation of innovation. The City Region's 
ambition is to reach 5% of GVA by 2027, by committing to radically 
improving both our business innovation culture and the 
interconnectedness of our ecosystem, plus associated linkages to our 
distinctive Research & Development assets, while delivering the projects 
we name in the infrastructure section below.  Growing our research and 
development infrastructure will also help us to address a range of 
socioeconomic challenges. 
 

4. Network development will enhance the effectiveness of the ecosystem 
enabling knowledge sharing and spill-over effects.  

On top of this, we will use our private sector led brand narrative work to produce 
clear, shareable messaging about our place and investment offer. This work is due to 
launch at the time of the Good Business Festival – www.goodbusinessfestival.com – 
which will put our City Region and the UK onto a global platform as we ask how 
purpose drives profit. It launches in October with a festival proper in March 2021. This 
is funded, on-going work and is ready to complement our business ecosystem plans. 
Our clear aim is an efficient, privately sustainable business ecosystem that requires 
limited public intervention. It is key to achieving the dynamism we seek for our 
business base.  
 

Page 248



 29 

Figure 5: Framework for Improving the LCR Business Ecosystem 

 
 
We can start to develop this ecosystem now. Through further devolved funds we can 
begin delivery of the interventions below, immediately providing economic stimulus 
to our business base, and entering a new contract with local businesses, strongly 
linked to fair employment and our #buildbackbetter principles.  
 
LCR Recovery Investment Platform (£100m): Designed to provide market-creating 
finance (aligned to local priorities) and respond to constraints around access to 
finance in recovery. The instruments that comprise the Platform will catalyse networks, 
drive cultural change amongst SMEs and lever additional funding from private 
investors. The Platform will target City Region specific finance gaps and make a 
fundamental shift from over reliance on grants, preparing business for follow on 
investment from institutional investors.  
 
The scale of recovery funding required gives a distribution problem: we will innovate 
in the public sector and engage the private sector to reach more businesses with 
more targeted instruments. With competent public and private management 
expertise, this fund can become a distribution mechanism for wider funding to SMEs 
and follows the recommendations which economists Paul Collier and Colin Mayer 
make in The Investment Trap: Reforming Financial Systems to Rebuild Economies 
Post-COVID, 2020. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 249



 30 

The finance of this fund will focus on:  
 

1. Recovery risk finance, based on new soft equity and flexible loan models 
that targets repayment on successful realisation of a recovery plan, filling 
clear gaps for City Region SMEs. Our regional commercial lenders have 
supported these products. 

2. Investment ladder, providing and levering funds to create a coherent and 
locally recognised pathway for funding from concept to maturity, the 
absence of which is a current growth impediment. We have already started 
this work. 

 

Future Innovation Fund to support innovative responses to the COVID-19 challenges 
(£20m): Recently launched as a pilot and immediately over-subscribed, this is a small 
grants programme aimed at driving innovation in firms with the potential to grow, 
diversify and realise emergent opportunities as they adapt and respond to new 
business models, with a particular focus on digitalisation. 
 
Kindred social investment vehicle (£13.5m): Kindred is an innovative model to provide 
patient capital to socially trading organisations. The investment vehicle has been co-
designed with socially trading organisations with an initial request of £5m, the fund 
can be scaled to meet the growth of the social economy driven by the impact of 
COVID-19. 
 
Digital Supply Chain Platform (£3m): COVID-19 has disrupted global supply chains 
and is incentivising a shift to local suppliers. The LCR Supply Chain platform will 
connect businesses with potential local suppliers, minimising supply chain disruption. 
The platform can be expanded to cover wider functional economic geographies.   
Alongside this will be a renewed urgency to map and understand local supply chains 
and their connections where they exist, and in working with large private and public 
sector organisations to engage with local SME supply chains.   
 
Advanced Manufacturing Support Programme (£5m): Major job losses are anticipated 
in the manufacturing sector which is a key employer in the LCR. There is a pressing 
need to diversify the sector and enable businesses within it to enter into new growth 
markets such as clean growth or health manufacturing. This programme will require 
high quality, bespoke business support to transform the sector, together with capital 
funding to support business investment in equipment where there is lack of access to 
commercial sources. It will build on the pioneering LCR4.0 programme and Made 
Smarter national pilot. 
 

Page 250



 31 

Liverpool Health Ventures, enabling a culture of commercialisation (£13.5m): A 
collaboration between City Region NHS trusts, the Innovation Agency and 
Universities to create economic infrastructure to commercialise health innovation 
(clinical and non-clinical) through rapid prototyping, shared workspace, funding, 
networks and business support. 
 
LCR Accelerator (£2.75m): Start-up accelerators are present in all successful business 
ecosystems. Evidence shows accelerators deliver rapid development and growth of 
their own SME cohorts but also substantially increase the wider progress of the local 
ecosystem. This is achieved by drawing in investors, talent, corporate sponsors, 
supply chains and wider stakeholders (e.g. regulators). The LCR Accelerator 
programme will deliver intense, focused support to company founders preparing 
them to scale their business. 
 
Open Source Payments Infrastructure (£1m): Online intermediaries, such as Amazon 
and Deliveroo, allow SMEs and consumers to transact easily. However, their extractive 
commission-based business models are failing to create and distribute value in local 
economies. This project invests in the development of accessible open source, 
blockchain platforms that allow frictionless transactions between SMEs and 
consumers. These in turn enable new methods of B2C business that distributes and 
retains value within local economies. The project will develop the City Region’s 
blockchain tech cluster to facilitate City Region businesses to trade under a 
sustainable and inclusive economic model. 
 

 
12 Local Interventions – Economic Infrastructure 
 
Committing now to capital investment carries the triple benefit of stimulating 
economic activity, demonstrating clear direction to private investors and beginning 
to deliver our strategic priorities. They all exploit the opportunities of both our Local 
Industrial Strategy and/or our BEIS-endorsed Science and Innovation Audit. Several 
projects are nationally significant.  
 
National Packaging Innovation Centre (NPIC) (£60m project): in partnership with 
Unilever’s global consumer products Research & Development head office, which is 
at Port Sunlight, Wirral, we are developing an internationally significant, open-access 
innovation centre focused on the commercialisation of innovative sustainable 
packaging solutions. The Centre will enable the UK to further anchor itself into the 
global £1tn packaging market and capitalise on the various opportunities that the 

An investment of £158.8m will create 16,900 jobs and generate an  
overall GVA of £841m. 

 

Page 251



 32 

disruption in the industry currently presents, including emerging innovations in sterile 
recycling in the light of the current pandemic.  
 
The HILL (Health Innovation Liverpool) (£200m project) With Health Innovation 
Liverpool, (The HILL), we are building on the growth of life science and health 
innovation in the city. A 10-acre physical health campus, with research and trial 
facilities and commercial space, we will begin this project with a new initiative, a new 
virtual health innovation system, integrating health care infrastructure across the City 
Region. It is step one of an ambitious plan to link up our world-class health and life-
science assets, combining world class research and advanced digital technologies.  
 
LCR Long-term Infra Platform (£125m programme) is a new financial instrument 
designed to invest in critical economic infrastructure that appears viable but not 
fundable in the private sector alone. The UK has previously used grant funding to 
provide these assets, but this is potentially wasteful and creates a short-term versus 
long-term misalignment. Good commercial skills and a longer-term view of viability 
allow public sector to offer a repayable finance instead, levering private investment 
at the platform and project level, as per Evergreen, GMPVF (both Greater 
Manchester) and REEF (London).  The platform can play a key, risk diversified role in 
funding the City Region’s long-term economic assets alongside long-term, 
responsible investors. 

Paddington Village (£290m programme) Paddington Central is the city’s leading 
innovation development, creating a high-quality mixed-use scheme with a focus on 
health, education, life-sciences and technology within the Knowledge Quarter 
Liverpool Mayoral Development Zone. The project will provide high quality landmark 
buildings within new public realm and open space. Launched in Autumn 2016, 
Paddington Village has rapidly gained momentum attracting high profile occupiers, 
including the Royal College of Physicians, Novotel, and Kaplan.  
 
Upper Central (£450m programme) Upper Central is another major development 
within KQ Liverpool linking Liverpool City Centre retail district to the remainder of 
the innovation district, including the university campuses, Liverpool Science Park and 
Paddington Village. This project would deliver new, mixed-use development to focus 
on the expansion of the digital, tech and creative sectors in Liverpool and create a 
new space in the heart of Liverpool City Centre. 
 
Glass Futures (£54m project): An industry backed Research and Technology 
Organisation leading collaboration across some of the largest companies in the 
global glass industry, together with academia and government. Glass manufacturing 
practices are currently responsible for ~2million tonnes of CO2 per annum in the UK 
alone and the 90,000 square foot facility will be centred around a 30 tonne/day low 

Page 252



 33 

carbon demonstration furnace.  The project will create the world’s first openly 
accessible, commercially available, multi-disciplinary glass melting facility with 
provision for research and development trials to decarbonise the UK glass industry.   
 
Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine (LSTM) Capacity Development (£133m 
programme): The City Region has longstanding expertise in infectious disease, 
evidenced in both the Science and Innovation Audit and Local Industrial Strategy. 
The COVID-19 pandemic and the likelihood of similar outbreaks in future has 
heightened the importance of this local specialism. As part of a wider £80m plan to 
develop an internationally leading infectious disease ecosystem, there is an 
opportunity to house a capacity strengthening unit, which is able to rapidly train a 
future workforce capable of handling and undertaking Research & Development on 
live virus isolates such as COVID-19. This investment would support delivery of 
£18.6m of UKRI Strength in Places funding, awarded to a consortium led by LSTM in 
June 2020.  
 
Littlewoods Film Studios (£62m programme): An internationally significant 260,000 
square foot  film studio, commercial, creative employment, and educational space, 
anchored by Twickenham Studios at the former Littlewoods Building. This would 
enhance the City Region’s reputation in culture and creativity, generate jobs across a 
range of skills levels and provide opportunities for our growing creative and digital 
cluster. Phase 1 of the scheme comprises “pop up” studios, which can be accelerated 
for delivery in 2020, capitalising on current demand for studio space, and leveraging 
additional private sector investment.  
 
The Maritime Knowledge Hub (£23m): Maritime Knowledge Hub will capitalise on the 
City Region’s status as a leading seaport with an existing ecosystem of maritime 
businesses currently generating £4.2bn to the City Region economy, to create a 
centre of excellence and around 7,000 square metres of ‘accelerator’ at Wirral Waters. 
The Maritime Knowledge Hub will catalyse green maritime sector growth by bringing 
together key sector partners including Mersey Maritime and a local university, 
alongside regional maritime business to deliver business cluster support, education, 
skills and training and investment in marine technology.  
 
Halsnead Garden Village - Employment Development (£80m): The prospect of long-
term changes to working arrangements resulting from COVID-19 has reaffirmed the 
importance of online shopping and supply chain infrastructure which underpins 
moving goods around the economy. The Halsnead South logistics development is an 
extension to the 1500 dwelling Halsnead residential site which is one of 14 national 
garden villages. This would deliver at least 450 direct net jobs and 80 construction 
jobs, equating to over £20millon per annum GVA benefits.  
 

Page 253



34 

The LCR Digital Connectivity project (£37m and scalable towards £400m): This 
project will support Government’s aspiration to deliver gigabit-capable speeds and 
fast, reliable broadband across the UK by 2025. Phase one aims to boost productivity 
and innovation by creating, with a private sector partner, a resilient fibre backhaul 
network, connecting three transatlantic cables and major economic clusters in each 
of our six local authority areas. Procurement is underway for a partner and is a UK first 
for its structure and innovative use of “dig once” assets. The initiative has already 
attracted hyperscaler data centre development in Sefton and complements 
Santander plc’s plans for a neighbouring, future focused contact centre. Both these 
developments foresee innovation space linked to the lowest latency data availability. 
Phase two, to launch imminently, will expand local loops through interventions 
including dig once, asset reuse, housing association demand and collaborative 
commercial models, including rail fibre. Both programmes offer Government an 
innovative route to improving ultrafast connectivity in marginally viable urban areas – 
to which we can link our successful healthcare 5G pilot, that has demonstrated 
significant savings across the public sector through the provision of virtual healthcare. 

An investment of £243m will unlock our £1.8bn economic infrastructure pipeline 
of projects. This will develop 12k sqm of commercial floorspace, create c 28k 

jobs, and generate £3.7bn of GVA. 

Page 254



35 

         People Focused Recovery 

13 The National Context 

The health, economic and social consequences of COVID-19 are having a profound 
impact on people’s lives. While the pandemic has affected us all, the burden has not 
been shared equally. The likelihood of catching the virus and of suffering more severe 
consequences varies depending on people’s social and economic circumstances. 
Men, older people, those with existing health conditions, ethnic minority 
communities, so-called ‘low skilled’ workers and those from poorer areas all have a 
greater risk of infection, serious illness and dying from COVID-19.   

The lockdown, social distancing and other measures designed to control the spread 
of infection have had their own impacts. School closures have highlighted the scale 
of digital poverty and its impact on access to opportunities and education. This risks 
the progress made on improving educational attainment in recent years, and more 
support will be required to narrow this gap.  

COVID-19 has also highlighted that digital poverty can also be a barrier to work, 
health services, benefit claims, job search, shopping and keeping in touch with family 
and friends, with clear skills and affordability challenges in the most deprived areas.  

As an economic crisis, the impact on the labour market is stark. A record 2.8 million 
people claimed unemployment related benefits in May 2020. There are over 9 million 
people on furlough, many of whom will be at risk of redundancy. Again, the impacts 
are not uniform. People and places with the lowest incomes are the most vulnerable. 
Workers from a BAME (Black, Asian and minority ethnic) background, women, young 
workers, low paid workers and disabled workers, have been most negatively 
impacted. The pandemic has not created these inequalities, it has merely shone a 
light on them.  

14 The Local Context 

Before the pandemic, the City Region had made significant progress, increasing the 
number of people in employment, reducing rates of economic inactivity, and bringing 
unemployment below national levels.  

Despite this, the City Region already had some of the poorest health outcomes in the 
country, with high numbers of socially and economically vulnerable people and 
extensive, persistent health inequalities. Almost 70,000 people in the City Region 
were not seeking work as the result of both poor physical and mental health, 

Page 255



 36 

constraining economic performance and productivity. Every local authority in the City 
Region has a higher prevalence of mental health disorders than national levels.  
 
Productivity is constrained further by weaknesses in the City Region skills base. A 
higher than average proportion of residents still have no qualifications, and a higher 
proportion are not qualified to degree level, although these gaps have closed in 
recent years. Improving the skills profile of the City Region will be an essential 
component of a successful recovery.  
 
The anticipated impacts of the pandemic on people in the City Region are 
considerable without intervention. Over 150,000 employees have been supported 
through the Job Retention Scheme and around 40,000 are supported through the 
self-employment scheme. Early evidence is showing that people are being transferred 
from the job retention scheme to redundancy and there is a real risk that this will 
increase at a rate which is beyond the capacity of the local economy to respond.  
 
This is a challenge for both those who will become newly unemployed, in addition to 
the 31,000 residents already seeking work prior to the pandemic. The latter now face 
increased competition for limited jobs and risk being pushed further from the 
prospect of employment. Immediate support for both groups of people is a necessity. 
There are some groups and people who find it harder to get into work, including 
people with disabilities and those from BAME backgrounds: additional targeted 
support is needed to help them into work, as well as working with businesses to make 
the workplace culture more inclusive and welcoming. 
 
We need to avoid further job losses wherever possible, particularly to minimise the 
risk of losing highly skilled workers from key sectors. Where we cannot, we must seek 
to offset this by creating good quality, secure employment opportunities elsewhere 
in the economy. We must put the right access to employment measures in place 
within growth areas of the economy, to ensure that employment creation is accessible 
to all. This includes improving opportunities for graduates; as each year the City 
Region sees a net outflow of graduates compared to other university cities. 
 
As the economy and businesses are re-orientating, there will be huge retraining and 
reskilling needs. Many people and workers will have to be retrained for an increasingly 
digital economy. The quicker people can reskill, the quicker they can move into other 
jobs and the less labour market disruption the City Region will face. 
 
 
 
 

Page 256



 37 

A people focused recovery must look to address the unemployment and retraining 
needs of those who lose their job as a result of the crisis, provide the skills and access 
to opportunities in growth areas of the economy, all with a relentless focus on 
addressing inequalities so that the economy works better for all people. We must 
recognise the pressure this puts on delivery organisations, such as the community 
and voluntary sector and education providers (who themselves are significant 
employers) yet are also facing their own challenges as a result of COVID-19. We must 
support their resilience at a time of increased pressure and demand.  
 
 
15 Engagement with Government  
 
Responding to the people impacts of this crisis is beyond the remit of any one 
organisation. The best chance of success will be through a concerted, responsive and 
co-ordinated effort on a labour market area, cohering national and local responses 
and programmes. This is why the City Region must work in partnership with 
Government, trade unions, housing associations, the charitable and voluntary sector, 
employers, the higher and further education sector, and public health professionals 
to co-design and co-fund an integrated people focused recovery programme across 
the domains of employment, skills, health and inequality.  We propose to work in 
partnership with Government on the following programmes:  
 

• A fully funded September Offer for school leavers to have a funded place 
in education, a job with training, apprenticeship or training programme, 
with increased levels of bursary funds for providers to respond to needs; 
 

• A young person’s guarantee, ensuring that those aged under 25 who have 
been out of work for more than 6 months can get training, an 
apprenticeship or a job: this will require the delivery of substantial numbers 
of Kickstarter jobs in the City Region; 
 

• Creation of increased numbers of apprenticeships (including degree 
apprenticeships and with increased focus on digital and agile skills) through 
incentives for businesses and further flexibilities around use of the 
apprenticeship levy; 

 
• A clearly evidenced, business led skills programme to deliver recovery as 

set out in the Association of Colleges Rebuild report; 
 
• A digital skills programme to retrain businesses and workers for an 

increasingly digital world;  

Page 257



 38 

• A national digital poverty programme, which improves access to digital 
connectivity and devices for those that need it; 
 

• A community and voluntary sector resilience programme which provides 
the right infrastructure and financial resource for the sector to engage with 
those impacted by the pandemic (separate to the broader support for 
social economy through Kindred); 

 
• An enhanced schools catch-up programme to help pupils make up the lost 

learning, to ensure that young people are not permanently disadvantaged; 
 

• A Liverpool City Region creative curriculum to capture the talent of young 
people in the City Region. Such as Creative Enterprise Allowance, a pilot 
fund to provide non-refundable grants to freelancers, artists and creatives 
to supplement their existing income and allow them the time to focus on 
setting up new business and creative ventures. 

These may be national programmes, but they need to be cohered locally in the City 
Region, so that businesses and people can make informed choices about which best 
meet their needs. Having ready access to data on who is receiving support under 
these schemes will be essential if local targeting and promotion is to be effective. 
 
 
16 Local Interventions  
 
Before the pandemic, we were already implementing a number local targeted 
interventions, including employment support programmes (Ways to Work 
Programme, Households into Work); improving links between businesses, schools, 
colleges, training providers and universities in order to embed job needs in all areas 
of the curricula; and developing a local talent pipeline, ensuring that learners and 
young people are developing the skills they need for the future. But our evidence 
shows the huge people challenges the City Region faces as a result of the pandemic. 
These challenges require local interventions to be ramped up if the City Region is to 
continue its trajectory of economic renaissance.    
 
Ways to Work extension (£53m): The pioneering Ways to Work programme has been 
running in the City Region since 2016, working with 25,000 people and supporting 
over 15,000 into work. It provides individual targeted support to unemployed people 
to help them identify, prepare for, and secure employment opportunities. The 
programme works closely with local employers and skills providers, aligning support 
to vacancies and skills shortages. Demand for the programme will increase as a result 
of the pandemic, and there is an opportunity to fund its extension so that it can 

Page 258



 39 

provide immediate support to those who become unemployed, while continuing to 
support existing unemployed residents.  
 
Sustainable Job Creation Programme (£180m): Whilst the Kickstarter programme will 
support 16-24-year olds with jobs, there is a need to support over 25-year olds as 
well, given that they make up the majority of the unemployed and economically 
inactive people in the City Region. The Sustainable Job Creation Programme will 
work with businesses to create jobs where adults can develop the experience and 
skills that those businesses will need in the coming months and years (e.g. retrofitting, 
care, logistics, customs): this would typically be 30 hours a week for 6 months but 
recent experience of delivering 3,000 such roles locally has shown the importance of 
having flexibilities to meet the needs of businesses, and this will be built in from the 
start. Training and job search support would be built in from the start with separate 
mentoring support for people and businesses. There is an existing delivery 
infrastructure through local authorities and community and voluntary sector 
organisations to mobilise delivery quickly. 
 
Graduate employment programme (£10m): This will support local businesses to 
provide local opportunities to 5,000 newly qualified graduates, supporting 3,750 into 
work. The programme will include shared recruitment and training and development 
programmes, and where appropriate, shared placements. It will be co-designed by 
businesses, universities, colleges and students in partnership with the Growth 
Platform.  
 
Workplace wellbeing programme (£5m): Given the already high prevalence of mental 
health disorders in the City Region, and the anticipated increase due to COVID-19, 
this programme will help employers deliver organisational change to improve the 
health and wellbeing of employees. There is a strong link between employee 
wellbeing, productivity and profitability yet many businesses are a) not aware of these 
links or b) do not know how to put improvements in place. Co-designed with Public 
Health England, Merseycare, Trade Unions and the Growth Platform, the Workplace 
Wellbeing programme will be delivered as a pilot, providing intensive support to help 
organisations implement employee wellbeing programmes.  
 
Entrepreneur development programme (£10.25m): There will be a number of people 
made redundant with skills to start their own business. This programme will provide 
people made redundant with high quality support including access to professional 
advisors and networks and will crowd in national start-up loans programmes. There 
are also opportunities to better support graduates to set up new businesses. This will 
support 5,000 people, helping 3,000 into work. This initiative compliments business 
start-up and growth funds described within the Business Ecosystem section. 
 

Page 259



 40 

Targeted support for specific groups (£10m): As well as the universal employment 
support available through Ways to Work, additional support is needed to narrow the 
employment and unemployment gaps for people with disabilities and those from 
BAME backgrounds. This requires a more specialised and targeted support from 
people within those communities to ensure credibility. This will add value to existing 
programmes which are based in community and voluntary sector organisations, 
working with 7,000 and helping 1,700 into work. 
 
Reskill and retrain (£46m): There is an urgent need to develop the skills of people and 
businesses to improve business productivity in a post COVID-19 and post Brexit 
world, as part of the most intensive period of skills improvement delivery in a 
generation. This will involve detailed reskilling plans for businesses, with public co-
investment, plus flexible, tailored support available for people who wish to develop 
new skills. This will support and upskill 22,500 people. 
 
Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise (VCFSE) Sector Resilience and 
Capacity Fund (£25m programme): The VCFSE sector has unique access to and 
understanding of our most vulnerable communities and this has put the VCFSE 
sector at the centre of local pandemic response efforts. The VCFSE Resilience and 
Capacity Fund would provide cross-sector investment to develop the sector’s long 
term capacity and resilience and help CVFSE organisations to replenish and prepare 
for their ongoing role in mitigating the worst effects of the pandemic. The direct 
effect of this would be to safeguard and sustain the significant level of employment 
and GVA supported by the sector (24,000 employees, £920m GVA). 

 
 
 
  

An investment of £329.5m will unlock 22,500 learning opportunities, safeguard 
26,400 jobs, create 22,914 jobs and provide an economic output of £1.1bn. 

 

Page 260



41 

Place 

17 The Place We Find Ourselves 

Lockdown has forced us all to spend more time at home, live more locally and 
practice social distancing. It has brought into sharp focus, the quality of the homes 
we live in, the local amenities we access and the importance of good place design.  
The way people are interacting, socialising and travelling are all changing. We need 
to reimagine places, systems and our cultural offer to adapt to these changes for an 
unknown period of time. Liverpool City Council’s Liverpool Without Walls initiative is 
an example of a practical yet progressive approach to rapidly redesigning public 
spaces.  

The pandemic has also exposed place-based inequalities. It has had a proportionally 
higher impact on the nation’s most deprived areas. These places also feel the greatest 
economic consequences, where low income households have less financial security, 
are more exposed to risk of job losses, as well as suffering from poorer health. These 
are very often where housing quality is poorest and fuel poverty greatest. 

Many people exposed to deprivation are more likely to work in sectors that had to 
shut down overnight and are facing significant long-term disruption as a result of 
COVID-19, such as the retail sector and the culture and visitor economy. These 
sectors also play a role in the placemaking of our towns and cities and cultural 
vibrancy.  

Overcoming geographically concentrated deprivation is an intergenerational 
challenge but we must address it now to avoid the widening of gaps.  

18 Culture and the Visitor Economy 

We have strong, international appeal. Our cultural offer, be it music, sport or heritage, 
has proven to be the rocket fuel of regeneration. It is more than just about jobs, 
growth or even just our brand - culture binds our communities together and supports 
people’s health, wellbeing, and quality of life. Culture is amongst our most important 
assets, and one we must use for economic recovery as we reimagine our communities. 
Our cultural offer is also what drives our visitor economy, across performing arts, 
music, theatre, dance, museums, visual arts, events and festivals. We stand amongst 
the top performing destinations in the UK for both leisure and business tourism, 
generating over 67 million visitors a year, propelling a sector that contributes over 
£4.9 billion in GVA to the local economy as well as supporting 57,000 jobs. These 
jobs are now at risk.  

Page 261



 42 

Our waterfront and city centre lead this offer. It’s what makes us the country’s most 
exciting city and we need to protect it and capitalise on the brand offer throughout 
the City Region, up the Sefton coast to Southport, through Wirral’s leisure spaces and 
into Prescot’s emerging vibrancy around Shakespeare North Playhouse which will 
complete the UK’s Shakespearean triangle – Stratford, Prescot, London. 
 
The seasonality of the visitor economy means that businesses within it will not be able 
to make up lost revenue during the summer lockdown. The result is a significant, 
immediate impact. These businesses and organisations will have to open with new 
social distancing requirements, a constrained offer and fewer visitors; this will have 
differential impacts for different venues and attractions, some of which may take some 
time to reopen. The City Region’s vibrant visitor and cultural economy is at risk as a 
result of the impact of the pandemic. 
 
Only partnership with Government and its agencies, and real local collaboration, will 
secure this sector. We want to create a place-based approach to funding to make real 
change in the way we work with national partners. This will enable us to use our 
competitive advantage internationally and our talent locally to drive regeneration 
with storytelling at its heart.  
 
 
19 Housing 
 
The City Region has a distinctive sense of place with a vibrant city centre, a wealth of 
cultural assets, stunning coastal landscapes and natural spaces. With the construction 
sector hit hard during lockdown and demand for new homes lower than normal (up 
to one third less) we want to enable housebuilding to start again, supporting the 
whole supply chain via a stimulus package to get existing sites building and delivering 
more affordable homes to address the pent up demand following COVID-19.  
 
The City Region has strategic, predominantly brownfield sites, which could be 
developed for new housing delivery. We welcome the allocation of the £45m 
Brownfield Land Fund and we will work with Government and Homes England on the 
forthcoming Single Housing Infrastructure Fund and Affordable Homes Programme. 
 
 
20 Community Institutions 
 
We are home to nearly 8,500 voluntary organisations, community groups and social 
enterprises, working to tackle inequalities and improve the lives of local people. The 
community response and significant uptake of volunteering opportunities across the 
City Region to help support the most vulnerable in our communities during the 

Page 262



 43 

pandemic has been phenomenal. The establishment of LCR Cares, with over £1.53 
million raised and distributed to date, has highlighted the need to help and support 
our communities. We want to maintain this momentum and continue to support our 
community and voluntary sector to self-organise and build its capacity to thrive and 
develop post COVID-19. 
 
Almost one third of all Lower Super Output Areas  in Liverpool City Region are in the 
most deprived decile nationally. This is driven by an insufficient supply of well-paid, 
secure employment opportunities and a historic lack of investment in communities. 
We must ensure that our social and economic response to the pandemic helps to 
actively dismantle deprivation, by promoting the wealth and vibrancy of communities, 
and creating new economic opportunities. Our third sector will be our biggest asset 
in supporting our most vulnerable residents, but their income has been impacted 
significantly by the pandemic (they have delivered without pause but been unable to 
fundraise or cross-subsidise their work).  
 
 
21 Town Centres 
 
This risk of damage from structural change is also acute in our town centres. The 
pandemic has effectively fast-forwarded market change by about three years. The 
reduction of in-store retail demand increases our need to repurpose centres as multi-
functional community hubs with great quality housing and access.  
 
We must counter the emerging risk that our towns experience proportionately higher 
redundancies from the collapse of vulnerable retail and hospitality businesses, and 
cultural offer, which risk making their local impact more acute. 
 
We are already using the £6m LCR Mayoral Towns Fund and associated expert 
commission to plan for sustainable revival. Birkenhead and Runcorn are candidates 
for the Future High Streets Fund; Birkenhead, Runcorn, Southport and St Helens are 
candidates for the Towns Fund.   
 
The pandemic has also given our towns an opportunity to experiment with 
sustainable connectivity and community-led solutions, focusing on accessibility, 
quality of environment, green infrastructure, community and voluntary sector 
measures that repurpose and reinvigorate town centres. We’re planning creative and 
recovery focused measures to leap from response to long-term sustainability. 
 
We note how ambitious our councils’ town plans are: Left Bank (Birkenhead) in Wirral 
foresees up to 18,000 brownfield homes, the overhaul of the retail and business core, 
new transport connections, a children’s museum and a green core. Peel, Muse, Urban 

Page 263



 44 

Splash and other developers are helping to lead. Knowsley Council is using the 
Shakespeare North Playhouse to drive a cultural, independent spirited revival in 
Prescot and unique offering for the City Region and the North, is underway with long 
awaited expansion of Kirkby’s retail offer, complimented with plans for 700 homes 
and is planning Huyton’s redevelopment to introduce and deliver a new  high quality 
mixed use commercial and residential district. Sefton is preparing a huge expansion 
in Southport’s visitor offer with privately led investment in Pleasureland, a new theatre 
and convention centre and a revived retail and public realm core; it is preparing to 
develop public assets in Crosby to refocus footfall in the centre; and it is working to 
rejuvenate Bootle. Halton has already begun reopening Runcorn with transport and 
public realm improvements and is planning the next homes and place led phase as 
well as an expanding Brindley Theatre, which will link to an emerging creative 
industries and digital hub. The rejuvenation of St Helens’ towns and district centres is 
supported through Partnership with the English Cities Fund, combining housing and 
commercial projects with people-based heritage and cultural rejuvenation. The area 
is building on its industrial heritage and manufacturing skills , with science, innovation 
and industrial opportunities focused on economic recovery. Around all this, the City 
Region’s digital connectivity plans will help improve connectivity to businesses and 
homes.  
 
In all these, our focus is on great quality submissions to trigger funding from National 
Government programmes; supporting local investment; private investment; and, of 
course, collaboration with Homes England. 
 
 
22 Shared Focus on Town Centres 
 
We have identified three recovery opportunities in the national Towns Fund. The 
solutions we propose below can hasten delivery, improve value for money and quickly 
broaden the Government’s levelling up agenda.  
 
First, several of our towns’ councils lack the development funding necessary to 
prepare the highest value interventions – particularly since the pandemic. Allocating 
£2.5m in revenue to town centres across the City Region will radically improve 
outcomes and increase private leverage because it will make the public plans more 
robust and investible.  
 
Second, towns may identify extraordinary projects that exceed the £25m funding 
limit. Whilst the latest guidance recognises this may be exceeded in exceptional 
circumstances, the current national programme is unlikely to be able to meet this 
demand. Working with Government to enable follow on / expanded funding for 
impactful expansion will again cement the impact of current programmes. 

Page 264



 45 

Southport has the potential for circa £250m in public and private investment to trigger 
a genuine transformation. We plan the expansion of the existing Pleasureland 
attraction with an internationally recognised, branded visitor attraction, 
creating/safeguarding 1000 jobs (£50m project). We are also planning to replace the 
dilapidated existing theatre (£70m project) and conference centre to add £25m per 
annum to the local economy and catalyse the transformation of the town centre, 
culminating in a new “Southport Square”. The scale of the project, and the impact it 
can create, requires a greater public investment than £25m.  
 
Third, we support the rapid expansion of the Towns Fund to support follow-on 
candidates. The two coming priorities are:  
 

• Huyton Commercial District (£20m), for which Knowsley Council is 
planning a £132m redevelopment of a seven acre, publicly owned 
brownfield site adjacent to the rail station and main road network - a ‘key 
and intrinsic’ part of the town centre. The plan is to deliver a new mixed 
use development that will include 320,000 square feet of office and 
commercial space. Its aim is to improve local amenity and capitalise on the 
town’s excellent transport links, completing the trio of successful town 
revival initiatives in the borough. 
 

• Bootle town centre, for which Sefton Council has initiated a comprehensive 
regeneration programme through acquisition of the anchor Strand 
shopping centre. With Homes England, supporting social enterprises, 
registered providers, the Canals and River Trust and private investors, the 
plan foresees a reconnection to the historic canal with improved leisure 
and living options, and a refreshed value proposition for its existing and 
well-connected office accommodation.  

We propose to work with Government to fill the three gaps outlined above. These 
are key priorities in our place agenda.  
 
 
23 COVID-19 Connecting Places 
 
Despite the comparative strength of the public transport system in the City Region, 
there is evidence that too many people can find it difficult to access employment and 
other opportunities via public transport. Good services in and out of the city centre 
are not always matched by effective connections across the wider City Region or to 
cities elsewhere in the UK.  
 

Page 265



 46 

We know that we are working and living through uncertain times. Travel patterns stem 
from the demand exerted by people and their travel choices and options. Whilst 
COVID-19 has had a significant and immediate impact on demand for travel, we still 
don’t know how significant these changes will be over time, or if, or when ‘normality’ 
will return. We are proactively planning ahead to best understand what these impacts 
might entail and how we should respond. This is being done through the 
development of scenarios, the transport impacts of which we will seek to model using 
our established City Region transport toolkits, which will help shape the solutions and 
mitigations that we need to be prioritising and investing in.  
 
We are also engaged with scenario development work and in understanding impacts 
at a pan-Northern level; and this is linked closely to our priorities through Transport 
for the North’s plans and investments. We recently submitted medium-term transport 
investment opportunities that could be brought forward to Transport for the North 
(TfN) and will use that route to pursue funding until alternative routes are announced. 
This includes a £500m investment at Liverpool Central station, the third busiest rail 
station in the north of England, and new Merseyrail Stations serving Baltic Triangle, 
Liverpool City Centre’s expanding digital and creative cluster and Knowsley Business 
Park the City Region’s largest single employment area. Please see Appendix B for a 
summary of opportunities.  
 
 
24 Engagement with Government  
 
We will work with Government to explore a range of programmes that will respond 
to the place related opportunities and challenges COVID-19 has presented. For these 
programmes to be successful, place-based frameworks for delivery are required, 
including:  
 

• A national strategy and programme of activity to support the resilience of 
the cultural and visitor economy and support its transition to the new 
normal; this should include targeted support for those sub sectors which 
are unable to reopen, modifications to tax relief and marketing campaigns; 
 

• Repurposing of the Tourism Sector Deal to make it more appropriate for 
the new environment; 
 

• Funding for destination management organisations to overcome losses in 
commercial funding; 
 

Page 266



 47 

• A national destination programme which enhances the vibrancy and 
attractiveness of local places through culture led initiatives. We are 
developing a framework in the City Region that can be replicated in other 
parts of the country; 
 

• A financial package of support for the voluntary and community sector, 
beyond the welcome but insufficient £750 million announced, to support 
its resilience and enable it to manage the mounting pressure the pandemic 
places on it;  
 

• A framework to scale the Liverpool Without Walls pilot nationally; 
 

• Expedited release of heritage monies to support the place agenda and 
construction employment;  
 

• Engagement with Government on relocation of civil servants out of London 
with potential to reanimate centres including Bootle.  

 

25 Local Interventions 
 
For our towns agenda, please see the commentary above. These are both national 
and local priorities.  
 
Somewhere (£15m): A cultural programme across the city that explores place. A series 
of interventions that define our region and do two things: build community cohesion 
and accelerate ambition. The creative communities programme will tackle cohesion 
with creative responses to diversity, loneliness, mental health and obesity. Alongside 
this will run an arts programme, leading the region outdoors to view great public art, 
building on the success of Anthony Gormley’s Another Place, Jaume Plensas The 
Dream and the work of the Liverpool Biennial. Music and theatre would be hosted 
throughout the City Region, from sand dunes to city streets, car parks to high streets, 
stately homes to forests: we will rebuild our visitor economy and market it to the 
world.  
 
Liverpool Without Walls (£5.37m): Liverpool City Council has initiated a series of pilots 
and interventions that reimagine Liverpool’s city and visitor economy within the 
context of safe social distancing. From ‘Reclaim the Road’ (which will extend 
restaurants’ and bars’ outdoor operating space) to ‘Bike and Ride’ (a free bike-sharing 
programme with a simple tracking app), they bring together a range of local 
businesses and organisations to build new networks and create opportunities for 

Page 267



 48 

growth and new ideas. There is an opportunity to build on this pilot to scale it in 
Liverpool and across the City Region.  
 
Confronting Colonial Pasts: Expansion of Liverpool’s International Slavery Museum 
(£63m programme): Liverpool City Region is home to the UK’s only International 
Slavery Museum, housed amongst the UK’s largest collection of Grade I listed 
buildings at the Albert Dock. The recent worldwide events associated with the Black 
Lives Matter movement and the questions that this has raised on how we confront 
our colonial past make it more important than ever to learn and reflect on the 
transatlantic slave trade. Government can align with plans already being developed 
by National Museums Liverpool to expand a major cultural asset that also acts as a 
research hub for international scholars.  
 
Total Immersion (£2.6m project): Total Immersion is a sector development initiative 
designed to maximise Liverpool’s established immersive technology ecosystem. 
Phase 1 of this project will see the development of 4 high-quality integrated reality 
projects and the establishment of a new model for sharing immersive technology 
between 10 businesses, 3 universities and the public sector. The end point is the 
creation of a 3D augmented reality visitor attraction with immersive digital experience 
at its heart, a unique offer which will both create a new tourism offer as well as public 
platform for presenting new content and ideas from LCR immersive tech businesses. 
 
An upgraded, sustainable Cruise Liner Terminal (£120m): An upgraded, expanded 
and modernised cruise liner terminal which would replace the existing temporary 
facility and enable the City Region to accommodate larger vessels carrying up to 
3,600 passengers. This will enable the terminal to be ready for an upswing in demand 
as social distancing is eased around the world, including into projects now under 
development like the Shakespeare North Playhouse. 
 
New Housing Delivery (£40m capacity funding and stimulus package for £2.3bn 
programme): The City Region must deliver more, good quality affordable homes. 
With additional allocation of a £35m stimulus package, we could purchase stock plots 
which would stimulate further house building on existing sites and provide new 
affordable housing. Capacity funding of £5m will be used for preparatory work for the 
Strategic Housing Infrastructure Fund. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 268



 49 

A new stadium for Everton Football Club (£500m project): Everton Football Club is 
developing a new 52,000 seat stadium at Bramley Moore Dock. This is the largest 
planned private sector investment in the City Region, which requires significant 
remediation and preservation work first, and is anticipated to initiate the regeneration 
of the northern docks area of Liverpool. Following the Club’s move the club will also 
develop the existing Goodison Park ground for housing and community uses. The 
completed stadium can be levered to augment Bootle town centre’s leisure offer, 
with the Leeds canal providing a heritage link.  
 
Shakespeare North Playhouse (£3m): A 350 seat theatre, modelled on the cockpit-in-
court design popular during the Elizabethan era.  It will include an outdoor 
performance garden, exhibition and visitor centre and educational facilities. We will 
engage with DCMS on existing and new recovery funding lines for an additional £3m 
to secure the project’s construction delivery, noting our continued ambition for 
culture to lead Prescot’s revival. 

 

An investment of £335m will unlock our £3bn pipeline of projects. This will 
unlock delivery of 14k new houses, and development of 300k sqm of commercial 
and retail floorspace including in our town centres. This will create c 24k jobs, a 

further 17k construction jobs, and generate £1.8bn of GVA. 

Page 269



50 

A Green Recovery 

The UK is legally committed to achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2050. It is well 
established that the costs of climate action rise exponentially with time (cf. Stern 
report), and therefore our urgent need to transition to a zero-carbon economy is 
unchanged by the COVID-19 pandemic. Lockdown has demonstrated the rapidity 
with which change can be effected. 

Our City Region’s target date for reaching net carbon neutrality is 2040. We are well 
placed to respond to this ambitious challenge, with the local low carbon economy 
valued at £2 billion per annum, employing 27,000 people across 1,400 businesses, 
and above average research and development in the sector. We have unique 
opportunities in tidal energy, hydrogen and an immediate opportunity to improve 
our housing stocks’ efficiency through retrofit.   

There are some key green economic assets in place in the City Region, including the 
Eco-innovatory Programme at Liverpool John Moores University, and real-time data 
collection and processing assets at Sensor City to create a pioneering programme to 
enhance carbon literacy throughout the City Region. Accelerating investment in 
green recovery will aid achievement of the carbon neutrality goals and help 
businesses to refocus and capture the opportunities and competitive advantages 
ahead. 

Centred around meeting this challenge is recognising that too much of our current 
housing stock is poor-quality. Almost 70% of the City Region’s housing stock is in 
council tax band A or B, compared to an average of 44% in England. The City Region 
has a high incidence of fuel poverty (14%) compared to the national average 
(10%). The pandemic again creates a fresh imperative to improve the quality of our 
homes to enhance our residents’ living conditions and protect their health as well as 
to stimulate the economy and to become a centre of excellence in developing the 
technologies and construction processes needed to deliver homes fit for the future, 
lowering household emissions and supporting a green recovery. 

26 Engagement with Government 

Green recovery interventions have the distinct characteristics of being typically long-
term in both development and benefits realisation, and of requiring state intervention 
to enable viability. This is commensurate with the scale of their economic, social and 
environmental benefits, which can be both significant and long-term. In light of this, 
we will work closely in partnership with Government to maintain a pipeline of near-

Page 270



 51 

term development funding support for our ambitious programme of green recovery 
investments.  
 
We will use our strategic planning powers to embed sustainable development within 
our emerging Spatial Development Strategy.   
 
Our engagement with Government will comprise the following:  
 

• Recognition of tidal power’s potential contribution to the North West’s and 
UK’s energy mix as a deliverable, predictable and economic source of 
power; 
 

• Continuing to dis-incentivise carbon emitting power generation and 
supporting/subsidising clean energy replacement; 
 

• Continued support of Government to fund temporary and permanent 
repurposing of highway space towards active travel; 
 

• Policy support for a new and more compelling domestic “green deal” to 
support retrofit;  
 

• Bringing forward the Future Homes standard for new housing from 2025 to 
2023 and allow devolution of legislative powers to allow local places to do 
so to meet their targets; 
 

• Leading and encouraging a shift in appraisal assumptions, particularly in 
the use of Green Book to directly favour a net zero investment case in 
economic appraisal and capture true value of measures; 
 

• Devolution of skills budgets coupled with strong national regulatory targets 
would enable our economy to have confidence in skilling/capacity building 
which would build-in local expertise and jobs in the “green” economy, e.g. 
reskilling redundant workforce to work within the economic assets 
proposed for local delivery; 
 

• Devolution of tree planting and conservation funding announced under 
Government’s pledge to reforest Britain. This would align with Mersey 
Forest Partnership’s programme to “Grow Back Greener” as part of a wider 
Northern Forest, providing a natural carbon sink while providing 
opportunities for our visitor economy. 

Page 271



 52 

27 Local Interventions 
 
Mersey Tidal Power Project (£3-10 billion programme): The high tidal range in 
Liverpool Bay and the Mersey estuary provides a unique opportunity to reliably 
generate abundant long-term renewable energy. The project has an approved 
development budget from devolved funds of £2.5million and current activity will 
conclude in a scheme configuration and specific location preference in late 2020.  
 
Acceleration of the project is possible through additional development phase 
funding, to advance the development phases activities including FEED studies which 
would allow early progress to Development Consent Order as a Nationally Significant 
Infrastructure Project. Construction commencement is likely in mid 2020s subject to 
business case and consents being secured and would be operational by end of the 
decade. 
 
The overall investment level is likely to exceed £3 billion and could be a public - 
private sector approach to delivering an asset that can operate over 120 years. Our 
request is for additional Central Government funding of £11.5million to support FEED 
studies, explore a location for a tidal range turbine test facility and a wider system 
integration study to examine how large scale, ‘local’ low carbon generation can 
integrate to Liverpool City Region urban and industrial demand base. 
 
Refurbishing Housing for a Green Future Programme (£250 million programme): Only 
1% of our 700,000 homes currently achieve EPC rating A or B, with 75% rated D or 
lower; the objective of this programme is to bring 6,500 homes to EPC Band C or 
above over the next four years as part of a post-COVID-19 recovery stimulus package. 
The interventions proposed include external cladding, re-glazing, renewable energy 
systems, sensors and smart meters. This will stimulate the local and national supply 
chain, providing construction jobs and skills as well as associated reduced fuel 
poverty and improved health outcomes. As recognised in the Governments Summer 
Statement, housing retrofit is a powerful economic stimulus and the Household 
Retrofit Vouchers are a welcome tool to start the process of making our housing more 
energy efficient. Liverpool City Region want to build upon this scheme to embrace 
neighbourhood level transformation in a strategic way to ensure a strong skills 
agenda, apprenticeship creation and comprehensive transformation at a larger scale 
to address our climate ambitions. 
 
Manufacturing Technology Centre’s (MTC) radical innovation of Modern Methods of 
Construction (£155million programme): The next stage of MTC’s expansion in the 
City Region, following a £15m expansion into rapidly reconfigurable and digital 
production lines, focuses on innovative excellence in modern methods of 
construction (MMC).  

Page 272



 53 

The first phase is to develop new, more efficient methods for housing retrofitting. 
Concept design has begun with support of Torus and Peel Group, and can be 
mainstreamed into the above retrofit programme. Phase 2, which features in our 
medium-term pipeline, is a comprehensive approach to new methods of modular 
construction – building homes like building cars – and will include a skills and 
development centre as part of the skills system locally, building on the MTC’s highly 
regarded skills and training centre in Coventry.  
 
The LCR Hydrogen Economy Programme (>£600m programme). Liverpool City 
Region is perfectly positioned to exploit the potential of hydrogen as a path towards 
a zero-carbon economy. Our strategic advantages include significant readily available 
and scalable hydrogen production assets and knowledge; large and growing freight 
and logistics interchange infrastructure to enable ‘destination point’ zero carbon 
fuelling. This is in addition to our scalable renewable energy generation capacity, with 
the potential to provide power to fuel hydrogen production; significant latent 
demand for hydrogen for industrial fuel switching; and geology that could provide 
large volume sub-surface hydrogen storage and similarly carbon capture utilisation 
and storage within the depleted Irish Sea Gas fields.  
 
With targeted interventions to unlock these strategic advantages, Liverpool City 
Region will be at the forefront of European, if not global, hydrogen innovation and 
application. Our emerging programme of hydrogen-based interventions, responding 
to the above opportunities, is set out as part of our Medium-Term Recovery Pipeline 
appended to this strategy. This programme could be accelerated with revenue 
contribution of £330,000. 
 
The first phase of this strategy, the procurement of 40 hydrogen buses and a 
hydrogen refuelling station which could be delivered for £27.8m, to be operational 
by late 2021. This would introduce a fully hydrogen-powered “green route” on a 
specific existing service that passes through several Air Quality Management Areas  

 
(AQMAs), is close to an existing Liverpool City Region hydrogen manufacturing plant 
and in proximity to an emerging cluster of hydrogen fuel companies. 
 
 

An investment of £285m will unlock our £3.4bn pipeline of projects. This will 
deliver 5k homes and retrofit another 6.5k houses. In the short term, 4k jobs will 

be created, and another 4k construction jobs, and £1bn of GVA will be delivered, 
however, in the longer term, the employment, economic and environmental 

impacts of these projects will be significant. 
 

Page 273



54 

Appendix A: Medium-term Capital Investments Pipeline 

Beyond the immediate recovery response detailed through each of the thematic 
strands above, we have a pipeline of projects which will form part of our medium-
term recovery response. Many of these projects have benefitted from devolved 
development funding and can be accelerated with additional central government 
investment. Some of our key medium-term projects are summarised in the table 
below; further details are provided within the appended SOCs. 

Medium-Term Capital Investments 
Project Description Location 
Town Centres 
diversification 
and 
regeneration 
programme 

A diversification and regeneration programme, set 
by our Local Authority (LA) partners, with CA 
support, would be delivered in collaboration with 
the private sector, bringing in their expertise and 
finance at the earliest opportunity. Funding would 
be used for a variety of key enabling interventions, 
including site assembly, land remediation, public 
realm and infrastructure improvements, supporting 
Future High Streets Fund and Towns Fund 
investment plans to improve outcomes.  

LCR-
wide 

Hydrogen 
Economy 
Programme 

• We are developing a programme that has the
potential to make Liverpool City Region the
foremost centre of hydrogen-based economic
growth in the UK, which encompasses the
following emerging strands:

• To repurpose the redundant Port of Weston
Complex in Runcorn to create a viable in-land
Hydrogen Port, which would generate sufficient
power to create a sustainable 3,000 tonnes p.a.
supply of green hydrogen for use across industry,
transport and domestic consumption. The
Hydrogen Port project will contribute to the
development of 26 hectares of derelict/under-
developed land around the Port of Weston, and
would be a total c.£600m scheme leveraging
significant public and private sector investment,
including from freeholders, Stobart Group, and
INOVYN.

• To deliver a network of at least eight zero-carbon
refuelling stations (hydrogen and electric
charging) across the City Region by 2025 to

LCR-
Wide 

Page 274



55 

Project Description Location 
serve a growing market for hydrogen powered 
transportation, including back to base vehicles 
(such as refuse trucks). 

• To roll out a fleet of hydrogen powered buses
and refuse and other back to base local authority
vehicles, with the overall ambition to
decarbonise our bus and refuse vehicle fleets by
2030.

• To replace all methane with hydrogen from the
City Region’s gas grid by 2035.

Sci-Tech 
Daresbury 
(£26m) 

This is the sister campus to STFC Harwell and 
comprises a nationally significant concentration of 
science and innovation assets including the STFC 
Hartree Centre and an IBM Global Research Hub 
that includes its primary “Watson” AI platform 
deployment. The campus has more than 130 
businesses and approaching 1,500 employees on 
site and is one of three Enterprise Zones in the City 
Region. Enabling infrastructure works at the campus 
would unlock a total 600,000 square feet of 
innovation development floorspace. 

Halton 

Left Bank 
Redevelopment 

Stretching along the Left Bank of the River Mersey, 
there is a major mixed-use regeneration opportunity 
which has to-date included the University of Chester 
and Wirral Metropolitan College campus 
developments, 48,000 sq. ft Grade A office, the first 
phase of Wirral Waters residential developments, 
establishment of the Wirral Growth Company 50/50 
joint venture with Muse Developments, and 
development of the second Eureka! National 
Children’s Museum. Additional support will catalyse 
the full potential for up to 20,000 new homes and 
6,000 new jobs through high quality, sustainable 
development delivered at scale and at pace.  

Wirral 

Page 275



56 

Project Description Location 
Liverpool 
School of 
Tropical 
Medicine – 
Phase 2 

Building on the tactical phase 1 project, In the 
medium term, phase 2 will establish a major facility 
for translational R&D infection work, that can 
sustainably support  industry infection R&D needs, 
but which can also rapidly respond to handling R&D 
in emergent or re-emergent pathogens to handle 
any future pandemic outbreaks.  This investment 
would see significant sector growth and job creation 
opportunities, a pipeline of rolling inward 
investment and 400 trained professionals feeding 
demand annually for skills in the growing infection 
R&D sector nationally. 

Liverpool 

Page 276



57 

Appendix B: Medium-term Transport Pipeline 

We recognise that sustained investment in our transport network is required to deliver 
our vision of a globally competitive, environmentally responsible and socially 
inclusive economy. To deliver this, we intend to continuously engage with 
Government in the following areas:  

• In tandem with our targeted investments which will improve access to key
international connectivity assets such as the Port of Liverpool and Liverpool
John Lennon Airport, we will continue to make the case for improved
national connectivity through accelerated full connection to HS2 and
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR) which will benefit our passenger
connectivity with the UK and unlock capacity on the freight network;

• Our public transport network has a 95% reliability and a 90% satisfaction
rate but there is evidence our local bus services are often considered
unreliable and expensive, which acts as a significant barrier to opportunity.
For this reason, we will continue to agree a model of bus reform as part of
our “Vision for Bus”, while continuing with capital investments in our
network;

• The COVID-19 pandemic has led to 70% increase in walking and cycling
nationally and as a direct result improvement in air quality in the City
Region. We intend to sustain these positive changes by seeking
accelerated funding to deliver our proposed 600km of walking and cycling
routes and creating Active Neighbourhoods across the Liverpool City
Region.

Our key medium-term transport investment opportunities discussed recently with 
Transport for the North are summarised in the table below; further details are 
provided within the appended SOCs. 

Page 277



 58 

Medium-Term Transport Pipeline 
Project Description Location 
New Rail 
Station 
Development 

Building on our £460m procurement of a new fleet of 
efficient and higher capacity trains to serve the 
Merseyrail electrified network, we plan to open two 
new stations to improve access to key employment 
sites in the City Region through public transport. A 
new station at Headbolt Lane will provide access to 
jobs at Knowsley Business Park and linking residents 
of Kirkby to opportunities in Liverpool city centre. St 
James Station in Liverpool city centre will provide 
access to Baltic Triangle, Liverpool city centre’s 
expanding digital and creative cluster.  

Liverpool, 
Knowsley 

Rail Station 
Accessibility 

We are currently delivering step-free access 
improvements to five Merseyrail stations, co-funded 
with DfT under the “Access for All” programme. Even 
with this investment, 38 stations without step-free 
access will remain across the Merseyrail network. 
Central Government support would enable us to 
expand the programme to include an initial further 
seven stations from our original shortlist proposed to 
DfT.  

LCR-
Wide 

IPEMU 
Hybrid Power 
Project 

The Independently Powered Electrical Multiple Units 
(IPEMU) project entails the provision of hybrid battery 
drive technology for the new Merseyrail rolling stock, 
to enable operation on non-electrified lines. This 
would allow a cost-effective expansion of the network 
to routes identified in our Long Term Rail Strategy 
including to Preston, Skelmersdale, Wigan, 
Warrington and Wrexham.  

LCR-
Wide 

Liverpool 
Central 
Station 

Liverpool Central Station is the busiest station in the 
City Region, being at the start or end point of more 
than 50% of Merseyrail journeys, third busiest overall 
in the North of England and the busiest three-
platform station outside of London, with over 16 
million passenger journeys starting or ending at the 
station per year. We are developing a £500m scheme 
to deliver additional platform capacity, which will 
address issues of overcrowding and to provide space 
for growth in passengers and services. The scheme 
will include additional platforms, upgrading access to 

Liverpool 

Page 278



59 

Project Description Location 
the platforms from the station concourse, remodelling 
the station concourse and developing retail and 
employment facilities. 

Liverpool 
John Lennon 
Airport 
Eastern 
Access 
Corridor 

We are developing a highway route that will connect 
the south Liverpool estuary area to the strategic 
highway network. This will support the delivery of 
office and commercial developments approved at the 
Estuary Business Park and 1,100 dwellings at East 
Halewood urban extension. The local area includes 
significant advanced health and life sciences and 
logistics assets which would benefit from journey time 
and reliability improvements. The scheme would also 
allow airport freight movements to grow from circa 
1,100 tonnes p.a., to its full capacity of 2,000-3,000 
tonnes p.a. 

Liverpool, 
Knowsley 

Parkside The Parkside Strategic Rail Freight Interchange will 
facilitate the movement of containerised goods from 
the Liverpool City Region to other parts of the UK by 
rail and enable growth of The Port of Liverpool which 
is constrained by capacity on the highway network. 
This will also support the increasing sustainability of 
freight transport by removing a significant number of 
Heavy Goods Vehicles from local roads and reducing 
carbon emissions and pollution. 

St George’s 
Gateway 

Following the recent demolition of the Churchill 
flyover in Liverpool city centre, there is an opportunity 
to connect existing and proposed pedestrian and 
cycling infrastructure to significant educational assets 
(Liverpool John Moores University) and cultural assets 
(World Museum Liverpool, St George’s Quarter), while 
opening up over 100,000 sq.m of floorspace on the 
land previously occupied by the flyover. 

Liverpool 

Page 279



60 

Project Description Location 
Birkenhead 
Central 
Gateway/ 
Connecting 
Wirral Waters 

Birkenhead Central Gateway will remove a flyover to 
directly unlock the Hind Street development adjacent 
to the Mersey Tunnel entrance, while the related 
Connecting Wirral Waters would deliver a Green 
Corridor for cycling, walking and public transport, 
creating a high-quality segregated corridor linking 
Wirral Waters and Birkenhead town centre. Together 
the two schemes would indirectly support 
development at Wirral Waters, Woodside Waterfront 
and Birkenhead Town Centre to the value of £439.9m 
GVA per annum. 

Wirral 

Daresbury EZ 
and East 
Runcorn 
Connectivity 

The scheme will introduce walking and cycling 
accessibility and a Zero Emission Charging Centre 
(ZERC) alongside capacity enhancements to the A558 
Daresbury Expressway. The scheme would catalyse 
growth of the Enterprise Zone where 10,000 new jobs 
are to be created over the next 20 years. The 
improvements will also directly support the movement 
of goods for our local logistics assets, including Eddie 
Stobart, DHL Parcel ltd and Wincanton Logistics.  

Halton 

Urban Traffic 
Control 
Integration 

There is an opportunity to bring together existing 
separate traffic signal management centres across our 
City Region to enable real-time movements to be 
managed coherently. UTC will be an invaluable tool to 
manage conflicting road user movements in the light 
of increased active travel since the COVID-19 
pandemic and will include air quality monitoring and 
variable response at key sites on the network. 

LCR-
Wide 

Page 280



61 

• Provide targeted, sophisticated support aimed at accelerating the growth 
rate of early-stage, knowledge-intensive SMEs;

• Bring together full sector/industry ecosystems to increase the impact of 
clustering network effects and access to valuable resources, facilities and 
knowledge;

• Bridge the gap between early-stage SMEs and private sector investors to 
promote investor readiness, facilitate access to investment, and increase 
deal flow;

• Attract, retain and develop talent; with a specific target to increase 
available talent pool of STEM professionals; and

• Promote the reputation of the UK, and the LCR, as a growing digital, 
creative & tech hub.

The Accelerator will create an estimated 150 additional jobs, cumulative 
additional GVA (£15m), and wage level enhancement. Its ability to generate 
significant economic returns is demonstrated by a BCR of 5.5. Wider intangible 
benefits are also potentially significant, in particular creating a greater critical 
mass of LCR businesses and high growth peers for the City Region.  

Appendix C: Strategic Outline Cases 

1. LCR Accelerator

Liverpool City Region has lower than average business scale-up growth, which 
impacts on the provision of quality employment, knowledge spill-overs, 
commercialisation, and the ability to drive up productivity. This is due to a 
combination of factors, part of which is a lack of growth and support infrastructure 
and dedicated intensive support for businesses with the highest growth potential.  

The development and provision of an industry leading business Accelerator 
which begin to address this issue. The Accelerator will:  

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Growth Platform, LEP Sector Boards, 
Regional Universities, Regional SMEs, Regional/National/International industry 
stakeholders. 

Request from HM Government 

£2.75m over 3 years for set-up and ongoing operational and investment costs. Full 
project cost is £5m - it is anticipated that £2.25m of this could be sourced from ERDF. 

Page 281



62 

Strategic Case 

LCR has a vibrant Tech sector, built on a thriving base of creative SMEs, a STEAM-
rich HEI base, and a valuable place/cultural offer. The sector now contributes over 
£1.8bn to the UK economy and 22,000 jobs across 4,500 companies and has grown 
significantly over the last decade. The local ecosystem grew by more than 144% 
between 2011-16 alone (TechNation, 2018), meaning there is a growing momentum 
within the sector. But more must be done to convert early-stage SMEs into scale-ups 
which are capable of driving productivity, economic growth, high-value job creation 
and intellectual property. This is particularly important at time when dynamic, growth 
businesses will be required to drive recovery into the medium term.  

However, early-stage firms in the City Region currently face substantial challenges in 
securing the same access to expertise, shared knowledge, facilities, markets and 
capital when compared to other UK regions (most notably London). This ‘liability of 
distance’ impact is self-affirming; the region is currently in a ‘network effect trap’ 
where the short-term absence of experience, facilities and capital prevent the local 
ecosystem from reaching a tipping point of critical mass.  

It is widely accepted that the presence of high-quality, well resourced, early-stage 
SME accelerators is a critical component in the development and long-term 
prosperity of healthy innovation ecosystems. Accelerators deliver rapid development 
and growth of their own SME cohorts but also substantially increase the wider 
progress of the local ecosystem. This is achieved by drawing in investors, talent, 
corporate sponsors, supply chains and wider stakeholders (e.g. regulators). LCR 
currently lacks the presence of any such accelerator which is capable of fully 
mobilising the underlying potential growth of tech firms. This results from the 
substantial sunk costs and time to ROI which face ‘first mover’ accelerator providers.  

Through the creation of the LCR Accelerator, public intervention can address these 
barriers which are currently preventing market leading industry accelerators from 
locating to the City Region. The programme will work with internationally 
leading/renowned accelerator providers to establish and ‘pump prime’ a targeted, 
well resourced, patient business accelerator offer within the City Region. It will deliver 
a rich blend of sophisticated support (product, marketing, communications, 
operations etc) to cohort businesses and facilitate access to investors, facilities, supply 
chains and talent through their extensive international network. The Accelerator will 
initially draw cohort SMEs from the LCR and surrounding indigenous geographic LEP 
regions, before expanding to attract internationally significant early stage firms.  

Page 282



63 

Design and development of the programme will be deeply integrated and aligned 
with the Local Industrial Strategy priorities and wider local provision including: angel, 
seed and wider Investment Ladder funding (see separate LCR Recovery Investment 
Platform SOC); and cluster innovation projects such as the Maritime Knowledge Hub 
(again detailed in its own SOC).  

Financial Case 

The Accelerator will cost £1.5m revenue per annum for three years, with an additional 
£0.5m earmarked for risk seed capital investment in-line with industry standard (c. 
£25,000 for 7% of cohort business equity). In the medium-long term (c.3 years) it is 
envisaged that the Accelerator will be financially self-sustaining through significant 
sponsorship revenues from corporate partners, and realising exits on pre-seed 
evergreen investments from cohort SMEs for a wide catchment area (potentially 
internationally). 

Economic Case 

The LCR Accelerator will have considerable direct and indirect benefits. In particular, 
it will create a greater critical mass of high growth peers and success stories that will 
raise the ambition of the business base more broadly to innovate and grow. It will 
increase levels of employment and ability to raise finance. A successful Accelerator in 
LCR is also likely to further attract institutional investors and importantly increase the 
value of investments made into non-accelerated seed companies.  

The direct economic impact is on employment (an estimated 150 additional jobs 
created), cumulative additional GVA (£15m), and wage level enhancement. Its ability 
to generate significant economic returns is demonstrated by a BCR of 5.5. Moreover, 
as noted, the wider indirect and less directly measurable impacts across the business 
ecosystem goes beyond this and adds highly significant value to the proposition.  

Commercial Case 

The Accelerator is anticipated to intensively work with up to 70 businesses during the 
initial three year period – with a further impact expected to be realised by a further 
200 companies within the wider ecosystem. Evidence from across the City Region 
and wider area (North Wales, Cheshire, Lancashire) indicates that there will be a high 
and growing demand for industry leading ‘scale-up’ support, stimulated by rising 
levels of digitisation. Recent comparable high quality provision programmes targeted 
at the digital and creative sector (most notably the Gather LCR Tech leadership 
programme) have been heavily oversubscribed and are already delivering significant 
commercial impact for cohort SMEs. Wider UK and global trends are extensively 

Page 283



64 

researched and documented by technology thought-leaders and industry bodies 
(e.g. Nesta) enabling an effective ‘intelligent customer’ approach.  

Management Case 

The Programme will be operationally led by a commercially adept, specialist provider 
of high growth SME accelerators – operators will be selected through a competitive 
process. Particular focus will be given to attracting internationally renowned operators 
who have long-standing experience and an established global reach. The provider 
will deploy staff in the City Region to both ensure efficient provision/focus and to 
embed wider, long-term capability. A procurement process will be undertaken in 
consultation with regionally/nationally significant industry figures to objectively 
ensure that any selected provider is capable of delivering transformative change to 
the LCR. Continuous input from wide range of stakeholders will be secured at regular 
intervals through existing LEP Sector Boards and a specialist taskforce to ensure the 
programme is in-line with best practise and strategic/operational need. The 
programme will be strategically supported by the Combined Authority who will 
closely monitor and evaluate provision.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

There would be a lead in period of 6 months to initial provision. The initial (funded) 
lifecycle will be 3 years, with commercially self-sustainable provision setup from year 
4 onwards. 

Page 284



65 

2. Liverpool Health Ventures

Liverpool City Region (LCR) punches below its weight when it comes to translating its 
internationally significant science activity into commercial success and new business 
formation, particularly within health & life sciences. LCR has an impressive suite of 
specialist NHS hospitals and supporting research assets. However, the innovative 
ideas generated at these hospitals often face stubborn market and other failures 
which act as significant barriers to commercialisation and economic growth. Liverpool 
Health Ventures (LHV) will disrupt this status quo. It will establish LCR as a leading 
innovation ecosystem for the accelerated commercial development of health and 
social care innovations. By offering a shared resource and targeting ideas developed 
by NHS and other healthcare staff, local universities and the wider private sector, LHV 
will deliver:  

• Support for health and social care partners to develop demand-led innovation
pipelines;

• A central hub to access the wider innovation ecosystem by signposting, joining
up activity and acting as a critical friend;

• Early-stage funding for proof of concept work (LCR Health and Social Care
Challenge Fund);

• The LHV Academy to develop entrepreneurial talent and culture in the City
Region and help build skilled project teams/capacity/capability;

• The LHV Venture Builder accelerator programme to provide project teams with
access to appropriate commercial, regulatory and technical expertise across
LCR and beyond; and

• Linkages with follow-on funders to support further project development and
to take the early stage ventures from pre-revenue stages through to launch
and commercialisation.

The revenue funding will support the first five years of LHV’s operation. Quantified 
economic impacts will be generated through 3 core outcomes:  

• Turnover generated by new start-up companies supported by LHV;
• Inward investment projects attracted to the LCR because of the performance

of the high growth firms supported by LHV’s Challenge Fund and LHV’s wider
med-tech ecosystem; and

• Direct employment creation within the LHV delivery team.

It is estimated that by 2035, the intervention will generate an additional £100m in net 
GVA for the LCR, an NPV of £41m and a BCR of 7.4. Additionally, it will create more 
than 450 high value knowledge-intensive jobs. As noted below, LHV is an early stage 
intervention and should not be appraised solely on quantified economic impacts. 
Longer term non-quantified impacts include the growth of LCR’s life science cluster, 

Page 285



66 

international applicability, reduced healthcare costs, and improved patient outcomes, 
as well as increasing demand for professional services.  

Stakeholders 

LCR Combined Authority, Growth Platform, 9 LCR NHS Trusts (who each invested 
£10k each for a pre-development feasibility study) and wider health and social care, 
universities, range of innovation ecosystem partners and assets, Fund Management 
Firms and Managers (co-investment). 

Request from HM Government 

£13.5m (alongside £5m also expected to be co-invested at the deal level by angels 
and other private investors). 

Strategic Case 

Liverpool City Region has a critical mass of internationally significant NHS hospitals 
and supporting assets. However, there is a lack of specialist advice readily available 
to develop ideas generated in the public sector into investable propositions, and a 
lack of local access to appropriate funding. This links to the wider issue of the City 
Region punching below its weight in commercialisation, particularly in relation to its 
relative wealth of innovation assets. There are a number of stubborn market and other 
failures LCR hospitals face which act as significant barriers to commercialisation:  

• Limited access to pre-commercialisation finance because of information
failures on both sides;

• Information and risk aversion issues whereby individuals lack the skills and
knowledge to develop innovative ideas;

• Networking/ co-ordination failures which prevent NHS staff from engaging
specialists.

LHV will provide a solution to these challenges, and in doing so utilise many of the 
innovation assets from across the City Region. It will therefore showcase the 
possibilities around collaborating to achieve commercialisation ambitions, and help 
stimulate a cultural shift that is so important for the wider business ecosystem.  
LHV will consist of IP management and exploitation strategies, business and 
commercial expertise and access to early stage (pre-seed) finance via a challenge 
fund to progress from idea to prototype. This will give the capacity and capability to 
address market and information failures to support the accelerated commercialisation 
of healthcare innovation at scale. LHV aligns with LCR Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) 
priorities and the Science & Innovation Audit (SIA), to drive open health innovation, 
and better maximise productivity in health and social care, and life sciences. By 

Page 286



67 

contributing to long term productivity growth and the development of the LCR life 
sciences cluster, it also addresses the priorities of the UK Industrial Strategy.  
The LHV Academy will address the need for talent, encouraging an entrepreneurial 
mind-set and have the potential to offer access to alternative careers for those made 
redundant from other sectors. LHV will also connect to a separate but aligned seed 
fund through the LCR Recovery Investment Platform (see separate SOC), to ensure 
access to appropriate finance along a commercialisation pathway.  
The LHV Challenge Fund will provide up to £250,000 per innovation and therefore 
differentiate from the Future Innovation Fund (see separate SOC) and start-up grants 
from the LCR Recovery Investment Platform (again, see separate SOC).  
LHV will work with the local research infrastructure, the science, technology and 
manufacturing asset base and SME community to support technical development and 
prototyping of innovations. It will enable investment in start-ups, license deals and/or 
collaborations with local SMEs and entrepreneurs to commercialise them. Start-ups 
will also be supported to target later stage investments from regional, national and 
sector specific venture capital funds to enable scale-up.  
This project has been developed by the Innovation Agency (AHSN), LCR Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP), Growth Platform; alongside members of Liverpool 
Health Partners (NHS Trusts and universities) and the private sector. This ensures 
complementarity to the work of the AHSN, the Combined Authority and aligned 
projects including the Civic Data Co-operative, Health Innovation Liverpool, 
Knowledge Quarter, STFC, Sensor City and other City Region assets.  

Financial Case 

LHV is seeking £13.5m in revenue to support a five-year plan to establish a self-
sustaining model which will use equity to feed an evergreen innovation challenge 
fund and develop investor partnerships to maximise funds and de-risk via co-
investment. Alongside this, £5m is also expected to be co-invested at the deal level 
by angels and other private investors. Running costs equate to £3.5m with a £10m 
challenge fund. Sustainability will be reached through leveraging grant funding, early 
stage angel and seed investment and longer term through ROI as the portfolio 
matures. Fee for service offers (e.g. due diligence for venture capital investors, 
investor readiness services for SMEs and the Academy fees) will generate additional 
income from year two. 

Economic Case 

LHV will ensure front line clinicians and entrepreneurs can access commercialisation 
support and nurture a holistic ecosystem to facilitate and encourage more 
entrepreneurial thinking. The result will be reduced health & care costs, enhanced 
levels of care and improved patient outcomes, thus impacting both on economy and 

Page 287



68 

society. LHV will directly contribute to driving a critical mass of agglomeration and 
catalysing continuous cycles of investment into life sciences.  
In terms of impact, it is estimated that by 2035, the intervention will generate an 
additional £100m in net GVA for the LCR, an NPV of £41m and a BCR of 7.4. 
Additionally, it will create more than 450 high value jobs.  
It is important to note that LHV will support the early stages of the commercialisation 
pathway. The main economic impacts of LHV will occur when ideas have progressed 
to market and the businesses generate turnover and/or income from IP licensing 
agreements. However, the intervention will only take projects to Technology 
Readiness Level (TRL 3) and not all the way to commercialisation (TRL 9). Projects will 
be reliant on further investment and R&D activity post-LHV. LHV should therefore not 
solely be appraised on the scale of monetised direct economic impacts delivered 
given that the main benefits will occur later on. It is important that the figures 
presented are viewed in this context. 

Commercial Case 

Supporting 88 SMEs/innovations over the first five years, LHV offers benefits for 
innovators, Trusts, local authorities, innovation assets and Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority, including:  

• Positioning LCR as a key geography for the commercial development of health
and care innovations;

• Attracting inward investment across LCR and higher quality FDI;
• A connected ecosystem of partners supporting the commercialisation of health

and care innovations across LCR;
• Enabling NHS Trusts and local authorities to create revenues which can

support frontline services;
• Innovations which support improved outcomes for LCR patients and residents;
• Helping maintain and attract high-quality talent within the LCR.

Management Case 

LHV has completed a feasibility stage to establish a full operational model including 
the legal structure, governance and IP pipeline. Economic impact modelling was 
completed, the innovation asset base was engaged and considers LHV as a missing 
catalyst which will improve under-utilised capacity. A team will be recruited and 
appointed during Autumn 2020. LHV will be a company limited by guarantee, 
operated commercially for profit but with profits reinvested to enable long-term 
sustainability of the model. LCRCA will provide back office administration including 
monitoring and will act as guarantor.  

Page 288



69 

Timeline and Next Steps 

LHV would be ready to launch within 3 months with the following timeframes: 
• Confirmation of funding (Summer 2020)
• Key Roles Appointed/Seconded (Autumn 2020)
• Venture Builder Programme Start (Winter 2020)
• First Round of Challenge Fund Awards (Spring 2021)
• LHV Academy Pilot Phase Launches (Autumn 2021)
• Launch VC and Investor Support Service (Autumn 2021)

Page 289



70 

3. LCR Recovery Investment Platform

The current model of regional investment funding does not work optimally for the 
City Region. It fails to recognise that funding ecosystems function at a sub-regional, 
rather than regional, level. By way of example, without a detailed knowledge of local 
SMEs or integration with the local business ecosystem, BBB’s NPIF equity fund 
(managed from Manchester) has made limited impact in the City Region. This 
problem has been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. Demand for funding will 
increase (e.g. for business adaptation) at a time when businesses’ own funds (equity 
reserves) have been eroded. This calls for a new model of funding that recognises 
that detailed local knowledge of the market is crucial to effective deployment. A 
model which is financially sustainable. A model which catalyses networks and 
stimulates the business ecosystem instead of simply providing a financial stop gap.  

The LCR Recovery Investment Platform (the “Platform”) addresses this challenge, 
incorporating targeted instruments to provide finance across different stages of the 
business lifecycle, aligned to local priorities. This will focus on recovery risk finance 
based on new soft equity and flexible loan models, while levering private funds to 
create and coherent and locally recognised funding pathway with responsible private 
deployment that is a critical enabler for business growth and the ecosystem 
development more broadly.  

The Platform is key not just to addressing finance supply gaps, but also specifically to 
drive cultural change amongst SMEs, generate networks and lever additional 
investment (angel and institutional) from outside the City Region. This is central to 
the development of a self-sustaining business ecosystem that supports continual 
investment in processes, products and people, driving innovation-led growth. 
Publicly-seeded funds deployed by locally established private vehicles with tacit local 
knowledge of the LCR market, will provide efficient investment in SMEs as advocated 
by Oxford economists in a compelling recent paper on levelling-up.2 The equity funds 
would be modelled on Scottish Equity Partners, a demonstrably successful public-
private initiative, originally seeded by Scottish Enterprise and now a self-sustaining 
manager in its own right. This can be contrasted with BBB funds which will remain 
reliant on public money to raise new funds.  

The BCR for this project with no repayment of funds is 5.7. However the expected 
50% repayment rate would achieve a BCR of 9.4, generating £565m of net additional 
GVA. This corresponds to up to 10,200 jobs.  

2 Collier & Mayer (15 June 2020). The Investment Trap: Reforming Financial Systems to Rebuild Economies post-COVID 

Page 290



71 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Growth Platform, Fund Managers 
(covering each of the sub-funds). 

Request from HM Government 

£100m capital over five years (breakdown in strategic case). (£65m private leverage 
at project/deal level). 

Strategic Case 

Prior to the pandemic, Liverpool City Region SMEs cited access to finance gaps as 
the most important barrier to growth/scaling-up (at 25 per 10,000 businesses, the 
proportion of scale-ups is only 72% of the national level). Local market failures result 
from the liability of distance from national (and regional) funds. As funders are not 
based in LCR, they are “hubs without spokes”, lacking the detailed knowledge of the 
local LCR SME market. The pandemic has heightened this market failure and eroded 
SMEs’ equity. This results in depleted SME funds for investment but also reduced 
ability to secure commercial debt or raise equity from constricted investors. SME 
investment is vital to the recovery but constrained finance will limit survival and 
growth. Demand for finance will also rise. Business failures and redundancies may 
produce more business start-ups. Businesses will also need to invest to adapt 
products and processes following the pandemic.  

The solution is to develop publicly funded local investment vehicles to provide 
appropriate finance, and tailored support, to SMEs at different growth stages. This 
would follow the recommendations of Oxford economists Collier and Mayer in their 
paper (footnote 1) as supported by a recent NWBLT innovation finance 
recommendations report from economist Lee Hopley. Illiquid investment in SMEs is 
easily compromised by information asymmetries so those intermediaries must have 
knowledge of the local SMEs and market. This was a priority identified prior to the 
pandemic, but its importance is now heightened. Without available investment 
capital, LCR will fail to exploit on the opportunities and competitive advantages 
outlined in the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) and Science & Innovation Audit (SIA).  

The Platform will deliver this solution, with sub-funds to provide finance at different 
stages of the business lifecycle. It will address local information, signalling and 
coordination failures, lever private capital and act as a focal point for strong networks. 
Crucially, the Platform will generate a sustainable, publicly seeded and private-led 
growth funding ecosystem. Specifically, the Platform incorporates recovery risk 
finance and investment ladder funds as detailed below:  

Page 291



72 

• Start-up grants (£10m): Small grants, complemented by advice and support,
to enable start-ups and proof of concept, recognising many individuals have
been and will be made redundant following the pandemic. This fits alongside
the Future Innovation Fund grants and complements the Entrepreneur
Development Programme in the People strand (see separate SOCs).

• Seed equity funding for tech (£20m): to provide start-ups, early-stage, and
emerging companies with risk-capital. The presence of a locally networked
equity provider is presently a significant market failure in the LCR ecosystem.

• Angel co-investment fund (£15m): to leverage seed and other angel
investment, deliver the investment on the right terms, and to the right start-
ups. This was a recommendation from a independent report on seed funding
for LCR.

• Seed and venture funding for clinical health ventures (£15m): LCR participation
in the next round of the GMC Life Sciences Fund, linking to Liverpool Health
Ventures commercialisation project (separate SOC). Note that in relation to
other key sectors/clusters, the SOC for an Advanced Manufacturing Support
Programme provides a specific capital support component where access to
commercial finance is difficult.

• Growth capital for the wider business base: including growth equity (£20m)
and debt (£20m), the latter through the further rounds of the Flexible Growth
Fund; flexible debt for businesses with an expansion project that creates
employment.

These sub-funds align to priorities set out in the LCR LIS. Note that investment capital 
for socially trading organisations is the subject of a separate SOC (Kindred).  

LCRCA is engaged in progressed conversations with fund managers to deliver these 
funds which are capable of launching in a short timeframe.  

Financial Case 

We expect that the funding will partly come through the expected devolved funding 
settlement, together with a further request for an additional investment from 
Government. Alongside this we expect approximately £65m private leverage at the 
project/deal level. Save for the grants, we expect the sub-funds to generate financial 
returns on a portfolio basis over the medium to long term. The equity funds would 
initially be seeded with public money over a c.10 year term. Once an investment track 
record can be established, those funds would be expected to raise private funds in 
subsequent rounds, going on to become self-sustaining in the longer term. In time, 
the fund may make investments outside of the region to achieve greater scale and 
therefore contribute to the financial sustainability. This follows the demonstrable 
success of publicly-seeded, privately managed equity funds such as Scottish Equity 

Page 292



73 

Partners, originally set up by Scottish Enterprise and now a successful fund manager 
in its own right. Running costs would be met through market standard carried interest 
payments from the financial returns generated. 

Economic Case 

The Platform has multiple positive outcomes, with potential to offer exponential 
economic impact from capital deployed. Through the development of a culture of 
sustainable investment, it will make a fundamental shift from over reliance on grants, 
supporting viable firms to adapt, sustain and grow, and preparing business for follow 
on investment from institutional investors. Enabled through the investments into 
economic infrastructure, it will support job creation and enhancing productivity across 
the whole business base.  

The overall impact is subsequently hard to fully predict given that the value often 
requires a number of years to fully realise across the individual firm and economic 
footprints – however benchmark NAO figures of British Business Bank impact showed 
direct monetary impact of £5.60 for every £1 deployed from regional finance 
packages centred around SMEs. It is expected that the local intelligence nature of 
the Platform and greater focus upon growth firms will increase this impact value to 
£6.90 for every £1 deployed.  

The nature of the outcomes highlight that the Platform would be hugely significant, 
and this is demonstrated through its anticipated impact. It is estimated that the 
Platform will provide a BCR of 9.4 based on 50% repayment back into the funds, 
generating £565m of net additional GVA. This corresponds to up to 10,200 jobs.  

Commercial Case 

Our evidence tells us that there is significant unmet demand for such finance, as there 
is a shortage of finance available in the City Region for businesses looking to adapt, 
grow or scale. This intervention, building on our granular knowledge from within the 
City Region and lessons learned from existing and previous finance interventions, will 
increase the amount of finance in the system to meet demand, the number of 
businesses receiving finance, and importantly, enhance the levels of finance being 
leveraged from other sources. 

Page 293



74 

Management Case 

The Platform will essentially be run via a public-private partnership. It will be managed 
at the macro-level by the Combined Authority and Growth Platform. The Combined 
Authority will provide back office administration including monitoring. At each 
individual level, the sub-funds will be deployed by procured private fund managers. 
Each sub-fund relates to specific sectors of the business base or at different points of 
the business lifecycle, therefore specialist management support and expertise will be 
required. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The approach will be iterative, and sub-funds will be launched as and when they are 
ready (some are existing, others are pipeline or at concept stage). It is anticipated 
that all of the sub-funds will be in a position for launch within 6-8 months, meaning 
that the full Platform could be fully launched by Spring 2021. 

Page 294



75 

4. Future Innovation Fund

The COVID-19 pandemic is creating unprecedented economic and wider societal 
change. Although it has presented numerous challenges, such change can also create 
new opportunities and space for innovation. Properly exploited, this can make 
businesses stronger and more resilient. Many firms currently lack the appetite, 
capacity and/or resources to innovate and, because of this, Liverpool City Region 
could experience an impeded recovery. The Combined Authority has set up a £3m 
pilot Future Innovation Fund to enable SMEs to innovate in response to current and 
future opportunities. The pilot has been set up at significant pace to provide a timely 
response to opportunities arising from the pandemic and to test the level and nature 
of demand that might exist for a larger innovation fund. 

The current pilot is providing innovation grants between £25k and £100k, and is being 
delivered in partnership with Growth Platform, Local Growth Hubs and other partners. 
The £3m pilot is in mid-deployment and it is expected that 350 net additional jobs 
will be supported across 52 firms generating £12m net additional GVA. The 
Combined Authority hopes to follow the initial pilot with an iterated and scaled-up 
fund to support innovation more broadly across the City Region. The request to 
Government is for £20m follow-on investment to scale-up the fund and its impact. 
This could create approximately 2,250 jobs, support 350 firms and generate £80m in 
net additional GVA. This will significantly increase the capability and resilience of the 
innovation ecosystem, alongside enhancing the private sector investment profile of 
many LCR firms.  

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Growth Platform, Local Enterprise 
Partnership (both through direct delivery and the Innovation Board). 

Request from HM Government 

£20m follow-on investment to scale-up the £3m locally-funded pilot. (£10m also 
assumed private match at the project level). 

Strategic Case 

Innovation is central to the City Region’s Local industrial Strategy (LIS). This identifies 
several transformational opportunities for our economy and outlines a clear role for 
business innovation in responding to them. The Combined Authority’s focus on 
innovation has heightened since the pandemic. Encouraging and enabling the City 

Page 295



76 

Region’s SMEs to innovate will help to support a quicker, stronger and more 
sustainable recovery and enhance the resilience of our business base.  

The pandemic presents numerous health, social and economic challenges. At the 
same time, the economic and societal change arising through the crisis is creating 
new opportunities for innovative companies to re-orientate their business models, 
products, services and processes to respond to emerging or rapidly changing 
markets. The pandemic has heightened many of the barriers that already act to 
constrain some types of business innovation activity. There is now a risk that 
businesses will not be able or willing to respond to emerging opportunities for 
innovation due to a loss of:  

• Appetite: trading conditions remain uncertain following a protracted period of
interruption. Business appetite for risk is likely to be lower and we expect many
to be reluctant to commit working capital or increase borrowing to pursue
inherently risky innovation projects.

• Capacity: many businesses are experiencing capacity constraints due to staff
absence (either through furlough or sick leave) or lower worker productivity
(e.g. as staff adjust to non-business as usual roles or new operating models).
Constrained capacity is likely to dampen appetite to take on new projects.

• Resources: the erosion of business capital through the crisis will make it difficult
for businesses to self-finance innovation; many will have increased borrowing
and seen a sharp decline in revenue. Among the SMEs that have not lost trade,
many will face unexpected costs. At the same time, lenders and investors are
withdrawing. Even where firms have appetite and capacity for innovation, it
may be difficult to fund.

Together these factors create an environment that is not conducive to business 
innovation. Intervention is needed to encourage and enable businesses to develop 
and implement innovation projects to capitalise on current opportunities.  

Government intervention has so far focused on measures to reduce job losses and 
business closures during the interruption phase and the limited innovation focused 
funds that are available (e.g. Innovate UK) have been heavily oversubscribed.  

The CA has set up the Future Innovation Fund pilot to encourage and enable 
businesses to develop and implement innovation projects. There is scope for the pilot 
fund to be scaled-up to create a significant City Region structure that supports re-
orientation and stimulates innovation at scale. 

Page 296



77 

Financial Case 

Based on the experiences of the pilot thus far, we expect £10m private match at the 
project level should it be scaled up to £20m. The initial pilot investment of £3m was 
secured through re-purposing existing Strategic Investment Fund resources. The 
intention is to issue three calls for proposals (each at £1m) over the course of 5 months 
through to November 2020. The first call launched on 12 June 2020. 

Running costs for the fund are modest as it is being delivered in partnership with 
Growth Platform with the Combined Authority supporting the back office functions. 
Minor deductions from the fund’s capital are being made to cover costs of the 
independent industry assessors but we expect the vast majority of the £3m to be 
invested into the City Region’s companies. Any scaled-up fund would potentially 
need a small running overhead cost allocation.  

Economic Case 

The broad outcomes will be a marked increase in the number of firms innovating to 
adapt their business models, meaning that they are better positioned to grow and 
respond to opportunities that meet the City Region’s Local Industrial Strategy 
objectives.  

The exact scale and nature of the fund’s impact depends to a large extent on the 
characteristics of the demand that seen from businesses, the number of investments 
the fund makes and the nature of the projects. These factors are changing as lessons 
are learnt, and intervention is continuously optimised (learning is being analysed with 
assistance from a range of stakeholders including Nesta). Approximating impact 
utilising a benchmark investment size of £45,000 (for larger grants) indicates that the 
current locally funded pilot will generate 350 net additional jobs, across 52 firms and 
will generate £12m net additional GVA, within 6 months of full deployment in Q4 
2020. This impact is expected to increase through iteration of the fund, with a scale 
up £20m generating approximately 2,250 Full Time Equivalent jobs in the City 
Region, supporting 350 firms and £80m in net additional GVA. This will achieve a BCR 
of 4.0. Many of these jobs are expected to be high value, skilled roles given 
innovation nature of focus. 

Page 297



78 

Commercial Case 

The main dependency in the commercial case is the need to understand the nature 
and scale of demand that exists. The modelling in the economic case is supported by 
significant demand from first wave of the pilot - 236 applications requesting £15.6m 
to deliver total project value of £23.9m. This significant interest was secured despite 
limited promotion, tight turnaround timelines for application submissions and a 
tightly defined specification which purely focused on projects which could feasibly 
deliver rapid commercialisation (under 6 months). This strongly illustrates that it is, 
and will continue to be, heavily oversubscribed.  

Furthermore, anecdotal evidence from Growth Platform, LCR Sector Boards and 
direct business input also suggests there is currently significant unmet demand for 
innovation funding. For example, Innovate UK’s covid-19 business led innovation 
competition attracted more than 8,600 applications, more than all Innovate UK’s 
2019/20 competitions combined.  

Management Case 

The fund will be delivered by Growth Platform in collaboration with the Combined 
Authority, Local Growth Hubs and other local partners. The Combined Authority will 
provide back office administration including claims, payment and monitoring. The 
Growth Platform have recruited a diverse pool of independent assessors for grant 
applications with commercial expertise in various fields related to the competition 
scope. There is sufficient capacity to scale up the fund’s activities to deliver 
subsequent and larger calls. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The pilot is being delivered in a phased model to gauge demand/need and ensure 
an agile delivery approach. It will continue with the release of a second wave in 
August and September. It Is expected that pilot fund £3m will be fully dispersed by 
late September/early October. The Combined Authority are currently streamlining 
processes for and will be ready to operationalise a scaled £20m fund almost 
immediately. 

Page 298



79 

5. Open Source Payments Infrastructure

In 2018, the then Chancellor Philip Hammond advocated open source, blockchain 
technology to deliver value transfer in local economies globally and achieve inclusive 
innovation and productivity (Financial Times). 

Multinational online marketplace intermediaries such as Amazon and Deliveroo are 
proliferating rapidly. Whilst these intermediaries allow SMEs and consumers to 
transact, their extractive commission-based business models are failing to create, 
distribute and retain value in local economies. The COVID-19 pandemic has 
accelerated shifts to online consumption to the detriment of bricks-and-mortar retail 
and local communities. This project invests in the development of open source, 
blockchain platforms that allow frictionless transactions between SMEs and 
consumers. These in turn enable new methods of value transfer that distribute and 
retain value within local economies. Venture capital investors such as NPIF are unable 
or unwilling to invest due to the longer-term and less commercial nature of the 
proposition so public intervention is required to unlock access to this market.  

The project would position the City Region as a test bed for developing these 
technologies, attracting new talent and entrepreneurs to help create the inclusive 
economic vision laid out in the Local Industrial Strategy. It is estimated that by 2022, 
the intervention will generate an additional £12.5m in net GVA for the LCR, a NPV of 
£4m and a BCR of 12.5. Additionally, it will directly create more than 20 high value 
knowledge jobs and kick start at least 20 new companies.  

Stakeholders 

LCRCA, Spark Capital, Fuse Network Ltd, Peepl Ltd, LCR SMEs (food, retail, software, 
credit unions, grassroots sports, third sector). 

Request from HM Government 

£1m capital (with £1m co-investment from global venture capitalist, Spark Capital). 

Strategic Case 

UK retail and hospitality face significant challenges arising from the pandemic: 17.2m 
people in the UK will make permanent changes to their shopping habits (A&M) and 
McKinsey suggest a significant shift to online and local purchasing. Multinational 
marketplace platforms such as Uber, Deliveroo or Amazon bring convenience to 
consumers through web or mobile application-based services. Whilst SMEs can use 
these platforms to extend their market reach and acquire customers, the platforms 

Page 299



80 

are extractive, taking significant commission. The proliferation of these platforms has 
also led to decreased competition and monopolistic practices (e.g. Google $2.7bn 
EU fine for antitrust breach). Therefore, whilst arguably providing a quality service, 
the likes of Amazon and Deliveroo fail to create and share wealth within the very local 
economies from which they generate their profits. In addition, payment processors 
such as Mastercard, Visa and Worldpay further extract processing fees in individual 
transactions through these platforms.  

This project addresses this problem for SMEs and consumers by removing the need 
for extractive intermediaries. Fuse is developing an open source, distributed 
blockchain solution which avoids the need for an intermediary. This allows SMEs and 
consumers to easily transact with each other but crucially retain and distribute wealth 
in their local community. This allows a secure, transparent, sustainable and inclusive 
economic model (by design).  

The solution will be achieved through a £2m project as follows: 
1. An £800k open source innovation fund (the “Fund”) will be open to SMEs

across the City Region to build open source applications as part of a ‘super
app’ ecosystem, allowing SMEs to engage in new digital infrastructure to help
them through recovery. The Fund will stimulate development of novel
approaches to local retail, health & wellbeing and food/ grocery consumption,
all building on the existing shared Fuse software infrastructure. SMEs benefit
from decreased marketing & sales/technology costs, as any open source
infrastructure built in the LCR can be shared amongst other participants in the
LCR’s ‘super app’.

2. £1.2m will be used to build and improve the underlying infrastructure of the
entire Fuse Network. This will include a smart contract store, allowing SMEs to
benefit from programmable money solutions that previously would have cost
£’000s to implement, as well as needing £’000s to ensure security of these
financial transactions. The smart contract solutions built, will lend itself to
supporting local finance institutions globally, such as credit unions, building
societies or local banks, democratising access to finance.

This project aligns to the Local Industrial Strategy’s objectives for a truly inclusive 
economy, benefitting innovators and a wide range of SMEs across sectors:  

• Position the City Region as a key geography for the commercialisation of open
source, blockchain technologies, attracting high quality tech talent.

• Enable a wide range of SMEs to capture new market share and create new,
unexpected forms of value tied to sustainable and local business practices.

• Attract inward investment across the City Region from international blockchain
industry investors (as at 7 July, the market cap of the blockchain industry is
$269,543,526,054).

Page 300



81 

Financial Case 

The £1m investment represents a 15% equity stake in Fuse Network Ltd. Of the £2m 
total project cost (i) £800k will be allocated to the Fund for LCR-based SMEs to build 
open source solutions; and (ii) £1.2m will be invested in Fuse to scale the network 
infrastructure and build the tools for entrepreneurs to provide a smooth and secure 
payment experience at the lowest rates possible. Based on current and forecasted 
market dynamics, capital gains of 10x-30x returns are anticipated within 5 years. The 
sources of funding are £1m from the Combined Authority and a £1m follow-on 
investment from Spark Capital, a US-based venture capitalist. The market-making 
nature of this investment renders it unsuitable for a BBB equity fund.  

Economic Case 

Lowering the cost of transactions to $0.01 per transaction, not dependent on volume, 
creates a model where more value will circulate within communities, instead of going 
to intermediaries/payment providers. This will remove existing costs and provide a 
better model for entrepreneurs that can focus on building sustainable business 
models, instead of dealing with expensive integrations and intermediaries. Fuse 
anticipates this shared infrastructure will service 1m transactions per day within 3 
years. 

It is estimated that by 2022, the intervention will generate an additional £12.5m in 
net GVA for the LCR, an NPV of £4m and a BCR of 12.5. Additionally, it will create 
more than 20 high value knowledge-intensive jobs and kick start at least 20 new 
companies.  
It should be noted though that the main economic impacts will occur when ideas have 
progressed to market and the SMEs generate turnover. Therefore, the Fuse Network 
investment appraisal should consider the wider economic and social benefits linked 
to:  

• Economic value associated with reduced technology/ digital payment costs for
SMEs;

• Proliferation of innovative economic models based on a new technological
paradigm;

• Benefits to community cohesion; shared digital infrastructure fosters new ways
of thinking about SME collaboration;

• The Fund can steer innovations to align to the Build Back Better agenda,
ensuring inclusivity and sustainability are at the core of projects we fund.

Within 5 years, we envisage having created a world-class blockchain ecosystem that 
creates 100 new businesses and 2,000 jobs.  

Page 301



82 

Commercial Case 

Networks built with Fuse are already in operation in Berlin, Tel Aviv, Seville, Sao 
Paulo, and elsewhere. This facilitates new ways for organisations and residents to do 
business, with simple, low friction mobile payments. The Combined Authority would 
effectively own a stake in all international projects that use the Fuse Network’s 
infrastructure. Fuse’s potential to aid in recovery, and its existing global use cases are 
clear and capital returns are expected. 

Management Case 

Networks built with Fuse are already in operation in Berlin, Tel Aviv, Seville, Sao 
Paulo, and elsewhere. This facilitates new ways for organisations and residents to do 
business, with simple, low friction mobile payments. The Combined Authority would 
effectively own a stake in all international projects that use the Fuse Network’s 
infrastructure. Fuse’s potential to aid in recovery, and its existing global use cases are 
clear and capital returns are expected. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The project is deliverable within 4-6 months of confirmation of funding. 

Page 302



83 

6. Kindred social investment vehicle

Kindred will be an innovative, locally owned vehicle designed to grow the Socially 
Trading Organisation (STO) sector in the Liverpool City Region (LCR). There is a clear 
and important role for the STO sector in helping to achieve a fairer and more inclusive 
economy in the LCR (the importance of which has been enhanced given the 
disproportionate impacts of COVID-19 in the City Region) but the sector’s growth 
and role is being constrained by a lack of suitable finance and support services. The 
Combined Authority has invested in developing a new approach to supporting the 
City Region’s STOs and are seeking to establish a locally owned investment and 
support vehicle that will:  

• Ensure appropriate funding is available to STOs at different stages in their life
cycle;

• Deliver campaigns to initiate and grow peer networks to encourage and help
STOs to grow;

• Enable and improve community asset transfers between the public and STO
sectors.

STOs have indicated that they need long-term, sustainable and patient finance. This 
means that in order to meet the sector’s needs, the investment vehicle needs to 
provide stability and sustained investment and support for the long-term. In Kindred’s 
first 20 years, the fund could disburse at least £13.5m to 640 STOs, and more with 
private leverage. This would generate social and economic value in excess of £60m, 
creating a social and economic return of £6 for every £1 invested.  

Stakeholders 

LCRCA, consortium led by Power to Change, Socially Trading Organisations in LCR. 

Request from HM Government 

Initial £5m capital and £0.5m revenue. (£1m co-funding already secured from Power 
to Change). Further £8m follow-on funding (capital). 

Strategic Case 

The benefits of LCR’s strong economic progress over recent years have not been felt 
equally across the City Region. The need to address a range of persistent socio-
economic challenges and address growing health, wealth and wellbeing inequality is 
widely acknowledged. These priorities are reflected in the clear focus on an inclusive 
economy within the City Region’s Local Industrial Strategy. The COVID-19 pandemic 
could further entrench many of the City Region’s challenges and there is a risk that 

Page 303



84 

inequality will worsen. This means that our aspiration to achieve an inclusive economy 
is now even more important.  

STOs play an important role in LCR’s communities and economy; they often tackle 
the most critical issues of jobs, justice & equality, education, environment, health & 
wellbeing, housing, community and democracy. As they operate in more deprived 
areas they fill the gaps where markets fail and are active in the communities facing 
the most entrenched challenges. This means that STOs have a unique and important 
role to play in addressing local issues (including those essential to improving 
productivity) so that all of the City Region’s residents can benefit from prosperity. In 
short, a thriving STO sector will help us to deliver an inclusive economy.  

The sector’s financial status is precarious and this has worsened during the COVID-
19 pandemic. STOs are not well served by commercial providers of capital and 
support services:  

3. mainstream finance provision is not tailored or flexible enough for STOs and
so many are unable to access the right finance and support at the right time.

4. The sector needs hands on and peer-to-peer support, not traditional finance.
5. STOs are not well served by mainstream advice and support services.

The lack of suitable finance and support services is constraining the sector’s growth 
and limiting the role of STOs in delivering our inclusive economy aspirations. This 
represents a missed opportunity for the City Region; without the STO sector our 
access to and understanding of the communities who stand to benefit most from an 
inclusive economy will be sub-optimal.  

The Combined Authority has developed a new approach to supporting the City 
Region’s STOs. Kindred will provide a locally owned investment and support vehicle 
that will:  

6. Pool money from national and local funders and invest this into STOs at
different stages in their life cycle using repayable and non-repayable finance;

7. Deliver place-based campaigns to initiate and grow peer networks, and
collaborating communities to stimulate and accelerate the growth of STOs;
and

8. Improve the practice and delivery of community asset transfers and ownership
between the public sector and the STO sector.

Page 304



85 

Financial Case 

STOs have identified a clear need for long-term, patient finance that is not offered by 
mainstream markets. This type of finance does not create attractive commercial 
returns; the sub-optimal returns and longer pay-back period are amongst the reasons 
that the market does not provide adequate suitable finance for STOs.  

Repayable assistance offers the end user a 0% interest financial support package and 
like any investment vehicle, we would expect a proportion of bad debt. Although we 
anticipate some returns to fund, it will need to be replenished periodically to sustain 
investment over a longer timeframe. £14.5million funding contributions would sustain 
investment activity over a 20-year period.  

Pending confirmation of devolved funds, Power to Change has committed to 
providing a £1m contribution for a £5.5m commitment. This may be pro-rated subject 
to additional funding secured. The LCRCA is looking for HM Government to commit 
a further £8m to the fund to allow it to provide stable and sustained support to the 
sector and the long-term, patient finance the sector needs.  

Economic Case 

The social and economic value that the fund creates and the overall return on 
investment will depend on the characteristics of the portfolio of investments made 
(especially the appetite for risk, social aims of the investee STOs and their lifecycle 
stage) as well as wider economic performance and social conditions.  

We expect Kindred to support social and economic value in the Liverpool City 
Region. This will arise firstly through the role that the fund will play in enabling STOs 
to continue their important work in our communities and the direct impact of the 
sector’s activity on a range of social and economic challenges. There are a range of 
wider economic and social benefits linked to:  

• Economic value associated with employment and volunteering within STOs;
• Health and wellbeing benefits associated with the sector;
• Supporting people into education and training;
• Reducing crime and reoffending rates;
• Benefits to community cohesion and environmental benefits.

The financial model for the fund projects that in its first 20 years Kindred could 
disburse £14.5m to 640 STOs (of which 300 will be new starts). This would generate 
social and economic value in excess of £60m, creating a social and economic return 
of £6 for every £1 invested. This will produce 1,100 jobs and achieves a BCR of 4.4. 

Page 305



86 

Commercial Case 

The approach to establishing and operating Kindred builds on successful precedents 
in the City Region and lessons learnt from similar projects. The Combined Authority 
has accepted the principle that Kindred requires its own legal personality in order to 
be seen as politically neutral and operating in long term interests of STOs. Kindred 
will be set up as a community interest company (CIC) limited by guarantee. The 
projected scale of the fund is informed by an evidence base which demonstrates 
unmet demand for finance from LCR’s STOs of circa £35m. 

Management Case 

The project benefits from significant experience of delivering similar successful 
ventures at smaller scale. Power to Change are acting as the interim project sponsor. 
A CIC limited by guarantee is the proposed legal form for Kindred with a strong 
cooperative governance structure that involves LCR STOs, consistent with the “by the 
community for the community” ethos.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

Mobilising Kindred as an operational CIC will be ready for a ‘soft launch’ with interim 
governance arrangements in Autumn 2020, with a permanent board and resources in 
place within 12 months. 

Page 306



87 

7. Digital Supply Chain Platform

COVID-19 has disrupted global supply chains and is forcing businesses to rethink the 
relationship between cost and supply chain resilience. This is already resulting in a 
shift towards national as opposed to international suppliers. There is an opportunity 
to develop embedded local supply chains across the Liverpool City Region which 
would make it easier for primes to find local suppliers (minimising supply chain 
disruption), and for SMEs to increase their visibility to primes and each other. Indeed, 
this is a longstanding need identified through extensive business consultation 
undertaken both prior to COVID-19 and during the pandemic. It can be delivered 
through a digital supply chain platform, which enables businesses to easily identify 
new, suitable local suppliers as they make changes to their supply chains. This will 
support more local SMEs, capturing more wealth locally and ultimately increasing 
local employment. No individual business is likely to pay for such a platform, which, 
once in place, will benefit the whole business community and create positive 
externalities. For every 50 local businesses successfully utilising the platform to 
connect into local supply chains, it is estimated that 200 net additional jobs could be 
created, and £13m in additional GVA per annum. 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Growth Platform, LEP Sector Boards, 
anchor institutions and other private sector networks. 

Request from HM Government 

£3m, which incorporates the development and facilitation of the platform over an 
initial 3-year period. 

Strategic Case 

Covid-19 has disrupted global supply chains and is forcing businesses to rethink the 
relationship between cost and supply chain resilience. This is already resulting in a 
shifting to national as opposed to international suppliers. There is an opportunity to 
develop embedded local supply chains across the Liverpool City Region which makes 
it easier for primes to find local suppliers (minimising supply chain disruption), and for 
SMEs to increase their visibility to primes and each other.  

Extensive feedback from the business community and LEP Sector Boards – both 
before and during the pandemic – suggests local supply chains in Liverpool City 
Region are historically weak and that businesses want to more effectively connect to 
the local supply base. These weaknesses are driven by limited information on 

Page 307



88 

potential local suppliers, and lower costs offered by global suppliers. As COVID-19 
shifts the emphasis from costs to resilience, there is an opportunity to strengthen local 
supply chains through improving awareness of local suppliers that previously may not 
have been able to compete on costs. Improved awareness could enable growth of 
local SME’s, capture more wealth locally, and create jobs. Local supply chains also 
have positive environmental impacts, especially when shifts are made from global 
suppliers.  

These benefits could be realised through improved infrastructure for supply chain 
management delivered via a digital platform, which connects local businesses with 
potential customers and suppliers. The existence of market failures provides the 
rationale for public sector investment in such a platform. These failures are:  

Information failure: businesses and anchor institutions have a limited knowledge of 
local suppliers and there are limited incentives to use them.  

Public good externalities: technology-enabled supply-chain infrastructure can be 
considered a quasi-public good. To be effective all businesses should be able to use 
and benefit from the platform. This removes the incentive for any one organisation to 
make the upfront investment in the infrastructure required.  

This online platform will be an evolving model which will: 

• Act as a virtual supply base directory, allowing business to showcase and post
a description of their activities, services and products. Other businesses that
work with them or use their services will have the facility to post comments and
therefore expand profile. Suppliers will be ordered systematically, by service
and sector to enable a high degree of accessibility for those seeking services.
This will be the principal function of the platform.

• Allow anchor institutions to connect with businesses. It will also allow the
anchors to have a better understanding of the local supply base and therefore
increase levels of local procurement (key to community wealth building).

9. Create a networking mechanism that allows an increasing number of cross
sector businesses to interact, work together, swap experiences and continue
to support one another. Again, through extensive consultation both prior to
and during the pandemic, businesses have stated the need for more effective
networks to stimulate knowledge sharing and spill-overs. Functionality will be
built into the platform to allow this as a secondary purpose.

Page 308



89 

Financial Case 

There is a strong financial case for taking the project forward given the importance in 
supporting our local business base access opportunities as it adjusts and re-orients 
within a post COVID-19 environment, together with the relatively low running costs, 
anticipated at £1m per year. During this initial three-year period, it is envisaged the 
platform will attract sponsorship revenues from corporate partners, so that it becomes 
self-sustaining and revenue based. This will be one of the outcomes from a wider 
work-stream that engages with the City Region’s larger businesses and key anchor 
institutions, supporting them in nurturing their supply chains in ways that reduces 
costs and gains competitive advantage for them. 

Economic Case 

The primary outcome of the Digital Supply Chain Platform will be to support more 
local procurement across the business base, therefore keeping more money and 
economic benefit within the City Region. In addition to providing direct jobs and GVA 
benefits, a secondary outcome will be to support cross-sector businesses networks.  

In terms of impact, there are over 2,000 medium and large businesses in the Liverpool 
City Region, each with large supply chains. MHCLG’s additionality guidance suggests 
composite multipliers of 1.45 at the regional level and 1.25 at the sub-regional level, 
indicating that some of the economic value from these supply chains occurs outside 
the City Region.  

For an average medium-sized business, bringing 20% of its supply chain into LCR 
could generate £210,000 in net GVA per annum and 4 net jobs. If the platform 
supported 50 of these businesses in doing this, it could generate 200 net jobs, £13m 
in net GVA per annum, and a BCR of 4.3. 

Commercial Case 

The requirement for better coordination amongst local supply chains has been made 
many times through business consultations. This suggests that demand for such a 
service is likely to be high, particularly with an increase in business challenges post 
COVID-19 and the damage the pandemic has inflicted on supply chains across all 
sectors. With a clear plan, buy in from large public and private organisations, 
moderate funding and a digital platform, significant gains can be achieved. We will 
bring together recipients of business support from a range of LCR programmes and 
offer them the opportunity to share their information on this common platform. It is 
also important to reach other businesses, many of whom may not have been part of 

Page 309



90 

funded programmes in the past. Therefore businesses will also be identified through 
existing networks, and together with a targeted communications campaign, we are 
confident that the platform will grow and thrive. 

Management Case 

The project benefits from building on current learning and experience of delivering a 
platform at a smaller scale (DCT Scale Up Programme). A procurement process will 
be undertaken by the LCRCA in conjunction with the Growth Platform, with the most 
suitable, experienced provider chosen who has experience in supply chain 
development, and who will be able to develop and facilitate the platform. There are 
a wide range of capable solution providers available.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

The procurement and mobilisation period for the platform would be expected to be 
approximately 6 months. 

Page 310



91 

8. Advanced Manufacturing Support Programme

Manufacturing is critical for employment, productivity and in meeting our strategic 
ambitions outlined in the Local Industrial Strategy. In the post-COVID-19 environment 
the sector will face urgent challenges around supply chain disruption, collapse in 
demand, and increased costs. Dedicated support will be necessary for re-purposing 
of current strategies and activities. There is also significant opportunity to transform 
or re-orientate from the inflection point of COVID-19 and the recent economic 
shutdown; for instance, manufacturing will be essential to delivering a sustainable 
industrial future, and will be a catalyst for economic restructuring. Its challenges and 
opportunities are particularly complex, requiring bespoke solutions.  

Our Advanced Manufacturing Support Programme will support businesses in 
developing these solutions. It will provide a single point of contact for support to 
enable selected businesses to increase productivity and quality while reducing cost, 
achieved by improving leadership & management capabilities and establishing best 
practice associated with world-class manufacturing. Serving the specific needs of LCR 
advanced manufacturers, it will provide mutually beneficial interventions to reflect 
demand drivers, changes in consumer behaviour, resilience and geo-political factors. 
The service will:  

• Be highly localized, building on established LCR strengths in Industrial Digital
Technologies (LCR 4.0/Made Smarter), clean growth and health innovation;
and

• Build stronger relationships between the business community and LCR’s
world-class innovation assets, facilitating effective knowledge and technology
exchange and commercialisation.

There are number of local institutions that are leaders in the advanced manufacturing 
space who will well-placed to deliver this. The programme could generate an 
estimated £30.5m of net GVA and 550 net jobs, as well as extensive wider impacts 
across the supply chains. This represents a BCR of 6.1.  

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Growth Platform, Local Enterprise 
Partnership (via the Making It Advanced Manufacturing Board), MTC, HEIs and FE 
Colleges, Industry.  

Request from HM Government 

£5m over 3 years for set-up and ongoing running and investment costs. 

Page 311



92 

Strategic Case 

LCR has a successful and growing manufacturing sector which is home to some 
nationally significant manufacturing companies – including Jaguar Land Rover, Astra 
Zeneca, Unilever, Pilkington and Alstom amongst others – and which boasts smart 
and industrial digitalization specialisms. The sector comprises 3,000 businesses, is a 
significant employer (50,000 people), and contributes £3.2bn to the City Region 
economy. Its productive nature makes it effective at creating and distributing wealth 
through manufacturing supply chains, generating significant social benefit. It is also 
critical to boosting export performance in the City Region, where presently just 7% 
of all businesses are involved in exporting activities. As the UK moves into a green 
led recovery and towards exit from the EU, a focus on production, wealth creation, 
exporting and developing sustainable industry will be essential.  

But there are challenges. Factors such as Brexit, the US-China trade war and changing 
consumer behaviour were driving unprecedented change in the sector. The drive for 
continual optimization and efficiency to improve competitiveness and enable growth 
has long been a feature of the sector. Productivity improvement is now a matter of 
survival rather than an enabler of growth as the sector will need to respond to 
challenges arising from COVID-19, which include: 

• Suppressed demand: this is affecting large parts of the manufacturing sector.
• Changing consumer behaviour: accelerating existing trends (e.g. sustainable

and ethical products, local sourcing etc).
• Need for operational change: social distancing measures and remote working

are causing manufacturers to examine their entire business models.
• Marketing: traditional routes to market for many manufacturers are significantly

compromised (e.g. trade shows and expos).
• Supply Chains: global supply chain disruption and increased costs in most tiers

and potential border delays threatening the use of Just In Time (JIT)
techniques.

There are opportunities too. The LCR advanced manufacturing sector’s demonstrable 
innovation capacity – highlighted through LCR 4.0, a nationally recognised 
manufacturing digital innovation programme – is well positioned to respond to the 
green recovery agenda, and this is enshrined as a key transformational opportunity in 
our Local Industrial Strategy. Post COVID-19 Brexit, re-shoring, vaccine production 
and health technologies all present opportunities, the latter being enhanced through 
the City Region’s specialisation in Infectious Disease, as identified in the 2016 
nationally recognised Science and Innovation Audit. Local manufacturing will need to 
change and adjust to capitalize on these opportunities. 

Page 312



93 

LCR has already started to address a lot of the challenges and is ahead of the curve 
on digitalisation as a driver of productivity improvement. Projects such as LCR 4.0 and 
the Manufacturing Technology Centre are helping to create a critical mass of activity 
but the pace and scale of change is not sufficient. The sector must undergo 
transformational change to address the challenges and seize opportunities. 
Intervention will be needed to overcome the information and coordination failures 
that will otherwise prevent timely transformational change. Without intervention, the 
speed and extent of the sector’s change, and its ability to fully capitalise on the 
differential strengths and opportunities in the City Region, will be limited by:  

• Lack of awareness and full understanding of drivers and case for change;
• Poor take up of appropriate specialist support provided commercially;
• Limited application and embedding of the management principles, practices

and techniques associated with world class manufacturing.
These factors will limit the sector’s response and ultimately threaten its survival. 

This Programme will identify and focus on the manufacturing businesses with 
potential to be globally competitive. It will facilitate transformational change in these 
businesses, enabling them to be at the forefront of a re-structured, green LCR 
economy. The Programme will:  

• Equip leadership with the awareness, skills and competence to instigate and
manage the scale of change needed;

• Encourage and enable business change and the adoption of principles and
practices associated with world class manufacturing (including continual
improvement to productivity and marketing);

• Work collaboratively to overcome skills shortages in the sector; and
• Strengthen the links between industry and local and national innovation assets.

The Programme will be delivered by a blend of one-to-one diagnostics, an accredited 
list of specialist providers, a leadership & mentoring scheme, financial support for 
capital equipment where there are commercial funding gaps, and a suite of online 
resources. It will signpost to regional and national programmes, and build an online 
peer to peer community to share advice, best practice and strengthen networks. 

Financial Case 

Given the clear strategic and economic benefits of taking an advanced manufacturing 
support function forward, combined with the relatively low running costs over 3 years, 
there is strong financial case. As with other similar projects, this will be revenue based. 
Consultancy and leadership support will be subsidised initially, and will be scaled 
down incrementally by year 3. By the end of the three years those costs will be met 
100% by participating companies, who will be confident of the high intensity, high 
impact support delivered. This will also ensure it is self-sustaining. 

Page 313



94 

Economic Case 

It is anticipated that within the first 3 years, 300 businesses will receive high intensity 
support, with a diagnostic support service also available for other firms. The outcomes 
of the programme will be significant. It will further drive up productivity and clustering 
of highly specialised manufacturing activity, increase survival levels within the sector, 
and support knowledge spill-overs through supply chains (not just within 
manufacturing but across other sectors too).  

These outcomes will translate into considerable impact, with the programme 
anticipated to generate an estimated £30.5m of net GVA and 550 net jobs over this 
timeframe, although this doesn’t account for wider impacts across the supply chains. 
This represents a BCR of 6.1.  

Commercial Case 

Evidence from across the City Region indicates that there will be a high and consistent 
level of demand. Consultation undertaken by the LEP’s Making It Advanced 
Manufacturing Board over recent years has articulated the specific business support 
needs within the sector, and surveys with local manufacturing firms has illustrated the 
particular business support needs which are reflected in this outline case. Many of 
these are unmet in the current support environment. The model is also replicable, 
and LCR could act as a pilot region as we are of a scale to gather data and monitor 
outputs with the expectation to roll out to other areas.  

Management Case 

A procurement process will be undertaken by Growth Platform in conjunction with 
the Combined Authority – and with advisory input from the LEP’s Making It 
Manufacturing Board. The most suitable, experienced provider with extensive 
experience in manufacturing and supply chains will be chosen, and will be able to 
develop and facilitate all aspects of the programme, providing targeted delivery. 
Growth Platform already has strong connections with a number of potential 
organisations who could be well placed to deliver.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

The functionality of the Programme is already fully mapped out. Therefore, following 
a procurement process, it could be ready to launch inside 6 months.  

Page 314



95 

9. The LCR Digital Connectivity project

The LCRCA shares the Government’s ambition to deliver gigabit-capable speeds 
across the UK by 2025. Improved digital infrastructure is a major public commitment 
for the LCR Metro Mayor, and one the Combined Authority is committed to deliver. 
Fewer than 2% of premises in the LCR have access to ultrafast connectivity. 
Significantly, it lags far behind the best performing digitally-connected cities 
internationally.  
The Liverpool City Region (LCR) Backhaul Network is a city regional network of high 
capacity fibre cabling that will connect several transatlantic cable landings, major 
economic assets (including the Hartree super computer) and reach into each of the 
six boroughs in LCR. It is intended to improve LCR fibre connectivity for long-term 
productivity improvements. Once operational, the network will stimulate the private 
sector to deliver local loops in areas that roll out would not otherwise extend to. This 
maximises the reach of improved digital connectivity and supports digital inclusion.  
It is evidenced that digital innovation and investment in technology is directly linked 
to economic growth (The Economic Impact of Full Fibre Infrastructure in 100 UK 
Towns and Cities: Regeneris, 2018 (the “Regeneris Report”) and as we enter the 
digital revolution LCR has an ambition to be leading from the front by providing a 
resilient backhaul network that will service many different end users including SMEs, 
public sector and future potential hyperscalers. The project has present benefit values 
of £380m, and forecasts a BCR of 17.4.  

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) and our member local 
authorities, highways authorities, future Joint Venture partner, use case innovators. 

Request from HM Government 

£21.85m total: 
• £10m to develop the backhaul network alongside the Combined Authority and

its chosen Joint Venture partner.
• £10m to deliver local loops in areas of deprivation, bridging the digital divide.
• £0.55m to include broadband connectivity & devices within the Housing First

provision.
• £1.3m for “Barrier Busting” across LCR, to enable digital infrastructure delivery

by Telcos.

Page 315



96 

Strategic Case 

As set out in the Regeneris Report, There is a strong evidence base which confirms 
that the availabiltiy of faster, better, more competitive digital connectivity services 
can enable businesses to increase sales and achieve productivity gains; attract inward 
investors; underpin high value technology clusters; and enable more effective and 
efficient delivery of better public services. There is a correlation between connectivity 
and city economic performance. Although infrastructure alone will not drive economic 
growth, poor infrastructure is enough to hinder it.  
Ultra-fast internet connectivity would allow towns to develop digital ecosystems. A 
digital ecosystem involves an interdependent group of enterprises, people and/or 
things that share standardised digital platforms for a mutually beneficial purpose, 
such as commercial gain, innovation or common interest.  
Digital ecosystems allow towns to offer an exciting new local economy that can open 
doors for start-up entrepreneurs and established businesses, offering with new 
employment opportunities for young people in one of the most important economic 
sectors of the 21st century. Following the impacts of COVID-19, digital ecosystems 
could equally play a vital role in the recovery of the retail, hospitality, tourism and 
leisure economies.  
There is a strong case for improvement to the LCR’s digital infrastructure. This is 
based on:  

• Continued upward trend in demand for data capacity by households and
businesses. Superfast coverage is no longer enough to match the ever-
growing data consumption demand, which is rising by c. 50% each year.
Technological developments like 5G for mobile require faster, greater capacity
fibre underground.

• The need to support innovative uses of data and fibre infrastructure such as
the trend towards businesses opting to rent fibre directly (dark fibre), rather
than go through Internet Service Provider.

• LCR’s aspiration in data centric sectors like high performance computing,
infectious disease control and culture means that the City Region will need the
best available infrastructure to contribute towards its comparative advantage.

Financial Case 

LCRCA’s indicative LCR Backhaul Network route plan is estimated by LCRCA to 
require a Joint Venture forecast financing requirement of between £20m to £30m to 
deliver. LCRCA will commit a maximum matched investment into the Joint Venture 
of £15m. 

Page 316



97 

Economic Case 

The evidence that full fibre connectivity delivers significant economic benefit is 
strong. The Regeneris Report, estimates this benefit to be c. £1bn in the LCR over a 
15-year period. This economic benefit is delivered by full fibre connectivity to both
businesses and households.
Businesses capture productivity improvements by being able to exploit new
processes and perform routine tasks more quickly. To put the difference between
superfast and ultrafast connectivity into context, with a 24 Mbps superfast connection,
downloading a 25MB file would take about 10 minutes, with ultrafast (fibre)
connectivity, the same file can be downloaded in 10 seconds.
Greater connectivity can also lead to more innovation opportunities, with firms
becoming capable of developing a wider range of products and services, while
accessing larger markets. The availability of full fibre will also benefit the City Region
by supporting its attractiveness as a place for 21st Century business and attracting
new inward investors.
Construction of the LCR Backhaul Network would generate an additional £380.7m of
economic benefits. Given the cost of developing the infrastructure, this would
represent an NPPV of £356.7m.
In addition implementation of the project is anticipated to create 260 FTE
construction jobs.

Commercial Case 

The commercial model is based on a Joint Venture being formed between LCRCA 
and the Successful Bidder to deliver and then operate and commercialise the LCR 
Backhaul Network across the LCR. Each party would take an equity stake in the Joint 
Venture entity. LCRCA’s current assumption is that LCRCA and the Successful Bidder 
will each own 50% of the Joint Venture entity.  
Financial returns (or losses) generated by the Joint Venture will be split pari passu 
between the Parties in line with their respective investments.  

Page 317



98 

Management Case 

Improved digital connectivity is a mayoral priority and has a dedicated Combined 
Authority portfolio. A delivery and management team within LCRCA has been 
identified to deliver the programme. The CA has retained KPMG, Analysis Mason, 
Freeths and CJ Founds Associates to provide commercial, market, legal and technical 
advice respectively.  
Member local authorities are crucial to both the programme’s and the Project’s 
success. LCRCA holds a monthly working group with nominated officers from each 
local authority, has briefed Growth Directors and Chief Executives and will regularly 
report progress / escalate issues.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

Commence design and build LCR Backhaul Network in August 2020.The full 
implementation of the project is anticipated to take up to 3 years, however benefits 
will begin to accrue in phases once sections of the network are completed. Initial 
delivery is anticipated in 2021. 

Page 318



99 

10. Halsnead Garden Village - Employment Development

Halsnead Garden Village is former Green Belt land that is identified in the Knowsley 
Local Plan for providing 1,600 homes, at land close to the junction of M57/M62. 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority has previously funded a £12m access 
package to enable the residential opportunity, which is now being delivered.  

There is the opportunity to deliver the next phase of the Garden Village, which will 
comprise a country park, and 22.5 ha of warehouse/distribution land. Due to the site’s 
prime location on the motorway network in relation to the Port of Liverpool, Garston 
Docks and the wider logistics network, the site forms a part of the Liverpool City 
Region SuperPort concept.  

The employment opportunity is constrained by a lack of utilities connection, the land 
being separated from the existing built-up area by the M57/M62 and with limited 
options for connectivity. As a result of these abnormal utilities costs, a funding viability 
gap of £4m has been identified in order to deliver the site and associated 
employment.  
An investment of £4m will unlock £76m of private investment and create 454 jobs 
and 76,900 sqm of commercial space. 

Stakeholders 

Tritax Symmetry, Knowsley MBC, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Request from HM Government 

Funding Request: £4m to address abnormal utilities remediation. The total project 
cost is £80.4m. 

Strategic Case 

Delivering a low carbon SuperPort of international status has been identified by 
Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) as one the key sectors that 
have potential to create significant numbers of jobs and economic opportunities. 
Studies supporting the SuperPort strategy have identified a need for warehousing 
and available land for development that is suitable for logistics operations.  
Even before the COVID-19 crisis, there was already a growing demand for large scale 
logistics/ distribution warehouses nationally and agents reported that there a limited 
supply of such sites across Liverpool City Region. The 2018 Liverpool City Region 
Strategic Housing and Employment Land Market Assessment (SHELMA) has 
identified a shortfall of 397 ha of B8 development by 2037 and opportunities for 

Page 319



100 

strategically located sites of significant scale are limited. The resilience of the on-line 
retail sector since the COVID-19 crisis and increasing customer expectations for same 
or next-day delivery and expected to continue to drive demand for large scale units 
in locations with good access to the port and to the motorway network  

Financial Case 

The project will cost £80,400,000 and will be financed by the developer Tritax 
Symmetry. A full development appraisal has been created by the developer. The 
developer will assume development cost risk in all regards.  
As a result of the abnormal costs of utilities connections, a viability gap of £4m has 
been identified for the project. 

Economic Case 

The project will create 76,900 sq m of initial net employment floorspace with 
improved viability for surrounding third party development.  
The project is anticipated to create 454 net jobs and a present value of benefits of 
£102.5m. A BCR of 25.6 has been calculated. 

Commercial Case 

The site is strategically very well located and sits adjacent the M57/M62 Junction. 
The M57 provides a direct strategic route to the Port of Liverpool, the M62 provides 
a direct link through Cheshire, Greater Manchester and Yorkshire and nationally via 
the M6. The area of search is well connected to surrounding local populations in 
Tarbock, Belle Vale, Whiston, Huyton and Prescot, capturing the strength of the 
labour force catchment. The land to the north of the junction serves the local industrial 
market which will likely be the market goods at the site would serve. 
Enabling works include provision of fresh and foul water connectivity and energy 
connectivity between the site and existing connections located to the north and west 
of the site. A significant area of land to the south-east of the employment site would 
be developed as flood attenuation and Pre-development work has been undertaken 
by logistics & distribution operators Tritax Symmetry who have an interest in the site, 
and provision has been made in development plans for substation infrastructure that 
would open up adjacent third-party land holdings to future development.  
It is the site of the former Cronton Colliery and is currently a vacant brownfield site. 
Planning is due to be submitted in Summer 2020 and delivery could start immediately 
following this.  
Development can begin during 2020. First 50% of benefits to be achieved by 2021/22 
with full build-out completed by 2026/27  

Page 320



101 

Management Case 

The project will be delivered by Tritax Symmetry, a major developer of industrial 
space  
Tritax Symmetry is a leading UK industrial and logistics developer, with net assets of 
approximately £2.5bn. It has agreed options/conditional sale agreements on a key 
allocated employment site at Huyton at J6 of the M62 Motorway. 
Tritax will act as the developer and subject to the viability gap funding will own the 
development risk for the project. A full development appraisal has been submitted. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

Estimated start on site: <12 months 

Page 321



102 

11. National Packaging Innovation Centre (NPIC)

Government policies are leading to a drive to reduce the environmental impact of 
packaging. Around 80m tonnes of plastic packaging are produced globally each year 
and is expected to triple by 2050. Alongside this, retail and consumer markets are 
evolving, leading to a demand for higher-value packaging materials, formats, 
technologies and services. The NPIC will enable the UK to anchor itself in the global 
packaging market and capitalise on the various opportunities that disruption in the 
industry now presents.  

The Combined Authority is working with Unilever Plc, the Centre for Process 
Innovation and Wirral Borough Council to develop plans for the UK’s National 
Packaging Innovation Centre (NPIC), a centre for sustainable packaging research and 
accelerated commercialisation at Port Sunlight, in Wirral, close to one of Unilever’s 
global R&D facilities and benefiting from access to the City Region’s vibrant 
innovation ecosystem and research facilities such as the Hartree Centre.  

The intention is to create an internationally significant, open-access, innovation centre 
to:  

• Provide access to industrially relevant capabilities and expertise for packaging
innovation, development and demonstration

• Facilitate collaboration across current and future packaging supply and value
chains

• Catalyse an eco-system for growth and productivity through opportunities
presented by disruptive and market-creating innovation and its
commercialisation.

This proposal is underpinned by the support and commitment of Unilever and its 
world class R&D capabilities at Port Sunlight. Other companies engaged in the 
project who are supportive of the business case include AstraZeneca, Tesco, Trakrap, 
Cuantec, PragmatIC Printing and Sherkin Technologies.  

It is estimated that NPIC will enable the UK to anchor and then double the current 
UK global sustainable packaging market from £11bn to £22bn by 2030, by reducing 
the volume of wasted packaging material while increasing the value-added. This will 
result in a growth in global market share from 1.6% to 3.2%. Alongside 12,000 jobs 
created, present value of benefits of £620m and a BCR of 31.0 has been calculated. 

Stakeholders 

Unilever Plc, Centre for Process Innovation, Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority, Wirral Council. 

Page 322



103 

Request from HM Government 

£20m capital and revenue over five years. This will leverage at least an additional 
£40m in private sector contributions. 

Strategic Case 

The Combined Authority welcomes this Government’s commitment to protecting and 
restoring our natural environment and reducing the environmental impact of 
packaging. The NPIC presents a unique opportunity to make a major contribution to 
this Government’s environmental agenda, whilst making the most of the UK’s 
innovation potential and increasing R&D and innovation related expenditure.  

NPIC is a nationally significant project that will enable UK leadership of a global 
packaging market that is currently undergoing radical disruption. The packaging 
sector currently generates $900bn in annual revenues worldwide and is on track to 
keep growing at a rate of 3.1% annually from now until 2022 (McKinsey). The UK 
packaging manufacturing industry has annual sales of around £11bn (the Packaging 
Federation). There is an opportunity for the UK to access a larger share of the global 
market through leadership in addressing:  

• A drive to reduce the environmental impact of packaging. Around 80m tonnes
of plastic packaging are produced globally each year; this is expected to triple
by 2050.

• A need for higher-value packaging materials, formats, technologies and
services. Online purchasing continues to increase its share of revenue from
consumer-packaged goods and new concepts, such as ‘Amazon Go’ are
expected to scale and disrupt, whilst the takeaway delivery market continues
to grow and is expected to be worth circa £5bn by 2022.

• Demand for smart packaging to support increased product personalisation.
Growing middle classes with greater wealth and online voice is driving demand
for faster, securer, delivery of better, more personalised product experiences.

Intervention will be needed to facilitate and enable this change and to ensure access 
to industrially relevant capabilities. This NPIC would deliver a range of important 
benefits to the LCR and wider UK, including:  

• Boosting market growth through innovation and R&D activity.
• Facilitating public– Private co-investment. This proposal is underpinned by the

support and commitment of Unilever and its world class R&D capabilities.
Other companies engaged are representative of the wider supply chain – e.g.
AstraZeneca, Croda, PragmatIC, TrakRap, Pragmatic Printing and Sherkin.

Page 323



104 

• Aligning to existing programmes. The project will complement the successful
“Materials Innovation Factory”, a partnership between Unilever and University
of Liverpool. It will also link closely to the Smart Sustainable Plastics Packaging
(SSPP) programme under the Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund.

Alongside the potential role of NPIC in levelling up LCR’s economic and innovation 
performance, there are several drivers which make LCR an optimal location for NPIC: 

• Access and proximity to unique world class packaging facilities, capabilities
and expertise.

• Access to a vibrant innovation ecosystem. Access to partner research facilities
including the Hartree Centre (STFC), University of Liverpool (incl. Materials
Innovation Factory, Virtual Engineering Centre) and University of Manchester
(Royce Institute).

Financial Case 

The intention is for the Centre to reach sustainable revenues by the end of year five. 
This will require an initial investment of £60m. The majority of this (£40m) will come 
from the industry (led by Unilever). The project’s financial profile is based on 
modelling of NPIC activities to provide the best balance between a fast start for the 
programme and the need to ensure robust prioritisation of areas of capability 
investment and stakeholder engagement.  

There is good scope within the NPIC programme to scale and/or adjust the phasing 
of activity as i) existing operational R&D facilities could be used to enable some 
project activity, and, ii) the current business case assumes an early focus on plastic 
and consumer markets; but programmes serving other materials and markets could 
be accelerated.  

Economic Case 

It is difficult to predict the precise scale of the opportunity as much will depend on 
UK and global policy (including trade, waste, environmental). However, it is estimated 
that NPIC will enable the UK to anchor and then double the current UK global 
packaging market from £11bn to £22bn by 2030. This will result in a growth in global 
market share from 1.6% to 3.2%.  

Page 324



105 

The full benefit of the NPIC extends beyond its effect on global market share. The 
assessment of impact captures a range of benefit types, including:  

• Uplift in R&D and innovation projects
• New supply chain partnership
• New higher value business models
• New recycling technologies
• Reduced waste and environmental impact
• Reduced cost of waste management
• Increase in skilled UK jobs and UK manufacturing base.

It has calculated that 12,000 jobs would be created, with present value benefits of 
£620m. 

A Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) 31.0 has been calculated for the NPIC project based on 
employment outputs. This BCR would increase when taking account of environmental 
benefits and fiscal benefits from reducing the public sector cost of waste 
management, which stands at £4bn p.a. for England alone. 

Commercial Case 

The centre model will build on existing best practice. CPI are exploring a public-
private partnership model attracting revenues from Collaborative R&D grants and 
commercial contracts in addition to initial capex injections. The proposal is already 
de-risked through Tier 1 commitment.  

More broadly, there will be access to appropriate levels of private funds as evidenced 
by the following – Sky Ocean Ventures (VC fund £25m over 5 years), the Alliance to 
Reduce Plastic Waste (industrial consortium - $1.5bn over the next 5 years) and the 
Circular Economy Investment Fund (£18m, Scotland). Significant collaborative R&D 
grant opportunities will come via ISCF (Smart, Sustainable Plastic Packaging and 
Made Smarter). Other possible sources will be explored (e.g. future shared prosperity 
funds or equivalent, Strength in Places, other Innovate UK CRD).  

Page 325



106 

Management Case 

Partnership and Delivery: NPIC is proposed to be delivered in close partnership with 
industry (Unilever as initial strategic partner), the Combined Authority and CPI. It is 
expected that the Combined Authority would invest in NPIC with a view to derive 
significant economic opportunities and impact for the region and will explore further 
strategic investments to grow a wider eco-system around this capability. It is 
proposed that CPI manage and deliver the Centre, applying its best practice and 
experience gained from establishing a number of national innovation centres such as 
the National Formulation Centre and the Medicines Manufacturing Innovation 
Centre, all in partnership with the public and private sectors and academia.  

Deployment and Scalability: A fast-start project (within FY 2020/21) would be 
desirable and feasible for the project partners. The NW facility will build on existing 
infrastructure, minimising the need for new buildings.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

With funding, the partnership can launch operations in circa six months. 

Page 326



107 

12. Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine (LSTM) Capacity Development

The Coronavirus pandemic has caused a major global economic shock and public 
health crisis. The pandemic has highlighted the risks and challenges that as yet 
unknown emerging pathogens can impose on every aspect of modern life. It is widely 
acknowledged that most nations were not adequately prepared for the current 
pandemic and as a result, the global response has been slower that it would ideally 
have been. This is in part related Infectious Disease Interventions (IDI) market shifting 
to a high volume / low margin commodity format several decades ago. This has 
disrupted R&D pipelines and deskilled the industrial base, in turn reducing the ability 
of the sector globally to respond to the current crisis. Investment is now needed to 
refocus the sector in developing new products, respond to skills shortages and ensure 
adequate facilities and infrastructure for the sector.  
LCRCA is working with local business, Higher Education providers and the NHS to 
provide a National Infectious Disease Research & Development (R&D) Ecosystem in 
the North West that builds on the recognised regional strength in this area and 
provides improved national and international resilience to diagnose, prevent and 
treat infectious disease.  
This project can form a central part of the UK’s response to the global sector’s 
challenges by providing a capacity development centre, expanded pathogen 
containment and experimentation facilities and a state of the art infection R&D 
contract research facility.  
The Combined Authority requests £3m for phase 1 and a further £80m over 5 years. 
Phase 1 will deliver a BCR of 16.3, with a present value of benefits of £49m. 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool School of Tropical Medicine (which hosts the recently awarded SIP 
Infectious Disease Programme in Partnership with the AMRC, Evotec, Royal Liverpool 
NHS Trust, Unilever and the University of Liverpool), Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority 

Request from HM Government 

Phase 1: £3m Capital over 18 months 
Phase 2: £80m Capital over 5 years  

Strategic Case 

The Coronavirus pandemic has caused a major global economic shock and public 
health crisis. It should serve as a stark reminder that SARS-CoV-2 is not the first nor 
will it be the last pathogen to move from animal to human populations. The pandemic 

Page 327



108 

has highlighted the risks and challenges that as yet unknown emerging pathogens 
can impose on every aspect of modern life. If infection R&D falls back to ‘business as 
usual’ after the current crisis, then the UK will have missed an important opportunity 
to ensure we have a world leading, rapid and effective response. 
It is widely acknowledged that most nations were not adequately prepared for the 
current pandemic and as a result, the global response has been slower that it would 
ideally have been. The global market for safe and effective infectious disease 
interventions (IDIs) was not well positioned to respond to the demands of any crisis 
scenario in a time sensitive manner, hence the current global challenge of “catch up”. 
The IDIs market shifted to a high-volume low margin commodity format several 
decades ago. This derailed the R & D pipelines for these products and deskilled the 
industrial base, which refocused on more lucrative markets. These conditions have 
slowed the global sector’s ability to respond to the current crisis; investment is 
needed to refocus the sector on developing new products.  
While the need to invest in the development of new products is widely accepted, 
investment in R&D remains unattractive to many. Despite the £107bn market for new 
products, the risk/reward ratio for IDIs following the standard R&D pathways, with 
high levels of late stage product failure, is unattractive for industry. Our ability to 
prevent and treat many infectious diseases will continue be compromised if we do 
not invest to reduce the risk of new product development.  
Even with increased appetite to develop new products, the UK’s IDI sector will face 
challenges related to:  

• Availability of Cat 3 and 4 space: this is in short supply nationally and
internationally. For example, in the LCRCA despite the high level of infection
R&D, LSTM has the only Cat 3 units.

• Skilled staff needed to supply the infection R&D agenda include organic and
analytical chemistry, formulation technology, electronic engineering, virology,
infection control, diagnostics, Cat 3 management, parasitology, epidemiology,
data management, biochemistry, microbiology.

This project can form a central part of the UK’s response to these challenges by 
providing:  

• A Capacity Development Centre: Phase 1 will redevelop an existing derelict
NHS building, now owned by LSTM, to create a capacity development centre
that will act as a feeder into the local industrial R&D need.

• Expanded pathogen containment and experimental facilities: Phase 1 will also
reconfigure and refit an existing LSTM Cat 3 space to facilitate training with
handling and R&D on Cat 3 pathogens such as COVID-19.

Page 328



109 

• A state of the art infection R&D contract research facility: This will be able to
handle the full range of Category 2, 3 and 4 pathogens. The new facility will
be designed for “business as usual ITI R&D” that is commercially attractive to
multiple commercial and academic partners but will be capable of being
rapidly re-configured to allow it to act as an emergency response facility for
any emerging infectious disease threat.

Our overarching strategic aim is to develop an Infection Innovation Ecosystem in the 
North West that as a magnet internationally for inward investment, that drives local 
GVA, has beneficial health impacts regionally, nationally and internationally, and is 
able to respond to the increasingly frequent outbreaks of new, emergent or re-
emergent infectious agents.  
The infection R&D cluster in the North West already brings together the greatest 
concentration of infection research anywhere in Europe. The Infection Innovation 
R&D Ecosystem in the LCR and broader North West is maturing rapidly, has an 
exceptional skill base, an understanding of and access to the disruptive technologies 
that are needed, and excellent networks with all the major stakeholders. 

Financial Case 

The project has already secured £18.6m revenue funding from Strength in Places and 
this is expected to lever external revenue of circa £96m (the majority from industry 
and philanthropic donors). £83m capital is required to bring forward phase 1 and 2 
of the project.  
The intention is for the Phase 1 and Phase 2 facilities to pull through sustainable 
revenues from the outset leveraging expertise and funding from the Industrial 
partners, major philanthropic donors such as the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation. 
The School of Tropical Medicine will provide the land for the development (~£15M), 
Industrial and NHS Partners from the new Strength in Places Consortium will provide 
in kind training within the facility and through training placements. 

Economic Case 

The Strength in Places bid, submitted pre-COVID-19 was projected to create a 
minimum of 273 direct jobs, at an average salary of over £65.7K, and 350 indirect 
jobs, providing a significant uplift in regional GVA over the 5 year SIPF period and 
beyond. The project benefits the economy in a range of different ways:  

• Construction benefits / economic stimulus - the Phase 2 project will support
around 200 construction jobs.

• Skills outcomes – an annual output of ~400 trained individuals supplying
demand into the growing infection R&D sector nationally.

Page 329



110 

• Inward investment – we anticipate a minimum steady state of ~£150M per
annum as a minimum once the facilities are completed.

• Sector growth (locally and nationally) – linked to Strength in Places a 30%
increase in sector growth.

• Sector resilience / effectiveness.

This also provide reputational benefits for the UK’s infection R&D and broader life 
sciences sectors both nationally and internationally. 

Commercial Case 

We aim to provide a facility that will change the way that we identify workforce needs 
in infection R&D and respond in a coordinated way with major employers. The R&D 
facility will position for high level contract research activity that is above the level of 
basic CROs that already exist within Europe. It will also provide space an opportunity 
for entrepreneurial spin out of new SMEs 

Management Case 

Via partnership and delivery. There is already a major consortium of industrial, HEI 
and philanthropic partners in place, led by LSTM which will occupy and manage the 
capacity development programmes and R&D envisaged.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

Phase 1: Detailed costed plans, feasibility studies and value engineering activities 
have already been undertaken for the Phase 1 site. Work can begin on site as soon 
as funding is in place with an expected completion time of 12 – 18 months.  
Phase 2: The site is available and basic plans are in place. These will be developed 
with industrial and NHS partners over 6 months with the expectation that construction 
work will start on site within 12 months, subject to appropriate planning permissions. 

Page 330



111 

13. The HILL (Health Innovation Liverpool)

The Combined Authority is committed to actions that support improvements in the 
health and wellbeing of our residents. We share this Government’s passionate belief 
in the NHS and commitment to strengthen the NHS and social care and to improve 
the NHS’s overall performance. This is crucially important in the LCR because:  

• LCR performs poorly on all health and wellbeing measures;
• We need to better coordinate healthcare services; and
• Poor health is dampening economic performance.

With its world class health and life-science assets Liverpool is well equipped to tackle 
one of the world’s most pressing problems: the timely and effective management of 
disease. However, one of the major challenges of modern healthcare is to link up 
world class research with advanced digital technologies.  
Health Innovation Liverpool (The HILL) is led by Liverpool City Council (LCC), the 
University of Liverpool (UoL), the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 
and KQ Liverpool and supported by private and public sector partners from across 
the LCR, focusing on a new development around health innovation. There are two 
components to the HILL: 

• a virtual component (v-HILL) will deliver new digital infrastructure including
open health innovation platforms while integrating NHS and care records to
enable timely identification and management of diseases.

• a physical component (p-HILL), a physical health campus set over 10-acres,
with research and trial facilities and commercial that brings together all aspects
of the City Region’s Health Innovation System.

• This is a priority project for the Combined Authority and Liverpool City Council
and is reflected in the recovery plans of both organisations. The overall scale
of activity for The HILL is £200-£300m. The request of Government is £60m to
develop the digital infrastructure and unlock development for the physical
health campus.

Stakeholders 

University of Liverpool, KQ Liverpool, Liverpool City Council, NHS trusts, NHSA, 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Request from HM Government 

£60m funding to unlock Phase 1 of this project 

Page 331



112 

Strategic Case 

The Combined Authority is committed to actions that support improvements in the 
health and wellbeing of our residents. We share this Government’s passionate belief 
in the NHS and commitment to strengthen the NHS and social care and to improve 
the NHS’s overall performance. This is crucially important in the Liverpool City 
Region.  

In addition to the clear evidence of the need for intervention, we have under-utilised 
assets in the City Region that could play a critical role in alleviating these challenges: 

• We have significant knowledge assets and some of the best digital
infrastructure in the UK (including the world’s most powerful super computer
and a 5G health test bed); and

• Our Science and Innovation Audit has identified distinctive world class Smart
Specialisation assets related to infectious disease, materials chemistry and
High Performance and Cognitive Computing.

There is a unique opportunity in the City Region to use these assets to: 

• support the urgent adaptation of business to the continual presence of COVID-
19;

• improve the health of the City Region’s population;
• co-ordinate the health and care landscape; and
• create new employment opportunities in a research-fuelled value-chain of

healthcare, digital and life sciences organisations.

Financial Case 

£60m funding to unlock Phase 1 of this project, supporting the Public Network and 
CIPHA Network as well as creation and maintenance of analytics platforms and the 
Smart Release System. Phase One has a total project value of £61m. An additional 
£21m has already been raised, committed or leveraged to support this project to 
support; data infrastructure, programme coordination, pump priming of innovation 
projects and research into COVID_19. 

Economic Case 

The project will deliver the following: 
• An integrated Analytics Platform to measure disease progression and impacts

on health;
• A comprehensive engagement process to increase public awareness, enable

intelligence sharing and undertake clinical trials.

Page 332



113 

These activities will lead to the following outcomes and impacts: 
• Increased health and digital literacy;
• Insights into disease and public health issues;
• Safe reopening of services;
• Codified knowledge on how to scale the Smart Release System;
• A health and social care system that works effectively, and talks the same

language, and which has fewer NHS trusts;
• New employment opportunities for LCR residents: up to 300 high value jobs

upon completion and 2,300 training opportunities;
• A healthier, more productive, LCR population from a reduction in health-

related economic inactivity;
• A resident population that understands the links between health and wealth;
• Ground breaking research translated into ground breaking drug discovery and

clinical activity; and
• Enhanced global reputation of the University of Liverpool medical school.

The present value of benefits is £225m, and the BCR is 3.8. 

Commercial Case 

Liverpool is building the infrastructure it needs to accelerate growth in innovation. 
With KQ Liverpool, the city has a magnet for innovative businesses and research 
institutions at its heart. Schemes are continuing to attract investment even in the 
current circumstances. 

Management Case 

Health Innovation Liverpool (The HILL) is led by Liverpool City Council (LCC), the 
University of Liverpool (UoL), the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 
and KQ Liverpool and supported by private and public sector partners from across 
the LCR. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The programme for the HILL phase 1 is expected to run over a period of 5 years. 
Initial study and full roll out of a COVID-19 Smart Release System by Autumn 2020.  

Page 333



114 

14. Glass Futures

The glass industry and its supply chain are important sources of employment and 
wealth creation in the Liverpool City Region and the UK more widely. There is a 
recognised need to decarbonize the sector both to contribute to the national carbon 
emission targets as well as protect the UK glass industry’s global competitiveness. A 
step-change is required to create sustainable, economically effective decarbonisation 
activities in the glass manufacturing sector and the industry needs to invest heavily in 
Research & Development (R&D) facilities to achieve this. There is an opportunity for 
the UK to position itself at the forefront of this global shift in the carbon reduction of 
glass manufacture and bolster the competitive position of our national glass industry. 
The Glass Futures National Centre of Excellence will be the world’s first openly 
accessible, commercially available, multi-disciplinary glass melting facility with 
provision for R&D trials within a safe environment. The National Centre of Excellence 
will bring together global leaders across glass manufacturers, key brand users of glass 
and supply chain partners to test (in a commercial scale environment) innovations in 
glass production to reduce carbon and other emissions, reduce reliance on natural 
gas, reduce weight, improve strength and other material qualities, broaden raw 
material supply and improve recyclability and reuse.  
The project will aim to reduce carbon emissions from the glass sector, improve the 
performance of glass products (in particular in processes and in architectural solutions 
(e.g. windows/Velux), reduce reliance on sensitive raw materials, increase recycling of 
glass develop real time machine learning (AI) to drive efficiency in glass production 
and consider alternative fuels for furnace operation.  
A site for the pilot project has been identified in St Helens, an area which boasts 
internationally significant specialism in glass manufacture. The site is also in the 
vicinity of the existing Pilkington works, providing an ability for key supplies (such as 
sand) to be accessed.  
As well as the 40 jobs created, provisional estimates suggest this project supports a 
BCR of 10.9, with a present value of benefits of £98.3m.  

Stakeholders 

Applicant: St Helen’s Council; Operator: Glass Futures Ltd (inc. member orgs); Land 
owner (and future developer/contractor TBD): Network Space Ltd (NSL); Funder: 
LCRCA. 

Request from HM Government 

£9m towards £35.3m total project cost (including specialist industrial fit-out). 

Page 334



115 

Strategic Case 

St Helens is world renowned for glass manufacturing; the industry and its supply chain 
are important sources of employment and wealth creation in Liverpool City Region 
and the UK more widely. Whilst a nationally important and high value added 
manufacturing sector, the Glass Industry is also a major polluter. It currently generates 
in the region of 2 million tonnes of CO2 per annum in the UK alone. Reducing carbon 
emissions associated with the glass sector would make a significant contribution to 
UK and global carbon emissions, both directly through glass manufacturing but also, 
for example, by improving the thermal performance of glass in construction.  
The need to decarbonize is widely accepted across the industry; glass manufacturers 
across the EU have signed up to the British Glass decarbonisation roadmap and 
decarbonisation targets. It is also acknowledged that a step-change is needed to 
create sustainable, economically effective decarbonisation activities in the glass 
manufacturing sector. The industry needs to invest heavily in R&D facilities and 
activity to make this happen and a collaborative approach is required to overcome 
shared, global industry challenges.  
There is an opportunity for the UK to position itself at the forefront of this global shift 
in the carbon reduction of glass manufacture and bolster the competitive position of 
our national glass industry.  
Glass Futures is a not for profit Research and Technology Organisation (RTO) 
developed initially by British Glass and the Glass Technology Institute. Its 
membership includes the world’s leading glass manufacturers (e.g. O&I, ENCRIC, 
Guardian Glass), users of glass (e.g. Diageo), universities (e.g. University of Leeds) 
and supply chain experts (e.g. Siemens).  
Members of Glass Futures have developed the Glass Futures Pilot Plan project in 
partnership with St Helens Council and Network Space. The project will provide  

• A new and unique open research and innovation centre for the global glass
industry. This will include access to a new 30t glass furnace, container glass
facility with space to accommodate a flat glass production and testing line in
future

• Capacity to deliver Government backed R&D projects to support the glass
industry

• R&D facilities for the glass industry (e.g. Guardian Glass, a US based part of
Koch Industries, are relocating their R&D team to St Helens) of a scale which
bridges the gap between lab scale and commercial scale melting facilities

• Training opportunities for the sector designed to support development of
capability and competitiveness for local and national employers in the glass
industry.

The project is at a scale that will support the step change needed in capabilities, 
competitiveness and productivity in the industry whilst reducing the sector’s 

Page 335



116 

emissions to zero. Priority projects will include reducing embedded carbon in glass, 
improving the performance of glass products, in particular in construction glass, 
increasing the range of potential additives to reduce reliance on sensitive raw 
materials, increase recycling, develop real time AI processing, increase manufacturing 
efficiency and alternative fuels  
A site for the pilot project has been identified in St Helens, an area which boasts 
internationally significant specialism in glass manufacture. The site is also in the 
vicinity of the existing Pilkington works, providing an ability for key supplies (such as 
sand) to be accessed. The facility will be centred around a 30 ton per day industrial 
demonstration furnace. The project has already secured an in principle £15m grant 
funding contribution towards the capital costs of production plant and machinery 
(e.g. furnace and float lines etc.). Due to the abnormal costs of constructing a 
specialist building which can accommodate specific glass industry plant & machinery 
there will be a viability gap between the end value which is generated by a headlease 
from the council & the costs to build.  

Financial Case 

The total development cost of the Glass Futures facility is estimated to be £35.3m 
(including specialist fit out). This is made up of:  

• Grant funding – £15m (currently at final stage interview);
• Investment sale/Investor – £10m (to be determined);
• Gap Funding from the Combined Authority – c£9m (subject to competitive

process)
• Feasibility and business plan development – £1.3m pre-development funding

already committed by the Combined Authority.

In addition, industry partners have committed to providing cash and in-kind 
contributions of c£20m throughout the lifetime of the project.  

Economic Case 

Provisional estimates suggest this project supports a BCR of 10.9, with a present value 
of benefits of £98.3m.  
Value for Money is delivered by a combination of land value uplift as evidenced by 
the private sector forward sale agreement and the continued and significant 
investment by industry over time. The value of further R&D grant funding has not 
been factored into the public sector costs. Further detailed modelling will take this 
into account as well as wider public benefits.  

Page 336



117 

Benefits 
In addition to the monetised benefits (Jobs, Land Value, Research Spend and Carbon) 
there are a wide range of non-monetised benefits including value from improved skills 
and training, conversion of a derelict site in a strategic location and demand drivers 
for complementary investment including potentially further R&D facilities and a good 
quality hotel.  

Commercial Case 

The Glass Futures Business Model is based upon the following core lines of business: 
1. Member based value proposition – Participation in the Glass Futures R&D

ecosystem
2. Providing an industry front door to training, skills, recruitment, apprenticeship

‘Glass Academy’ concept.
3. Government and industry backed R&D.
4. Industry driven collaboration – an ecosystem of innovation driven by open,

collaborative working facilitated by Glass Futures to inform the development
of funded programmes

5. Industry ‘commercial’ tests and trials – private access to ‘offsite’ R&D activity,
in particular where suppliers lead demonstration or industry lacks
capacity/infrastructure

6. Future business income opportunities associated with small scale speciality
glass

Management Case 

Delivery – A forward funding route has been proposed whereby developers Network 
Space Ltd (NSL) enters into a forward funding/development agreement with an 
investor who will in turn become the owner of the property. Network Space, as land 
owner, will manage the construction and development of the facility.  

Operation – Following completion of the development works, NSL will grant a lease 
to St. Helens BC. St. Helens BC will in turn sub-lease the Centre to Glass Futures who 
will have responsibility for operation of the Centre. The intention is that GF will pay a 
rent reflecting the revenue which it receives from operating the Centre.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

Project undertaking detailed design to RIBA Stage 2 in August 2020. A detailed pre-
development and planning programme has been prepared and illustrates that a 
planning approval will be sought in February 2021. 

Page 337



118 

15. LCR Long-term Infra Platform

This comprises a new financial instrument (the “Infrastructure Platform”) designed to 
invest in critical economic infrastructure that is marginally viable, but which either 
cannot attract commercial funding or is not viable once commercial finance terms are 
applied. In the UK, grant funding has most commonly been used to bring forward 
these developments; opportunities to use repayable mechanisms to provide better 
long term return on investment and scope to recycle some funding have largely been 
missed.  
Commercial acumen and a longer-term view of viability will allow the public sector to 
offer a repayable finance instead, levering private investment at the platform and 
project level, as per Evergreen, GMPVF (both Greater Manchester) and LEEF 
(London). The platform can play a key, risk diversified role in funding the City Region’s 
long-term economic assets alongside long-term, responsible investors.  
Government investment of £50m could provide GVA benefits of £1bn, generating a 
BCR of 20. This exceptional BCR is possible because the model levers in significant 
private co-investment at both the deal and platform level.  

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, private fund and finance advisors, private 
infrastructure developers and investors. 

Request from HM Government 

£50m, with a project value of £125m 

Strategic Case 

The strategic case is built on three market developments: 

1. Infrastructure viability is improving in LCR. Economic gains have eroded
previous market failure but not completely. For example, headline office rents
have risen from circa £19 per square foot to circa £25 per square foot over
~five years, almost reaching a level at which new development is commercially
viable. This means that there is a growing number of development
opportunities which can now be brought forward using repayable finance
rather than grant.

2. There are instances where repayable finance can and should replace grant.
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority has retained an investment
team with commercial skills. Using these skills, it has reduced the public

Page 338



119 

sector’s reliance on grant in securing physical development (as Manchester did 
around 2012). Recent instances include replacing grant on logistics and 
science park development, and for SMEs, with flexible debt instruments. This 
greatly improves value for public money. 
There is strong precedent for interventions of this nature, including the 
Evergreen Fund and Greater Manchester Property Ventures Fund in Greater 
Manchester, the Chrysalis Fund in Liverpool City Region, London Energy 
Efficiency Fund in Greater London, which are public funds managed/advised 
by the private sector, often co-invested by the private sector.  

3. The pandemic will reduce commercial risk appetite. Commercial lenders and
investors will retrench after the pandemic, citing higher risk/volatility and the
need to service existing clients/projects over new opportunities. The
Combined Authority’s ongoing engagement with project sponsors has
highlighted continued long term commitment but also heightened short-term
uncertainty. This short term uncertainty will reduce financial opportunities to
otherwise fundable schemes and could hinder the City Region’s economic
development. Although grant funding could offset some of this short term risk,
we note that grant is a short-term instrument which funds viability gaps that
erode over time, especially when the projects funded contribute to a coherent
economic strategy. Providing long-term public finance alongside responsible
private investors provides an opportunity to build on project sponsors long
term commitment and overcome their short term concerns whilst aligning for
the long-term and reducing the perception of a viability gap.

There are two linked opportunities here. Firstly, an opportunity to invest in the 
Liverpool City Region’s economic infrastructure priorities with long-term, risk aligned 
and repayable finance. Such finance will support development of projects that could 
otherwise stall for lack of funding; lever in private finance at the platform and project 
level (in particular desirable, long-term finance); and reduce the lifetime cost to the 
public sector by reducing grant funding.  
Secondly, there is an opportunity for the UK Government to prove the viability of this 
model of investment and demonstrate its applicability to other areas. The Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority believes firmly that there is an opportunity to use 
repayable finance much more widely to reduce reliance on grant funding and deliver 
a stronger return on investment to the taxpayer. The Combined Authority would 
welcome the opportunity to work with Government to demonstrate the case for the 
model and scope to roll it out more widely.  
The projects outlined in the “local interventions – economic infrastructure” section of 
the LCR recovery plan could each be considered for Infrastructure Platform funding, 
on the basis that their physical infrastructure (buildings, digital infrastructure, a 
stadium) is viable but not fundable in LCR’s post pandemic capital market. Since 

Page 339



120 

discussions are commercially sensitive in some areas, we provide no further detail 
here but the remainder of this project summary assumes the financing of some of 
these and related projects.  

Financial Case 

The Combined Authority has explored several options to establish the Infrastructure 
Platform, including creating a new entity and adapting the City Region’s existing 
Urban Development Fund. The preferred option is to establish a new entity, although 
options analysis continues.  
The Infrastructure Platform foresees a structured vehicle with associated returns 
waterfall which includes:  

• First, private investors in a senior, preferred position (£60m). This provides
lowest risk and return and will help lever private capital into projects alongside
project match; investors such as Merseyside Pension Fund, Legal & General
and Lasalle Investment Management may be suitable for this tranche

• Second, Combined Authority / public funds (£30m) in a second, junior position,
with a higher risk and return threshold than private investors; Public Works
Loan Board money is appropriate

• Third, a first loss element (for which grant is requested, £30m) to enable
investment at the desired scale, pace and risk appetite for the projects
contemplated

Whilst each layer receives a commercial return for the risk it accepts, the first loss 
element is included to overcome the relatively higher risk of current market conditions 
and the long-term profile of investments. The base case model will show preservation 
of this first loss element across the portfolio of investments. It is therefore critical to 
exploiting the strategic opportunity.  
In addition to leveraging £60m of private sector funds at a Platform-level, the Platform 
would also leverage further private sector funds at the individual deal level. 

Economic Case 

The Chrysalis and Evergreen funds have operated in the North West of England since 
~2012 with no loss of capital, investing ~£200m in ~£600m of projects. A simple 
extrapolation of the performance of the Greater Manchester Evergreen fund indicates 
that a fund of £125m could generate in the region of £1bn net additional GVA and 
support a BCR of 20. This high BCR is driven by the significant leverage of private 
sector funding at the Platform and Deal level as well as the repayable nature of the 
finance. 

Page 340



121 

Commercial Case 

The Combined Authority expect the Infrastructure Platform to generate a commercial 
return from interest, fees and profits that (above circa £50m) will meet its own 
operating costs. A base case could assume receiving a 6% IRR at the project level, 
reducing to 5% IRR at the platform level after management costs and 2.5% after 
borrowing costs. 
The base case assumes the long-term preservation of capital but recognises the 
relatively high-performance risk in the short to medium-term, for which the first loss 
element is included. 
This is an evergreen model with funds returned from the first investments being 
reinvested in subsequent economic infrastructure. Like the Evergreen fund, there is 
potential to sell investments to the private sector, further to lever in private funds.  

Management Case 

Crucial to successful operation of the Infrastructure Platform is the Combined 
Authority’s ability to act as intelligent client at the programme and project level. The 
Combined Authority investment team’s senior staff is drawn from investment banking, 
infrastructure investment, commercial law, real estate asset management as well as 
conventional public investment. It has more than seventy years of relevant investment 
experience, including in the management of public financial instruments. This team 
is competent to underwrite, with support from external advisors, the interventions 
contemplated. 
The team will use the Combined Authority’s existing finance and legal function, which 
already serves the “strategic investment fund” and two EU financial instruments. 
Combined Authority decision-making and governance will run as usual through its 
democratic services team. 
Options for delegation and decision making are under development. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The first projects are under development. Funds can be committed in three months, 
with projects being transferred to the Infrastructure Platform on establishment in 3-6 
months. The Combined Authority does not propose to wait for establishment of the 
platform before pursuing commitment.  

Page 341



122 

16. Littlewoods Film Studios

With its incredible array of architecture, Liverpool is the most filmed city outside 
London with over 1,300 days of filming each year across nearly 300 projects. 
However, on average those productions only stay in the city for three days for external 
filming; production crews then relocate elsewhere in the UK to find studio space to 
undertake the interior shooting.  

The project seeks to improve employment, skills and training opportunities in the 
film, digital and creative industries in an area which has suffered greatly through the 
closure of the Littlewoods buildings in 2003 by bringing together film industry and 
education providers in a single setting.  

The project will redevelop the former Littlewoods Pools building into a film studio 
(anchored by Twickenham Studios), while also providing education programming in 
partnership with Liverpool John Moores University, and further creative and digital 
industry employment space. This will deliver the largest creative cluster in the city, 
comprising of: 

• 85,000 sq. ft of studio space for Twickenham Studios;
• 75,000 sq. ft of education space for LJMU; and
• 95,000 sq. ft of flexible employment space for creative industries.

The first phase of the project would allow the creation of a temporary “pop up” film 
studio on vacant Liverpool City Council owned land in the three years until 
Littlewoods Studios is running at full capacity. COVID-19 is influencing more 
productions to move indoors into studios rather than on location, and a short-term 
solution to meet this demand will kickstart the city’s talent pipeline, production base 
and investment potential. Phase 2 will deliver the remaining elements of the building, 
including permanent sound stages. 

Overall, this is a £56m development and will generate considerable benefits in its 
own right, in addition to catalysing wider benefits through increased profile for the 
city and the clustering of activity that a major, high profile new occupier, such as 
Twickenham Studios, can generate (as evidenced by similar experience at Media City 
in Salford, Greater Manchester).  

A purpose-built production space in Liverpool could add up to £200m a year to the 
city’s economy. It is anticipated that the clustering effect will create over 3,600 
additional creative jobs in the City Region:  

The project requests £1.946m in gap funding to deliver Phase 1 with a further £15m 
for Phase 2 of the project.  

Page 342



123 

Stakeholders 

Sponsors: Liverpool City Council, LCRCA and Capital and Centric (developer) 
Anchor tenants: Twickenham Studies and Liverpool John Moores University 

Request from HM Government 

For Liverpool City Council: £1.946m to support Phase 1, with a further £15m for Phase 
2. 

Strategic Case 

Rationale for Investment  
The appetite for filming in Liverpool is more prevalent than ever before. Littlewoods 
Studios is a response to that demand, introducing a world class film and TV 
production hub, an epicentre of media and creative talent in Liverpool. Upon 
completion, the site will house the full community needed to support purpose-built 
sound stages, including a college and degree-level education offer. 
Twickenham Studios and a higher education partner are already committed as anchor 
tenants on the site, and with over 80,000ft2 of space still available, the studios will 
become the largest creative cluster in the city. Two new 20,000ft2 studios will provide 
for high-end feature film and TV production, a market which is currently seeing a 
boom in output. 
• Liverpool is the most filmed city outside London with over 1,300 days of filming

each year across nearly 300 projects (2017 data); however, on average those
productions only stay in the city for three days then relocate elsewhere in the UK
to find studio space to undertake the interior shooting;

• Currently film and TV add £18m to the city’s economy, however a purpose-built
production space in Liverpool could add up to £200m a year;

• Currently the city is missing out on the huge economic impact that a purpose-
built studio would bring, and evidence from the industry is that were the studios
to be complete now, they would be booked up long into the future. The pandemic
will slow non-studio film and TV production, driving up demand for studio space
for high-end producers. Anecdotal evidence shows that if the studios were up and
running now, they would be booked to capacity long into the future.

• The industry is anticipating a huge leap in production volumes as soon as stay at
home and social distancing restrictions are relaxed.

Strategic Fit 
• The development sits in an area which has suffered greatly through the closure of

the Littlewoods buildings in 2003, such that child poverty runs at 42% against a
national average of 16%, and only 38% of school leavers achieve 5 GCSEs. Against
this backdrop, Littlewoods Studios is focused on a sector which offers unparalleled

Page 343



124 

social mobility. There is an incredibly broad range of skills required to facilitate 
production and the industry thrives on upskilling.  

• In terms of fit against Government objectives, a 2018 report by Lambert Smith
Hampton estimated that the UK required a further 1.9m square feet of studio
space, excluding all the wrap around facilities. Without this space, UK PLC is
missing out on the huge economic benefit this would bring, given that every £1
spent in a studio equates to £18 spent in the wider economy.

• A Pop-Up studio would be a quick turnaround solution and provide the city with
a ready to go facility which would attract productions, help support the hotel and
visitor economy and allow Liverpool to kickstart some of the proposals set out in
the Screen Liverpool Workforce Strategy.

o Essentially, it would create an immediate economic and sectoral boost,
provide a medium-term solution for Liverpool to continue building
production capacity and provide a solid base for the long-term success of
the Littlewoods Film and TV Studios.

Financial and Commercial Case 

The cost of the refurbishment of the existing Littlewoods building and the 
construction of two sound stages is estimated at £56m. These estimates are 
supported by detailed cost plans, which have been developed by Arcadis, on behalf 
of the developer (C&C) and subjected to due diligence by Gleeds for LCC and 
LCRCA. Further work is underway in respect of value engineering.  

The scheme will be anchored by long-term leases from Twickenham Studios and 
Liverpool John Moores University. Agreements for leases are in the final stages of 
agreement.  

Based upon valuation of these leases on behalf of the project sponsors and the 
residual value of additional (non-pre let space) it is anticipated that £35m-£40m of 
commercial finance can be raised for the project.  

Operating costs will be recharged to tenants through agreed service charge 
arrangements. 

Economic Case 

The temporary studio will help secure the local production talent pipeline in Liverpool 
and kickstart the talent development schemes. Essentially it would create an 
immediate economic and sectoral boost, provide a medium-term solution for 
Liverpool to continue building production capacity and provide a solid base for the 
long-term success of the Littlewoods Film and TV Studios. 

Page 344



125 

The development extends to in excess of 260,000 ft2 of space and will include an 
education offer which will sit hand in hand with the best in class of the private sector 
to provide a broad range of skills training within the creative sector. 

The Littlewoods Studios development is also expected to prompt the establishment 
of an enlarged cluster of creative activity: demand for an additional 30,000m2 
employment space in Liverpool and a total of 60,000m2 across the City Region could 
be generated, with a consequential uplift in business rate potential. 

The potential economic impacts of the proposed scheme are significant with the 
creation of 780 jobs; 310 construction jobs and 224 new learners. 

Further outcomes include: 
• Attracting new households to the Liverpool City Region generating additional
• expenditure in the economy and council tax to local authorities;
• Increased levels of quality TV and film production to support higher tourism levels

and associated economic benefits; and
• Capturing local economic benefits – if Liverpool capture just 1% of the UK TV and

film industry it would contribute £9m spend in the economy and GVA, support
over 200 FTE jobs and a share of 5% would elicit tourism spend of £43M a year
and GVA contribution to nearly £45M, and almost 1000 FTE jobs.

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 2.1 and present value of benefits is £36.1m. 

Management Case 

The Littlewoods Studios building is owned freehold by Liverpool City Council with 
head lease granted to Capital and Centric (C&C) as development manager.  

C&C are currently advancing the design and planning stages of the project and will 
procure a main contractor for the project. C&C are advancing discussions with the 
anchor tenants with agreements for lease expected to be in place shortly. They will 
also be responsible for marketing the currently un-let space. 

Page 345



126 

Timeline and Next Steps 

- The development is currently at RIBA Stage 2, with the anchor tenants
committed.

- Planning is already in place for the existing buildings and a new application for
the stages plus a reworking of the existing consent for the buildings will be in
place by Q3 2020, with start on site Q4 2020 and completion in 2023.

The temporary units are available and can be constructed and soundproofed in 3-4 
weeks. The site could be operational by Summer 2020. 

Page 346



127 

17. The Maritime Knowledge Hub

The Maritime Knowledge Hub (MKH) is a vital project to the Maritime Sector within 
the Liverpool City Region. The Maritime sector is large and diverse. It encompasses 
industries related to ports, shipping, marine leisure, marine engineering and scientific 
activities and maritime business services.  

The project proposes to redevelop the disused Grade 2 Hydraulic Tower on Wirral 
Waters, a significant asset linked to the Liverpool City Region’s maritime heritage, into 
an iconic high-profile physical hub for maritime business growth and sector 
development within the Liverpool City Region. The scheme is located within the Wirral 
Waters priority regeneration area, forming part of the wider Mersey Waters Enterprise 
Zone. The MKH will catalyse maritime sector growth in the LCR economy by bringing 
together key sector partners including Mersey Maritime and a local university, 
alongside regional maritime business to deliver business cluster support, education, 
skills and training and investment in marine technology. 

Stakeholders 

Wirral Borough Council, Mersey Maritime, Peel L&P Ltd, LCRCA and Wirral 
Metropolitan Borough Council WWIF.  

Request from HM Government 

£10m 

Strategic Case 

Liverpool City Region is known worldwide as a leading maritime city. We are focused 
on building upon our strong maritime innovation capabilities and heritage which saw 
the City Region become home to the world’s first steel ship, lifeboat station, radar-
controlled port, and first commercial wet dock. The maritime sector directly supports 
7,900 highly productive jobs, generates £4.2bn GVA, with shipping and shipbuilding 
contributing nearly 50%.  

Today, LCR is home to a diverse range of world class maritime companies providing 
national and global expertise in the ports industry, marine engineering, leisure 
marine, and specialist maritime financial and professional services. Building on the 
strong competencies and assets related to maritime will be key in recovery of the City 
Region, creating jobs and significant economic impact, and driving up productivity 
gains that will facilitate further inward investment.  

Page 347



128 

With its river base, port infrastructure and concentration of maritime expertise, 
Liverpool City Region is well placed to exploit its distinctive knowledge-based assets 
and capabilities in the maritime sector and lead the way in a Port City Cluster model. 
The MKH will enable the maritime ecosystem to be at the forefront of developing 
and adopting cutting edge technologies in areas such as smart shipping, robotics, 
clean growth and ship-tech digitalisation. This will support wider efforts across the 
City Region to play a leading role in the fourth industrial revolution, as it did for the 
very first.  

Located at Wirral Waters, it will increase competitiveness and growth of the region’s 
existing maritime ecosystem, whilst supporting the City Region’s advanced 
manufacturing, low carbon energy and tidal energy sectors.  
Under the proposed scheme, the investment in infrastructure and services will act as 
a catalyst for LCR maritime sector development and business growth, in three ways:  

1. Business cluster growth - the MKH project will support maritime growth through
an expanded cluster development role

2. Skills – the MKH will support the creation of next generation talent, through
Degree Apprenticeships in key occupations/technologies, and new provision in
marine engineering and naval architecture

3. Innovation – the MKH will create an industry facing research facility, enabling
businesses to access local specialist marine and advanced manufacturing
technology. In particular it will provide facilities and expertise to allow business to
undertake product and process innovation from initial design to prototype testing.

Financial Case 

The MKH will be constructed by Peel Group as developer with The Council 
purchasing (at fair market value) the building on practical completion. This will include 
the benefit of pre-let tenancies including a local university and Mersey Maritime. 

Financial modelling has indicated that the purchase of the MKH freehold by Wirral 
Council at completion is affordable based on a level of pre-let of 80% (by rental value), 
with occupancy then maintained at 90% on an ongoing basis. Operating costs will be 
recovered from tenants through services charges. Allowing for initial set-up costs, a 
surplus is forecast in all operational years. 

Page 348



129 

Economic Case 

The MKH aims to: 
• Create an iconic new specialist sector facility of 5,458 sq m within the Wirral

Waters Enterprise Zone, enabling the relocation of the MKH and re-purposing
of existing facilities to provide business growth and job creation within the
maritime sector, and establish a talent pipeline for continued and sustained
growth and productivity

• Deliver approximately 621 jobs and 22 construction jobs
• Assist 1,340 businesses within the Liverpool City Region to maritime and

related sector organisations over a ten-year period. Assistance will take the
form of sector specific business support, measures to promote innovation and
interventions aimed at addressing skills gaps that are identified barriers to
growth

• Increase the number of maritime and non-maritime ‘spillover’ businesses and
other sector stakeholders engaged with the cluster membership organization
Mersey Maritime by 75% to 350

• Contribute to addressing gaps in the overall pipeline of sector skills by creating
capacity for 173 Higher and Degree Apprenticeships (Level 4 to 7), 25% of
which will be new jobs; and providing the facilities needed to support 251 full-
time learner places (Level 4 to 7) on new marine engineering and naval
architecture courses.

A Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of 4.5 is estimated for the MKH project (based on financial 
appraisal by Peel and WMBC and best practice guidance from HMT for building 
projects). Present value of benefits is £44.5m. 

Commercial Case 

Maritime is hugely important sector to the City Region, and the proposed MKH will 
help not only develop the existing business but help attract further investment into 
the region. A recent study undertaken by SQW on behalf of Wirral Council and the 
LCRCA discovered that there are limited examples of similar activity taking place 
around the world, therefore this project is highly distinctive.  

It will further propel the maritime sector and its distinctive qualities and support it in 
becoming truly become world leading and be a catalyst for further investment 
opportunities. The project combines talent from across the region including local 
universities, Mersey Maritime, Bibby and more. 

Page 349



130 

Management Case 

Delivery: A forward funding route has been proposed whereby the Council provides 
pre-agreed funding tranches to Peel via staged payments during the build period, 
with ownership transferring to the Council at practical completion. It assumes that 
third party grant funding will form part of the staged payments and may be routed 
via Wirral Council. Subject to securing in principle support from the CA and project 
partners, the Council will enter Heads of Terms with Peel. This will enable Peel to 
progress design development to the specification of the project partners. Design 
development will in-turn unlock planning, procurement and marketing. Based on 
current discussions, commencement of the capital build phase will be triggered once 
an agreed proportion of the facility has been pre-let (indicatively 80%).  
Operation: Wirral Council intends to take a virtual freehold (a 250-year long 
leasehold) interest in the scheme upon practical completion. The Council will then 
sub-let the premises to occupiers, either directly or via an operator. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

Start on site – Late 2020 / early 2021 with an 18 month build programme.  
PC expected summer 2022 with a September 2022 term opening for universities. 

Page 350



131 

18. Paddington Village

Paddington Village, Central (Paddington Central) is a major mixed-use development 
that will expand on the success of the KQ (Knowledge Quarter) Liverpool and create 
a world class environment for the most innovative firms. 

Paddington Central, the first of three phases of Paddington Village, is the city’s 
leading innovation development, creating a new high-quality mixed-use scheme over 
a 10-acre development site with a focus on health, education, life-sciences and 
technology within the KQ Liverpool Mayoral development zone. The project will 
provide high quality landmark buildings, increasing the city’s offer of office and tech 
space, set within new public realm and open space.  
Paddington Central has gained significant momentum over the last three years and 
several buildings are now completed or under construction with the scheme 
attracting new occupiers such as the Royal College of Physicians. However, the 
Coronavirus pandemic is having a negative impact on what was previously a scheme 
being delivered at great pace, such as: 

• LCC’s financial model for schemes currently on site and committed, as a result
of increased costs and slower uptake (and withdrawal) of occupiers and,

• The financial viability of the remaining plots at feasibility stage to create further
office accommodation and jobs in the health and technology sectors due to
similar issues.

The project, along with other projects attracting investment in the KQ, will provide 
the stimulus Liverpool’s emerging knowledge economy needs to reach its full 
potential, removing limitations on growth and providing the kinds of environment 
which researchers need to interact. This, in turn, will boost productivity and establish 
the city as a home of ingenious, civic-minded, businesses finding new answers to 
global problems. 
On completion it is anticipated that Phase 1 (completed or committed sites) will 
deliver 2,050 new jobs, whilst Phase 2 (in feasibility) will deliver 2,903 new jobs. 
The construction impacts are considerable too – with Phases 1 and 2 creating 2,868 
and 962 construction related jobs respectively. 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Council, Liverpool Knowledge Quarter, Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority. 

Request from HM Government 

£8m 

Page 351



132 

Strategic Case 

There is much to celebrate in the recent renaissance of Liverpool City Region’s 
economy. Its people are now more skilled, its communities better-connected, and it 
can be proud of the strength and diversity of its business base. This is complemented 
by a wealth of innovation and research assets, from the high-performance computing 
capabilities at the STFC Hartree Centre, to the future of sciences, health care, and 
technology being pioneered in Knowledge Quarter, Liverpool. In Liverpool City 
Region, the foundations of a high-value, innovation-led economy that can compete 
with the rest of the world are in place. 
Liverpool is building the infrastructure it needs to accelerate growth in its innovation 
and knowledge economy. With KQ Liverpool, the city has a magnet for innovative 
businesses and research institutions at its heart, including the future site of cutting-
edge healthcare facilities such as one of the UK’s first proton beam cancer treatment 
centre. These will be some of the greenest developments in the country, exemplars 
of carbon neutral infrastructure, transport, and air quality, fit for the most innovative 
businesses. 
Paddington Central is a development catalyst for the wider KQ Liverpool 
development zone, providing a high-quality environment to attract new occupiers 
and create knowledge-intensive jobs. Supporting the existing plots in this scheme will 
unlock the three remaining plots, two of which will generate a considerable number 
of construction jobs and provide increased office and tech space. The project will 
create new high-quality Grade A office accommodation to attract new occupiers, new 
business rates and create new jobs in the knowledge economy. 
The COVID_19 pandemic risks arresting development momentum, forcing the 
Council to take on increased costs due to the slower uptake of units.  

Financial Case 

For Liverpool City Council: £8 million of additional funding to reduce Council 
borrowing and ensure that the financial model remains viable by offsetting costs and 
reductions and income. This will supplement £282,000,000 already funded for 
schemes committed and in feasibility. 

Page 352



133 

Economic Case 

The project will deliver a high-quality mixed-use development from the remediation 
of 10 acres of brownfield land, providing: 

• Two acres of new, high-quality public realm
• New Grade-A office stock with GIA of 600,000ft2

• 120 residential units
• New, upscale 4* hotel
• District Heating Network supporting construction of green infrastructure

The employment impact of the development will be considerable: 

• Phase 1: 2,868 construction jobs
• Phase 1: 2,050 new jobs upon completion
• Phase 2: 962 construction jobs
• Phase 2: 2,903 new jobs upon completion

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 31.0 with a present value of benefits of 
£247.65m. 

Commercial Case 

Launched in Autumn 2016, Paddington Village has rapidly gained momentum with 
seven of its ten central plots completed, on–site or committed, attracting high profile 
occupiers, including the Royal College of Physicians, Novotel, and Kaplan. KQ 
Liverpool is already home to world-leading institutions and research in health and life 
sciences, with three university campuses, two NHS Health Trusts, and a host of 
knowledge-based companies. 

Schemes on site have been delivered via investment by LCC on an ‘Invest to Earn’ 
basis, using PWLB with the return on investment after debt costs and operating costs 
being used to support key Council services. 

For schemes at feasibility stage, these have initial development appraisals and have 
formed the basis of bids to secure pre-lets. However, additional costs and reduced 
revenues through the potential cooling of occupiers and rentals, created through 
Covid-19, means that either support is required in the form of underwriting the 
income or gap funding the capital investment. 

Page 353



134 

Management Case 

The development of Paddington Central will be led by LCC in partnership with KQ 
Liverpool. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

• Schemes committed and under construction – These 5 projects are all under
construction.

• Schemes in feasibility – These 2 office schemes have RIBA Stage 2 design
complete, robust cost plans and appraisals completed, all infrastructure and
abnormals completed (removing delivery risk), full site ownership by LCC and
planning parameters and massing approved through an adopted Spatial
Regeneration Framework (SRF).

With Government support, through this SOC, this would get two new commercial 
buildings on site in Q3 2020 and Q4 2021. 

Page 354



135 

19. Upper Central

Upper Central is a major development within KQ Liverpool Mayoral development 
zone, linking the city centre retail district to the remainder of the innovation district, 
including the university campuses, Liverpool Science Park and Paddington Village. 
This project will deliver new, mixed-use development to focus on the expansion of 
the digital, media, tech and creative sectors in Liverpool and create a new unique 
space in the heart of the city centre. The high-quality development will be integrated 
within the LJMU university campus, a new public realm and sit adjacent to Liverpool’s 
city centre mainline train stations. 

The creation of new mixed-use development including new Grade-A office 
development, (especially in the media, tech and creative sectors) and high-quality 
residential development (for key workers, young professionals, and graduates), would 
both seamlessly integrate within LJMU’s Copperas Hill development (with the first 
phase on site) and would support new development at Circus in the former Lewis’s 
Building and Central Station. Its location, adjacent to Lime Street Station, would 
create a development opportunity similar to that of Kings Cross, London with 
accessibility and connectivity major strengths to exploit. 

On completion it is anticipated that the first phase of the project will lead to 3,484 
new jobs, with the wider Upper Central project expected to deliver 7,000 new jobs 
and sector growth in the digital, tech, creative and media industries. The construction 
impacts are considerable too – with up to 1,466 construction-related jobs created. 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Council, Liverpool KQ, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. 

Request from HM Government 

£13.5 M 

Strategic Case 
There is much to celebrate in the recent renaissance of Liverpool City Region’s 
economy. Its people are now more skilled, its communities better-connected, and it 
can be proud of the strength and diversity of its business base. This progress is 
complemented by a wealth of innovation and research assets, from the high-
performance computing capabilities at the STFC Hartree Centre, to the future of 
sciences, health care, and technology being pioneered in Knowledge Quarter, 
Liverpool. In Liverpool City Region, the foundations of a high-value, innovation-led 
economy that can compete with the rest of the world are in place. 

Page 355



136 

Within Liverpool, the digital sector is growing, with companies specialising in video 
games development, virtual reality, and smart cities. This activity is fuelling Liverpool’s 
cultural economy, pioneering new ways to entertain and adding to the character of 
the city.  
With KQ Liverpool, the city has a magnet for innovative businesses and research 
institutions at its heart, the future site of cutting-edge healthcare facilities such as the 
one of the UK’s first proton beam cancer treatment centre. These will be some of the 
greenest developments in the country, exemplars of carbon neutral infrastructure, 
transport, and air quality, fit for the most innovative businesses. 
However, there is not yet the scale of effective collaboration between the City 
Region’s research institutions, innovation assets and business to sufficiently power 
the kind of innovation-led economy that will sustain the future prosperity of Liverpool 
City Region. 

The pandemic has put some of these developments at risk when they are most 
needed. In developed, urban economies, those organisations offering advanced 
services and developing cutting-edge technologies drive economic growth. They 
draw in skilled workers and investment and are most adaptive to the ruptures we are 
currently experiencing. Often the most productive and valuable businesses work to 
tackle the problems the world needs answers to. 

The COVID-19 pandemic risks arresting development momentum, forcing the 
Council to take on increased costs due to the slower uptake of units.  

Financial Case 

To maintain the momentum and move the project forward to delivery stage at pace, 
there are a number of aspects to both accelerate site assembly and, mitigate against 
investment risk as a direct result of Covid-19: 

• £13.5 for site acquisition and site assembly of targeted buildings and sites.
• Underwriting of speculative office building c.150,000 sq ft – to be developed

by Sciontec

This project will lever in £450m of private investment across 56 acres, delivering 2.5m 
ft2 of new development 

Page 356



137 

Economic Case 

The project will deliver a high-quality mixed-use development from the remediation 
of 56 acres of brownfield land, providing: 

• 2.5 m ft2 commercial space for the digital, tech and creative sectors;
• High quality public realm and open spaces;
• Improvement of an important part of the city centre heartland; and
• Delivery of sustainable development and improved city centre air quality

through the reduction in car usage and maximizing development adjacent to
public transport hubs.

The employment impact of the development will be considerable, creating: 
• 1,466 construction jobs
• 3,484 jobs upon completion

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 12.9 and present value of benefits of 
£174.2m 

Commercial Case 

To maintain the momentum and move the project forward to delivery stage at pace, 
there are a number of aspects to both accelerate site assembly and, mitigate against 
investment risk as a direct result of Covid-19: 

• £13.5m for site acquisition and site assembly of targeted buildings and sites.
• Underwriting of speculative office building c.150,000 ft2 – to be developed by

Sciontec
This project will lever in £450m of private investment across 56 acres, delivering 2.5m 
ft2 of new development 

Management Case 

The recent completion of the Sciontec joint venture, bringing in Bruntwood SciTech 
as an equity partner alongside existing partners LCC, LJMU and the UoL, represents 
a potential delivery option opportunity to bring forward early phases of Upper Central 
to deliver the proposed commercial space with existing stakeholders and landowners. 

Page 357



138 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The anticipated start date is Q3 2020: 
• The Upper Central SRF was adopted by Liverpool City Council in March 2020

and provides a strategic planning framework for coherent development to be
taken forward against.

• Discussions are well underway with key stakeholders in the area in respect of
possible JV/partnership working between LCC, LJMU, institutional investors,
landowners, and Network Rail.

LJMU’s Phase 1 at Copperas Hill is under construction and specific discussions around 
site assembly for early phases of commercial development with LJMU are 
progressing. 

Page 358



139 

20. Community and Voluntary Sector Response, Resilience and Capacity Fund

The Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise sector (VCFSE) plays a central 
role in the social and community fabric of the Liverpool City Region. It works to tackle 
inequalities and improve the lives of local people by complementing, adding value 
and improving access to frontline public services. The sector has unique access to 
and understanding of our most vulnerable communities and this has put the VCFSE 
sector at the centre of local pandemic response efforts. The VCFSE sector has 
mobilised and adapted quickly to the needs of pandemic response but this has 
depleted its resources and further eroded its resilience. We now have a unique and 
time limited opportunity to create a positive legacy of volunteering from the 
pandemic. To secure this legacy, we need to make sure the CVS has the capacity and 
resilience to continue to support the most vulnerable people in our City Region. The 
CVS Resilience and Capacity Fund would provide cross-sector funding to develop the 
sector’s long term capacity and resilience and help CVFSE organisations to replenish 
and prepare for their ongoing role in mitigating the worst effects of the pandemic. It 
will seek to ‘level up’ the sector and build on existing strengths to ensure the sector’s 
sustainable future.  

Stakeholders 

LCRCA, VS6, LCR Local Authorities, CVS organisations in LCR, volunteers, LCR 
residents.  

Request from HM Government 

£5m per year for 5 years. 

Strategic Case 

LCR has a large and active Voluntary, Community, Faith and Social Enterprise sector 
(VCFSE). The City Region is home to over 8,600 voluntary organisations, community 
groups and social enterprises, which employ around 24,000 FTE staff. It generates 
more than £920m GVA including £300m investment from trusts, funders and other 
sources outside the City Region.  

The sector plays a central role in the social and community fabric of the City Region; 
it works to tackle inequalities and improve the lives of local people by 
complementing, adding value and improving access to frontline public services. This 
role has never been more apparent than during the Covid-19 pandemic. The sector 
has a unique understanding of, access to and ability to engage with people and 
communities. In response to the pandemic, the sector has worked to identify, engage 

Page 359



140 

with and support people in the most vulnerable situations. This access and 
understanding has put the CVS (the local VCFSE strategic lead agencies) at the centre 
of pandemic response efforts. The CVS have coordinated a range of essential 
frontline services including emergency food provision, advice and advocacy, hands 
on support for people unable to access facilities and services (eg food and medicine 
collection) as well as mental health support. These services have been vital to 
ensuring that the most vulnerable people’s basic needs have been met during the 
crisis.  

The sector was quick to adapt to meet the needs of LCR communities during the 
pandemic. It had to simultaneously adapt its operations to lockdown, rapidly scale up 
activities and coordinate the work of an extra 5,000 volunteers. This has been a huge 
challenge and one that the sector has risen to with great success. For example, in 
May and June 2020 Halton and St Helens VCFSE has supported 20,000 people, made 
almost 12,000 wellbeing calls and delivered food and essentials to more than 25,000 
people. Sefton CVS has provided help and support to almost 5,000 residents, 
including help with shopping and medicines collection. Community Action Wirral has 
supported local partners to distribute over 16,000 emergency food hampers 
supporting almost 61,000 residents  

This picture is replicated nationally. Local CVFSE organisations have been key local 
enablers of recovery efforts across the UK. Their role was strengthened by the national 
Government’s NHS Responders volunteering campaign which helped to create a 
groundswell of volunteering activity and was part of a wider upsurge in community 
engagement during the pandemic. This volunteering and engagement momentum 
has fuelled the CVFSE sector’s response to COVID-19. We now need to maintain this 
momentum so that the sector can continue to work with the most vulnerable people 
in our communities as we move from response to recovery.  

We have a unique and time limited opportunity to create a positive legacy of 
volunteering from the pandemic. To secure this legacy, we need to make sure the 
VCFSE sector and its infrastructure bodies have the capacity and resilience to embed 
these volunteers into their local activities, sustain their longer term engagement and 
continue to support the most vulnerable. This means that we need to invest to help 
the sector to overcome long standing challenges related to:  

• Resources and Capacity: An extended period of austerity has both constrained
the sector’s resources and increased demand for its services. The sector was already 
operating beyond its optimal capacity and the pandemic has worsened matters by 
increasing demand and further eroding the sector’s income. The sector was agile and 
resilient enough to survive and maintain its contribution in the short term but this 
cannot be sustained indefinitely. 

Page 360



141 

• Co-ordination Resources: An unintended consequence of the upsurge in
volunteering is that it has further stretched the sector’s management and 
coordination capacity. The sector urgently needs to rebuild its coordination capability 
and capacity to ensure it can respond to future surges in demand as well as develop 
longer term resilience. 
• Lack of Long-term Investment: Funding for the sector is fragmented and often
piecemeal. Most CVFSE organisations survive on limited, sub-optimal funding and 
have little or no time, energy or resources for longer term activities that will build 
capacity and resilience. 
The VCFSE sector’s strong response to the first peak of the pandemic has used all of 
the sector’s resources. Staff and volunteers are fatigued by the amount of work they 
have done and concerned that the sector may not have the capacity or resources to 
respond to a second peak. The sector must now re-build its capacity at pace. This will 
be challenging given the significant recent loss of income (more than 60% of VCFSE 
organisations in the City Region report that they have lost income during the crisis), 
continued high level of demand, and the looming loss of EU funding that has 
supported the sector’s core activities for many years.  

The CVFSE will use its entrepreneurialism and ingenuity to survive through this crisis 
but without investment in its resilience, the sector will sustain further damage to its 
longer term sustainability. The CVS Resilience and Capacity Fund would provide 
cross-sector funding to develop the sector’s long term capacity and resilience and 
help the VCFSE infrastructure and local organisations to replenish and prepare for 
their ongoing role in mitigating the worst effects of the pandemic. It will seek to ‘level 
up’ the sector and build on existing strengths to ensure the sector’s sustainable 
future.  

Financial Case 

The £25m fund will look to invest £5m per year for 5 years across two sub-funds: 

The £5m CVS Resilience Fund will provide grants to support CVS infrastructure 
organisations to build long term cross sector resilience. The funding will be invested 
over a five year period and distributed across five investment objectives:  
• Consolidate the community response to Covid19
• Identify and embed new ways to work
• Increase digital skills and improve use of technology to make the sector more

effective
• Develop leadership and management capacity and capability
• Encourage more collaboration with the public and private sectors.

Page 361



142 

The £20m CVFSE Replenish and Respond Fund will invest in line with three 
objectives: 
• Help replenish the sector’s capacity
• Ensure local delivery organisations are ready to respond to subsequent

emergencies
Support the recovery effort with targeted interventions dependent on economic 
need. 

Economic Case 

This fund will seek to develop the capability and resilience in the sector in order to 
ensure its sustainable future. The direct effect of this would be to safeguard and 
sustain the significant level of employment and GVA supported by the sector (24,000 
employees, £920m GVA). The fund will also support the sector to grow, employ more 
people and create more wealth in the City Region.  
The economic case here is wider than the sector’s considerable economic impact. 
This is about ensuring that the sector can continue to help residents of the City Region 
address the challenges that national and mainstream provision doesn’t cover. 
Building the resilience and capacity of the sector will help ensure that it can continue 
to:  
• Help people of all ages to develop their skills and access employment: volunteers

develop a range of formal and informal skills ranging from less tangible benefits
like increased confidence through to formal qualifications or completion of
apprenticeships. These can go on to support people to access employment or
progress in their existing careers. This is one of the key ways by which society can
help people facing unemployment as a result of the labour market.

• Helping to stabilise and support people experiencing difficult personal
circumstances. CVFSE organisation play an essential role in giving access to basics
such as adequate housing and essential services when people cannot access
mainstream provision.

• Support improvements in health and wellbeing of volunteers and service users,
who can experience a range of physical and mental health benefits through
engagement.

• Provide services that lead to indirect cost savings for public sector bodies, eg by
relieving pressure on urgent and emergency care interventions or by reducing
overall demand for other services such as primary care, criminal justice and social
services. The City Region’s CVS coordination body (VS6) uses its representation
on the Cheshire and Merseyside health and social care body to explore how to
deepen its already essential role in supporting the NHS and public services in the
City Region.

Page 362



143 

• Play a role in levelling up access to services and opportunities in order to create a
fairer, more equal society and an inclusive economy in which all communities have
an opportunity to develop their health, wealth and wellbeing.

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 2.7 and present value of benefits of £40m. 

Commercial Case 

The Combined Authority’s experience of administering the LCR Cares grant 
programme (to support VCFSE organisations during the response phase of the 
pandemic) has demonstrated a significant need and latent demand for capacity 
building funding. LCR Cares has granted £1.4m to CVFSE organisations during the 
pandemic.  

We expect that current high levels of demand for the sector’s support and services 
will continue well into the recovery phase, so there will be a continued need for 
capacity focused funding irrespective of whether we experience a second peak of the 
virus. 

Management Case 

LCR has a strong, active and well organised VCFSE sector. The sector has a long 
tradition of administering significant amounts of European Funding and adhering to 
the administrative rigours that come with this. The sector’s long standing familiarity 
with European funding streams has given it an economic as well as people focus and 
there is a lot of capability and capacity within the City Region to administer and 
deliver a fund such as this.  
• Existing coordination infrastructure: Good infrastructure in place via VS6 (a

partnership of 10 support organisations who work to champion the role of the
VCFSE organisations in LCR). VS6 links into the City Region’s 8,600 VCFSE
organisations and helps them to collectively influence decision making,
coordinate their activities and improve the sector’s impact.

• Mobilisation and delivery capacity: The City Region can mobilise its resources
quickly and effectively. For example, the Combined Authority established the LCR
Cares fund in the early weeks of the pandemic. This distributed £1.4million to 300
organisations in the first 12 weeks of the pandemic.

Page 363



144 

• Embedded into wider public sector governance structures: The sector is uniquely
placed to understand and respond to the City Region’s economic and recovery
needs. VS6 is represented on the Cheshire and Merseyside Health and Care
partnership, the LCRLEP and has an advisory seat on the LCR Combined Authority.

The fund would draw on and use the existing sector infrastructure. The CVS Resilience 
Fund would be administered in partnership with VS6 and the VCFSE Replenish and 
Respond fund would be distributed using the existing LCR Cares framework, in 
partnership with the Community Foundation.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

The Resilience and Capacity Fund is shovel ready and can be up, running and 
distributing grants to the sector within 2 months.  

Page 364



145 

21. Ways to Work extension

The pioneering Ways to Work programme has been running in the City Region since 
2016, working with 25,000 people and supporting over 15,000 into work. It provides 
individual targeted support to unemployed people to help them identify, prepare for, 
and secure employment opportunities. The programme works closely with local 
employers and skills providers, aligning support to vacancies and skills shortages.  

Prior to the pandemic, Liverpool City Region had experienced significant labour 
market improvements; a very low rate of unemployment, falling levels of economic 
inactivity, and rising levels of employment since 2014. Despite this, the employment 
rate was still too low, and economic inactivity too high. The result - too many residents 
not able to access formal work in the City Region. As a result of COVID-19 pandemic 
there has already been a sharp reduction in new job vacancies in the City Region as 
well as in increase in universal credit claims. We expect the City Region to be one of 
the worst impacted by COVID-19 in terms of jobs losses, as a result of over-reliance 
on sectors most disrupted through the pandemic, i.e. retail and the visitor economy. 
This increased competition for fewer jobs could push those already seeking work 
further from the labour market, and risks widening existing employment gaps (set out 
in the strategic case).  

This project will provide additional job search and employment support for 
unemployed people and will continue to narrow gaps in economically active and 
employed residents to national averages.  

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Local Authorities, DWP / JCP, local 
employers, and National Careers Service.  

Request from HM Government 

£53m revenue over 3 years. 

Strategic Case 

Prior to the pandemic, Liverpool City Region had experienced significant labour 
market improvements; a very low rate of unemployment, falling levels of economic 
inactivity, and rising levels of employment since 2014. Despite this, the employment 
rate was still too low (72% compared to 75% nationally), and economic inactivity too 
high (26% compared to 22% nationally). The result - too many residents not able to 

Page 365



146 

access formal work in the City Region. There are also stark employment gaps in the 
City Region, particularly in terms of ethnicity, and disability. The employment rate for 
ethnic minorities is 57%, and for disabled 50% compared to an overall employment 
rate of 72% across the City Region.  

The pandemic will have a significant impact on the labour market. This is already 
showing through an increase in claims (1.5m nationally and 90k in the Liverpool City 
Region by the end of April 2020), and a reduction in new vacancies. We anticipate 
that despite the measure put in place through the Corona Virus Job Retention 
Scheme and Self-employed Income Support scheme, We expect the City Region to 
be one of the worst impact by COVID-19 in terms of jobs losses, almost 50% of 
workers are in sectors most disrupted throughout the pandemic ie retail and the 
visitor economy.  

Without intervention, there is significant risk of: short-term unemployment converting 
into longer-term unemployment which is more difficult to address. This also has knock 
on effects including increased levels of debt and financial insecurity and reduced 
mental health and wellbeing.  

The proposed intervention builds on the successful Ways to Work model of 
individualised advice and job search support which helps to tackle unemployment 
and align skills with vacancies in essential sectors. The support provided includes help 
preparing a CV, mock interviews, skills development, work experience placements 
and intensive job searches, all aimed at improving unemployed residents’ ability to 
find and secure work. This approach has seen demonstrable success in the City 
Region in supporting employers to recruit. In addition, flexible support will be 
provided to businesses who are about to make redundancies, enhancing the national 
Response to Redundancy Service provided by DWP.  

Financial Case 

£53m revenue funding would support 49,000 people over a 3-year period. These 
costs are based on the existing successful Ways to Work model and calibrated 
accordingly.  

Economic Case 

The intervention will support 49,000 people over a 3-year period with support to find 
and secure a job. Based on the success of the existing programme (adjusted for the 
impact of the pandemic) this would result in at least 14,700 residents supported into 
a successful job outcome.  

Page 366



147 

Outcomes and outputs will include support for over 50s, an equitable needs-based 
gender balance of support, support for disabled residents, BAME individuals, support 
for those living in a single adult household with dependent children and those who 
are at risk of homelessness or currently without a home. 

Evidence from previous recessions would suggest that extension of the Ways to Work 
programme could make a significant contribution towards recovery. The wage uplift 
associated with moving people into employment would lead to a net additional 
£404m GVA in the City Region in addition to net annual fiscal savings of £44m. 
The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 7.6 and present value of benefits is £404m. 

Commercial Case 

The programme extension would offer additional added value through existing staff 
and capacity as part of a scaled-up offer. Funding would allow the further 
development of the current LCR Website signposting offer to bring together a single 
point of access for the approaches of the 6 local authorities, DWP services including 
Find a Job, and JCP recruitment services alongside other vacancy and employment 
support offers. 

Management Case 

There is an established delivery framework demonstrated through the Ways to Work 
Delivery Partnership, having supported more than 26,000 workless local residents, 
placed more than 9,000 of these into work, volunteering or training and worked with 
local employers to create and secure jobs and employment opportunities for local 
residents. 

The Combined Authority and local authorities would support delivery offering: 
• a significant cross-sector recruitment support offer, particularly those impacted

by COVID-19 and those sectors that will require job growth in the recovery
period;

• coordinated delivery across the City Region, with demonstrable geographic
coverage; and over 300 qualified staff directly delivering employment support
advice to 49,000 residents over 3 years.

Timeline and Next Steps 

The programme outlined could be operational within days of confirmation of funding 
being confirmed as the service is currently operational but needs to identify future 
funding. 

Page 367



148 

22. Targeted support for specific groups

A programme of tailored support, signposting and advice convened at a City Region 
level in partnership with local authorities and the voluntary sector, complementing 
the universal offer available through Jobcentre Plus and Councils. The programme 
extends and complements existing delivery, offered where appropriate via defined 
“walk in” locations within a community and/or co-designed with target service user 
groups.  

Existing and increased barriers such as digital exclusion, poor transport and low-
grade housing have inhibited access to employment support. These issues are 
typically clustered geographically. Other non-geographically clustered groups, with 
characteristics such as disability, race or gender, require targeted support which is 
co-designed to factor the short, medium and long-term effects of COVID-19 on 
individuals and their opportunities.  

The programme looks to address these issues through locally accessible centres that 
provide support for the community.  

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Local Authorities, VCS Organisations, 
NHS, PHE, Trades Unions, DWP, DCMS, Registered Providers, TRAs, and Community 
representative bodies/umbrella organisations, relevant charities.  

Request from HM Government 

£10m revenue over 2 years. 

Strategic Case 

The COVID-19 pandemic is negatively affecting deprived communities (clustered 
geographically) and groups with certain characteristics including race, gender and 
disability. Issues include poor mental health, digital exclusion, insufficient housing or 
job support. These groups include the City Region’s c.225k economically inactive 
residents, those in debt and the unemployed. The pandemic has exacerbated these 
issues but also made it increasingly difficult for these affected groups to access 
support to address these issues. Intervention is therefore required to provide locally 
accessible, trusted and tailored support to ameliorate the deepening crisis.  

This project will complement universal provision and establish 6-10 community advice 
centres which would support 5,000 people over 2 years. This would be achieved 

Page 368



149 

through (i) location-based support centres in deprived communities and (ii) wider 
programmes targeting affected groups. The locations would be chosen to 
complement local retail or other community offers. The wider programmes will be 
finalised with the involvement of those communities being targeted to ensure 
maximum effectiveness, access and a necessary ability to match needs and actions as 
the effects of Covid become clearer.  

The programme addresses key local industrial strategy objectives of tackling poor 
health outcomes and other inequalities such as economic activity and digital poverty. 
The project would integrate with complementary programmes such as Households 
into Work (HiW), Housing First and LCR Cares. The approach will build upon 
traditional good practice such as Trade Union Unemployed Resource Centres, 
Citizens Advice Bureaux or “Sure Start” style identified community-based support.  

Financial Case 

£10m revenue (inclusive of admin costs at £0.25m) over 2 years to support 5,000 
people at a unit cost of £2k. Of those supported, 1,700 would be helped into work 
with fiscal savings of £52.5m and present value of benefits of £46.7m. 

Economic Case 

The programme will provide the following benefits: 
• Community-led advice to ensure trust and maximise accessibility
• Retain and build sense of community and shared identity/partnership
• Access to tailored support for 5,000 people
• Help 1,700 people into work
• Ameliorate effects of more entrenched inequality caused by the pandemic

This would safeguard 90 jobs for 2 years and deliver an annual economic impact of 
£12.7m, providing a 5 year Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) of 4.7.  

Commercial Case 

The deliverability of this programme is underpinned by existing partnerships and 
networks across the Liverpool City Region. The programme has been co-designed 
with local authority partners and we have well established projects within a number 
of the communities likely to be targeted such as HiW and Housing First.  

Given that there is an urgent need for support, which is only projected to run for 2 
years, the best delivery and outcomes would be achieved by adding value to existing 

Page 369



150 

programmes and networks, with this programme managed centrally (rather than 
procuring a central managing agent).  

Management Case 

LCR-CA will use its existing networks including the Fairness and Social Justice 
Advisory Board and Poverty and Life Chances Commission alongside existing 
networks to draw together the necessary approach to ensure full co-design of such 
programmes alongside an appropriate and robust reporting, assessment and 
accountability mechanism.  

This would be convened at a City Region level in partnership with Jobcentre Plus, 
local authorities and the voluntary sector, and be based upon existing delivery, 
including Directions, New Horizons, Ways to Work and Talent Match, adding value 
to what they are able to deliver. It would be delivered from defined “walk in” 
locations within a community such as a shopfront or community centre/charity 
premises, many of which already exist. The offer will pool current expertise and 
additional targeted support as identified either through partial and temporary 
relocation or partnership support.  

Upon approval, a full delivery and project plan with milestones and partners’ roles 
and responsibilities will be put in place to cover the proposed delivery period 
including identification of potential locations and likely target groups.  

As part of our programme design, delivery, assurance and evaluation principles we 
will include equality impact assessments to ensure that we secure fair and equitable 
participation on the programme. Specifically, to ensure that all users of the proposed 
activities have equal access and opportunities, that specific needs are addressed, and 
that diversity is promoted wherever possible in all that we do. Where appropriate the 
programme will target under-represented beneficiaries considering gender, race and 
disability and other underrepresented beneficiaries.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

A full commissioning timeframe would need to be developed for this work, although 
it is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12 weeks of confirmation of 
the funding being available, ideally from October 2020 for 2 years. 

Page 370



151 

23. Reskill and retrain

As part of our economic response to Covid-19, many skills and business focused key 
interventions inevitably must be shaped and delivered by means of taking a sectoral 
and cluster approach.  

This proposal sets out a menu of relevant employment and skills support interventions 
for all sectors that reflects the needs of individuals, sectors, and clusters (as part of 
place shaped delivery). The proposed interventions and delivery will out of necessity 
be flexible, agile and be reflective of need and be delivered through a strong 
relationship and client-centred approach. As key principles, they will support 
recovery, stability and growth. Interventions will support both individuals, and also 
have wider business benefits based on need. Proposals will be aligned and packaged 
with other skills interventions for both new entrants into a sector or job role, as well 
as to support existing staff in specific sectors to better meet current and emerging 
business priorities in a volatile socio-economic landscape.  

Stakeholders 

Sector bodies and boards/ Partnerships and Representative Bodies e.g. Science 
Industry Partnership; VE Board; Construction Forum DWP; Local Authorities; LCR 
Health and Social Care Partnerships; The Growth Hub; Skills and Apprenticeship Hub; 
Independent Training Providers; Colleges and LCRCA. 

Request from HM Government 

£46m revenue over 3 years. 

Strategic Case 

Despite significant improvements in recent years, the overall levels of skills and 
qualifications of Liverpool City region residents remains below national levels. 
Businesses locally consistently report specific skills gaps that they are unable to 
address. The current economic crisis has shone a light on the need for particular skills 
sets (e.g. digital), and there is a need to narrow these skills gaps.  

There are a number of external factors which were evident before the crisis, and which 
are now in sharper relief as part of recovery: these include increased automation, 
changes to retail and Town Centre usage, more deployment of artificial intelligence 
and the UK’s departure from the EU. There is a need to enhance the overall level of 
skills of residents (especially digital skills) and to improve specific skill sets as these 
are requested by businesses: these include agile, remote and flexible working 

Page 371



152 

through the use and adoption of new technology; cyber security; transnational 
marketing and trading; use of new green and environmentally friendly technologies; 
Data analysis / analytics, Artificial intelligence, Virtual reality solutions; facilitation of 
the use and adoption of digital and technology solutions in Health and Social Care 
provision. Timely skilled focused support for individuals, or where businesses have to 
adapt to new business markets, will be a key component of recovery. Enabling 
businesses to recruit and retain workers with the right skills and ensuring that 
prospective employees acquire the skills they need to secure and retain productive 
employment, will be critical to unlocking business recovery and growth. This will help 
minimise the risk of individuals becoming long term unemployed, and in ensuring 
that we can build economic prosperity. Failure to do so means that people are less 
likely to get jobs and businesses are less likely to improve their productivity. 

As part of our economic response to Covid-19, many skills and business focused key 
interventions inevitably must be shaped and delivered through a sectoral and cluster 
approach. Meeting the skills needs of our key sectors and clusters, as part of thriving 
eco-systems and placed based economic development approaches will be key 
elements of recovery and growth. This will require a flexible approach, organising 
around the needs of people and businesses and being clear about what the offer is. 
It is also likely that further programmes will emanate from HMG during the recovery 
period, and one of the challenges will be cohere and communicate offers so that 
people and businesses can make informed choices about what works best for them. 

Financial Case 

The proposed package of investment over three years of £46m will support 22,500 
individuals in 2,000 businesses with wider business and sector specific interventions. 
Despite this scale of investment, delivery will require a nuanced and sectorally 
targeted methodology and be responsive to sectoral, business or individual needs. 
This provides a scale of opportunity enabling sectors and businesses of multiple sizes 
to reap the economic benefits of a relevant skills support programme. There is an 
expectation that whilst training would be free to people, businesses would be 
required to co-invest resources.  

The economic impact of Covid-19 on all businesses- especially SMEs- is substantial 
and many interventions could be the difference between business survival and 
business failure. Investment interventions that helps facilitate a business to a position 
of earning revenue through delivering its products and services back into the market 
place, whilst supporting its ability to stabilise, grow and thrive will be essential in the 
wider socio economic environment.  

Page 372



153 

Economic Case 

A three-year support programme is proposed beginning in Autumn 2020 that will 
identify the key inputs required in consultation with businesses and people. These 
would evolve over time depends upon the needs of people and businesses, and the 
economy as a whole. This would build upon current delivery approaches and 
programmes, across digital skills, Be More Skills Fund and colleges, training providers 
and universities. Specific targeted outreach will encourage take up to narrow gaps for 
particular groups or communities e.g. people with disabilities, those from BAME 
communities.  

The phasing of delivery would need review as it is likely that this will ramp up over 
time, as new needs and opportunities are clearly identified. Delivery will build on the 
stakeholder and partnership strengths across the City Region and the strength of 
business and sectoral knowledge.  

Assuming that all 22,500 learners gain the equivalent of a full Level 3 qualification, 
this would produce £9.5m fiscal savings. This would produce a payback period of 
around 4½ years based upon net annual fiscal savings, thought the contribution to 
improved productivity levels would be in excess of this.  

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 2.5. 

Commercial Case 

The deliverability of this sector and cluster focused programme of activity is 
underpinned by existing employment and skills partnerships and networks across the 
Liverpool City Region. In addition, we will utilise our existing networks- such as sector 
boards, The Growth Platform and sectoral partnerships- such as the Science Industry 
Partnership and the construction network- to engage with employers.  
Working with employers and their partners at all stages of programme design and 
delivery as a key principle will ensure that the skills needs of employers and their 
employees will be matched strongly during the programme of activities. Activities are 
not intended to displace other activities.  

Page 373



154 

Management Case 

Upon approval, a full delivery and project plan with milestones and partners’ roles 
and responsibilities will be put in place to cover the proposed 36 month delivery 
period. The project plan will include business assurance arrangements that include 
risk management strategies and risk assessment plans to minimise the risk of failing 
to deliver the outcomes proposed. As part of our programme design, delivery, 
assurance and evaluation principles we will include equality impact assessments to 
ensure that we secure fair and equitable participation on the programme.  

A full commissioning framework and timeline would need to be developed for this 
work; this is especially critical whilst any Covid-19 restrictions remain in place. The 
planned interventions do not displace current delivery, add value, and do not 
retrospectively fund current or previous activity. Interventions are based on practical 
deliverable commissioning plans and build on existing models. Key barriers to 
delivery have been considered both internally and externally by a range of 
stakeholders and partners  

As part of our programme design, delivery, assurance and evaluation principles we 
will include equality impact assessments to ensure that we secure fair and equitable 
participation on the programme. Specifically, to ensure that all users of the proposed 
activities have equal access and opportunities, that specific needs are addressed, and 
that diversity is promoted wherever possible in all that we do. Where appropriate the 
programme will target under-represented beneficiaries considering gender, race and 
disability and other underrepresented beneficiaries.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

A full commissioning timeframe would need to be developed for this work, although 
it is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12-16 weeks.  

Page 374



155 

24. Graduate employment programme

Evidence from previous recessions suggests that graduating from university during a 
prolonged economic downturn has a large and persistent effect on wages throughout 
an individual’s career. This results in lower lifetime earnings than those entering the 
labour market at more favourable times, and causes jobs considered lower skilled 
(and lower paid) to be undertaken by individuals with comparatively high levels of 
qualifications.  

The project would result in the creation of 5,000 paid graduate internships in SMEs, 
that puts in place a 12-18 month programme to ensure the retention of graduate level 
skills in the City Region, which supports business recovery by providing an accessible 
and local skills/vacancy matching offer, and with the possibility of a Postgraduate 
element to reflect higher skills and a later graduation date.  

Stakeholders 

Universities; Employers; Employer representative bodies; Trades Unions (including 
student unions) DWP; VCS Organisations and representative bodies/umbrella 
organisations; LCRCA; The Growth Company. 

Request from HM Government 

£10m over 2 years. 

Strategic Case 

This business case is part of a people-focused recovery that protects our progress 
over the last decade. Skills and employment will need to be addressed alongside 
improving health, wealth and wellbeing for everyone in order to drive inclusive 
economic growth. The skills dimension to the economic recovery will support people 
into work and ensure through retraining ensures their skills remain relevant and 
contribute to local productivity.  

The City Region is in the top three of all Local Enterprise Partnerships for growth in 
the number of working age residents with NVQ4+ qualifications out of all LEPs, while 
the number of people with no qualifications has more than halved since 2004. Despite 
significant improvement, the proportion of people qualified to degree level is six 
percentage points lower than the national average. Our universities are a good source 
of highly skilled talent in the City Region, however evidence identifies two issues in 
the graduate labour market in the LCR. Firstly, while the City Region has good 
graduate retention rates for home-grown students, retention rates are low for those 

Page 375



156 

not originally domiciled in the City region. Secondly, graduates who do stay in the 
City Region typically end up in employment not aligned to their skill and qualification 
level, with local evidence suggesting this is due to a lack of suitable graduate 
opportunities in the City Region. This is particularly acute in SME businesses.  

There are a number of market failures which could prevent SMEs employing 
graduates: information asymmetries are at play, with many SME employers not 
understanding the potential benefit of a graduate and seeing the upfront costs in 
recruitment and training as risky. This is exacerbated by labour market mobility – 
these upfront costs in training may not be realised in the long term if the graduate 
moves on to another employer.  

Evidence shows that graduate employment markets become even more depressed 
following a recession, despite the recognition that maintaining and developing a 
pipeline of high skilled workers is key to driving economic growth in the longer term. 

The proposed intervention will work closely with Universities and local businesses to 
provide paid internships for students who are at or have studied at a University in the 
LCR. Internships will overcome information failures among SMEs, who will experience 
the benefit graduates can bring to a business, while improving the skills and 
employability of the graduate in what will be a challenging labour market to graduate 
into.  

Previous Government-commissioned impact evaluations of Graduate internship 
programmes have indicated positive benefits. Many saw the experience as their first 
step along the road to meeting their career ambitions, which they might not have 
taken without the kick-start of securing an internship.  

Financial Case 

Across our 6 HEIs more than 8,000 students graduate each year. The proposed option 
requires a total investment of £10,000,000 to support 2,500 graduates each year. In 
total, the 5,000 paid internships will have a unit cost of £2,000. This provides a scale 
of opportunity enabling graduates and SME employers to reap the economic benefits 
of the programme in support of ensuing a skilled and talented pool of graduates able 
to add value in the local City Region economy.  

The design and subsequent delivery of the proposed programme will be sufficiently 
flexible so as to maximise the potential to blend activities and this approach with any 
funding secured for a wider Future Jobs Fund offer, either as a specific but distinctly 
branded element or a separate scheme funded via the same source.  

Page 376



157 

Economic Case 

Graduate (paid) internships of the type proposed have many economic benefits to 
the intern and the employer and secure high value for money.  

The challenge locally is not the lack of graduates who wish to stay locally but the low 
level of graduate level jobs. This initiative then would allow graduates to develop 
work experience locally and for SMEs to have an injection of a different skill set, 
providing additional capacity and capability for the business.  

The paid internships would result in improved skills and employability of graduates 
at a time of challenging labour market conditions, and greater appetite among SME 
businesses to employ graduates due to greater understanding of the benefits. This 
will improve the availability of quality graduate jobs available locally, skills-led growth 
and wage uplifts for graduates, resulting in GVA benefits.  

5,000 paid Internships at a unit cost of £2,000 would deliver 3,750 job outcomes. The 
economic benefit associated with this is derived from the increased wages the 
graduates receive when compared to a lower paid job in the LCR or unemployment. 
The GVA impact of these wage uplifts are £92m, delivering a BCR of 9.2. There are 
also fiscal savings associated with the programme if it successfully prevents 
unemployment. Fiscal savings are £11.25m. 

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 9.2 and present value of benefits is £92m. 

[1] Data sources : LEO; TEF; HEIDI

Commercial Case 

The deliverability of this graduate internship programme is underpinned by an 
existing employment and skills partnership and network across the Liverpool City 
Region. We already meet regularly with senior directors and Pro-vice chancellors and 
Vice-Chancellors from local HEIs- including those responsible for University Careers 
services and Employment outcomes and have delivered graduate employment 
related programmes previously.  

In addition, we will utilise our existing network s- such as sector boards, The Growth 
Platform and sectoral partnerships such as the Science Industry Partnership and the 
construction network - to engage with employers.  

Page 377



158 

Working with employers and their partners at all stages of programme design and 
delivery as a key principle will ensure that the skills needs of employers and graduates 
will be matched strongly during the programme of activities. This will avoid displacing 
opportunities that may ordinarily be available for those with lower level skills and help 
minimise underutilisation of skills in job roles which arguably should be available for 
non-graduates.  

There are existing delivery partnerships and networks in place across Universities in 
the City Region, and these can be utilised as the basis for the rapid implementation 
of this programme.  

Management Case 

Upon approval, a full delivery and project plan with milestones and partners’ roles 
and responsibilities will be put in place to cover the proposed 12-18-month delivery 
period. The project plan will include business assurance arrangements that include 
risk management strategies and risk assessment plans to minimise the risk of failing 
to deliver the outcomes proposed.  

A full commissioning framework and timeline would need to be developed for this 
work, although it is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12 weeks 
and manage effectively; this is especially critical whilst any Covid-19 restrictions 
remain in place. The planned interventions add value, they do not displace current 
delivery, and do not retrospectively fund current or previous activity. Interventions 
are based on practical deliverable commissioning plans and build on existing models. 

As part of our programme design, delivery, assurance and evaluation principles we 
will include equality impact assessments to ensure that we secure fair and equitable 
participation on the programme. Specifically, to ensure that all users of the proposed 
activities have equal access and opportunities, that specific needs are addressed, and 
that diversity is promoted wherever possible in all that we do. Where appropriate the 
programme will target under-represented beneficiaries considering gender, race and 
disability and other underrepresented beneficiaries.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

It is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12 weeks. The envisaged 
timeframe would reflect positively on universities’ Graduate Outcome scores (as 
measured 15 months post -graduation).  

Page 378



159 

25. Sustainable job creation programme

Prior to the pandemic, LCR had made significant progress against key indicators 
closing many of the gaps with national averages. The current crisis has resulted in 
significant numbers of people becoming unemployed, allied to increasing concern 
of a further spike in numbers following the end of the current Government funded 
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. At the same time large numbers of vacancies are 
available in specific sectors at the heart of the COVID19 response including those in 
social care and health, food production, retail and distribution and logistics.  

The Sustainable Job Creation programme would focus on over 25s to allow the 
development of work experience and provide key worker employers with recruitment 
support and individuals with a conduit to continued employment within key sectors. 
Temporary employment solutions could meet peaks in demand in key sectors and in 
the medium-term offer redeployment to other essential sectors.  

Stakeholders 

Employers, TUC, DWP, existing local ILM schemes, social enterprises, Local 
Authorities, JCP, NCS, LEP/Growth Platform, LCRCA. 

Request from HM Government 

£180,000,000 would be required over 2.5 years. 

Strategic Case 

As part of a people-focused recovery that protects our progress over the last decade, 
skills and employment will need to be addressed alongside improving health, wealth 
and wellbeing for everyone in order to drive inclusive economic growth. The skills 
dimension to the economic recovery will support people into work and ensure 
through retraining their skills remain relevant and contribute to local productivity.  

Prior to the pandemic, Liverpool City Region had a relatively low rate of 
unemployment and falling levels of economic inactivity. The result of this, was an 
increase in employment, which was growing each year since 2014. It is expected that 
these trends will reverse as a result of COVID19. As a result of the pandemic and 
lockdown, the amount of new vacancies has fallen by 55%, further pushing those now 
unemployed further from the prospect of employment. The economic impact of the 
COVID-19 health crisis has led to an increased number of people being unemployed, 
who would normally be in work: to date, over 65,000 new claims for Universal Credit 
have been made from City Region residents, of which 78% have been aged 25 or 

Page 379



160 

over – this would complement the Kickstarter jobs being created for 16-24 year olds. 
Businesses are not able to create sufficient jobs to meet the increased demand for 
them, and there is a significant risk of there being long term widespread 
unemployment, with the consequent economic and social costs.  

Building on the successful post 2008 Financial Crisis Future Jobs Fund model and 
3,000 roles delivered since 2016 by Ways to Work, the Sustainable Job Creation 
Programme would help tackle unemployment and meet vacancy needs in essential 
sectors. This could be focused upon keyworker support, matching those looking for 
work with vacancies in key sectors via match funded placements for a minimum of 6 
months, with incentives for employers offering roles at Real Living Wage or above: 
participating employers may be required to sign up to Fair Employment Charter 
principles in order to access support. Building on the Support for temporary 
employment would provide a significant contribution towards economic recovery and 
support for employers and could be seen as an exit route for employers from the 
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme whilst providing a route to continuous 
employment for individuals.  

Financial Case 

An investment of £180m would see 18,000 jobs across the City Region created at a 
unit rate of £10,000 per job. Using the cautious 40% job sustainment rate delivered 
through Future Jobs Fund, this would see 7,500 finding work subsequently. The 
capability to meet the financial management requirements of the work would be 
supported by LCRCA and the work of Local Authorities and key committed 
employers.  

Economic Case 

Without intervention to incentivise further temporary employment opportunities, 
short term unemployment could spiral into the longer term: the longer somebody has 
been out of work, the harder it is for them to return.  

Evidence from previous recessions would suggest that a job subsidy scheme, 
modelled on and learning from Future Jobs Fund would make a significant 
contribution towards recovery. A subsidy programme to encourage employers to 
create temporary jobs would be from 6-12 months in length, depending upon the 
needs and position of the individual being helped. £180m will support 18,000 
individuals across the City Region into temporary positions, with 7,500 going on to 
find permanent work. Assuming that they were all in receipt of the equivalent of 
Jobseekers’ Allowance, this would see fiscal savings of £21.6m and present value of 
benefits of £366m. 

Page 380



161 

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 2.0 and present value of benefits is £366m. 

Commercial Case 

The deliverability of a local temporary employment scheme is underpinned by an 
existing employment and skills provider delivery network operating locally through 
both AEB contracted provision and ESF demonstrating a successful track record of 
employment and skills commissioning locally. External partners have also helped 
inform the potential for any displacement of existing programmes and align the aims 
of interventions to emerging local needs.  

The majority of temporary jobs would be within the private or public sectors, and in 
those roles where there is the best chance of people gaining work after the temporary 
job: examples could include retrofitting, care, steel erectors, IT coders or customs 
agents. The jobs would be additional and not replace or displace any existing roles. 
85% of the job roles would be delivered through Councils, with the balance delivered 
through CVS organisations.  

Management Case 

A full commissioning timeframe would need to be developed for this work, although 
it is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12 weeks. The planned 
interventions do not displace current delivery and are not retrospectively funding 
current or previous activity. Interventions are based on practical deliverable 
commissioning plans with the experience of managing the devolved budgets and job 
creation tracking from previous programmes.  

Jobs would be offered out in phases and designed to support people who were a 
little further away from the labour market; typically, this could be somebody who has 
been out of work for around 4-8 months, is just returning from caring responsibilities, 
a care leaver or somebody who is now on an active sickness benefit. Referrals would 
come through from Jobcentre Plus or through self-referral to Ways to Work services. 

As part of our programme design, delivery, assurance and evaluation principles we 
will include equality impact assessments to ensure that we secure fair and equitable 
participation on the programme. Specifically, to ensure that all users of the proposed 
activities have equal access and opportunities, that specific needs are addressed, and 
that diversity is promoted wherever possible in all that we do. Where appropriate the 
programme will target under-represented beneficiaries considering gender, race and 
disability and other underrepresented beneficiaries.  

Page 381



162 

Timeline and Next Steps 

A full commissioning timeframe would need to be developed for this work, although 
it is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12 weeks of confirmation of 
funding.  

Page 382



163 

26. Entrepreneur Development Programme

The Entrepreneur Development Programme will provide support to individuals who 
have lost their job as a result of the pandemic and have the potential and ambition 
to start their own business. There are 150k people in the City Region currently 
benefitting from the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. Local consultation suggests 
that a substantial proportion of these could be at risk of redundancy as the scheme is 
wound down. Experience of previous recessions highlights potential for an increase 
in ‘necessity entrepreneurship’ and an increase self-employment. We need to ensure 
there is adequate support of sufficient intensity to enable and encourage start-up 
activity and maximise survival rates.  

The programme will expand the support currently available to people seeking to start 
their own business in anticipation of increased demand and need for more intensive 
support. The high intensity programme will be delivered in cohorts of 40 over a three 
month period and focused around the transformational opportunities identified in the 
Local Industrial Strategy. The support will be delivered via a series of workshops, 
providing training and skills development, networking opportunities and high quality 
financial, professional and legal advice. Participants will also have access to a mentor, 
start-up finance and assistance to identify and secure other funding opportunities. 
The programme will maximise survival rates by ensuring both the entrepreneur and 
the business has the skills, support and resources for success.  

Stakeholders 

Federation of Small Businesses, Chambers of Commerce, Professional and Business 
Service sector board, Local Authorities, Growth Hub, Entrepreneurship Hub, LCRCA. 

Request from HM Government 

£10.25m revenue over 2 years. 

Strategic Case 

There are 150k people in the City Region currently benefitting from the Coronavirus 
Job Retention Scheme. Local consultation suggests that many could be made 
redundant as the scheme is wound down. A third of respondents to a survey of local 
employers indicated that they expected to make redundancies this year; on average 
respondents expect to make 23% of their workforce redundant.  

Evidence from previous recessions shows an increase in the number of people who 
start their own business following a recession. This is often driven by the challenging 

Page 383



164 

labour market conditions during a recession and the prevalence of ‘necessity 
entrepreneurship’. Trading conditions will be challenging for these new businesses 
and many will be led by first time entrepreneurs. We must support these businesses 
to ensure their survival and sustainability and enable them to make a long-term 
contribution to the City Region’s economy. This is especially important given the low 
business density in the City Region (the third lowest of all Local Enterprise Partnership 
areas).  

Existing provision for start-ups in the City Region is dominated by light touch and low 
intensity support. International evidence shows that higher intensity support which 
provides access to high quality mentors, personal development opportunities and 
finance tends to be most effective in supporting people to start successful businesses. 
Such programmes require public investment given that participants typically cannot 
pay for the support themselves. There is currently a lack of this type of support in the 
City Region’s business support portfolio.  

The proposed intervention will extend and enhance current mainstream support 
provision to an additional 5,000 entrepreneurs. It will use this broader reach of these 
services to identify high growth potential business ideas and entrepreneurs who may 
benefit from more intensive support. The programme will provide intensive support 
to 160 individuals per annum for 2 years. The intensive programme will include a 
series of workshops, training and skills development, networking opportunities, high 
quality financial, professional and legal advice, access to a mentor, access to start up 
finance and identifying and securing other funding opportunities.  

Financial Case 

An investment of £10.25m revenue over 2 years would enable light touch support to 
be provided to 5,000 entrepreneurs who are wishing to set up their own business and 
intensive support to 320 of these. The unit cost per intensive assist would be in the 
region of £30,000. 

Economic Case 

By supporting people into self-employment the programme can ensure replacement 
of jobs and capacity in the LCR economy lost as a result of Covid whilst also 
channelling potential entrepreneurs into sectors and opportunities that need filling 
or have the potential to grow, increasing the resilience of the LCR economy and 
providing wider economic benefit.  

Economic benefits are delivered as a result of employment creation in the new 
businesses that are established as a result of the programme. Of the 4.6k individuals 

Page 384



165 

supported, we estimate that 50% of these will establish a successful business (that 
survives a minimum of three years) and will deliver 5,000 net additional jobs in the 
economy. This has a GVA impact £81m and a BCR of 7.9. As a result of reducing 
benefit claims from beneficiaries, the scheme also delivers net annual fiscal savings 
of c.£4.5m and so has a payback period of just over 2 years.  

Commercial Case 

The deliverability of this bespoke self-employment programme is underpinned by an 
existing strong partnership and network with key stakeholders across the Liverpool 
City Region. The project would be managed though existing delivery consortia, 
including the Entrepreneurship Hub, Growth Hub, Councils, colleges, training 
providers and Universities. This minimises risk and allows delivery to be clearly 
focused and to ramp up quickly. 

We already meet regularly with Chambers of Commerce, Representative Bodies, 
Local Enterprise Partnerships and voluntary sector colleagues, including those 
responsible for providing self-employment support and who have delivered similar 
programmes previously. 

Working with stakeholders and their partners at all stages of programme design and 
delivery as a key principle will ensure that the skills needs of self-employed people 
will be matched strongly during the programme of activities. To ensure that the 
programme is suitable and successful. We would work with key partners to identify 
appropriate areas in the economy where support might be directed and be most 
likely to be successful. 

Management Case 

Upon approval, a full delivery and project plan with milestones and partners’ roles 
and responsibilities will be put in place to cover the proposed delivery period. The 
project plan will include business assurance arrangements that include risk 
management strategies and risk assessment plans to minimise the risk of failing to 
deliver the outcomes proposed. 

A full commissioning framework and timeline would need to be developed for this 
work, although it is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12 weeks 
and manage effectively; this is especially critical whilst any Covid-19 restrictions 
remain in place. The planned interventions add value, do not displace current 
delivery, and do not retrospectively fund current or previous activity. Interventions 
are based on practical deliverable commissioning plans and build on existing models. 

Page 385



166 

As part of our programme design, delivery, assurance and evaluation principles we 
will include equality impact assessments to ensure that we secure fair and equitable 
participation on the programme. Specifically, to ensure that all users of the proposed 
activities have equal access and opportunities, that specific needs are addressed, and 
that diversity is promoted wherever possible in all that we do. Where appropriate the 
programme will target under-represented beneficiaries considering gender, race and 
disability and other underrepresented beneficiaries. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

A full commissioning timeframe would need to be developed for this work, although 
it is envisaged a programme could be operational within 12 weeks of confirmation of 
funding. 

Page 386



167 

27. New Housing Delivery

Housing led regeneration forms a key theme of the Liverpool City Region Recovery 
Plan. LCR is a great place to live with an amazing cultural offer, green infrastructure 
and sense of community. However large areas of our housing stock is single housing 
types demonstrated by the fact that almost 70% of local housing stock is in council 
tax band A or B, compared to an average of 44% in England. We have strategic, 
predominantly brownfield sites which could be developed for new housing delivery. 
To attract and retain the people we need for our economic growth to meet our 
ambitions we need to increase quantity, quality and affordable homes  

Announced and costed by Government in the March 2020 budget, the Brownfield 
Land Fund and Single Housing Infrastructure Fund will help the City Region achieve 
its goals. We seek to have this funding locally devolved (£45m Brownfield Land Fund, 
£285m Single Housing Infrastructure Fund). Through devolution, we can ensure 
synergy with other existing funds, maximise interventions in placemaking, and deliver 
the wider strategic housing objective identified in the City Region Housing 
Statement. We in the City Region are best placed to understand our housing market 
and local need. We seek local coordination and management, collaboration and 
accountability to implement national programming at a local level through use of 
devolved funds.  

The Brownfield Land Fund will help bring forward brownfield land for new housing 
development. Longer term, the Single Housing Infrastructure Funding is to be 
allocated to de-risk key strategic housing sites for private sector development to 
deliver the housing required to address the housing needs of the existing population 
and attract the people with the skills to continue to grow the local economy.  

Funding requested here will enable the Combined Authority to support the delivery 
of 13,000 new homes together with providing a short-term stimulus to the 
construction industry and the retention of key construction skills. We will work with 
the Manufacturing Technology Centre to deliver homes using modern methods of 
construction. Details of this are set out elsewhere in this plan. 

Stakeholders 

City Region Combined Authority, Homes England, Registered Providers, Local 
Authorities, Private Developers, MTC. 

Page 387



168 

Request from HM Government 

Initial: £5m of capacity funding and £45m Brownfield Land Fund plus Stimulus 
Package of £35m 

Medium term: Single Housing Infrastructure Fund of £285m 

Strategic Case 

The City Region has an ambition to deliver new housing to meet its aspirations for 
economic growth whilst still addressing the housing needs of the existing population. 
The Combined Authority has adopted, where possible, a policy of brownfield land 
first development meaning that many of the housing sites are difficult and expensive 
to develop. With lower housing values in many areas this can make viability extremely 
difficult.  

COVID-19 will lead to a decrease of up to 40% in house building this year. The ability 
to provide a stimulus to the existing developers, target difficult brownfield land and 
de-risk more strategic sites to provide a pipeline of suitable housing delivery sites is 
critical. The ability of the public sector to prepare key sites for private developers 
whilst at the same time as improving the design quality and housing mix to meet 
economic growth is vital to our housing success.  

The CA have identified a housing sites pipeline with the Local Authorities This has 
helped identify key strategic sites which require intervention to enable new housing 
to be delivered to meet the needs of the City Region’s economy. It is anticipated that 
the key strategic sites could deliver around 13,000 new homes. 

Demand for new privately-owned housing has decreased whilst a pent up demand 
for affordable housing is anticipated in light of the economic effects of the lockdown. 
To provide an initial housing stimulus package it is proposed to work with developers 
in the City Region to purchase stock plots, particularly on those sites which previously 
had no affordable housing, to provide RPs with more affordable housing. This will 
then stimulate further house building in the City Region.  

Modern Methods of Construction (MMC) will be an integral part of the delivery of 
suitable housing schemes aligning with the Manufacturing Technology Centre (MTC) 
funding bid elsewhere in this recovery plan with up to 3,000 homes being built using 
the findings of the first phase of the MTC project to deliver cost savings, speedier 
development times and improved quality of housing finish.  

Page 388



169 

The sites of the interventions will set high standards to ensure that high quality, 
sustainable communities will be created, raising the design standard in the City 
Region. All sites will undergo peer review through the City Region Design Champion 
to ensure best practice advice is provided prior to planning submissions.  

Financial Case 

The City Region is asking for £5m capacity funding, £45m Brownfield Land Funds and 
£285m Single Housing Infrastructure Funds to bring forward land with the potential 
to deliver over 13,000 homes almost one third of which will be built using new 
processes of MMC. Both Funds have already been identified in Government budgets. 

The standard housing intervention benchmark is c£43,000 per home and this bid 
comes under that benchmark showing good value for money.  

With traditionally lower housing values in the City Region this makes the viability of 
some brownfield sites more difficult to deliver and grant intervention is required to 
make these more attractive. Otherwise greenfield sites tend to come forward as 
simpler to deliver than brownfield sites to the detriment of the natural environment.  

Economic Case 

An initial seven key sites have been identified within majority LA ownership to spend 
£45m of the Brownfield Land Fund to bring forward remediation to enable 
development to commence. This would enable land for over 13,000 homes to be 
remediated and prepared for viable high quality housing schemes with mixed tenure 
homes to come forward on brownfield land.  

The Single Housing Infrastructure Fund this will focus on larger strategic sites that 
require key upfront infrastructure to enable the quicker delivery of housing to de-risk 
sites for the private sector to deliver. This will include: 
• Land Assembly – to enable schemes to come forward in a comprehensive manner;
• Remediation on brownfield land;
• Road infrastructure including cycle provision both on and off site to deliver

enough capacity for housing schemes;
• CHP systems to integrate renewable community energy to reduce carbon

emissions;
• Green infrastructure to provide high quality place-making at the heart of new

schemes.
• For the SHIF funding it is estimated that over 10,000 homes will be brought

forward more quickly than without intervention and that up to 15% of these overall
will be affordable homes to meet housing need.

Page 389



170 

Construction will also provide employment opportunities in the construction sector 
with 9200 jobs estimated and 1,840 new learners assisted. In line with local policies 
local labour contracts will be preferred and training opportunities as well as 
apprenticeships will be included in contracts to maximise the benefits locally.  

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 3.4 and present value of benefits is £136m. 

Commercial Case 

The Combined Authority has the experience to deliver funding where most needed 
in knowing the local sites and markets. Funding bids will be received and assessed 
using their existing criteria, plus any additional requirements of either funds to ensure 
compliance and delivery of required outputs. Value for money and economic business 
case will be a key component of any assessment to ensure a commercial deal is 
delivered.  

The Brownfield Land Fund and Single Housing Infrastructure Fund will be used to 
maximise place-making and impact in aligning with other CA funds such as the Town 
Centre Fund so delivering through one mechanism will allow this to happen on a 
more strategic and coherent basis. 

Management Case 

The CA has the existing decision-making structures, key relationships and staff to 
deliver the proposed funds to allow housing to come forward.  

Officer level meetings happen every 2 weeks between the CA and Homes England 
to ensure information sharing and synergy of programmes.  

The CA has identified short-term capacity funding to progress the delivery plans for 
each individual site but required more such funding to ensure they will be deliverable 
over the next 5 years to ensure a timely delivery of new sites to housing developers.  

Page 390



171 

Timeline and Next Steps 

Capacity funding of £1m initially has been granted by the CA to the City Region Local 
Authorities to advance delivery plans. Once Brownfield Land Fund allocation to the 
CA is confirmed, projects can be submitted within 3 months and start on site in 3-5 
months after that.  

• Confirmation of Brownfield Land Fund allocation to CA
• Submission of Brownfield Land Fund projects for funding – Oct 2020
• Start on site for Brownfield Land Fund projects – end 2020
• Confirmation of Single Housing Infrastructure Fund – early 2021
• Submission of SHIF projects – mid 2021

Start on site of SHIF projects – early 2022 

Page 391



172 

28. An upgraded, sustainable Cruise Liner Terminal

Liverpool’s visitor economy is a key sector to the City Region economy, and a new 
cruise liner terminal will increase cruise related visitor spend in the City Region from 
£7m to £13m per annum. This will support the City Region’s economic growth 
objective by encouraging investment in Liverpool’s globally competitive maritime 
and visitor economies. Liverpool’s cruise port is on its world-famous waterfront, and 
the improved terminal will raise the international profile and brand of Liverpool to 
visitors from all over the world – helping its marketability as an attractive investment 
destination. 
The new ‘turnaround’ Cruise Liner Terminal (CLT) will be a transformational 
infrastructure project for the City Region. It is a key infrastructure project to increase 
the capacity of the existing terminal so that it can accommodate larger vessels (three 
times the size of the current capacity) and also low larger cruise ships to call into port 
as well as cruise turnaround (i.e. for cruise ships to start and end their trips in Liverpool 
rather than stopping only for visits). The 11,000sqm facility at the Princes Jetty site 
will replace the existing temporary terminal. 
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) previously approved an 
investment of £20m to Liverpool City Council (LCC) towards the new terminal. The 
project also included a 1750 multi storey car park (MCSP) and a 200 bed 4* hotel. 
The overall cost of the project was estimated to be circa £127m. 
However, due to delays in achieving a planning consent and the Harbour Revision 
Order, start on site has been delayed by over 2 years, impacting the viability of the 
project. During this time, the costs of the CLT have risen from £60m to £88m. As such 
LCC are now seeking an additional £20m from the LCRCA towards the project. In 
addition, the multi-storey car park has been removed from the scope and the hotel 
delivery delayed. 
It is expected that the CLT will now be operational by August 2023. The investment 
would prepare the City Region for upswing in demand, as social distancing is eased 
around the world. 

Stakeholders 

Applicant: Liverpool City Council; Funder: LCRCA & LCC; Landowners: Peel, Duchy 
of Lancaster. 

Request from HM Government 

£40m 

Page 392



173 

Strategic Case 

The UK is the third most important cruise market after the US and Germany, with 2 
million passengers taking cruises each year. More passengers are choosing to travel 
from UK ports and, as new cruise ships are increasing in size and capacity. Liverpool 
must invest in its terminal to maintain and enhance its market position.  
Liverpool built its international reputation as a shipping gateway to the new world. 
Ships from Cunard, White Star and Empress Lines carried passengers and goods to 
the Americas and beyond. Today, ‘maritime, logistics and visitor economy’ is a key 
local growth sector for the Liverpool City Region – and the Cruise Liner Terminal is a 
significant infrastructure project for attaining that growth.  
The Cruise Liner Terminal will exploit and promote the national and international 
profile of Liverpool; positively impact the local economy, job creation and business 
growth; improve the quality and range of visitor attractions in the City Region and 
enhance the City’s infrastructure and distinctive sense and quality of place.  

Financial Case 

The results of a recent tender exercise indicate an estimated cost of £88m for the CLT 
(an increases of around £19.2m from the previous estimate of £68.8m reported in 
August 2018). There is a significant viability gap associated with the delivery of the 
CLT reflecting the difference between capital cost of delivery and net operating 
revenue likely to be generated by the new CLT. 
The impact of Covid-19 will add significant new financial pressures on Local 
Authorities’ overall revenue position and will therefore make the current position of 
the Council investing £68m of the £88m challenging. 
Therefore additional SIF funding is necessary to deliver this unique and strategic asset 
that will contribute to the wider visitor economy to the City Region and promote 
Liverpool’s brand on an international level whilst, keeping Council borrowing against 
the project at sustainable level. 
LCC will underwrite any future liabilities in operating the facility. 

Economic Case 

The economic benefit to the City Region is significant. It is anticipated that the new 
facility will increase visitor spend in the region from £7m to £13m annually. It will 
therefore provide a significant boost to the region post COVID19. 
The economic impact associated with Turnaround calls (which the new Terminal will 
enable) is much greater than transit calls, due to the requirements for additional 
support staff, ship stores, ship repairs, refuelling, pre- and post-cruise stays in hotels 
and associated spend in the City Region economy. 

Page 393



174 

The original appraisal, undertaken by the CA in 2018, considered the gross job 
creation and the net job creation impacts. Although this will need to be refreshed, it 
was estimated at the time that the project (including hotel & car park) would have 
delivered 500 net additional jobs in the City Region and annual net additional GVA 
of around £18m. The appraiser also identified a Net Present Public Value of £58m 
with a BCR of 1.5. 

Commercial Case 

Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the global cruise market was buoyant with the 
number of passengers cruising each year rising by an average of 4.2% per annum. 
The UK was the third most important cruise market after the US and Germany, with 
nearly two million people taking cruises, representing an increase of 57% over the 
past decade. Cruise line operators are responding to growth in demand with orders 
for new ships over the next ten years totaling 76 vessels currently ordered which will 
provide over 216,000 new berths.  
The current temporary facility opened in 2007 (later expanded in 2012) and since 
opening has welcomed over 500 cruise ships carrying over 1 million international 
passengers and crew and generated £72m to the local economy, with an additional 
30m gross tonnage (GT) of shipping traffic to the River Mersey  
The current terminal can only facilitate “turnaround” vessels that carry a maximum of 
1,000 passengers. These tend to be the older ships that have a limited life span, c5-
8 years, before they will be mothballed or scrapped. The average new build ships 
have a capacity of between 3,500 – 5,500 passengers.  
Without investment in a new “fit for purpose” CLT, in a period as short as 5 years 
time, there may not be any sub 1,000 passenger ships operating to provide Liverpool 
with this turnaround business should the new CLT not be delivered.  
The level of investment in the global cruise industry from cruise operators will no 
doubt result in a rapid response to the pandemic to introduce measures to improve 
social distancing, food preparation and hygiene standards on ships. Whilst there will 
undoubtedly be a significant decline in cruising until summer 2021, the new facility 
will not be operational until spring-summer 2023.  
The full impact of the pandemic will therefore need to be monitored carefully and 
LCC are working with KPMG to develop the updated business model. We understand 
that the CLT will make an annual operational loss ranging from circa £500k to £2m 
depending on the amount of cross subsidies available and match funding. We 
understand LCC will secure cabinet approval to underwrite the running costs.  

Page 394



175 

Management Case 

The financial and operational realities of operating a CLT on the River Mersey dictate 
that no private sector operator is in a position to own, operate and manage a new 
CLT in Liverpool. Therefore, LCC has taken a lead in the delivery of this key project 
and it has already invested £8.50m at risk in design development, site investigations 
and preparatory works.  
LCC will continue to operate the new facility as they have an established track record 
of managing cruise operations having successfully operated the current facility since 
2007. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The scheme is now well developed. Subject to the Harbour Revision Order being 
agreed, LCC are ready to start on site in the Autumn 2020. This will enable an opening 
in 2023 ahead of the Cruise Liner season.  
The LCRCA have also re-engaged a consultancy team to reassess the case for 
investment and ensure VFM. It is envisaged this will be completed late summer with 
the potential for a GFA to be signed late summer / early Autumn 

Page 395



176 

28.1 Confronting Colonial Pasts: Expansion of Liverpool’s International Slavery 
Museum 

National Museums Liverpool (NML) is the only group of national museums based 
solely outside of London. NML has been developing ambitious plans for growth, the 
importance of which have recently been highlighted by two key social and economic 
drivers – COVID-19 and the Black Lives Matter movement. A £63m programme of 
waterfront estate enhancements is proposed, centring on upgrading and enhancing 
the unique cultural offer provided by the International Slavery Museum (ISM) and 
adjoining waterfront heritage assets.  
The ISM is currently housed on the third floor of the Merseyside Maritime Museum, 
which in turn is based in Liverpool’s iconic Royal Albert Dock. Royal Albert Dock is 
home to the UK’s largest collection of Grade I listed buildings in the UK and receives 
over 7M visitors per annum. The ISM already forms a vital part of Royal Albert Dock’s 
cultural offer and the increasing energy and focus on realising a more equal and 
representative society both here in the UK and across the world places the ISM in a 
unique position to deliver a step-change in cultural impact. Furthermore, the ISM’s 
ability to act as a beacon for Black rights education, discussion and research can be 
delivered in a i) COVID-19 accessible way – owing to its unique waterfront location 
which can facilitate social distancing ii) economically sustainable approach which 
supports the financial health of the NML and creates inclusive opportunities for 
SMEs/local economy.  
The programme will be rolled out across three phrases with the full programme 
delivering major improvement to the existing ISM and its surrounding areas to extend 
its role in education, discussion and research. The project will develop/improve the 
Martin Luther King building which directly adjoins the ISM’s current home at the 
Maritime Museum to create:  

• a visionary and thought-provoking new memorial to people that were enslaved
• valuable new interactive spaces for discussion, exhibition and exploration
• a new entrance to the ISM
• a direct physical link between the Martin Luther King building and the

Merseyside Maritime Museum

The project will deliver substantial improvements to NML’s waterfront assets by 
opening the Canning Graving Docks to the public and creating leisure and education 
facilities in an iconic setting. These will be used to both connect (through creation of 
architecturally interesting bridges) and enhance the space/offering for visitors in the 
immediacy of the ILM. This will also facilitate the creation of new revenue streams for 
NML to support the organisation’s sustainability and re-investment into new 
exhibitions. The completed ISM will be a nationally significant asset, educational 
resource and memorial and will attract significant visitor numbers.  

Page 396



177 

In addition to the historical and social significance of recognising our local and 
national role in historical and present-day inequalities, the project has the potential 
to create 420 jobs in the visitor economy, generating over £91m of GVA benefits. The 
total Net Present Social Value (NPSV) of the project is estimated at £100m generating 
a BCR of 4.6. 

Stakeholders 

Applicant: National Museums Liverpool; Operator: National Museums Liverpool ; 
Funder: LCRCA, DCMS, NLHF  

Request from HM Government 

The £63.3m project could be unlocked with initial Government support of £20m over 
2020 and 2021.  

Strategic Case 

The International Slavery Museum (ISM) is a product of many years of hard work and 
continuous co-development between staff at the NML and representatives/ 
stakeholders from throughout the UK/global black community. The museum has 
evolved organically from progress made through the former Transatlantic Slavery 
Galleries (based at the Maritime Museum) and similar work within the wider NML 
estate.  
A huge opportunity exists to formalise this organic creation into a globally leading 
museum that exists to promote a much greater/wider understanding of slavery and 
its impact upon the Black community – alongside more contemporary Black rights 
issues. Remembering the horrors of the past and acting to ensure that embedded 
societal privileges are confronted is a key part in addressing the issues which have 
been brought to the forefront by the Black Lives Matters (BLM) movement. 
Importantly the Black community will guide this project at every step through a model 
of co-production.  
Investing to increase the prominence and visibility of the ISM will further support the 
UK’s ambition to promote and deliver upon awareness of, and appreciation of, Black 
culture and history. There is not only a driving social and moral imperative to invest 
in these areas to ensure community cohesion, but also a strong economic case to 
develop the ISM and surrounding Canning Graving Dock to create new resilient 
revenue streams for the NML. Being located outdoors, these will be safely accessible 
while observing social distancing. In turn this will subsequently facilitate a greater 
ability for NML, as the region’s largest cultural asset, to become more financially 
sustainable and deliver greater public benefit. 

Page 397



178 

This project will enable ISM to fulfil its purpose of informing and helping visitors to 
understand the history of the transatlantic slave trade, chattel slavery, its legacies, 
and wider issues of freedom and injustice. Liverpool regrettably played a major 
historic role in the transatlantic slave trade but investments such as these will go some 
way into ensuring that Liverpool, and the UK, continues to deliver upon its more 
recent history as a beacon of diversity and inclusivity. 

Financial Case 

The total development cost of the ISM upgrade and associated public realm is 
estimated to be £63m. This is made up of three phases:  

1. Public realm, refurbishment of MLK and link to Maritime Museum £33m;
2. Upgrades to the ground, mezzanine and 4th floor of the Hartley Pavilion

£14.5m; and
3. Refurbishment of remaining galleries in the Hartley Pavilion, including moving

the ISM galleries to have a more direct relationship with MLK building £14.5m

To date, NML has committed over £500k towards the development of the project 
and made significant progress with stakeholders and external funders. A further £10m 
is expected to be raised from philanthropic donations to the NML and NML will be 
contributing a further £1m over the lifetime of the project. In addition, bids will be 
submitted to the National Lottery Heritage Fund (£10m), LCR CA SIF (£10m) and 
DCMS (£20m). 

Economic Case 

The project will build on NML’s role as the only National Museum service in England 
based solely outside London. In turn, this will both increase visitor numbers and raise 
awareness of the ISM’s collections.  
The project will also:  

• Provide additional space for commercial opportunities including hosting
events and touring exhibitions.

• Maximise the income from educational institutions for access to digital and
physical collections

• Raise awareness of the ISM to maximise opportunities for philanthropic income

In addition to the historical and social significance of recognising our local and 
national role in historical and present-day inequalities, the project has the potential 
to create 420 jobs in the visitor economy, generating over £91m of GVA benefits. 
The total Net Present Social Value (NPSV) of the project is estimated at £100m 
generating a BCR of 3.0. 

Page 398



179 

Commercial Case 

Plans for ISM were already in development prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
more recent momentum around the Black Lives Matter campaign. A design and 
master-planning team was put together in 2019 to undertake visioning for the project. 
This team was led by architects Feilden Bradley Clegg Studios (FCB) and comprised 
NML, Arup (planning), Planit (landscape), Fourth Street (commercial), Andrea Nixon 
(culture) Standard Practice Studio (engagement).  
NML are highly experienced at a range of project delivery from blockbuster 
exhibitions to large capital projects, including the £72m Museum of Liverpool which 
opened in in 2011. In 2018, the £6.2M China’s First Emperor and the Terracotta 
Warriors exhibition was delivered with huge success seeing over 600k visitors and 
contributing £78M GVA. Most recently, NML has delivered the £1.12M refurbishment 
of Life on Board, a major gallery within the Merseyside Maritime Museum that 
received funding from DCMS Wolfson Museums and Galleries Improvement Fund.  
A professional team is in place to deliver the programme, based on existing partners 
who have delivered recent improvements to the Royal Albert Dock and NML estates, 
including an ISM Project Lead, two Capital Estate Managers and a Capital Campaigns 
Manager. 

Management Case 

NML has developed a governance structure to reflect the magnitude of the project. 
This consists of a Board of Trustees, a Leadership Team, Steering Group and a Central 
Project Board. NML has experience of delivering major capital investment in recent 
years, including the new Museum of Liverpool and refurbishment works across the 
estate.  
NML has strong existing links with the local, national and international Black 
community to enable sensitive development of the scheme and equitable access to 
the economic benefits of the investment. These include the RESPECT Group (a 
dedicated community advisory body which focuses on the International Slavery 
Museum, Slavery Remembrance Day, the Centre for the Study of International Slavery 
(CSIS) in partnership with the University of Liverpool and links with NGOs.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

Ongoing design development for public realm and MLK building.  
SIF Pre-Development submission expected in the autumn to support feasibility and 
options analysis.  

• Public realm and Slavery memorial complete by 2022
• Phase 1 of the ISM complete by 2023
• ISM complete by 2025

Page 399



180 

29. Liverpool Without Walls

Liverpool Without Walls is a targeted package of projects and interventions that are 
set to reimagine Liverpool City Region’s strategically critical visitor economy within 
the context of safe social distancing. The visitor economy delivers approximately 30% 
of the City Region’s GDP and represents one of the region’s largest employers – 
supporting c.57,000 jobs. The sector has been rocked by the outbreak of COVID-19 
and needs to adapt quickly to respond to the ‘new normal’ so that local businesses 
and visitor attractions can safely reopen for business and survive.  
The project will centre on a number of unique pilot sub-projects which will enable 
new concepts, interventions and ideas to be rapidly implemented and trailed. This 
agile approach will allow new sustainable models of working to be co-designed and 
tested quickly with local/national stakeholders, ensuring that people can be brought 
back together safely and quickly and in a way which will enable them to continue 
enjoying the City Region’s rich cultural offer.  
Example of pilot projects include:  

• Reclaim the Road - which will extend restaurants’ and bars’ outdoor operating
space;

• Bike and Ride - a free bike-sharing programme with a simple tracking app);
• Street Theatre – an innovative mobile theatre capable of facilitating high

quality theatrical performance delivery in local communities across the City
Region; and

• Events of the Future - defining new models of major event deliver through
cross-discipline blend of production, technology, and event management.

The project requests £4.39m in funding to complement existing work and investment 
by Liverpool City Council and Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. The 
funding will be used to kick-start the programme and deliver immediate benefits for 
the City Region’s visitor economy. The project will not only deliver direct value to the 
region, generating an expected £22.2m GVA and 136 jobs, but will also act to 
represent a global exemplar of how cities can develop new, innovative models of 
operation in light of COVID-19 challenges. There is an anticipated BCR of 5.1. 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Halton Council, Knowsley Council, 
Liverpool City Council, Sefton Council, St Helens Council, Wirral Council 

Request from HM Government 

£4.39m 

Page 400



181 

Strategic Case 

Significant and sustained growth within the visitor economy has been at the heart of 
Liverpool’s economic renaissance. The City Region is home to a wide range of 
heritage buildings, theatres, museums and galleries, as well as more contemporary 
cultural offers in music, entertainment and food. This unique and valuable 
combination draws in visitors from across the world. The City Region attracted over 
67 million visitors in 2018 alone, generating an estimated spend of £5bn to the UK 
economy and supporting over 57,000 jobs.  

Regrettably, the sector has been significantly compromised by COVID-19, which has 
had a devastating impact on trade from both UK and international visitors. Despite 
this, the region’s visitor economy has remained resilient and has come up with new 
ways to engage, attract and entertain visitors whilst ensuring safe practise under 
social distancing guidelines.  

The Liverpool Without Walls project exemplifies this approach and proposes the 
extension of a successful pilot with the region – with the aim of re-imagining the City 
Region’s visitor economy under the new social distancing norm. Developing and 
embedding new ways of working within the visitor economy is not only a strategic 
imperative for business and jobs but also critical in ensuring the wider confidence of 
the City Region in its efforts to invest with the development of place, talent and 
culture.  

Measures taken through Liverpool without walls will be instrumental in re-attracting 
visitors and ensuring that businesses can continue to survive in the short term until a 
point where the public health measures related to COVID-19 can be relaxed and 
there is no longer a need to ensure social distance measures are embedded as part 
of the everyday life and visitor experience. It is highly likely that many businesses 
within the City Region’s visitor economy will continue to struggle and survive unless 
collective efforts and programs such as Liverpool Without Walls are taken to help re-
attract visitors by adapting the visitor experience to the post COVID-19 ‘new normal’ 

Financial Case 

This >£5.37m project will look to begin trials immediately upon receipt of funding, 
given the pressing nature of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact upon the visitor 
economy.  
Funding will be split across a number of trials which will be co-designed with local 
and national stakeholders to ensure maximum value for money. It is expected that 
spending will be completed within 12 months, with the majority of funding being 
front loaded to ensure rapid delivery. The project will be funded through a combined 

Page 401



182 

national-local funding mechanism with £4.39m requested to complement a minimum 
commitment of £0.975m from Liverpool City Council and Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority. Additional funding from Local Authority and private sector 
sponsors should Central Government support be provided.  
Funding is not anticipated to be evergreen in the short term, however taking steps to 
ensure the long-term survival of businesses/organisations within the visitor ecosystem 
will facilitate locally sourced, long-term funding for programs. This is most notably 
the case where programs are carried out within the region’s Business Improvement 
District, which are able to secure a local based levy from businesses within the locality. 

Economic Case 

The project will swiftly deliver innovative capability and value to the visitor experience 
in order to ensure that visitor economy hubs throughout the City Region can continue 
to provide a safe, welcoming and vibrant atmosphere to visitors from across the UK 
and the globe. These steps will act to rejuvenate visitor numbers and subsequent 
visitor revenue for businesses and organisations across the region – with successful 
trials taken forward for wider rollout both inside the region and shared throughout 
the UK. The direct effect of this program within the City Region will be to:  

• Safeguard business/organisation survival preserve culture and investment;
• Create and sustain employment and skills, including 136 net jobs; and
• Strengthen the City Region’s resilient reputation - the region has gone from

strength-to-strength building on 2008 Capital of Culture, ‘the Giants’
spectacular & Terracotta Warriors. Continuing an ‘open for business’ message
reaches international community is essential to attracting visitors and investors
and for ensuring a rapid post- COVID-19 sectorial recovery.

The project will generate an expected £22.2m GVA, and has an anticipated BCR of 
5.1. 

Commercial Case 

The Combined Authority’s work with stakeholders throughout the City Region’s 
visitor ecosystem has resulted in a clear, significant and immediate need for support 
in helping adapt and re-imagine the visitor experience whilst COVID-19 continues to 
represent a significant public health crisis. It is expected that demand for the project 
will be exceptionally high throughout the region and throughout the spectrum of 
visitor attractions – especially given current national Government directives have 
facilitated partial re-opening of access to visitor attractions and long-distance travel.  

Page 402



183 

Management Case 

The City Region’s visitor economy is a highly organised and co-ordinated community 
and includes recognised, embedded leadership platforms through organisation such 
as the Local Economic Partnership Visitor Economy board. These strong existing 
engagement pathways will assist in prioritising need, demand, and ideas, and will act 
to streamline rapid roll out of trails. This is further facilitated by involvement of all 6 
local authorities who have domain oversight over the street scene and associate 
planning requirements.  

In addition, Liverpool City Council have already acted to kick-start the Liverpool 
Without Walls project through a £500K pilot in close collaboration with partners 
including world leading urban designers Arup and representatives from the local 
visitor economy community. This has delivered early success and provides a template 
for further project scale throughout the City Region.  

Timeline and Next Steps 

The project will be implemented at an expedited pace and will realise immediate 
economic and social benefits within weeks. Project stakeholders are currently working 
closely to ensure that further details of proposed trials are explored so that suggested 
trial sub-projects are close to ‘shovel ready’ (subject to funding). 

Page 403



184 

30. A new stadium for Everton Football Club

Liverpool City Region has strong, international appeal. Our cultural offering, 
bolstered by sport, has proven to be the rocket fuel of regeneration. Cultural 
experiences bind our communities together and support people’s health, wellbeing 
and quality of life. Culture is among our greatest assets, and one that we must use 
for and protect during our economic recovery.  

The development of a new football stadium for Everton Football Club at Bramley-
Moore Dock will bring investment and regeneration to an area of Liverpool that has 
lacked both for many years. It is an essential part of the Liverpool Waters 
development, as falls within the Mersey Enterprise Zone, not far from the Ten Streets 
creative cluster. The new Everton FC Stadium will draw visitors from near and afar, 
bringing significant economic benefits to Liverpool and the City Region.  

Bramley-Moore Dock is currently a brownfield site comprised of disused dockland, 
which will be redeveloped into a venue attracting visitors on both matchdays and 
non-matchdays. The detailed planning submission sets out the following detail:  

• Stadium with matchday capacity of 52,888 (cf. Goodison Park 39,500)
• Development of public realm/public plaza adjacent to the stadium that will be

one of the largest in the city;
• The redevelopment of the existing Grade II listed Hydraulic Engine House as

a museum/visitor attraction;
• Opening up a riverside cycle/walking path from the City Centre, finishing at

the Hydraulic Engine House (the site is currently inaccessible to the public);
and

• Re-establishment of historic water channel and exposure of listed dock walls.

The new stadium development will unlock the “Goodison Legacy Project”, a 
community led (through the Club’s associated charitable trust, “Everton in the 
Community) mixed development on the site of the current ground (Goodison Park) 
including housing, workspace, educational and community facilities.  
Taken together, the so-named “People’s Project” is forecast to generate over £2.5bn 
in GVA over its life, and up to 12,000 new jobs through the construction phase and 
3,000 in the operational phase and will be funded through private investment. The 
project has an anticipated BCR of 21.5. 

See https://www.peoples-project.co.uk/ 

Stakeholders 

LCRCA, Everton Football Club Company Ltd, Everton in the Community 

Page 404



185 

Request from HM Government 

Undisclosed 

Strategic Case 

Everton’s current stadium, Goodison Park, has a number of deficiencies that limit the 
revenue capabilities of the Club and make it costly to operate. On a matchday the 
stadium provides a dated fan experience, including restricted sight lines and limited 
hospitality and retail offering, whilst the non-matchday offering is severely limited. As 
a result of site boundaries and surrounding residential streets, it is not possible to 
redevelop to meet modern requirements.  
Development of the new stadium will increase matchday capacity to 52,888, creating 
a step-change in fan experience. The brownfield site is a disused dock and the 
development will enable wider usage on non-matchdays by local residents and 
national and international visitors.  
Bramley-Moore Dock is located within an area of Liverpool that has not benefitted 
from significant regeneration over the past thirty years. The development of a major 
visitor attraction will drive a permanent economic boost for this area, in a way that 
other projects (e.g. new residential) would not. The People’s Project will act as a 
catalyst for the accelerated delivery of two existing outline and adjacent regeneration 
projects:  

• Liverpool Waters: a 30-year vision for 1.7 million m2 of mixed-use
development launched in 2013 for the Mersey Waters Enterprise Zone and
promoted by Peel Group. The new stadium development could halve the time
that this could be delivered. The economic outcomes of Liverpool Waters
development is not included in the above quoted economic impact figures.

• Ten Streets: a 125-acre site targeted for employment and culture-led
regeneration by Liverpool City Council

Financial Case 

The Club is currently in final stage negotiations with its appointed main contractor 
Laing O’ Rourke. Subject to finalisation of these negotiations the development is 
anticipated to cost in the region of £500m. There are significant abnormal costs 
associated with the complex, brownfield site, including land remediation/restoration 
and the need to preserve historic dock features. The site contains three separate 
listed structures that will be protected or enhanced through the redevelopment.  
The club will finance the overwhelming majority of development using private 
finance, raised from commercial sources and existing club investors. Final 
negotiations are underway.  

Page 405



186 

Economic Case 

A detailed economic impact assessment of the project has been undertaken by CBRE 
acting on behalf of Everton. This has identified that significant economic benefits will 
arise from the stadium site itself, the regeneration benefits in the immediate 
surrounding area (“Northern Ten Streets”) and further benefits arising from the 
redevelopment of Goodison Park. This estimates an overall GVA of £2.45 bn (NPV 
over 25 years). 

£ million 
Direct Benefits 
New Stadium 323 
Goodison Legacy 420 
‘Northern’ Ten Streets 1,707 
Overall Total £2,450 

Commercial Case 

The project will be delivered by Everton Stadium Developments Ltd (ESDL), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of Everton Football Club Company Ltd. ESDL will own and operate 
the stadium and stadium revenues will be used to raise the finance for the stadium.  
Laing O’ Rourke has been appointed to act as the main design and build contractor 
for the project supported by an experienced professional team.  
ESDL has a lease agreement in place with the site freeholder.  
The commercial arrangements for the project are being subjected to extensive due 
diligence on behalf of the providers of commercial finance.  

Management Case 

The Club has an experienced senior management team and a strong track record of 
delivering regeneration projects in North Liverpool that have had a large, positive 
impact on the local community and have been recognised at a national level.  
The internal stadium project team enhances this through sector knowledge and 
proven project delivery expertise and is supplemented by best-in-class consultants 
and a large UK contractor (Laing O’Rourke). 

Page 406



187 

Timeline and Next Steps 

Planning consent is anticipated to be awarded in October 2020.  
Final contractual arrangements will be finalised in Q4 2020 with construction starting 
shortly thereafter.  
The stadium build is anticipated to be around 3 years. 

Page 407



188 

31. Pleasureland, Southport

Southport Pleasureland is an existing theme park occupying a large site on Southport 
Waterfront. The owner, Universal Rides Limited (URL), will lead this project to provide 
a new year-round indoor attraction on an unused section of the site, branded with an 
internationally-recognised IP (family film/TV characters), with ancillary food & 
beverage and retail. This phase 1 would provide 160,000sqft opening in 2022 and 
2023, with following phases of 70,000sqft.  
The project is part of a phased redevelopment of Southport Pleasureland, 
supplementing the existing attractions which would remain operational during 
construction of the new phases. The site is currently open-air and open only during 
the summer season; the redevelopment zone would be covered and operable year-
round. Further phases of the project would include a Viking Village themed adventure 
golf, Dinosaur Park, a themed family hotel, car parking and redevelopment of the 
existing miniature railway to include a heritage centre and themed café.  
£40m of the £50m development cost will be met by private finance; public support 
of up to £10m is sought for site remediation and preparation, together with public 
realm and highways improvements to enable improved connectivity to the town 
centre and accommodation of increased visitor numbers.  

Stakeholders 

Applicant: Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council; Operator: Universal Rides Limited; 
Land owner: Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council; Funder: LCRCA  

Request from HM Government 

Project Cost: £50m  
Funding Request: £10m 
Estimated start on site: 6-12 months 

Strategic Case 

The visitor economy has been recognised within the Liverpool City Region Visitor 
Economy Report and the Sefton Local Plan, among other documents, as a core sector 
for the town. The critical importance of the visitor economy to Southport is also the 
key theme at the Town Deal Board, which includes CA membership. The Town Deal 
Board have identified that:  

• The town has an older demographic than the City Region average, and there
is a problem of “youth flight” linked to limited employment opportunities for
young people;

Page 408



189 

• Existing employment in the visitor economy sector is highly seasonal and
temporary, which has an impact on the wider town’s economy; and

• Town centre businesses are highly dependent on visitor spend, therefore
creating a year-round visitor attraction will increase consumer spend
throughout the town.

The project would develop a year-round attraction, bringing additional visitors to the 
town and providing permanent rather than seasonal employment within Pleasureland 
and throughout the town’s businesses.  
The investment is anticipated to generate a BCR of 7.8 and initial investment will be 
repaid through income generation.  

Financial Case 

A detailed business plan for the redevelopment of the park was created in 2018. This 
estimated the cost of such redevelopment, including indoor and outdoor attractions 
and retail, enhanced access (car parks) and hotel at a capital cost of £50m.  
The business case is currently being refined, alongside detailed pre-construction 
activities including masterplanning and site investigations.  
The investment will generate a long-term revenue stream through ticket, retail and 
food and beverage sales which will enable any initial investment to be repaid. 

Economic Case 

The business case estimates the full project will directly deliver 300 net new jobs at 
the site, primarily full-time and year-round, plus five apprenticeships created per year; 
this is in addition to an estimated 700 jobs in the wider economy.  
The project provides a present value of benefits of £75m and a BCR of 7.8. The social 
value benefits of SMBC’s lease agreement with URL include rebates to incentivise job 
creation, apprenticeships and the payment of the Real Living Wage. 

Commercial Case 

Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) is the freeholder to Southport 
Pleasureland which has been operated since 2007 by URL.  
URL has invested over £8m in the site since 2007, turning the site from a loss-making 
venture to profitability, achieving 450,000-500,000 visitors across a 100-day annual 
season. SMBC and URL completed a new 50-year lease for the Pleasureland site in 
December 2019, requiring specific investment levels to be attained and turnover-
linked revenue share after the fifth year.  
It is anticipated that SMBC will develop a public private partnership with URL to 
deliver the project. 

Page 409



190 

Management Case 

The project is being led by Norman Wallis, owner and CEO of URL. Norman is an 
experienced owner/operator of themed attractions and as detailed above has 
restored Pleasureland from loss making to profitability.  
The project is supported by an experienced professional team for masterplanning, 
business plan development and financing. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

Short term: Full Business case; Detailed Financial models; Master plan Development 
to be completed by November 2020  
Onsite commencement of development: May 2021, phased completion from May 
2022 to 2023. 

Page 410



191 

32. Total Immersion

Total Immersion is a sector development initiative designed to maximise Liverpool’s 
established immersive technology ecosystem, while also supporting Liverpool City 
Region’s retail, cultural, and visitor economies post-COVID-19. This will be achieved 
using immersive 3D worlds that digitally preserve cultural heritage combined with 
original content from cultural organisations (e.g. Liverpool Philharmonic, Tate, NML), 
visitor attractions (Beatles Story) and entertainment/retail brands (Liverpool One / 
Football clubs).  
Over a two-year period, this phased project will deliver digital experiences that 
completely transform how visitors engage and interact with Liverpool’s culture and 
history. This includes during in-person visits—driving footfall, dwell times and 
engagement—or remotely from anywhere in the world, all year around, opening new 
revenue streams for online digital sales in the process. Ultimately, this new centre for 
immersive R&D would expand beyond culture and tourism and be utilised to look for 
solutions for perennial social care hot topics, including dementia, mental health and 
social isolation.  
Phase 1 of this project will see the development of four small-scale demonstrators of 
immersive technology (i.e. app-based augmented reality products to supplement 
existing visitor economy locations). These would be linked to the “Liverpool Without 
Walls” programme, the immediate phase of which is being funded locally by 
Liverpool City Council, and for which a City Region-wide Government funding 
request has been made. Phase 1 will also allow the formalisation of a model for 
sharing immersive technology between 10 businesses, three universities and the 
public sector. The outcome will be publicly showcased working apps, with real-world 
testing and the specification for an open-access digital platform. This will enable new 
forms of interactive experiences expansion to a broad reach of external stakeholders 
and IP owners, including international cultural brands with whom the sector has 
existing relationships.  
Phase 2 will provide a Demonstrator to increase capacity for Liverpool, its digital 
businesses and its cultural, entertainment and retail organisations to co-develop and 
produce large scale public immersive and interactive events creating a globally 
distinctive cultural offer. This will include a talent hothouse to provide a pathway for 
start-ups, creatives and entrepreneurs.  
Phase 3 would result in the creation of a 3D augmented reality visitor attraction with 
immersive digital experience at its heart. This will enable a unique offer which will 
both create a new tourism offer as well as public platform for presenting new content 
and ideas from over 100 LCR immersive tech businesses.   
Underpinning this ambition is a specially selected range of existing, proven, market-
ready immersive technologies, content, and expertise from upwards of 10 digital 
businesses and three universities. These are being tailored to deliver a new model 

Page 411



192 

dedicated entirely to accelerating the adaptation of the culture and visitor economy 
to the lasting changes in social behaviours expected in a post-COVID-19 world.  
The present value benefits of the project is expected to be £2.7m, with a BCR of 4.4. 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Council, Liverpool John Moores University, University of Liverpool, 
Edge Hill University, Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, c.100 LCR 
businesses. 

Request from HM Government 

Project cost: £2,615,000 
Funding ask: £615,000 total for phase 1 project pilot, which would test a new model 
for cooperation and influence the scope of phases 2 and 3 prior to further funding 
applications.  

Strategic Case 

Creative Industries are one of the fastest growing and important sectors in the City 
Region and this project provides the opportunity to build capacity and retain talent 
in this area. In light of COVID-19, the role of immersive technology has become far 
more widely recognised and understood and the demand for the relevant technology 
and skills has rapidly increased.  
A lack of shared development resources, including access to finance and shortages 
of senior developer and business development talent have been identified as actual 
constraints on growth. A collaborative model of sharing existing resource and talent 
will stabilise the sector, preserve existing jobs and provide opportunities for new and 
recent graduates.  
The visitor economy has been recognised within the Liverpool City Region Visitor 
Economy Report. Culture, Visitor Economy and Digital & Creative Industries are all 
priority sectors for both Liverpool City Council (as part of an inclusive growth 
approach) and in the draft Liverpool City Region Local Industrial Strategy.  
Globally the rise in immersive technology applications has been huge. The World’s 
top two art shows (Van Gogh Immersive, TeamLab’s Borderless) in 2019 were 
immersive tech-enabled and it is predicted that the Global AR/VR spend will be 
$160bn by 2023, up from $16.8bn in 2019 (IDC Forecast). Liverpool City Region has 
previous experience in attracting huge footfall to projects which mix immersive 
technology and real-world engagement including the UK’s most attended ticketed 
show of any kind in 2018 which was Liverpool’s immersive Terracotta Warriors 
exhibition, generating £78m for the City Region.  

Page 412



193 

The immediate ability for this to support the re-emergence of the city’s cultural and 
visitor economy paves the way for a more integrated immersive tech sector to grow 
into the city-wide offer in coming years. Liverpool and the North West do not have 
an AHRC-funded Creative Industries cluster, but Total Immersion provides a model 
for future bids to support investment in collaborative R&D and cluster development 
in digital and creative industries.  
The project is also strongly aligned with the Industrial Strategy Grand Challenges -- 
AI (use of sensor-based technologies in interactive and immersive experiences) and 
Audience of the Future (large scale ‘Demonstrators’ capable of identifying new 
business models and means of distribution to audiences of 100,000+). 

Financial Case 

Total cost of Phases 1-3 is £2,615.000.  
£615,000 is requested for phase 1. This will produce up to 4 high-quality digital 
experiences linked to Liverpool’s ‘Without Walls’ and which will see the best cultural 
and sporting content from the city reimagined and re-define audience engagement 
locally, at scale and online. There will be the ability to attract revenue and funding 
from content commissioning, including Everton FC and Culture Liverpool and 
revenue-generation could come from digital content which will be embedded into 
the design of the PoC’s from inception, adding the potential for global online sales 
of digital goods, tickets.  
Phase 1 would then influence the scope of phase 2 (Demonstrator) and 3 (3D 
augmented reality visitor attraction with immersive digital experience) and they will 
aim to work closely with Government departments to support the realisation further 
funding opportunities.  
After year 2, full committal to formulising the modal at scale will proceed through 
private investment or other financial support such as sponsorship, advertising, or 
investment if monthly recurring (digital) revenues are showing sustained growth over 
a significant period of time during the project.  

Economic Case 

Projected outputs of the Phase 1 investment include: 
• 50 jobs safeguarded
• 10 jobs created with additional indirect jobs in production services supply

chain
• 24 training programmes opportunities
• 50 businesses to receive business support.
• Upwards of 2,000 sqm of unlet business space occupied

Page 413



194 

New products and services: 
i. Liverpool’s Digital Nomad Visitor Attraction
ii. Total Immersion Hot House
iii. Four high quality and working at scale Proof of Concepts

The present value benefits of the project is expected to be £2.7m, with a BCR of 4.4. 

Commercial Case 

The project proposes to establish a Special Purpose Vehicle, the structure of which 
will be captured in a Letter of Intent between all parties. 
A number of successful major international immersive experience / production 
companies such as Meow Wolf, teamLab and D’strict operate using a variety of 
collaborative approaches to R&D and it is right we validate the approach through a 
foundation ahead of fully committing to formalise this model at scale after Year 2, 
either through private investment or other financial support such as sponsorship, 
advertising, or investment if monthly recurring (digital) revenues are showing 
sustained growth over a significant period of time during the project. 
This will ensure a more sustainable and scalable base for the development of a 
globally significant ecosystem centred on Liverpool and not a model heavily reliant 
on private investment into individual companies to materialise, and competition for 
public funds for R&D and creative content.  

This model could provide the blueprint and platform on which similar experiences 
could be produced in other cities under commercial license / white-label model, 
generating further recurring revenue streams. 

Management Case 

Total Immersion is a new model for innovation and sector development, made 
possible through a special purpose vehicle (SPV) led by upwards of 10 digital 
businesses, supported by Liverpool John Moores University, Liverpool University, 
Edge Hill University and a number of big-name brands. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The project estimated start date is Q4 2020 and the project is estimated to run a 
course of 2 years. 

Page 414



195 

33. Town Centres

The economic impact of COVID-19 is anticipated to accelerate existing decline in 
town centres. Challenges previously faced by retail businesses will be exacerbated 
and combined with decline in the hospitality and visitor economy sectors.  

Town centres can continue to play a vital role in supporting the economic and social 
life of the City Region, creating local jobs, growing businesses and supporting 
community action. The Combined Authority has identified town centres as a priority 
and we are in the process of implementing a £6m town centre innovation package 
across all six of our local authority areas, supported by the findings of the IPPR North-
led LCR Town Centres Commission. Our fund is designed to reimagine and reshape 
what our town centres look like in the 21st century. There is considerable 
complementarity between the approach of the Government, and that of the 
Combined Authority. 

Key towns in need of substantial investment have been identified by our Local 
Authorities and the Combined Authority and are profiled within Appendix A. Four 
LCR towns have already been chosen for inclusion within the Government’s Towns 
Fund programme, two of these towns are also engaged in the Future High Streets 
Fund. Others are equally in need of support and are developing their own strategies 
to diversify uses, increase sustainability and improve connectivity. 

The LCRCA Town Centres Fund will be used for a variety of financial interventions, 
with projects at different stages of development. Proposed interventions include, but 
are not limited to:  

• Public sector land and property acquisition to consolidate and control town
centre areas for redevelopment

• Pre-development funding to support the preparation of “shovel ready”
projects

• Land remediation for third party development
• Place making and infrastructure improvement
• Right-sizing the retail offer
• The development of commercial and public premises within town centres.

Funding of £200m is requested to support the regeneration of our town centres. This 
would be allocated to specific projects assessed through the CA’s investment 
framework, as devolved funding, and would be in addition to any funds awarded 
through National Government town funding schemes. 

Page 415



196 

Stakeholders 

LCRCA, Homes England, MHCLG (FHSF/Towns Fund), Local Authorities. 

Request from HM Government 

Immediate: Support for FHSF/Towns Fund submissions 

Medium term: Support for further Towns Fund allocations; Infrastructure and 
Redevelopment support of £200m devolved funding. 

Strategic Case 

The Liverpool City Region has a diversity of town centres. Many face the same 
problems – oversupply of retail, vacant units, declining footfall, relocation of services 
out of town, poor public realm, inaccessibility, air pollution and congestion. As well 
as the health impact, COVID-19 is also having a dramatic effect on the local economy 
and on town centres, in particular.  

The economic ‘shock’ of the pandemic and the rules around social distancing will 
continue for some time. These conditions will have profound impacts on town centres 
in LCR in the medium to long-term. This presents a very serious, potentially even 
existential, challenge to town centres. Their failure, and recovery, is not just about 
empty high streets but about local identity, confidence and civic pride particularly in 
a time of social distancing. 

This programme will seek to repurpose towns away from an over dominance of retail 
towards a multi-functional role, providing greater diversity of uses, enabling retail to 
achieve a sustainable core concentration, introduction of more accessible public uses 
as well as businesses, improvements to green spaces and public realm. It will also 
introduce greater community uses, including learning centres in each town, 
comprehensive digital infrastructure and accessible culture. 

Our town centre projects are focused on close alignment with our transport schemes, 
such as improving station access into town centres and walking and cycling routes, 
several of which are shovel ready, enabling complementary investment to follow 
behind without delay. In order to improve the economic benefit, the CA follows a 
local procurement and employment strategy.  

Page 416



197 

Financial Case 

Each town centre will be subject to a separate business case, an indication of the level 
of support is set out in Appendix A. Plans for our town centres are at separate stages 
of development, with some detailed costed implementation plans are developed, 
others further analysis and work is required. 

It is intended that, wherever feasible, a proportion of initial funding will be recycled 
(e.g. through land-value uplift/overage) to deliver enhanced benefits. However, it is 
recognised that this is a long-term ambition, give the current low land and capital 
values in many parts of the City Region.  

Economic Case 

A range of economic benefits are forecast: 

• Reduction in vacant premises
• Job creation and retention
• Business growth and innovation
• Construction job creation
• Ha of brownfield land reclaimed
• Increase in access to education and skill training provision
• Homes created
• Sqm of floorspace created or refurbished
• Increase in rental levels
• Energy savings achieved
• Private sector leverage
• Improved transport and digital infrastructure
• Increased climate resilience

Each project would be subject to an economic appraisal to ensure value for money. 

It is estimated that 20,000 jobs would be created and 3,000 construction jobs, 600 
new learners assisted, 1,000 housing units delivered and 30,000 sqm of commercial 
floorspace.  

The estimated Benefit Cost Ratio (BCR) is 5.5 and present value of benefits of £1.1b. 

Page 417



198 

Commercial Case 

The delivery structure will depend on the specific needs and interventions required 
for each town centre, often using public-private partnerships as optimum delivery 
vehicles (detailed further for specific towns within Appendix A).  

Careful attention to the overall framework for investment is also necessary in order to 
encourage and facilitate investment activity and provide much needed confidence to 
public and private stakeholders. The proposed structured partnership approach 
should greatly assist this. 

In addition to the contextual points above, the following commercial benefits are 
envisaged: 

• Generation of financial receipts following disposal of remediated and serviced
sites and properties.

• Increased business rates for retention
• Generation of overage based on potential increases in values and lettings
• Potential to explore the creation of JV asset vehicles with Local Authority

(depending on the robustness of the acquisition strategies which are brought
forward)

Management Case 

It is proposed that the projects will largely be delivered through the Local Authorities 
and JV partnerships, using pre-development funding to help unlock the 
opportunities, if necessary. 

The Local Authorities are already working closely with the CA to identify the 
opportunities and define strategies. In addition, the CA has appointed IPPR North to 
lead an independent Commission to advise on how our LCR towns can diversify and 
reimagine themselves in a new post-retail environment.  

As part of this bid, the CA proposes to increase the development capacity within the 
Local Authorities as well as providing dedicated in-house expertise that can add value 
to the Local Authorities and support their delivery strategies. This partnership working 
approach will enable close monitoring of progress to ensure delivery timescales are 
met.  

Page 418



199 

Timeline and Next Steps 

Submission of FHSF and Towns Fund investment plans by mid to end 2020. 
Progression of detailed design and financing options for project appraisal during 
2020; commencement of delivery 2021 onwards. Ability for more advanced projects 
to commence on site 2021, with completion of all projects by 2026 latest. Capacity 
funding, Grant and Loan funding to enable acquisition and development 

Page 419



200 

34. Refurbishing Housing for a Greener Future Programme

With a third of carbon emissions from housing in the Liverpool City Region (LCR), the 
Government and LCR have various mandatory and voluntary targets to improve the 
energy efficiency of the existing housing stock. Just 1% of LCR’s 713,000 homes have 
a high EPC rating. The City Region has an older housing stock with a significant 
proportion of hard to heat pre-1920s property compared to elsewhere in the country. 

The City Region has a high incidence of fuel poverty (14%) compared to the national 
average (10%), with many households unable to afford to heat their properties 
adequately or access hot water. The pandemic creates an urgent imperative to rapidly 
improve the quality of our homes, to enhance our residents’ living conditions and 
protect their health.  

At the same time, stimulus funding to accelerate plans to upgrade the quantity and 
quality of good homes in Liverpool City Region, alongside renewed interest in 
promoting green development and carbon emission reductions, present an 
important opportunity for the City Region.  

This programme will aim to bring up to 6,500 homes up to EPC band C or above in 
the next four years.  

The LCR will build on its strengths in advanced manufacturing and high-performance 
computing to develop improved and more efficient ways to refurbish housing units 
in partnership with the Manufacturing Technology Centre (MTC), whilst developing 
both the capacity and capabilities of the region’s supply chain and superior skills of 
our workforce.  

The proposed approach will not only help bridge the massive gap in energy efficiency 
required to meet the 2035 national target to have every household achieve at least 
an EPC ‘C’ ranking, it will also help develop innovative and scalable processes that 
will reduce unitary and ongoing maintenance costs. The Combined Authority 
alongside its partners has commenced the R&D phase of this programme at risk. 
Funding is needed to deploy state-of-the-art refurbishment solutions. 

Stakeholders 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Registered Providers, Local Authorities, 
Climate Action Partnership, Manufacturing Technology Centre, Householders, 
Universities & Colleges, Renovation Industry, NW Energy Hub. 

Page 420



201 

Request from HM Government 

Total ask over 4 years: £203.2m. 

Strategic Case 

HM Government has a legally binding commitment to achieve zero carbon by 2050 
and the LCRCA by 2040. A key element of this target is to deliver improvements in 
existing housing stock for RP stock to EPC C or above by 2030 and by 2035 to all 
other stock as set out in the Clean Growth Strategy 2017. All scenarios for reaching 
net zero carbon agree that home energy efficiency is a pre-requisite to attaining this 
target. However, there is currently no comprehensive programme of retrofitting 
housing in the City Region. The City Region has an older and less energy efficient 
housing stock than the national average and one of the consequences is that this 
stock emits proportionately more carbon than the housing stock nationally.  

The Combined Authority will build on current initiatives in conjunction with the 
Manufacturing Technology Centre, Registered Providers, Private Landlords and 
Homeowners to develop a comprehensive, innovative retrofit programme where 
feasible at a whole street/area improvements level to bring housing stock up to at 
least EPC level C or above.  

There are multiple positive outcomes to the retrofit programme which include: 
• Carbon Reductions – the work will contribute to reducing carbon emissions in all

those properties retrofitted providing a first stage to retrofit for the remaining
homes not reaching the standard in the City Region in line with carbon targets.

• Reduction in Fuel Poverty – at least 500 of the homes targeted will contain
households who are in fuel poverty and the work will reduce energy bills
sufficiently that the residents will be able to adequately use their homes in an
affordable manner.

• Health Benefits – linked to the reduction in fuel poverty residents will also be able
to adequately heat their homes leading to a reduction in poor health impacts
especially those with existing health conditions such as asthma, COPD and other
respiratory illnesses.

• Improved Skills & Increase in Employment - the work will provide new and
increased jobs in many trade skills with a wide range of levels of learning
opportunities. Housing retrofit is one of the best generators of jobs for
expenditure with an estimated 30 jobs per £1.3m spend. For every £1m spend
there will be at least one new apprenticeship created as part of the contracts as
well as other learning opportunities at schools, colleges and local SMEs.

Page 421



202 

• Innovation – in partnership with the MTC, and as part of our ambition to become
the National Centre of Excellence of Modern Methods of Construction, the
programme will be deployed using cutting edge methodologies, such as Infrared
Radiators. These methodologies can be tested at scale in real life situations to
assess their potential for more widespread usage. Industrial and academic
partners will be involved in ensuring innovation is incorporated into the
programme and its delivery.

Financial Case 

The current ask for this programme to test out methods of delivery to enable wider 
whole scale housing retrofit in line with Government targets is £3.2m resource 
revenue costs over 5 years (£400,000 year 1 and £700,000 years 2-5) and £200m 
capital implementation costs (years 2-5).  

The scale of the task to retrofit almost 75% of existing LCR housing stock is huge and 
the ability to start this task with Government funding to enable large scale 
procurement and roll out to reduce costs to c£30k per property retrofit will deliver 
wider economic and societal benefits. The interventions from external cladding, re-
glazing, renewable energy systems to sensors and smart meters will stimulate the 
local and national supply chain in a much needed stimulus package.  

The BEIS Select Committee in their 2019 report Energy Efficiency: Building towards 
net zero identified significant economic and financial benefits of a national retrofit 
programme including the sustaining of up to 86,000 jobs annually across the country. 

Economic Case 

The City Region has a high incidence of fuel poverty compared to the national 
average (14% in LCR above the national average of 10%) with households unable to 
afford to heat their properties adequately or access hot water and other energy based 
basic services which results in unnecessary hardship and large negative impacts on 
health.  

The older housing stock of the City Region is less energy efficient than more modern 
housing and so costs more to bring up to a reasonable standard in line with 
government aspirations.  

The low value of some of the City Regions housing also makes investment difficult as 
even with whole scale retrofit improvements the current housing market does not 
reflect the higher costs to deliver such housing in improved market value. This 
programme creates 1,800 new jobs and achieves a BCR of 2.7. 

Page 422



203 

Commercial Case 

There are the skills and opportunities to grow local companies to deliver the retrofit 
housing programme in the City Region. The work will be tendered using normal 
procurement legislation to ensure that a commercial deal is struck. The CA and 
Registered Providers have extensive experience of procuring contracts of this nature. 

A Housing Retrofit Board will ensure that the work is guided with expertise and links 
back to Government to ensure that best practice and lessons learnt are embedded 
in the project and disseminated to the next phase of housing retrofit both locally and 
nationally.  

Management Case 

• The existing and proposed new structure in the CA will fit with the delivery
model of this programme.

• A new small Housing Retrofit team will be established to manage the
programme including technical expertise to advise delivery.

• A new Housing Retrofit Advisory Group will be established to provide
guidance on technical delivery of the programme.

• The Local Authority Housing Officers group will provide Officer oversight of
the project.

• The policy context will be overseen by the Housing and Spatial Planning
Advisory Board.

• The funds will be disbursed by the existing CA team following a competitive
process with advice from the Housing Retrofit Advisory Board.

• The Registered Provider Operational Group brings together all the main
Registered Providers in the City Region to ensure co-ordination and sharing
resources in delivery.

Timeline and Next Steps 

• Establishment of Housing Retrofit Board to guide programme - 0-3 months
• Test of MTC retrofit processes and materials – 3 to 6 months
• Identification of Phase 1 RP properties and improvements required – 6 months
• Start of rolling programme of retrofit activity – 12 months from approval

Page 423



204 

35. LCR Hydrogen Economy Programme: HyBus Trial Project

Merseytravel is developing the Hydrogen Bus Trial Project (“the Project”) to align 
with City Region and national policy, support wider initiatives to improve air quality 
and to help the Liverpool City Region (LCR) achieve carbon neutrality by 2040.  

The LCR faces substantial challenges in decarbonising its energy, industrial, housing 
and transport assets. The Project supports the LCRCA’s declared climate emergency 
and the Metro Mayor’s pledged zero-carbon ambition and builds on the burgeoning 
low carbon sector. 

The Liverpool City Region HyBus Trial Project covers two key areas of activity: 
• The procurement of a fleet of at least 20 (and preferably up to 40) hydrogen

double deck buses (FCEB) by Merseytravel; and
• The building of a Hydrogen Refuelling Station (“HRS”) at the BOC Linde Ltd

site in St. Helens.
The bus operators, Arriva and Stagecoach, support the project and are providing 
significant technical input. Their support is such that they have indicated that a larger 
fleet of vehicles, 40, will allow a full “hydrogen service” to operate on one of the 
region’s busiest routes between St Helens and Liverpool City Centre. 40 buses will 
cover the PVR of the route and ensure operators can deliver a consistent customer 
offer. The green credentials of a full hydrogen corridor and increased impact of the 
larger fleet together with the bus priority improvements identified in our 
complementing Green Routes programme, will maximise the potential for achieving 
growth through modal shift. The operators will benefit from economies of scale in the 
areas of maintenance and training.  

Alongside environmental benefits from reduced emissions and benefits to 
passengers from improved journey quality, the project has the potential to support 
the LCR’s hydrogen economy ambition, stimulating demand for hydrogen, and 
supporting industries centred around the new technology. 

Stakeholders 

Merseytravel; Bus Operators: Stagecoach and Arriva; BOC; and Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority. 

Request from HM Government 

Our ask of HM Government is £16.9m, enabling the trial to extend from c. 20 to 40 
buses. This ask is consistent with the use of OLEV and JIVE funding to support other 
UK and European bus projects, such as TfL and Aberdeen’s hydrogen bus fleets. 

Page 424



205 

Strategic Case 

Net Zero and Air Quality: Investment in the low carbon sector and reducing carbon 
emissions is both an LCR (net zero by 2040) and a national priority.  

Delivering policy priorities for low carbon present a number of challenges: the 
transport sector is a significant source of greenhouse gas and air quality emissions, 
contributing towards climate change and harmful to the health and quality of life of 
residents. In 2005, transport accounted for 22% of LCR emissions; in 2017 it 
accounted for 31%. Buses can play a key role in helping to address this; 82% of all 
LCR public transport journeys are by bus.  

In July 2019, the Government committed the UK to be Net Zero Carbon by 2050. 
Hydrogen offers a clear route to decarbonisation at scale. A key challenge for 
bringing hydrogen into the mainstream energy system, is ensuring sufficient demand 
is needed to stimulate investment in production assets. Demand and supply must 
ramp up in parallel in a quantifiable and predetermined manner.  

Hydrogen has great potential application in public transport but is relatively new in 
the market. Without public intervention in a project like this, it is unlikely that LCR will 
meet its net zero targets. HyBus is one of the early activities we are undertaking to 
provide economic stimulus, creating a demand for hydrogen with the North West’s 
first FCEB fleet and HRS.  

The HRS will extend the UK refuelling network to the NW. It will be within 100 miles 
of other refuelling sites in Rotherham and Birmingham. The strategic importance of 
this is noted in the UK H2 Mobility report which highlights the lack of UK refuelling 
infrastructure. A project objective is to test the commercial efficiency of high capacity 
HRS with high use vehicle fleets. The project will provide key insights to support the 
future commercial rollout of fleet refuelling. BOC forecast, initially, up to 2 FTE 
engineering posts will be created with the operation of the HRS.  

LCR Vision for Bus: A key objective is the ‘phasing in of zero and ultra-low emission 
buses including Euro 6, electric and hydrogen powered vehicles. The LCR fleet 
requirement is c.1,200 to 1,400. Public intervention, in partnership with operators, 
will be required to deliver this – driven by the significantly higher prices of zero carbon 
vehicles compared to diesel and the refuelling infrastructure needed. With the HyBus 
trial, there is the potential to develop a scalable project that can support other 
interventions such as the Transport Secretary’s ambition for the UK’s first hydrogen 
bus town.  

Page 425



206 

Both Operators are members of the LCR Bus Alliance, a partnership governed by a 
Voluntary Partnership Agreement. This Project features in the 2020/21 Business and 
Investment plan.  

Wider Economic Impact: The Low Carbon Economy is a pillar of the LCRCA SIF 
Investment Strategy with development of hydrogen fuel as an explicit example. The 
current UK market value of the hydrogen economy is in the order of tens of millions, 
and this is estimated to grow to hundreds of millions by 2025 and around $90Bn by 
2050’1. We aim to position LCR to attract a substantial share of that potential 
economic activity. This project is an illustration of support into commercialisation and 
early adoption of technology in an area where the LCR already has potential 
competitive advantage and supply chain capabilities. It provides the opportunity to 
create and harness employment and skills opportunities in the City Region.  

Financial Case 

The estimated total project capital cost for the purchase of an additional 20 buses 
and refueller is £16.9m, broken down as:  

• £10.9m for 20 FCE buses @ £545k per bus;
• £6m for the HRS;
• £10 m of the LCRCA’s Transforming Cities Fund will be used to purchase up

to 20 buses. Prices are estimated and do not account for potential economies
of scale of a larger order.

Economic Case 

Benefits expected from the deployment of the hydrogen bus fleet are focused on:  
Environmental benefits – from local air quality improvements (NOx and particulates) 
and reductions in emissions of Greenhouse gases through replacing diesel-powered 
buses with those using hydrogen;  

• Passenger benefits - from enhanced journey quality (passengers benefiting
from quieter, smoother journeys); and

• Decongestion benefits – arising from modal transfer to hydrogen bus from car.

Dependent upon the outcomes from the procurement exercise there may also be net 
changes in labour supply or productivity within the LCR. These employment and 
productivity impacts may be associated with the maintenance and deployment of the 
buses and synergies with current hydrogen projects, such as HyNet, via:  

Page 426



207 

• Support for the LCR as a location for the hydrogen economy, involved in
production, repair and maintenance of hydrogen fuel cell technology; and/or

• Movement of economic activity to higher value, more productive, industries,
centred around the new technology.

Commercial Case 

To ensure value for money, LCRCA will use a competitive tendering process. The 
decision-making will include consideration of the unit cost, overall “total cost of 
ownership” (TCO) as well as risk, deliverability and quality. Buses will be leased to 
operators from Merseytravel at a rate that provides parity compared to existing diesel 
fleets. The TCO and maintenance arrangements will influence the terms of the lease 
(not yet negotiated).  

Management Case 

The project will be led by Merseytravel, who have a well-documented and publicised 
rolling stock project, purchasing new trains for Merseyrail, which is currently in the 
delivery phase. The HyBus project delivery approach builds on the rolling stock 
model. Experienced leads are embedded within the Governance Structure to provide 
an independent view on the project. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

Orders for hydrogen buses are expected to be placed in December 2020. The choice 
of bus manufacturer will influence the delivery timeline. The fastest delivery forecast 
is up to 9 months post order. The longest timeline would see buses delivered in mid 
to late 2022.  

The design and layout of the HRS, including access design, has now been developed. 
The project has now secured pre-planning approval from the planning authority. HRS 
activity is expected to commence in September 2020. The HRS is expected to be 
operational by December 2021. 

Page 427



208 

36. MTC Modern Methods of Construction

The UK is still not delivering enough homes to reach its 300,000 per annum target. 
The Combined Authority shares the Government’s aspiration to increase housing 
supply and is working with the Manufacturing Technology Centre (MTC) to develop 
a response that will support modern methods of construction, using innovative design 
and technology, along with off-site modular construction methods to increase the 
supply of high-quality affordable housing.  

The Liverpool City Region (LCR) has evidenced strengths in advanced manufacturing 
and high-performance computing. The Combined Authority has been working 
collaboratively with the MTC to ensure that we exploit these strengths. We have 
developed a shared vision and delivery model for an effective digital manufacturing 
ecosystem.  

As part of this vision, the Combined Authority has already invested in MTC’s rapidly 
reconfigurable manufacturing environment and “digital sandpit” projects. The next 
phase for delivery is an Offsite Manufacturing Sector Development programme. This 
will include an offsite manufacturing training centre, which will form part of a centre 
for excellence in Modern Methods of Construction (MMC).  

The MTC and LCR stakeholders have aggregated an initial pipeline of over 5,000 
homes over 10 years. At the same time, it will support the development and success 
of the modular, digitised manufacturing sector in the LCR, increasing productivity, 
ensuring a strong supply of employment opportunities across the supply chain and 
supported by an apprenticeship programme.  

The Combined Authority is committed to taking this project forward in partnership 
with the MTC, Homes England and a group of committed housing associations.  

The request from Government is £55m for the full rollout, with £3m required for the 
first phase of design, feasibility and market preparation. The programme will look to 
leverage £100m in private investment to support the latter phases. This project will 
create 12,000 jobs and has an excellent BCR of 31. 

Stakeholders 

MTC, Construction Innovation Hub, Torus Housing Group, Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority, Homes England and Peel Land and Property. 

Page 428



209 

Request from HM Government 

Option 1: £55m for full rollout. 
Option 2: £3m for Phase 1 design, feasibility and market preparation. 

Strategic Case 

Although there is already some UK based activity in this market, the sector currently 
lacks the scale needed to alleviate the housing crisis and deliver the 300,000 homes 
needed per annum.  

An MHCLG report identified that the housing crisis would not be alleviated without 
much wider adoption of highly productive Modern Methods of Construction (MMC). 
Given the scale of the housing challenge, there is an opportunity to develop a large 
and high-value sector, with a nucleus in the LCR.  

The emerging nature of this sector means that there are currently significant 
uncertainties and commercial risks. These include:  

• Uncertain and fragmented pipeline: the current UK market for MMC homes is
small and uncoordinated. Consistent demand and a scaled-up commercial
model for the sector has not yet been proven.

• Current skills shortage: the sector needs access to skills which are not currently
in strong supply. The requirements are different to those traditionally needed
by the construction and manufacturing sectors.

• Perceived constraints on market growth: difficulties securing warranties,
insurance and mortgages for modular homes, plus the uncertain regulatory
environment for MMC homes dampens confidence in the market.

• Lack of supply chain coordination and leadership: leading to uncoordinated
and incompatible solutions being developed across the supply chain –
impacting productivity and growth potential.

These challenges are undermining investor and business confidence and leading to 
sub-optimal growth. Significant up-front investment and coordination is needed to 
address market failures and overcome the barriers to growth outlined above.  

The MTC has identified Liverpool City Region as the home for a Centre of Excellence 
for MMC. A regional Sector Development Programme will include a Construction 
Manufacturing Development and Training Centre (CMDTC), which will support the 
rapid development of the sector by providing a pipeline of demand and a scalable 
delivery mechanism. The CMDTC will provide:  
1: Supply Chain Development and Preparation: an integrated and qualified supply 
chain is needed to deliver a functional commercial model operating at scale.  

Page 429



210 

2: Enabling Infrastructure: market conditions are currently preventing businesses and 
investors making the significant capital investment needed for:  

• Product Family Architecture (PFA): a digital framework to deliver a variety of
homes on standardised product and process platforms. This concept is widely
established in other manufacturing sectors (e.g. automotive).

• Tooling and fixturing: significant up-front costs are associated with the design
of tooling and fixturing for the sector. The programme will design and produce
the required equipment and make this available to the supply chain on license.

• Financial products: demand is currently dampened by a lack of suitable
mortgage and insurance products. The programme will work with the industry
and government to provide a solution that works at scale.

3: Skills and Training: the sector needs access to various skills to expand. The CMDTC 
will work with the industry to identify and address specific short- and long-term skills 
shortages through apprenticeships and CPD courses from its LCR location. As the 
programme scales, skills activity will extend beyond the LCR.  
4: Develop Market Confidence: the MTC and LCR stakeholders have aggregated an 
initial pipeline of over 5,000 homes over 10 years. MTC expects the pipeline to 
expand within, and outside the region. Aggregating demand will reduce risk, improve 
investment viability and stimulate investment into the sector. The LCR will become 
the proving ground for a national rollout. 

Financial Case 

Several phases of delivery are needed to overcome the significant market failure that 
is currently holding the sector back:  

• Phase 1: Design, Feasibility and Market Preparation: this phase would map the
supplier base against sector delivery requirements and skills gaps. The
research and design phase would then start the design of the PFA, processes
and tooling for the sector. A £3m grant is needed to provide the aggregation
across the markets and sector with a consistent, and detailed, solution
strategy, which will provide the framework for the Sector Development
Programme.

• Phase 2: Prototyping and Initial Rollout: this phase will develop, test and refine
prototypes, culminating in the finalisation of the PFA and full specification for
the tooling requirements. A grant of £52m is needed to reach a stage where
the design of the PFA, processes and tooling is finalised, the sector has a
qualified supply chain and the Training Centre is operational.

Page 430



211 

• Phase 3: Supported Commercialisation: by this stage, the programme’s
activities will have reduced, or removed, many barriers to market entry. This,
in conjunction with pipeline aggregation, will lead to greater market
confidence. Building on this increase in confidence, the programme will look
to raise £100m in private investment to support Phase 3.

• Phase 4: Full Commercialisation: by this stage, overall capital requirements for
the sector should be significantly reduced and market confidence sufficient to
justify removing public subsidy (including guarantees) as the approach is rolled
out nationally.

Economic Case 

Once fully operational, the CMDTC will deliver economic and social benefits which 
include:  

Supply chain development and sector growth: Activities to prepare, integrate, 
coordinate and lead the supply chain will play an important role in sector 
development. The programme as a whole will help to increase confidence and enable 
entry into and growth within the MMC housing market. It will provide the conditions 
to enable rapid expansion of the sector which would not take place without the 
intervention.  

Increased Supply of High Quality, Low Cost Homes: The Training Centre will 
manufacture the equivalent of 50 homes per year, with an additional 500 homes per 
year manufactured in the regional ecosystem. The low projection target is to 
manufacture over 5,000 homes in the City Region over 10 years (scalable to over 
20,000), with aims to deliver further nationally and internationally, opening export 
markets.  

Benefits for LCR Residents: The Centre’s apprenticeships and CPD courses will deliver 
learning outcomes aligned to the Transforming Construction approach and will 
improve learners’ labour market position. The wider growth of the sector will ensure 
a strong supply of employment opportunities.  

Broader applicability: Product Family Architecture (PFA) will be available on an open-
source basis to other social and public projects and potentially transferable to 
schools, hospitals and other public buildings. There is also potential to deliver into 
other sectors using off-site modular construction platforms.  

This project will create 12,000 jobs and has an excellent BCR of 31. 

Page 431



212 

Commercial Case 

MTC are in advanced talks with Torus Housing Group (as lead for an LCR Housing 
Association Group) to move forward with the programme in partnership. Other 
engaged stakeholders include Peel Land and Property and Homes England. The MTC 
has started to develop a range of options for the commercial structure that will 
underpin the programme’s implementation. MTC is in advanced talks with regional 
stakeholders to secure market access to 5,000 new social homes over a 10-year 
period. This number is expected to scale exponentially once benefits are realised.  

Management Case 

The MTC is a key partner of the Combined Authority, established in 2010 as an 
independent, non-profit distributing, Research & Technology Organisation with the 
objective of bridging the gap between academia and industry. The MTC is one of the 
seven centres which make up the High Value Manufacturing Catapult, and is part 
funded by Innovate UK. The MTC has a track record of providing high levels of ROI 
and GVA and has far exceeded its initial targets.  

The MTC incorporates the National Centre for Additive Manufacturing and is the 
leading partner in the UK’s £72m Construction Innovation Hub. This programme 
could be operated in conjunction with, or as an extension to the Construction 
Innovation Hub. 

Timeline and Next Steps 

The Combined Authority and MTC can commence Phase 1 within 3 months of 
funding confirmation. 

Page 432



Page 433



REPORT TO: Executive Board

DATE: 30 July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Operational Director – Finance

PORTFOLIO: Resources

SUBJECT: 2019/20 Financial Outturn Position 

WARD(S): Borough-wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To report the Council’s final overall revenue and capital spending position 
as at 31 March 2020. 

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That;

1) The report be noted.

2) The information within the report is taken into account when 
reviewing the 2020/21 budget monitoring position, medium term 
forecast and saving proposals for future years.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Revenue Spending

3.1 The final accounts for 2019/20 are nearing completion and the revenue 
spending position for each Department is shown in Appendix 1.

3.2 Overall the final outturn position shows a net overspend of £5.296m 
against a revised budget of £108.621m. The adverse position has been 
highlighted throughout the year, at the end of December 2019 it was 
forecast that the final overspend outturn would be in the region of 
£5.115m. 

3.3 The outturn position is representative of the continuing pressures 
evidenced on the Council’s budget position over the last 4 years. The 
overspend position has gradually increased between 2016/17 and 
2019/20 and emphasises the difficulty in being able to fully realise and 
achieve the efficiency savings put forward in approving the Council’s 
annual budget. Chart 1 shows the growth to the overspend position over 
the last 4 years.

Page 434 Agenda Item 8a



Chart 1  

3.4 In March 2019 the Council approved budget savings proposals totalling 
£9.250m for the current year’s budget. The value of permanent savings 
was £4.432m, of which a number of saving proposals totalling £1.604m 
proved difficult to achieve and were not fully implemented over the course 
of the year.

3.5 The risk to the Council’s budget continues over the next year due to 
increasing service demand pressures. To mitigate the risk, budgets have 
been increased in 2020/21 to help manage the current departmental 
budget overspends, inclusive of £5.200m across Adults and Children’s 
Social Care and £0.490m for the Community and Environment 
Department. Funding for these measures came from an additional 
£2.915m social care grant, 2% council tax precept for Adult Social Care 
and gains from retained business rates.

3.6 In order to fund the outturn position a review of the Council’s earmarked 
reserves has been undertaken. It is proposed that £4.300m of the 
accumulated reserve from the business rate retention pilot scheme is 
used, which leaves a balance of £0.996m to be funded from the General 
Fund Reserve. 

3.7 The resulting General Fund balance of £4.002m is considered to be the 
minimum necessary going forward, in conjunction with other earmarked 
reserves and provisions, given ongoing service pressures.

3.8 Employee expenditure for the year was approximately £71.773m 
(£71.721m-2018/19), which was £0.488m below the allocated budget. 
The variance is primarily due to the number of posts which have been 
held vacant over the past year, some of which have been deleted from 
the structure in the new financial year as a means of achieving budget 
savings.

3.9 Details of spend and income on Mersey Gateway is included within 
Appendix 1 to the report. Overall the Mersey Gateway has no impact on 
the Council’s 2019/20 outturn position, as all spend has been funded from 
either toll charges or Government grant. Toll income for the year is 
greater than forecast. The increase in toll income reduces the amount of 

Page 435



Government Availability Support Grant used to help reach a balanced 
position.

3.10 Within the overall net overspend for the year, the key budget variances 
are as follows;

i. Children and Families Department (£4,289,000 Overspend)

As highlighted throughout the year, a significant overspend against 
budget was expected for the Department. As at 31 December 2019 the 
overspend position was £3.498m with the final outturn position expected 
to be in the region of £4.665m. Concentrated efforts in controlling spend 
and looking at more efficient use of resources throughout the Department 
has helped limit the final overspend position to £4.289m.

External provider residential placement costs are significantly over budget 
by £2.132m (43%). Savings have been applied to this area totalling 
£150,000, which have not been achieved and an income target of 
£120,000 relating to the Halton CCG contribution to joint funded 
packages has also been applied in the last two years. Without more 
children meeting the strict criteria for joint funded placements, this will 
remain unachievable. The last quarter of the year has seen an increase in 
the numbers of young people placed within a residential care setting. 
Processes are in place to identify those children who may be able to step 
down from residential care into foster care, which will therefore reduce 
these numbers and costs. However, this will be an ongoing and lengthy 
process due to the complexities of the cases and there is no certainty that 
there will be any suitable young people identified.

Costs relating to independent fostering agency placements are also 
significantly over budget £0.854 (52%). In-house foster carers are utilised 
wherever possible and the Council is part of a collaborative fostering 
service with Cheshire West and Chester, Cheshire East and Warrington 
Councils. Every effort is being made to recruit new foster carers, but this 
is a lengthy process and it will take time for the Council to build up a new 
bank of foster carers. However, the numbers of in-house carers has 
increased significantly over the last few months and the number of those 
children placed within in-house foster placements have increased from 
110 at the start of the year to 132 in March 2020. Incentives to help 
recruit and retain foster carers have also been implemented in 2019/20, 
for example, discretionary council tax relief. These measures continue to 
have a positive impact on recruitment and retention and have reduced the 
reliance on independent fostering placements being sought at a much 
higher cost over the last few months. Additional training is now also being 
provided to foster carers to enable them to provide more specialist 
placements e.g. mother and baby placements. This will help to alleviate 
the need to place young people into expensive mother and baby 
residential placements or independent foster carer placements.  
Independent foster care placements will continue to be a pressure area, 
as there is a risk that additional service user numbers will increase 
overspend levels during the coming year.

Page 436



The Early Years net divisional expenditure is £0.258m over budget at the 
end of the year. The main pressure was from income shortfalls not 
covering spending incurred at the settings. Income was £397,000 under 
the set target due to parental fees continuing to underachieve. This level 
of underachievement is expected to continue in future as income targets 
were set based on both settings having full occupancy levels. 

There is a need to continue the good work of achieving efficiencies and 
value for money, in spite of the demand pressures for the forthcoming 
financial year. In setting the 2020/21 budget, additional funding of 
£3.100m was provided to reflect the existing demands upon the 
Department, in addition to extra budget provided to fund inflation and 
increased staffing costs.

ii. Community & Environment Department (£1,179,000 overspend):-

The net overspend for the Department is slightly higher than the forecast 
of £1.103m at 31 December 2019.

The main issue for the Department was once again fees and charges 
income, which was £0.812m short of the budgeted amount at year-end.  
Fee income at the Leisure Centres underachieved by £0.469m.  A major 
reason for this was due to difficulties in the recruitment of swimming and 
fitness instructors, leading to a reduced number of swimming lessons and 
a lack of fitness classes, although this should be considered alongside a 
staffing underspend of £0.313m across the three centres.  Ticket income 
fell at the Brindley in 2019/20 due to the impact of Covid-19 in the latter 
part of the year.  In addition to losses from shows postponed due to the 
closure of the building in the second half of March, ticket sales dropped 
considerably from late February due to uncertainty about whether shows 
would go ahead and concern about whether refunds could be obtained if 
people were unable or unwilling to attend shows.

Sales income across the Department was £0.382m short of its target in 
2019/20, with the main issues occurring in the Commercial Catering 
Division and at the Stadium. Stadium concourse sales fell considerably in 
2018/19 due to lower attendances at matches following Widnes Vikings’ 
relegation, and this has continued in 2019/20, exacerbated by the 
postponement of matches due to be played in March 2020.  

The Universal Infants Free School Meals grant received was £0.179m 
short of budget due to an increasing number of schools converting to 
academy status, for which a similar level of grant funding was not 
received.

iii. Adult Social Care, Including Care Homes (£1,065,000 Overspend):-

Whilst the Department recorded an overall overspend position, the 
primary reason for this was the additional costs incurred for the provision 
of the in-house care homes.  Over the past two years the Council has 
acquired four care homes and spending for the year against these homes 
was £1.141m higher than the approved budget. 

Page 437



The main driver of the higher costs relates to the use of agency staff, 
required until Council staffing structures are fully implemented within each 
of the four care homes. It is expected for this to be a short term impact 
and costs for 2020/21 will be lower. However, budgeted income for each 
of the care homes is based upon 100% bed occupancy, which may not 
be realistic.

Premises maintenance costs are also a concern and are running at a rate 
considerably higher than the set budget provision. A major refurbishment 
at the Millbrow setting is planned to be undertaken in 2020/21 which 
should help to reduce on-going costs.

iv.Education, Inclusion and Provision (921,000 Overspend):-

The main budget pressure area for the Department is in relation to 
Schools Transport where spend is over the approved budget by £0.774m 
(128%). The Council has a statutory responsibility to provide special 
educational needs pupils with transport and there has been an 
increasingly large demand for this service. The budget is inclusive of a 
£350k unachieved transport saving which was offered up for 2019/20, all 
of which has been placed against Schools Transport.

It had previously been reported that there would be a shortfall in inter-
authority income due to the Council’s reduced capacity to accept pupils 
from other authorities. After further analysis it was established that as this 
income target is linked to school funding, it should be part funded from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant. This has helped reduce the forecast 
overspend of £1.050m at 31 December 2019 to £0.921m.

v. Complex Care Pool (£821,000 Overspend):-

The overall position for the Complex Care Pool budget is £0.821m over 
budget at the end of the financial year, of which £0.762m relates to the 
Adult Health & Social Care budget. The pressures on this budget have 
been significant due to continuing demand.

The average number of HBC funded clients receiving a Direct Payment 
has increased by 7% (472 to 505) from 2018/19 to 2019/20.  The average 
cost of a DP package is currently £369 per week compared to £318 in 
April 2019, an increase of 16%.

The average number of HBC funded residential placements has 
increased by 2.3% from 2018/19 to 2019/20. The average weekly cost of 
a residential care package is currently £573 compared to £541 in April 
2019 an increase of 6% in line with increases to providers.

The average total number of clients in receipt of a home care package, 
funded by social care, has reduced by over 4% from 2018/19 to 2019/20. 
The cost of an average package of care has increased by 7% from April 
2019 to March 2020.

Page 438



vi. Corporate & Democracy (£1,668,000 Underspend)

Whilst the Council has benefitted from higher investment rate returns over 
the majority of the year, the last three months has had more of a 
detrimental impact. The shadow of Covid-19 on global markets has 
resulted in investment returns dropping back during January to March. 
This included a drop in the value of the Councils property fund portfolio of 
£0.176m.

The Council’s contingency fund has remained unused for the majority of 
the year which together with slippage in funding of the capital programme 
has contributed towards the overall underspend position.

vii. Finance (£528,000 Underspend):-

The underspend position for the department is greater than forecast at 31 
December (£0.211m), attributable to two particular areas. 

Insurance costs are below budget at the end of the year due to the value 
of liability excesses being less than forecast.  These are dependent upon 
the amount of claims received in any financial year, other than through 
the use of historical data it remains a difficult area in which to estimate 
annual spend.

Concessionary travel costs for the year are under budget due to Halton 
Borough Transport going into liquidation towards the end of the financial 
year. The reduction in the volume of services offered had a 
corresponding impact upon concessionary travel uptake.

3.11 The council tax collection rate for the third quarter of 94.6% is marginally 
lower (0.18%) than was the case for 2018/19. The collection rate for 
business rates of 97.1% is down by 1.3% from last year. However, the 
forecast retained element of business rates and council tax exceeded the 
estimate used when setting the 2019/20 budget, the surplus retained 
helped balance the 2020/21 budget.
  
Covid-19

3.12 The impact of Covid-19 started to have a real visible impact upon the 
Council’s budget towards the end of the financial year. It will have a 
significant influence upon the Council’s finances over the medium term 
going forward. The Council will monitor the overall forecast cost of Covid-
19 on a monthly basis and report back to MHCLG. It will also work with 
the Liverpool City Region to lobby Government to ensure full funding is 
provided to cover the additional costs and income losses arising from the 
pandemic.

3.13 Prior to the end of the financial year the Council received an initial grant 
allocation of £4.337m, followed by a second allocation of £3.547m.

3.14 The figures within this report include 2019/20 costs relating to Covid-19. 
These costs and shortfalls in income have been fully funded by 

Page 439



drawdown of the grant funding. For March 2020 initial costs and losses of 
income were identified totalling £0.850m. The latest estimate of the cost 
of Covid-19 to the Council in terms of additional spending and loss of 
income, is calculated at £25.8m (as per LCR lobbying letter).

3.15 In finalising the accounts for the year, the Council has taken a prudent 
view on the provision set aside for bad debt across sundry debtors, the 
Collection Fund (council tax and business rates) and Mersey Gateway. 
There is an expectancy that unpaid debts will increase over the course of 
the next twelve months.

Capital Spending

3.16 Capital spending at 31st March 2020 totalled £36.208m, which is 99% of 
the planned spending of £36.467m (which assumes a 20% slippage 
between years).

 
4.0 POLICY AND OTHER IMPLICATIONS

4.1 None.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

5.1 There are no direct implications, however, the revenue budget and capital 
programme support the delivery and achievement of all the Council’s 
priorities.

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS

6.1 There are a number of financial risks within the budget. However, the 
Council has maintained a budget risk register throughout the year and 
has internal controls and processes in place to ensure that spending 
remains in line with budget as far as possible.

7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

7.1 None.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1072

8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.

Page 440



APPENDIX 1

2019/20 REVENUE EXPENDITURE

Summary

Department/Directorate Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Community & Environment 24,023 25,202 (1,179)
Economy, Enterprise & Property 3,139 2,893 246
Finance 4,462 3,934 528
ICT & Support Services -169 -131 (38)
Legal & Democratic 546 448 98
Planning & Transportation 16,145 15,745 400
Policy, People, Performance & Efficiency 169 118 51
Enterprise, Community & Resources 
Directorate

48,315 48,209 106

Adult Social Care (Incl Care Homes) 22,285 23,350 (1,065)
Children & Families 22,896 27,185 (4,289)
Complex Care Pool 21,844 22,665 (821)
Education, Inclusion & Provision 9,268 10,189 (921)
Public Health & Public Protection 934 908 26
People Directorate 77,227 84,297 (7,070)

Corporate & Democracy -24,648 -26,316 1,668
Mersey Gateway 7,727 7,727 0

Total Revenue Expenditure 108,621 113,917 5,296

Page 441



ENTERPRISE, COMMUNITY & RESOURCES DIRECTORATE
Community & Environment Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 14,719 14,595 124
Premises 2,029 2,269 (240)
Supplies & Services 1,097 1,322 (225)
Book Fund 147 148 (1)
Hired & Contracted Services 990 971 19
Food Provisions 450 440 10
School Meals Food 1,919 2,006 (87)
Transport 88 89 (1)
Other Agency Costs 350 337 13
Waste Disposal Contracts 6,140 6,003 137
Grants to Voluntary Organisations 67 20 47
Grant to Norton Priory 172 173 (1)
Rolling Projects 46 54 (8)
Capital Financing 443 558 (115)
Total Expenditure 28,657 28,985 (328)

Income
Sales Income (1,672) (1,290) (382)
School Meals Sales (2,305) (2,209) (96)
Fees & Charges Income (5,933) (5,122) (811)
Rents Income (207) (222) 15
Government Grant Income (1,198) (1,022) (176)
Reimbursements & Other Grant Income (733) (784) 51
Schools SLA Income (1,348) (1,406) 58
Internal Fees Income (265) (398) 133
School Meals Other Income (255) (271) 16
Catering Fees (114) (94) (20)
Capital Salaries (173) (180) 7
Transfers from Reserves (965) (1,155) 190
Total Income (15,168) (14,153) (1,015)

Net Operational Expenditure 13,489 14,832 (1,343)

Recharges
Asset Charges 3,426 3,426 0
Central Support Services 3,892 3,892 0
HBC Support Costs Income (647) (653) 6
Transport Recharges 2,364 2,206 158
Premises Support 1,499 1,499 0
Net Total Recharges 10,534 10,370 164

Net Department Expenditure 24,023 25,202 (1,179)

Page 442



Economy, Enterprise & Property Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 4,653 4,566 87
Repairs & Maintenance 2,276 2,024 252
Premises 62 66 (4)
Energy & Water Costs 632 664 (32)
NNDR 495 502 (7)
Rents 353 355 (2)
Economic Regeneration Activities 16 16 0
Supplies & Services 1,774 1,792 (18)
Grants to Voluntary Organisations 47 47 0
Transport Related 2 2 0
Capital Finance 34 34 0
Transfer to Reserves 1,546 1,546 0

Total Expenditure 11,890 11,614 276

Income
Fees & Charges -1,319 -1,324 5
Rent – Commercial Properties -1,057 -968 (89)
Rent – Investment Properties -44 -43 (1)
Rent – Markets -737 -733 (4)
Government Grant Income -1,234 -1,234 0
Reim & Other Grant Income -1,256 -1,255 (1)
Schools SLA Income -491 -492 1
Recharges to Capital -174 -233 59
Transfer from Reserves -1,127 -1,127 0
Total Income -7,439 -7,409 -30

Net Operational Expenditure 4,451 4,205 246

Recharges
Premises Support 1,868 1,868 0
Transport Support 28 28 0
Central Support Service 1,974 1,974 0
Central Support Service Income -6,559 -6,559 0
Asset Rental 1,377 1,377 0

Net Total Recharges -1,312 -1,312 0

Net Department Expenditure 3,139 2,893 246

Page 443



Finance Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 5,516 5,466 50
Supplies & Services 388 317 71
Insurance 1,049 776 273
Rent Allowances 42,900 42,900 0
Non HRA Rent Rebates 65 62 3
Discretionary Social Fund 106 128 (22)
Discretionary Housing 469 467 2
Concessionary Travel 2,218 2,062 156
LCR Levy 2,241 2,241 0
Total Expenditure, 54,952 54,419 533

Income
Clerical Error Recovery -400 -698 298
Rent Allowances -42,500 -41,959  (541)
Fees & Charges -231 -272 41
Non HRA Rent Rebate -65 -62 (3)
Burdens Grant -66 -101 35
Dedicated Schools Grant -102 -102 0
Discretionary Housing Grant -469 -469 0
Hsg Benefit Admin Grant -446 -446 0
Council Tax Admin Grant -204 -208 4
Council Tax Liability Order -406 -505 99
Business Rates Admin Grant -156 -156 0
Schools SLAs -818 -861 43
LCR Reimbursement -2,241 -2,241 0
Reimbursements & Other Grants -196 -232 36
Transfer from Reserves -54 -37 (17)

Total Income -48,354 -48,349 (5)

Net Operational Expenditure 6,598 6,070 528

Recharges
Premises Support 248 248 0
Central Support Services 2,493 2,493 0
Central Support Income -4,877 -4,877 0
Net Total Recharges -2,136 -2,136 0

Net Department Expenditure 4,462 3,934 528

Page 444



ICT & Support Services Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 7,332 7,258 74
Supplies & Services 1,026 965 61
Capital Financing 78 44 34
Computer Repairs & Software 940 792 148
Communication Costs 17 37 (20)
Transfer To Reserves 15 0 15
Premises Costs 64 82 (18)
Transport Expenditure 3 2 1
Total Expenditure 9,475 9,180 295

Income
Fees & Charges -1,108 -693 (415)
Schools SLA -532 -609 77

Total Income -1,640 -1,302 (338)

Net Operational Expenditure 7,835 7,878 (43)

Recharges
Premises Support 424 424 0
Transport 20 20 0
Central Support Recharges 1,116 1,116 0
Asset Rental Support Costs 1,309 1,309 0
Support Services Income -10,873 -10,878 5

Net Total Recharges -8,004 -8,009 5

Net Department Expenditure -169 -131 (38)

Page 445



Legal & Democratic Services Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure

Employees 1,894 1,845 49
Supplies  & Services 271 225 46
Civic Catering & Functions 49 30 19
Legal Expenses 300 362 (62)
Transport Related Expenditure 11 9 2

Total Expenditure 2,525 2,471 54

Income
Land Charges -80 -71 (9)
School SLAs -80 -80 0
Licence Income -250 -264 14
Fees & Charges Income -56 -74 18
Government Grant 0 -21 21
Reimbursements & Other Grant 
Income                                                                                    

-122 -122 0

Transfer From Reserves -91 -91 0
Total Income -679 -723 44

Net Operational Expenditure 1,846 1,748 98

Recharges
Premises Support 64 64 0
Central Support Service 363 363 0
Support Recharges Income -1,727 -1,727 0

Net Total Recharges -1,300 -1,300 0

Net Department Expenditure 546 448 98

Page 446



Planning & Transportation Department

 

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure    
Employees 4,663 4,439 224
Premises 160 165 (5)
Contracted Services 448 591 (143)
Supplies & Services 227 348 (121)
Street Lighting 1,627 1,882 (255)
Highways Maintenance 2,495 2,347 148
Fleet Transport 1,366 1,073 293
Halton Hopper Tickets 142 142 0
Bus Support 519 504 15
Finance Charges 16 12 4
Grants to Voluntary Organisations 61 61 0
LCR Levy 882 882 0
NRA Levy 66 66 0
Contribution to Reserves 822 822 0
Total Expenditure 13,494 13,334 160
Income
Sales -121 -166 45
Planning Fees -546 -558 12
Building Control Fees -213 -219 6
Other Fees & Charges -840 -954 114
Grants & Reimbursements -257 -306 49
Government Grant Income -197 -203 6
Halton Hopper Income -152 -133 (19)
Efficiency Savings -28 0 (28)
Contribution from Reserves -325 -325 0
School SLA’s -44 -43 (1)
Capital Salaries -414 -414 0
LCR Levy Reimbursement -882 -882 0
Total Income -4,019 -4,203 184

Net Operational Expenditure 9,475 9,131 344
Recharges
Premises Recharges 542 542 0
Transport Recharges 688 671 17
Asset Charges 8,743 8,743 0
Central Support Services 1,643 1,646 (3)
Transport Recharge Income -4,296 -4,338 42
Support Service Income -650 -650 0
Net Total Recharges 6,670 6,614 56

Net Department Expenditure 16,145 15,745 400

Page 447



Policy, People, Performance & Efficiency Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 2,033 2,072 (39)
Employees Training 133 94 39
Supplies & Services 137 138 (1)
Apprenticeship Levy 300 287 13
Total Expenditure 2,603 2,591 12

Income
Fees & Charges -95 -136 41
Reimbursements & Other Grants 0 -15 15
Schools SLAs -435 -418 -17
Transfer from Reserves -12 -12 0
Total Income -542 -581 39

Net Operational Expenditure 2,061 2,010 51

Recharges
Premises Support 89 89 0
Central Support Recharges 900 900 0
Support recharges Income -2,881 -2,881 0

Net Total Recharges -1,892 -1,892 0

Net Department Expenditure 169 118 51

Page 448



PEOPLE DIRECTORATE

Adult Social Care Department (Including Care Homes)

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure Excluding Care Homes
Employees 13,858 13,712 146
Premises 429 445   (16)
Supplies & Services        950 970   (20)
Aids & Adaptations 113 101 12
Transport 228 257 (29)
Food Provision 174 182 (8)
Contracts & SLAs 536 544 (8)
Emergency Duty Team 100 108 (8)
Agency 703 713 (10)
Payments To Providers 1,492 1,493 (1)
Revenue Contrib.To Capital 44 44 0
Total Expenditure 18,627 18,569 58

Income Excluding Care Homes
Sales & Rents Income -369 -352 (17)
Fees & Charges -676 -688 12
Reimbursements & Grant Income -1,100 -1,110 10
Transfer From Reserves -1,382 -1,382 0
Capitalised Salaries -111 -121 10
Government Grant Income -882 -885 3
Total Income -4,520 -4,538 18

Net Operational Spend Excluding 
Care Homes     14,107     14,031 76

Recharges
Premises Support 490 490 0
Asset Charges 246 246 0
Central Support Services 3,027 3,027 0
Internal Recharge Income -167 -167 0
Transport Recharges 648 648 0
Net Total Recharges       4,244       4,244 0

Net Department Expenditure 
Excluding Care Homes

    18,351     18,275 76

Care Homes Net Expenditure      3,905       5,046 (1,141)

Net Department Expenditure 
Including Care Homes

    22,256     23,321 (1,065)

Page 449



Children & Families Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 8,787 8,997 (210)
Premises 270 287 (17)
Supplies and Services 1,010 1,348 (338)
Transport 97 151 (54)
Direct Payments/Individual Budgets 506 763 (257)
Commissioned Services 224 201 23
External Provider Residential Placements 4,997 7,129 (2,132)
Out of Borough Adoption 84 88 (4)
Independent Fostering Agency Placements 1,630 2,484 (854)
In House Adoption 294 402 (108)
Special Guardianship 1,699 1,707 (8)
In House Foster Carer Payments 2,031 2,030 1
Care Leavers 331 343 (12)
Family Support 53 73 (20)
Emergency Duty Team 102 108 (6)
Contracted Services 4 3 1
Early Years 86 344 (258)
Transfer to Reserves 43 43 0
Total Expenditure 22,248 26,501 (4,253)

Income
Fees and Charges -29 -25 (4)
Sales Income -43 -47 4
Rents -82 -86 4
Dedicated Schools Grant -85 -85 0
Reimbursements & Other Grant Income -653 -612 (41)
Government Grants -1,263 -1,263 0
Transfer from Reserves -50 -50 0
Total Income -2,205 -2,168 (37)

Net Operational Expenditure 20,043 24,333 (4,290)

Recharges
Premises Support 192 192 0
Transport Support 19 18 1
Central Support Service Costs 2,687 2,687 0
Internal Recharge Income -45 -45 0
Net Total Recharges 2,853 2,852 1

Net Department Expenditure 22,896 27,185 (4,289)

Page 450



Complex Care Pool Budget

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Intermediate Care Services 6,063 6,106 (43)
B3 beds 1,175 1,175 0
Oakmeadow 1,331 1,403 (72)
End of Life 200 180 20
Sub-Acute 1,940 1,907 33
Joint Equipment Service 613 682 (69)
CCG Contracts & SLA’s 2,974 2,970 4
Inglenook 125 80 45
Intermediate Care Beds 599 599 0
BCF schemes 155 139 16
Carer’s Centre 359 359 0

0 0 0
Adult Health & Social Care 0 0 0
Residential & Nursing Care 20,928 21,513 (585)
Domiciliary & Supported Living 13,091 13,273 (182)
Direct Payments 9,853 10,931 (1,078)
Daycare 445 524 (79)
Carer’s Breaks 394 313 81

Total Expenditure 60,245 62,154 1,909

Income
Residential & Nursing Income -6,958 -6,879 (79)
Care Homes Income -1,533 -1,355 (178)
Community Care Income -1,445 -1,511 66
Direct Payments Income -581 -684 103
Winter Pressures -639 -639 0
BCF -10,377 -10,377 0
CCG Contribution to Pool -15,129 -16,309 1,180
ILF -656 -656 0
Oakmeadow Income -604 -600 (4)
Income from other CCG’s -113 -113 0
Transfer from reserve -319 -319 0
Other income -47 -47 0

Total Income -38,401 -39,489 1,088

Net Operational Expenditure 21,844 22,665 (821)

Page 451



Education, Inclusion & Provision Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 5,110 5,167 (57)
Premises 27 24 3
Supplies & Services 1,137 1,212 (75)
Transport 43 41 2
Schools Transport 607 1,381 (774)
Commissioned Services 2,444 2,467 (23)
Agency Related Expenditure 1,461 1,461 0
Independent School Fees 3,882 3,882 0
Inter Authority Special Needs 346 346 0
Pupil Premium Grant 112 112 0
Nursery Education Payments 6,179 6,179 0
Capital Finance -2,273 -2,273 0
Total Expenditure 19,075 19,999 (924)

Income
Fees & Charges -56 -92 36
Government Grants -1,233 -1,233 0
Reimbursements & Other Grants -593 -646 53
Schools SLA Income -526 -547 21
Transfer from Reserves 524 524 0
Dedicated Schools Grant -14,136 -14,136 0

Total Income -16,020 -16,130 110

Net Operational Expenditure 3,055 3,869 (814)

Recharges
Central Support Services 1,756 1,760 (4)
Support Costs Income -79 -79 0
Premises Support 138 138 0
Transport Support 410 513 (103)
Asset Rental 174 174 0

Net Total Recharges 2,399 2,506 (107)

Net Department Expenditure 5,454 6,375 (921)

Page 452



Public Health & Public Protection Department

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 3,696 3,656 40
Premises 5 5 0
Supplies & Services        254 226 28
Contracts & SLA’s 6,526 6,526 0
Transport 10 7 3
Agency 18 19 (1)
Transfer to Reserve 38 38 0
Total Expenditure 10,547 10,477 70

Income
Fees & Charges -102 -89 (13)
Government Grant -9,919 -9,919 0
Reimbursements & Grant Income -484 -452 (32)
Total Income -10,505 -10,460 (45)

Net Operational Expenditure 42 17 25

Recharges
Premises Support 143 143 0
Central Support Services 726 726 0
Transport 23 22 1
Net Total Recharges 892 891 1

Net Department Expenditure 934 908 26

Page 453



Corporate & Democracy

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 250 272 (22)
Contracted Services 35 7 28
Members Allowances 877 860 17
Interest Payable 3,404 3,370 34
Supplies & Services 130 271 (141)
Bank Charges 83 137 (54)
Audit Fees 124 151 (27)
Contingency 939 0 939
Capital Financing 2,721 2,755 (34)
Contribution to Reserves 15,361 15,361 0
Debt Management Expenses 34 13 21
Precepts & Levies 192 197 (5)
Total Expenditure 24,150 23,394 756

Income
Interest Receivable – Treasury -1,055 -1,482 427
Interest Receivable – Other -477 -461 -16
Fees & Charges -54 -61 7
Grants & Reimbursements -65 -517 452
Government Grant Income -16,425 -16,425 0
Transfer from Reserves -4,759 -4,801 42
Total Income -22,835 -23,747 912

Net Operational Expenditure 1,315 -353 1,668

Recharges
Premises Recharges 5 5 0
Central Recharges 1,315 1,315 0
Support Services Income -27,283 -27,283 0
Net Total Recharges -25,963 -25,963 0

Net Department Expenditure -24,648 -26,316 1,668

Page 454



Mersey Gateway

Annual 
Budget
£’000

Actual 
Expenditure

£’000

Variance
(overspend)

£’000

Expenditure
Employees 0 50 (50)
Other Premises 160 143 17
Hired & Contracted 0 14 (14)
Unitary Charge 37,053 37,065 (12)
DMPA Fee 8,449 13,608 (5,159)
Insurance 1,540 511 1,029
Supplies & Services 0 12 (12)
MGCB Ltd 2,208 1,255 953
MGET 573 461 112
Bus Support 53 326 (273)
External Interest 5,173 5,175 (2)
Finance Charges 151 148 3
Bad debt provision 0 11,779 (11,779)
Direct Revenue Financing 447 149 298
Transfer to reserves 0 14,344 (14,344)
Total Expenditure 55,807 85,040 (29,233)

Income
Toll Income -29,492 -56,571 27,079
Grants & Reimbursements -25,808 -28.075 2,267
Transfer from reserves -573 -461 (112)
Total Income -55,873 -85,107 29,234

Net Operational Expenditure (66) (67) 1

Recharges
Central Support Recharges 66 67 (1)
Depreciation 7,727 7,727 0
Net Total Recharges 7,793 7,794 (1)

Net Department Expenditure 7,727 7,727 0

Page 455



APPENDIX 2

2019/20 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Directorate/Department

Actual Expenditure to 
Date

£’000

2019/20 Cumulative 
Capital Allocation

Quarter 4

£’000

Capital Allocation
2020/21

£’000

Capital
Allocation
2021/22

£’000

Enterprise Community & 
Resources Directorate
Community and Environment 
Stadium Minor Works 0 39 30 30
Stadium Pitch 18 21 0 0
Stadium Reconfiguration 545 553 0 0
Widnes Recreation site 7 0 0 0
Brookvale Pitch refurbishment 0 0 500 0
New Leisure Centre 14 0 5,000 10,000
Open Spaces Schemes 455 560 0 0
Children’s Playground Equipment 98 154 65 65
Upton Improvements 0 13 0 0
Crow Wood Play Area 46 46 15 0
Crow Wood Park Pavillion 244 295 0 0
Peelhouse Lane Cemetery 621 950 40 20
Phoenix Park 3 3 0 0
Victoria Park Glass House 329 305 0 0
Sandymoor Playing Fields 67 40 30 0

P
age 456



Directorate/Department

Actual Expenditure to 
Date

£’000

2019/20 Cumulative 
Capital Allocation

Quarter 4

£’000

Capital Allocation
2020/21

£’000

Capital
Allocation
2021/22

£’000

Widnes & Runcorn Cemeteries 190 190 9 0
Landfill Tax Credit Schemes 2 20 340 340
Runcorn Town Park 184 200 280 280
Bowling Greens 12 32 2 0
Litter Bins 20 20 20 20
Libraries IT equipment 90 95 0 0
ICT & Support Services
ICT Rolling Programme 700 700 700 700

Economy, Enterprise & Property
3MG 62 126 0 0
Widnes Waterfront 0 0 1,000 0
SciTech Daresbury – EZ Grant 96 96 0 0
SciTech Daresbury – Project Violet 0 0 5,864 0
Venture Field 55 61 0 0
Linnets Clubhouse 34 50 58 0
The Croft 0 30 0 0
Murdishaw redevelopment 0 0 38 0
Former Crosville Site 127 127 0 0
Advertising Screen at The Hive 0 0 100 0
Widnes Market Refurbishment 61 100 40 0
Broseley House 24 15 5 441
Solar Farm 847 1,209 225 0

P
age 457



Directorate/Department

Actual Expenditure to 
Date

£’000

2019/20 Cumulative 
Capital Allocation

Quarter 4

£’000

Capital Allocation
2020/21

£’000

Capital
Allocation
2021/22

£’000

Moor Lane Bus Depot 257 247 0 0
Manor Park 39 37 0 0
Equality Act Improvement Works 272 300 300 300
Foundry Lane Residential Area 318 350 1,800 0
Kingsway Learning Centre 19 0 745 0
Halton Lea TCF 103 100 0 0
Mersey Gateway
Land Acquisitions 1,405 3,270 0 0
Development Costs 88 105 0 0
Construction Costs 169 125 0 0
Other
Risk Management 142 377 120 120
Fleet Replacements 645 1,471 1,760 3,043
Policy, Planning & Transportation
Bridge & Highway Maintenance 4,183 5,985 1,449 0
Integrated Transport & Network 
Management 360 692 460 0

Street Lighting – Structural 
Maintenance & Upgrades 271 1,755 2,000 200

STEPS Programme 2,414 2,013 0 0
Silver Jubilee Bridge Major 
Maintenance 3,034 4,126 0 0

Silver Jubilee Bridge Decoupling / 
Runcorn Station Quarter 11,182 5,705 20,000 20,000

SJB Decorative Lighting 0 0 500 0

P
age 458



Directorate/Department

Actual Expenditure to 
Date

£’000

2019/20 Cumulative 
Capital Allocation

Quarter 4

£’000

Capital Allocation
2020/21

£’000

Capital
Allocation
2021/22

£’000

Widnes Loops 294 4,553 0 0
KRN – Earle Road Gyratory 5 238 0 0
Travelodge/Watkinson Way Footpath 162 128 0 0
SUD Green Cycle / Walk Corridors 211 245 435 267
Strategic Cycling & Walking Network 289 289 0 0
Total Enterprise Community & 
Resources 30,813 38,161 43,930 35,826

People Directorate

Adult Social Care
ALD Bungalows 0 0 199 0
Grangeway Court Refurbishment 0 0 0 0
Bredon Reconfiguration 28 30 0 0
Purchase of 2 adapted properties 143 512 0 0
Orchard House 215 407 0 0
Carefirst Upgrade 362 362 0 0

Complex Pool
Disabled Facilities Grant 587 601 0 0
Stairlifts (Adaptations Initiative) 236 256 0 0
RSL Adaptations (Joint Funding) 245 260 0 0
Carehome Acquisitions 2,079 2,400 0 0

P
age 459



Directorate/Department

Actual Expenditure to 
Date

£’000

2019/20 Cumulative 
Capital Allocation

Quarter 4

£’000

Capital Allocation
2020/21

£’000

Capital
Allocation
2021/22

£’000

Oakmeadow refurbishment 85 105 0 0
Millbrow 138 107 1,437 0
Madeline McKenna Care Home 30 20 0 0

Schools Related
Asset Management Data 6 5 27 0
Capital Repairs 410 882 800 0
Asbestos Management 9 43 35 0
Schools Access Initiative 4 17 50 0
Basic Need Projects 0 188 437 0
Fairfield Primary School 21 34 0 0
Kitchen Gas Safety 37 68 0 0
Small Capital Works 78 126 0 0
Bridge School Vocational Centre 10 27 0 0
Simms Cross 0 1 0 0
SEND capital allocation 602 618 253 0
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 11 17 0 0
The Grange – Brookfields Provision 39 37 0 0
Chesnut Lodge 20 300 0 0
School Condition Grant - unallocated 0 0 112 0

Total People Directorate 5,395 7,423 3,350 0

P
age 460



TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 36,208 45,584 47,280 35,826
Slippage (20%) -9,117 -9,456 -7,165

9,117 9,456
TOTAL 36,208 36,467 47,241 38,117

P
age 461



P
age 462



REPORT TO: Executive Board

DATE: 30 July 2020

REPORTING OFFICER: Operational Director – Finance

PORTFOLIO: Resources

SUBJECT: 2020/21 Revenue Spending as at 31 May 2020 

WARD(S): Borough-wide

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To report the Council’s overall revenue net spending position as at 31 
May 2019 together with an initial forecast outturn position.
 

1.2 To report on the financial impact of Covid19 and to outline Government 
funding made available to the Council to date.

2.0 RECOMMENDED: That;

(i) All spending continues to be limited to only absolutely 
essential items;

(ii) Strategic Directors seek to implement those approved budget 
savings proposals which are currently proving difficult to 
action or seek alternative saving proposals;

(iii) Strategic Directors take urgent action to identify areas where 
spending could be reduced or suspended for the remainder of 
the current financial year.

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Revenue Spending

3.1 Appendix 1 presents a summary of spending against the operational 
revenue budget (ie. excluding internal recharges) up to 31 May 2020. At 
this point in overall terms spending is £463,000 above budget. The 
outturn forecast for the year estimates that total spending will be over 
budget by £6.616m. This is inclusive of additional costs and estimated 
income losses incurred as a result of Covid19.

3.2 The spending position to date is made up of two elements. Operational 
day to day net spending is forecast to be over the approved budget by 
£4.878m, whilst additional costs for Covid19 (inclusive of income losses) 
is forecast to add a further £1.738m to the budget pressures for the year, 
after allowing for grant income already received.

Page 463 Agenda Item 8b



3.3 Given the scale of this overspend and continuing spending pressures, it is 
considered important for Executive Board to receive this interim snapshot 
of revenue spending, prior to receiving the full quarter 1 budget 
monitoring report.

3.4 In March 2020 Council approved the 2020/21 net budget position of 
£115.770m. To address previous year overspends, budgets have been 
increased in 2020/21 by £5.2m across Adults and Children’s Social Care 
and £0.490m for the Community and Environment Department.

3.5 It should be noted that a prudent approach has been taken to establishing 
the forecast outturn. At this stage the forecast has largely been based 
upon 2019/20 spending and income patterns, along with the latest 
available information from Budget Managers with regard to their spending 
plans and known service demands. Finance Officers will continue to work 
closely with Budget Managers and updated forecasts will be provided in 
future reports.

3.6 The forecast position follows the trend of the past number of years where 
the final outturn for the Council has been a steadily increasing overspend 
position. In 2016/17 the Council’s overall overspend was £0.559m, 
followed by £1.026m in 2017/18, £2.407m in 2018/19 and £5.296 in 
2019/20.

Revenue Spending – COVID19 Related

3.7 The impact of Covid19 has resulted in additional costs for the Council 
across many services, although particularly within Adult Social Care. In 
addition to costs, the temporary closure of some services will result in 
significant shortfalls of income over the financial year. There is also the 
possibility that the impact will continue to be felt in future years, which will 
need to be addressed within the Medium Term Financial Forecast.

3.8 For the purpose of this report it is assumed the majority of lockdown 
measures will end in September 2020 and services will then begin to 
resume to operate as they had done so before the pandemic. Even with 
this assumption, there is the likelihood of additional costs and loss of 
income continuing beyond this point and this has been taken into account 
within the figures. For example, it is considered it will take some 
considerable time before leisure services volumes will return to the same 
levels as prior to March 2020. Similarly, additional costs for Adult Social 
Care may continue to be incurred to support the provision of bed places 
in the event of a second wave of the pandemic.

3.9 The forecast of Covid19 related costs for the year to 31 March 2021 is 
estimated at £8.531m, with income losses estimated at £2.053m, giving a 
total cost of £10.584m. 

3.10 Income losses exclude the impact upon the Collection Fund (council tax 
and business rates collection). The Collection Fund is accounted for on 
an estimated basis, of the amount of council tax and business rates 
income expected to be collected when setting the Council’s 2020/21 

Page 464



budget. The Council is allowed to carry forward a year-end deficit on the 
Collection Fund and therefore any deficit for the current year will be 
carried forward into 2021/22 and funded in that year. This is likely to have 
a significant impact upon balancing the 2021/22 budget, which will need 
to be addressed as part of a review of the Medium Term Financial 
Forecast. However, Government are considering allowing councils to 
spread the recovery of the Collection Fund deficit over three years which 
would smooth the budget impact, although this would negate much of the 
Council’s future growth in business rates and council tax.    

3.11 The cost to the Collection Fund during 2020/21 as a result of Covid19 is 
forecast to be £9.973m. This assumes a 35% increase in the number of 
claimants for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme and an increase in the 
bad debt provisions for council tax and business rates of 5% and 13% 
respectively.

3.12 To date the Council has received three tranches of un-ringfenced funding 
to cover general costs associated with Covid19. In total the funding 
allocated to date is £9.284m of which £0.438m was used in meeting costs 
incurred in 2019/20, leaving £8.846m available for 2020/21. 

3.13 In total there is currently a forecast shortfall in Government funding for 
Covid19 of £11.711m, as summarised in Table A below:

Table A

£m
Funding Received 9.284
less
Covid19 Related Costs 2020/21 8.531
Estimated Income Losses 2.053
Covid19 Costs Incurred in 2019/20 0.438
Forecast 2020/21 Deficit 1.738

Collection Fund Shortfall 9.973

Shortfall in Funding 11.711

Funding the Shortfall / Reserves.

3.15 Government have announced that further Covid19 funding will be 
provided towards funding fees and charges and sales income losses. 
They will not fund commercial income losses and will only fund 75% of 
estimated losses excluding the first 5%. The detailed guidance and 
definitions surrounding this funding are still awaited. However, it is 
understood that it will be provided on the basis of claims submitted by the 
Council around the end of August 2020 and also possibly March 2021.  

Page 465



3.16 Without further Covid19 funding from Government the Council has few 
options to fund the shortfall position, other than reducing spending or use 
of reserves. The latter however, can only be only a temporary measure to 
provide time to identify permanent spending reductions.

3.17 As at 31 March 2020 the Council’s General Reserve was £4.004m. This 
is considered to be the minimum acceptable level of the General 
Reserve, in order to ensure the Council remains in a financially 
sustainable position moving forward. Earmarked reserves of £42.2m 
(excluding Mersey Gateway) were held by the Council at 31 March 2020. 
Earmarked reserves are set aside for specific purposes and so are not 
available for general use, however, regular reviews are undertaken to 
identify whether reserves are still required. 

3.18 Within the overall spending position to 31 May 2020, the key variations 
from budget for each Department are as follows;

(i) Community & Environment Department

Operational
The Department’s net spending position for the year is forecast to 
show an overspend against budget of £0.833m based upon the 
latest available information. This shows an improvement to the 
Department’s overspend of £1.179m for the last financial year

Work was undertaken during budget preparation to reduce the 
burden on certain income generation targets which were under-
achieving. Whilst this has helped improve the overall position for 
the Department, there continues to be significant pressure in 
achieving income targets for leisure management, The Brindley, 
Stadium and catering.

Covid19
Forecast spend on Covid19 requirements for the year is estimated 
at £0.449m, the majority of which relates to funding the rental of 
the ice-rink and for the hire of a temporary cremator.

Closure of culture and leisure sites within the Borough has resulted 
in income targets being £0.921m less than expected for the year. 
This is the net position after allowing for savings achieved by 
reducing variable costs within the Department.

(ii) Economy, Enterprise & Property

Operational
The Department’s net spending position for the year is forecast to 
show an overspend against budget of £0.254m based upon the 
latest available information. The forecast compares to an 
underspend of £0.246m for the financial year 2019/20

The forecast movement in net spend can be mainly linked to 
spend on repairs and maintenance costs within the Council’s 

Page 466



buildings. In 2019/20 there was a conscious plan to reduce 
spending by £0.250m, as the cost for the development of Stadium 
office space was capitalised. 

Staffing costs are forecast to overspend during the coming year 
based on existing staff structures. A number of vacancies held 
during 2019/20 helped to control the overall cost.

The difficulty in filling vacant commercial properties will contribute 
to the Department not achieving income targets for the year.

Covid19
The Department is estimated to incur additional costs of £0.095m 
due to Covid, due to additional staffing and support needs.

The Department is expected to lose £0.356m in income over the 
year as rental costs for the first quarter of the year have been 
suspended within the markets and for commercial properties.

(iii) Finance

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £0.328m under 
budget compared to the underspend position of £0.528m in 
2019/20.

The most significant reason for the underspend position relates to 
costs on Concessionary Travel being less than in previous years 
due to the closure of Halton Borough Transport. Even after the 
effect of Covid19, concessionary travel journeys are expected to 
be less than in previous years.

The Council continues to pay bus operators similar rates as in 
previous years despite a significant reduction in service over the 
last few months. This will help support the sustainability of bus 
routes after the cessation of lockdown measures.

Covid19
The financial impact of Covid19 on the Department is expected to 
be minimal, with a net impact of £0.034m. This is to cover overtime 
costs associated with the administration of business rate support 
grants and loss of income on the supplier early payment scheme 
which has been suspended for the first quarter of the financial 
year.

(iv) ICT and Support Services

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £0.630m over 
budget compared to the overspend position of £0.043m in 
2019/20.

Page 467



The cost of repairs and software is estimated to be £0.320m over 
budget due to increased software & licencing costs and demand, 
predominantly Microsoft based.

Fees and charges income will be short by £0.363m due to external 
client income targets not being achieved.

Covid19
Covid19 costs for the year are expected to total £1.041m. This 
includes £0.500m spent on Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), 
central purchasing and disbursement of equipment. Efficiency 
saving proposals involving staff restructures are assumed to not be 
able to happen this year as a result of the impact of Covid19 at a 
cost of £0.467m.

(iv) Legal and Democratic Services

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £0.125m under 
budget compared to the underspend position of £0.043m in 
2019/20.

The main areas for the underspend to date include, no costs being 
incurred as a result of the postponement of the 2020 local 
elections and a reduction in spend on promotions and advertising.

Covid19
Costs and loss of income for the year is estimated at £0.082m. 
The main element of this figure is as a result of a reduction in 
budgeted income for licensing applications, this may recover 
during the year as lockdown measures are eased. There have also 
been costs associated with staff overtime and legal expenses.

(v) Planning and Transportation

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £0.148m under 
budget compared to the underspend position of £0.400m in 
2019/20.

The main reason for the movement between years is an expected 
drop in the levels of generated income. Particularly around sales, 
grants, recharges to capital schemes and School SLA income.

Covid19
The total additional costs and loss of income associated with 
Covid19 is forecast to be £1.694m. 

Additional costs make up £1.254m of this amount, the majority of 
which are being incurred by contractors for aborted time and 
additional equipment requirements on capital schemes

Page 468



Income levels are estimated to be £0.440m down on this point 
during the year. This involves income generated from planning, 
fees and charges and reimbursements.

(vi) Policy, People, Performance and Efficiency

Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £0.041m over 
budget compared to the underspend position of £0.051m in 
2019/20.

Operational
The main reason for the adverse movement between reported 
periods is a drop in SLA income as less schools have bought in to 
the SLA service from previous years.

Covid19
Very minimal financial impact with some costs for staff overtime.

(vii) Adult Social Care (Incl. Care Homes and Complex Care)

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £2.613m over 
budget, this is inclusive of community care costs now accounted 
for outside of the pool budget.

Of this total;

Net costs of the four care homes the Council has acquired over 
the past year continue to have a significant adverse impact on the 
Council’s overall budget position. Spend is forecast to be £1.416m 
over the available budget for the year.

The main reason for the overspend against budget is due to 
staffing costs which are higher than the available budget for all 
care homes. Staffing structures are in place but it is taking time to 
fill posts with permanent staff, as a result the volume of agency 
staff continues to be high.

Net spend on community care for the year is forecast to be 
£1.197m over budget.

Direct Payments, as in previous years, continues to be a budget 
pressure and will be scrutinised closely to ascertain how services 
can be delivered to service users within budget.

Approximately 15 internal care home beds, previously funded by 
the CCG (CHC/FNC) have become vacant due to Covid19.  This 
represents a loss of income, however the Council are seeking to 
fund this cost from the CCG by way of Covid19 funding which the 
CCG received from Government.

Page 469



There is a risk to the Council that once the pandemic is over and 
the Covid19 funding ceases, the cost of Covid19 funded care 
packages will have to be funded by the Council.  Presently there is 
uncertainty about when this will be.  We estimate if the funding 
ended in September, the cost of those packages from October to 
the end of the financial year would be approximately £905k.

Covid19
Covid19 costs for the year are estimated at £3.830m, this is 
inclusive of estimated additional staffing costs of £0.925m and 
contract costs of £0.996m for the emergency care provision 
created at Lilycross.

(ix) Children and Families

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £2.043 m over 
budget compared to the overspend position of £4.289m in 
2019/20.

In setting the budget for the current financial year additional 
funding was provided to help mitigate the rapid increase in costs 
and service demand over the past four years.

Despite the increase in budget, there is still concern that since the 
turn of the year the Department has seen the cost of External 
Provider Placements continue to increase. In 2019/20 the cost of 
placements was £7.129m whereas the forecast for the current 
year (based on existing demand) is forecast to be £8.069m, an 
increase of £0.940m (13%).
 
Overspends against budget of £0.512m on Supplies and Services 
and £0.297m for the Early Years service continue to be a strain on 
the budget for the Department.

Covid19
Covid19 costs for the year are estimated at £1.138m, the majority 
of which relate to residential placements (£0.556m). The pandemic 
has restricted the number of placements available which has 
increased the cost of individual packages. Restrictions have also 
suspended the transitional moves of young people into lower cost 
leaving care placements or housing moves.

(x) Complex Care Pool

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £0.439m under 
the allocated budget. 

The current pandemic has changed how some of our services are 
delivered.  An Intermediate Care review being undertaken may 
result in resources and budgets being reallocated.

Page 470



Covid19
There are minimal Covid19 costs, currently forecast at £0.060m for 
the year.

(xi) Education, Inclusion and Provision

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £1.331m over 
budget compared to the overspend position of £0.921m in 
2019/20.

The main service budget pressures for the year are employee 
costs which are forecast to be £0.501m over budget and School 
Transport costs forecast to be £0.625m over budget.

Employee budgets include £0.322m and school transport budgets 
include £0.375 of approved savings which are proving difficult to 
implement.

(xii) Public Health and Public Protection 

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £0.021m under 
budget compared to the underspend position of £0.024m in 
2019/20.

Covid19
The estimated impact of Covid19 on the budget has been 
calculated at £0.215m. This predominantly involves increased 
costs in the delivery of contracts and there is also some loss of 
planned income.

(xiii) Corporate & Democracy

Operational
Net operational spend for the year is forecast to be £1.668m under 
budget compared to the underspend position of £1.686m in 
2019/20.

The underspend for the year assumes there will be minimal call on 
the Council £1.0m contingency budget and £0.5m budget set 
aside for actions stemming from the Peer Review.

Covid19
Covid19 has resulted in interest receivable rates being lower than 
would have been expected. The cost of this on the Council’s 
planned investment income is estimated at £0.182m. The Council 
has held an investment of £5m in a Property Fund for the last 
three years and the economic downturn which has resulted from 
the pandemic is forecast to reduce the value of the investment by 
£0.438m.

Page 471



4.0 CONCLUSIONS

4.1 As at 30 May 2020 total Council spending is £463,000 over budget and 
net spending to year-end (including the net impact of Covid19) is forecast 
to be £6.616m over budget.

4.2 To address day-to-day operational budget pressures, Departments 
should ensure that all spending continues to be restricted and tightly 
controlled throughout the year, to ensure that the forecast outturn 
overspend is reduced as far as possible

4.3 It remains imperative that lobbying of Government continues in order for 
them to support Local Government by providing further funding for the 
Covid19 pandemic. Whilst funding is to be provided in respect of 
estimated income losses, it is unlikely to be sufficient and the Council will 
still be left with a significant shortfall to meet.

4.4 A number of budget savings proposals approved for 2019/20 and 
2020/21, are proving difficult to implement due to particular 
circumstances. This is a concern and should be addressed by the 
relevant Departments as a matter of urgency.

4.5 Work will be undertaken to review the 2020/21 budget position in light of 
the impact of Covid19, to enable the Council to decide how it wishes to 
address any resulting overspend.

4.6 In addition, the Medium Term Financial Forecast will be reviewed in order 
to establish the Council’s financial position over the coming three years, 
based upon a number of scenarios regarding levels of Government 
funding etc.

 
5.0 POLICY AND OTHER IMPLICATIONS

5.1 None.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES

6.1 There are no direct implications, however, the revenue budget and capital 
programme support the delivery and achievement of all the Council’s 
priorities.

6.0 RISK ANALYSIS

6.1 There are a number of financial risks within the budget. However, the 
Council has internal controls and processes in place to ensure that 
spending remains in line with budget.

6.2 A budget risk register of significant financial risks was prepared when 
setting the budget and is kept under regular review.

7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

Page 472



7.1 None.

8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1072

8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act.

Page 473



P
age 474



Summary of Revenue Spending to 31 May 2020 APPENDIX 1

Directorate / Department
Annual 
Budget 
£'000

Budget To 
Date £'000

Actual To 
Date £'000

Variance 
(Overspend) 

£'000

Forecast 
Outturn 

(Overspend)
Community & Environment 15,252 2,254 1,937 317 (833)
Economy, Enterprise & Property 4,693 1,074 1,145 (71) (254)
Finance 7,079 1,027 1,010 17 362
ICT & Support Services 7,026 1,388 1,483 (95) (630)
Legal & Democratic Services 1,915 234 220 14 125
Planning & Transportation 9,543 1,548 1,482 66 148
Policy, People, Performance & Efficiency 1,878 -86 -25 (61) (41)
Enterprise, Community & Resources 47,386 7,439 7,252 187 (1,123)

Adult Social Care (inc Care Homes and 
Community Care)

38,564 5,517 6,023 (506) (2,613)

Children & Families 20,592 2,189 2,439 (250) (2,043)
Complex Care Pool 4,060 169 162 7 439
Education, Inclusion & Provision 5,147 3,617 3,829 (212) (1,245)
Public Health & Public Protection 304 51 43 8 21
People 68,667 11,543 12,496 (953) (5,441)
Corporate & Democracy 1,747 5,266 4,963 303 1,686
Operational Net Spend 117,800 24,248 24,711 (463) (4,878)

Covid-19 Additional Costs 0 0 2,635 (2,635) (8,531)
Covid-19 Shortfall in Budgeted Income Targets -2,030 -962 0 (962) (2,053)
Government Grant 0 962 -2,635 3,597 8,846
Covid Net Spend -2,030 0 0 0 (1,738)

Net Spend (Including Covid-19) 115,770 24,248 24,711 (463) (6,616)

P
age 475



P
age 476



P
age 477


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES
	3a Urgent Decisions
	CXdecisions Appendix 1

	4a Inspection of Local Authority Children Services
	Halton_Inspection of local authority childrens services_Mar20.pdf
	Halton Ofsted Action Plan 2020.docx

	5a Overview of Covid-19 data in Halton
	5b Test, Trace, Contain and Engage: Overview of Covid-19 Outbreak planning, governance, testing and contain framework for Halton.
	Embedded doc

	6a HBC Local Lockdown Shielded Contingency Plan
	Local_lockdown_planv2.1_External

	7a Liverpool City Region and Halton Borough Economic Reset Plans
	Widnes and Runcorn Reset post Covid-25062020 0820
	BBB_FINAL_20_07_2020

	8a 2019/20 Financial Outturn Position
	8b 2020/21 Revenue Spending as at 31 May 2020



